# Structural properties of Cox rings of T-varieties

Dissertation

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

> vorgelegt von Milena Wrobel aus Neumünster

> > Tübingen 2018

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen.

Tag der mündlichen Qualifikation:Dekan:1. Berichterstatter:2. Berichterstatter:

16.03.2018 Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Rosenstiel Prof. Dr. Jürgen Hausen Prof. Dr. Ivan Arzhantsev

# CONTENTS

In	Introduction						
1	Background						
	1.1	Cox rings	7				
	1.2	Graded algebras, quasitorus actions and good quotients	9				
	1.3	Bunched rings	11				
<b>2</b>	Nor	n complete rational T-varieties of complexity one	15				
	2.1	Factorially graded rings of complexity one	15				
	2.2	Proofs of the results of Section 2.1	20				
	2.3	Geometry of complexity one <i>T</i> -varieties	25				
	2.4	Application: affine $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surfaces	30				
3	$\mathbf{Log}$	terminal varieties as quotients	35				
	3.1	Platonic tuples and iteration of Cox rings	35				
	3.2	The anticanonical complex and singularities	39				
	3.3	Gorenstein index and canonical multiplicity	47				
	3.4	Geometry of the total coordinate space	54				
	3.5	Proof of Theorems 3.1.5 and 3.1.6	59				
<b>4</b>	Cha	aracterization of iterability of Cox rings	65				
	4.1	Iterability of Cox rings	65				
	4.2	Proof of Theorem 4.1.1	67				
	4.3	Proof of Theorem 4.1.2	71				
	4.4	Divisor class groups of total coordinate spaces	73				
5	Var	ieties with torus action of higher complexity	83				
	5.1	Mori dream spaces with torus action	83				
	5.2	First properties and examples	89				

In	dex		137
	$\begin{array}{c} 6.1 \\ 6.2 \end{array}$	Towards the classification	$105\\125$
6	Clas	ssification results for smooth arrangement varieties with $\rho(X)=2$	105
	$5.3 \\ 5.4$	Arrangement varieties       Examples and first properties	94 100

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Professor Dr. Jürgen Hausen, for his valuable guidance and encouragement in any situation. I am very thankful that his door was always wide open for any question to ask and idea to discuss.

Secondly, I want to thank Professor Dr. Ivan Arzhantsev for the fruitful discussions, his interest in the ideas of Chapter 4 of this thesis and his encouragement to further work on them.

Moreover, I want to thank all colleagues and friends of the working group algebra. I will miss the homourous coffee break discussions as well as the chats on the corridor clearing and brightening the mind when stuck at some problem.

I thank all my friends for evenings with good conversations and a glas of wine and for things like spontaneous visits with gummy bears during the last week of writing my PhD thesis.

I am grateful to my parents Christiane and Volker Wrobel and my whole family for their moral support and encouragement. It was good to know, that there is always someone to call! At last I want to thank Christoff Hische for his love, his patience and the endless discussions about math - no matter if during breakfast or in the middle of the night.

## INTRODUCTION

The main objects of the present thesis are  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties, i.e. varieties X with an algebraic torus  $\mathbb{T}$  acting effectively on them. The difference between the dimension of the variety and the dimension of the acting torus is called the *complexity* of a  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety. The best understood varieties of this kind are *toric varieties*, where the complexity equals zero. These varieties have been intensively studied [26, 27, 74, 75, 24, 40], and are of high interest due to their combinatorial description via fans. This thesis contributes to the case of higher complexity. These varieties occur naturally: For instance the surface quotient singularities are varieties of complexity one and the quadrics in projective space admit a natural action of the maximal torus of the orthogonal group. If X is a  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity c, then, as in the toric case, there is a combinatorial part reflecting the torus action, and a continuous part reflecting the geometry of a suitable variety representing the field  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\mathbb{T}}$  of rational invariants of X.

Our approach is based on Cox rings, which are a rich invariant of algebraic varieties. In fact the Cox ring of a variety fixes it up to small birational modifications. In the complete case the toric varieties are precisely those having a multigraded polynomial ring as Cox ring [23]. In general the *Cox ring* of a variety X is a graded algebra

$$\mathcal{R}(X) := \bigoplus_{[D] \in \operatorname{Cl}(X)} \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}(D)),$$

and can be defined for any normal (irreducible) variety with only constant invertible functions and finitely generated divisor class group; see [6, 14, 52]. We are particularly interested in the case that  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  is finitely generated. In that case, many of the geometric invariants can be read off. Moreover, it provides a canonical embedding of the variety into a toric one, which allows to deduce basic geometric properties from the toric embedding and thus describe them in combinatorial terms similar as in the toric case.

In the first part of this thesis our main focus is on  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one. For a complete, rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one the Cox ring has been described in [49] via generators and specific trinomial relations. Applying the theory behind Cox rings to this special situation one obtains a combinatorial approach to these varieties. We extend

the toolkit developed in [49] to the non-complete, e.g. affine, case. This includes i.a. a description of factorially graded affine algebras R of complexity one with only constant homogeneous invertible elements in terms of generators and relations. The first results in this direction treat the case  $R_0 = \mathbb{K}$ ; see [66, 61, 44]. Our results complete the description of all factorially graded affine algebras of complexity one and thus the description of the Cox rings of rational T-varieties of complexity one, compare Theorem 2.1.8, where the complete case treated in [49] is a subcase of Type 2:

**Theorem.** Let X be a normal, rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one with only constant invertible global functions and finitely generated divisor class group. Then, with  $T_i^{l_i} = T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_i}^{l_{in_i}}$ , the Cox ring of X is described by trinomial relations of one of the following forms:

Type 1: 
$$T_1^{l_1} - T_2^{l_2} - \theta_1$$
,  $T_2^{l_2} - T_3^{l_3} - \theta_2$ , ...,  $T_{r-1}^{l_{r-1}} - T_r^{l_r} - \theta_{r-1}$ ,  
Type 2:  $T_0^{l_0} + T_1^{l_1} + T_2^{l_2}$ ,  $\theta_1 T_1^{l_1} + T_2^{l_2} + T_3^{l_3}$ , ...,  $\theta_{r-2} T_{r-2}^{l_{r-2}} + T_{r-1}^{l_{r-1}} + T_r^{l_r}$ .

As an immediate sample application we calculate the Cox rings of all affine  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surfaces having at most log terminal singularities and their resolutions. It is well known that the log terminal surface singularities are exactly the surface quotient singularities, i.e., they arise as a quotient of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  by a finite group  $G \subseteq \operatorname{GL}_2$ ; see [4, 20, 30]. Moreover any log terminal surface singularity is in fact a  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface and with our explicit description of the Cox rings, one observes that the derived series of the group G reflects iteration of Cox rings.

We extend this picture to log terminal singularities in arbitrary dimension coming with a torus action of complexity one. As a first result, in Theorem 3.1.3 we obtain that the Cox rings of affine log terminal T-varieties of complexity one are either of Type 1 or *platonic* of Type 2, i.e.  $l_{ij} = 1$  holds for all  $i \geq 3$ , and all triples  $(l_{0j_0}, l_{1j_1}, l_{2j_2})$  form a *platonic triple*, i.e., a triple of the form (5, 3, 2), (4, 3, 2), (3, 3, 2), (x, 2, 2), or (x, y, 1), where  $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ . We obtain the following general statements on iteration of Cox rings, compare Theorems 3.1.5 and 3.1.6:

**Theorem.** Let  $X_1$  be a rational, normal, affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one with Cox ring of Type 2 and at most log terminal singularities. Then the following assertions hold.

(i) There is a unique chain of quotients

$$X_p \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-1}} X_{p-1} \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-2}} \dots \xrightarrow{\#H_3} X_3 \xrightarrow{\#H_2} X_2 \xrightarrow{\#H_1} X_1$$

where  $X_i = \text{Spec}(R_i)$  holds, the ring  $R_p$  is factorial and each  $R_i$  is the Cox ring of  $X_{i-1}$ .

- (ii)  $X_1$  is a quotient  $X_1 = X_p /\!\!/ G$  by a solvable reductive group G.
- (iii) The presentation of (i) is regained by  $H_i := G^{(i-1)}/G^{(i)}$  and  $X_i := X_p/G^{(i-1)}$ , where  $G^{(i)}$  is the *i*-th derived subgroup of G.

Statement (ii) of the above Theorem shows that, in a large sense, the log terminal singularities with torus action of complexity one still can be regarded as quotient singularities: the affine plane  $\mathbb{C}^2$  and the finite group  $G \subseteq \operatorname{GL}_2$  of the surface case have to be replaced with a factorial affine  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one and a solvable reductive group.

Looking at this result about log terminal singularities the natural question arises, if there are any further varieties of complexity one admitting iteration of Cox rings despite the log terminal ones. Note that iteration of Cox rings requires in particular a finitely generated divisor class group of the spectrum of the Cox ring in each iteration step. As in case of complexity one, finite generation of the divisor class group turns out to be equivalent to rationality, the task is to give a criterion for the rationality of an affine variety X of complexity one. Having in mind that the generic quotient of a T-variety of complexity one is the curve Y with function field  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\mathbb{T}}$  and rationality of this curve is equivalent to rationality of the variety X, we calculate a genus formula for Y leading to the following numerical criterion for the rationality of X. We call a ring R of Type 2 as above hyperplatonic if  $\mathfrak{l}_i := \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i}) = 1$  holds for all  $i \geq 3$  and  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is a platonic triple. We obtain the following criterion, see Theorem 4.1.1

**Theorem.** Let X be a rational, normal  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one with Cox ring of Type 2. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The variety X admits iteration of Cox rings.
- (ii) The variety X has a hyperplatonic or factorial Cox ring.

For a variety with Cox ring of Type 1 the picture is much easier: it admits iteration of Cox rings if and only if the spectrum of its Cox ring is rational. Moreover, if the latter holds, the iteration of Cox rings stops after at most one step.

In the last part of this thesis we extend the Cox ring based combinatorial theory for rational varieties with torus action of complexity one to  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of arbitrary high complexity with finitely generated Cox ring. Recall that the situation can be described by a *c*-dimensional variety *Y* suitably realizing the field  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\mathbb{T}}$  of rational invariants of the  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety *X* and a combinatorial part reflecting the essential properties of the torus action. This approach has been taken in [1, 2], where the torus action is encoded via the combinatorial language of polyhedral divisors and *Y* is chosen as the Chow quotient.

We provide a more specific approach: We choose a rather minimal representative Y of the field  $\mathbb{K}(X)^{\mathbb{T}}$  of rational invariants: the maximal orbit quotient; for a precise definition see Section 5.1. For our purposes, the crucial property is that Y has finitely generated Cox ring if and only if X has so, see [49, Thm. 1.1]. This allows us to make full use of the strongly combinatorial nature of varieties with finitely generated Cox ring [6, Chap. 3]. Given a variety Y with finitely generated Cox ring, we systematically construct varieties with torus action and maximal orbit quotient  $\pi: X \dashrightarrow Y$ . Our main tool is basic toric geometry: We start with a choice of Cox ring generators for Y, then fix a compatible fan  $\Sigma$  and finally deliver X as a closed subvariety of the toric variety Z associated with the fan  $\Sigma$  such that the torus action on X is inherited from a subtorus action on Z. As a byproduct of the construction, we obtain the Cox ring of X for free. Specializing to the case that Y is the projective or the affine line, we regain the Cox rings of Type 1 and 2 of the rational varieties with torus action of complexity one as described above. As a sample class, we restrict to the special case of a maximal orbit quotient  $\pi: X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}_c$ such that the critical values of  $\pi$  form a general hyperplane arrangement in  $\mathbb{P}_c$ . We call such a  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety X an *arrangement variety*. These varieties directly generalize the rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one and their Cox rings show indeed a very similar structure.

With our description we provide classification results on smooth *Fano varieties*, i.e., normal, projective varieties with ample anticanonical class. The interest in this class of varieties is due to their important role in the Minimal Model Program, an approach to classify projective varieties up to birational equivalence introduced by S. Mori [67, 68]. The classification of smooth Fano varieties was settled in dimension two by P. del Pezzo [77] and in dimension three by V. Iskovskikh [54, 55] and S. Mori/S. Mukai [69, 70]. Restricting to the toric case, the classification was done up to dimension nine by work of V. Batyrev, M. Kreuzer, B. Nill, M. Øbro and A. Paffenholz [10, 11, 60, 73, 78]. Extending recent classification work in complexity one [35], we take a closer look at smooth arrangement varieties of Picard numbers at most two. In Picard number one, we retrieve precisely the smooth projective quadrics. Similar to the case of complexity two, we obtain the following explicit descriptions, see Section 6.2.

**Theorem.** Every non-toric smooth Fano arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two is isomorphic to precisely one of the following varieties X, specified by their Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  and the matrix  $[w_1, \ldots, w_r]$  of generator degrees  $w_i \in Cl(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

No.	$\mathcal{R}(X)$	$[w_1,\ldots,w_r]$	$-\mathcal{K}_X$	$\dim(X)$
1	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_9]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3^2 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8T_9 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 5\\6\end{bmatrix}$	6
2	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_9]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8T_9 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\6\end{bmatrix}$	6
3	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8]}{\langle T_1 T_2 T_3^2 + T_4 T_5 + T_6 T_7 + T_8^2 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4\\5\end{bmatrix}$	5
4.A	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^3 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 7+2m\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
<i>4.B</i>	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^3 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6^2 + T_7 T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4+m\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.C	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^2 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4+m\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.D	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & d_1 & 1 \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   & 1 & 1 \dots & 1 \\ d_1 \in \{0, 1\} \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 5+m-1+d\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	$^{1}]m + 5$
4.E	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^3 + T_3 T_4^3 + T_5 T_6^3 + T_7 T_8^3 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.F	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^2 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6^2 + T_7 T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & d_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2+d_1\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m+5

14	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_{10}]}{\left\langle \begin{array}{c} T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8, \\ \lambda_1T_3T_4 + \lambda_2T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 + T_9T_{10} \end{array} \right\rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\3\end{bmatrix}$	6
13	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_7, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle}$ m \ge 2	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & d_2 & \dots & d_m \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \le d_2 \le \dots \le d_m$ $d_m > 0$ $m \cdot d_m < 5 + d_2 + \dots + d_m$	$\left[5+\sum_{k=1}^{m}d_{k}\right]$	m + 4
12	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_7, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5$ $a_i \ge 0$ $m > 5a_5$	$\begin{bmatrix} m+5a_5\\5 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 4
11	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_7,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ 1 \leq m \leq 4$	$\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} m \\ 5 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 4
10	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} m \\ 6 + \sum^m d_k \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
9	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle}$ m \ge 2	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 &   1 \dots 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   0 \dots 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a_i \ge 0,$ $a_1 = a_2 + a_3 = a_4 + a_5 = a_6 + a_7,$ $m > 3a_1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3a_1+m\\ 6 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
8	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ 1 \le m \le 5$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} m \\ 6 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
7	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle}$ $m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & 1 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{array}{c} a_i \geq 0, \\ a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5 + 1, \\ m > 5a_5 + 2 \end{array}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 5a_5 + 3 + m \\ 5 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
6	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5^2 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_3 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & 1 & a_3 & 1 &   1 \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   0 \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \le a_1 \le a_2, \ a_1 + a_2 = 2a_3 + 1$ $m > 4a_3 + 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4a_3 + 3 + m \\ 4 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
5	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3^2 T_4 + T_5^2 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a+1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & a & 1 &   & 1 \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   & 0 \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a \ge 0, m > 3a$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3a+3+m\\ 3 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4. <i>G</i>	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_8, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & d_1 & d_2 & 0 \dots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3+d_1+d_2\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m+5

Moreover, each of the listed data defines a smooth Fano arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two.

# CHAPTER ONE

### BACKGROUND

In this chapter we introduce the fundamental definitions and concepts used throughout this thesis. Its content is well known and does not contain results by the author. Our main reference for this chapter is the book [6].

Throughout the whole thesis  $\mathbb{K}$  is an algebraically closed field of characteristic zero. If not stated different a variety is always assumed to be irreducible.

### 1.1 Cox rings

At first we recall the basic definitions for divisors of normal varieties and divisorial sheaves. Let X be a normal variety over K. A prime divisor D of X is an irreducible subvariety  $D \subseteq X$  of codimension 1. We call the free abelian group generated by the prime divisors the group of Weil divisors of X and denote it by WDiv(X). To any nonzero rational function  $f \in \mathbb{K}(X)^*$  we associate the Weil divisor

$$\operatorname{div}(f) := \sum_{D \text{ prime}} \operatorname{ord}_D(f) \cdot D,$$

where  $ord_D(f)$  denotes the vanishing order of f along D. A Weil divisor E arising as  $E = \operatorname{div}(f)$  for  $f \in \mathbb{K}(X)^*$  is called *principal*. The set  $\operatorname{PDiv}(X)$  of principal divisors of X and the set  $\operatorname{CaDiv}(X)$  of locally principal divisors of X form subgroups of the group of Weil divisors. The *divisor class group* and the *Picard group* of X are given as

$$\operatorname{Cl}(X) := \operatorname{WDiv}(X)/\operatorname{PDiv}(X), \quad \operatorname{Pic}(X) := \operatorname{CaDiv}(X)/\operatorname{PDiv}(X).$$

The rank of the Picard group is called the *Picard number* of X and if X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial the Picard number equals the rank of the class group. With every divisor  $D \in \mathrm{WDiv}(X)$ we associate the *divisorial sheaf*  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  by defining its sections over an open  $U \subseteq X$  to be

$$\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_X(D)) := \{ f \in \mathbb{K}(X)^*; \ (\operatorname{div}(f) + D) |_U \ge 0 \} \cup \{ 0 \}.$$

Note that for any two functions  $f_1 \in \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_X(D_1))$  and  $f_2 \in \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_X(D_2))$  we have  $f_1 f_2 \in \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_X(D_1 + D_2))$ . Thus we obtain a sheaf of K-graded  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -algebras called the sheaf of divisorial algebras associated with a subgroup  $K \subseteq \operatorname{WDiv}(X)$  by setting

$$\mathcal{S} := \bigoplus_{D \in K} \mathcal{S}_D$$
, where  $\mathcal{S}_D := \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ .

Now we turn to the definition of the Cox sheaf and the Cox ring, which is a generalization of the homogeneous coordinate ring for toric varieties.

For this let X be a normal prevariety with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}^*) = \mathbb{K}^*$  and finitely generated divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ . Let  $K \leq \operatorname{WDiv}(X)$  be a subgroup such that the map  $c \colon K \to$  $\operatorname{Cl}(X), D \mapsto [D]$  is surjective. Denote by  $K^0 \subseteq K$  the kernel of c and fix a group homomorphism  $\chi \colon K^0 \to \mathbb{K}(X)^*$  with

$$\operatorname{div}(\chi(E)) = E$$
 for all  $E \in K^0$ .

Denote by  $\mathcal{I}$  the sheaf of ideals of  $\mathcal{S}$  generated by the sections  $1 - \chi(E)$ , where E runs through  $K^0$ .

**Definition 1.1.1.** The *Cox sheaf* associated with K and  $\chi$  is the quotient sheaf  $\mathcal{R} := S/\mathcal{I}$  together with the Cl(X)-grading

$$\mathcal{R} := \bigoplus_{[D] \in \operatorname{Cl}(X)} \mathcal{R}_{[D]}, \quad \text{where} \quad \mathcal{R}_{[D]} := \pi \left( \bigoplus_{D' \in C^{-1}([D])} \mathcal{S}'_D \right),$$

and  $\pi: \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{R}$  is the projection. The *Cox ring of* X is the algebra of global sections  $\mathcal{R}(X)$ .

The Cox ring is up to isomorphy independent of the choices of K and  $\chi$ . In case of a torsion free class group we can choose a subgroup  $K \leq \operatorname{WDiv}(X)$  such that  $c \colon K \to \operatorname{Cl}(X)$  as above is an isomorphism. In this case we have  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{S}$  where  $\mathcal{S}$  is the sheaf of divisorial algebras associated with K.

The Cox ring of a variety is in general not a unique factorization domain but has a similar property:

**Definition 1.1.2.** Let K be an abelian group and  $R = \bigoplus_{w \in K} R_w$  an integral K-graded K-algebra.

- (i) A homogeneous element  $0 \neq f \in R \setminus R^*$  is called *K*-prime if whenever f|gh holds for homogeneous elements  $g, h \in R$  we have f|g or f|h.
- (ii) We call R factorially K-graded if every homogeneous  $0 \neq f \in R \setminus R^*$  is a product of K-prime elements.

**Theorem 1.1.3.** Let X be a normal variety with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}^*) = \mathbb{K}^*$  and finitely generated divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ . Then the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  is  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ -factorially graded. Moreover if  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$  is torsion free then  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  is a unique factorization domain. Observe that the Cox ring of a variety is in general not finitely generated. This motivates the following definition.

**Definition 1.1.4.** Let X be a normal variety with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}^*) = \mathbb{K}^*$  and finitely generated divisor class group. X is called a *Mori Dream Space (MDS)* if its Cox ring is finitely generated.

Let X be an MDS with Cox sheaf  $\mathcal{R}$ . Then finite generation of  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  implies that  $\mathcal{R}$  is locally of finite type, i.e., any  $x \in X$  has an affine open neighbourhood U such that  $\mathcal{R}(U)$  is finitely generated. Choosing an affine open cover of X we can define the relative spectrum  $\hat{X} := \operatorname{Spec}_X(\mathcal{R})$  by gluing the affine pieces  $\operatorname{Spec}\mathcal{R}(U)$ . We call  $\hat{X}$  the *characteristic space* and  $\overline{X} := \operatorname{Spec}\mathcal{R}(X)$  the *total coordinate space of* X. Note that  $\hat{X}$  has a canonical open embedding into  $\overline{X}$  and is big, i.e., the codimension of  $\overline{X} \setminus \hat{X}$  is at least two.

## 1.2 Graded algebras, quasitorus actions and good quotients

In this section we give the necessary background to show how to regain a variety back from its characteristic space. At first we introduce the correspondence between graded affine algebras and quasitorus actions on affine varieties. Moreover we provide the necessary background on good quotients.

An *(affine)* algebraic group is an (affine) variety G and a group such that the group operations

$$G \times G \to G, \ (g,h) \mapsto g \cdot h \quad \text{and} \quad G \to G, \ g \mapsto g^{-1}$$

are morphisms of algebraic varieties. A homomorphism of algebraic groups G and G'is a group homomorphism  $G \to G'$ , which is a morphism of the underlying varieties. A character of an algebraic group G is a homomorphism of algebraic groups  $\chi: G \to \mathbb{K}^*$ , where  $\mathbb{K}^*$  is the multiplicative group of the underlying field  $\mathbb{K}$ . The character group of an algebraic group G is the set  $\mathbb{X}(G)$  of all characters of G, which forms a group with respect to pointwise multiplication. A quasitorus is an affine algebraic group H such that the algebra of regular functions  $\Gamma(H, \mathcal{O})$  is generated as a  $\mathbb{K}$ -vector space by the characters  $\chi \in \mathbb{X}(H)$ . A torus is a connected quasitorus. The standard n-torus is the algebraic torus  $\mathbb{T}^n := (\mathbb{K}^*)^n$ .

Let G be an affine algebraic group. A G-variety is a variety X together with an action  $G \times X \to X$ ,  $(g, x) \mapsto g \cdot x$ , which is a morphism of the underlying varieties. If G is even a quasitorus, then any choice of characters  $\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_r$  defines a diagonal G-action on  $\mathbb{K}^r$  by setting

$$g \cdot z := (\chi_1(g)z_1, \dots, \chi_r(g)z_r).$$

We briefly recall the equivalence of categories between the category of affine algebras graded by a finitely generated abelian group and the category of affine varieties with quasitorus action. **Construction 1.2.1.** Let K be a finitely generated abelian group and  $R = \bigoplus_{w \in K} R_w$  a K-graded affine K-algebra. Set  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R$ . Fixing homogeneous generators  $f_1, \ldots, f_r$  with  $f_i \in R_{w_i}$  we obtain a closed embedding

$$X \to \mathbb{K}^r, \quad x \mapsto (f_1(x), \dots, f_r(x)).$$

We equip  $\mathbb{K}^r$  with the diagonal action of the quasitorus  $H := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K]$  given by the characters  $\chi^{w_1}, \ldots, \chi^{w_r}$ . Then X is invariant under this action and thus an H-variety. This construction does not depend on the choice of the embedding  $X \subseteq \mathbb{K}^r$  up to isomorphism.

We show that vice versa any affine variety with quasitorus action gives rise to an affine algebra graded by a finitely generated abelian group: Let a quasitorus H act on a variety X. Then the algebra of regular functions  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})$  on X becomes a rational H-module by setting

$$(h \cdot f)(x) := f(h \cdot x).$$

and it becomes a  $\mathbb{X}(H)\text{-}\mathrm{graded}$  algebra by considering its decomposition into one-dimensional subrepresentations

$$\Gamma(X,\mathcal{O}) = \bigoplus_{\chi \in \mathbb{X}(H)} \Gamma(X,\mathcal{O})_{\chi}, \text{ where } \Gamma(X,\mathcal{O})_{\chi} := \{f \in \Gamma(X,\mathcal{O}); f(h \cdot x) = \chi(h)f(x)\}.$$

**Definition 1.2.2.** Let G be a reductive algebraic group acting on a prevariety X. A good quotient for this action is a morphism of prevarieties  $p: X \to Y$  such that the following holds:

- (i)  $p: X \to Y$  is affine and *G*-invariant.
- (ii) The pullback  $p^* \colon \mathcal{O}_Y \to (p_*\mathcal{O}_X)^G$  is an isomorphism.

A good quotient is called *geometric* if it moreover separates the orbits, i.e., any fiber is a G-orbit.

Let  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R$  be an affine G-variety, where G is a reductive algebraic group. Then the algebra of invariants

$$R^G := \{ f \in R; f(g \cdot x) = f(x) \text{ for all } x \in X \text{ and } g \in G \}$$

is finitely generated. Thus we obtain a good quotient  $p: X \to Y$ , where  $Y = \operatorname{Spec} R^G$ . For non affine X good quotients are locally modeled on this concept.

**Construction 1.2.3.** Assume X is a Mori Dream Space. Then  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  is a  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ -graded affine K-algebra. This gives rise to an action of a quasitorus  $H := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\operatorname{Cl}(X)]$  on its total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$ . The characteristic space  $\widehat{X} \subseteq \overline{X}$  is an H-invariant open subset admitting a good quotient for this action. In particular we obtain the following diagramm:

$$\operatorname{Spec}_X(\mathcal{R}) = X \subseteq \overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec}\mathcal{R}(X).$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$X$$

#### **1.3** Bunched rings

In this section we summarize at first basic facts about toric varieties. Afterwards we give a short summary of the theory of bunched rings. Fixing a graded ring R the theory of bunched rings provides a construction for example for all quasi-projective varieties having R as their Cox ring and fulfilling some maximality property, see below. Moreover the theory provides an embedding of a variety X with Cox ring R into a toric variety and thus leads to combinatorial methods.

A toric variety is a normal variety Z with an effective torus action  $T \times Z \to Z$  and a base-point  $z_0 \in Z$  such that the orbit map  $T \to Z$ ,  $t \mapsto t \cdot z_0$  is an open embedding.

We recall the basic notions of the combinatorial description of toric varieties via fans.

Let N and M be mutually dual lattices and  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  resp.  $M_{\mathbb{Q}}$  the corresponding rational vector spaces. A *cone* is a convex polyhedral subset  $\sigma \subseteq N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  such that for any  $u \in \sigma$  and  $t \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$  we have  $t \cdot u \in \sigma$ . The *dimension* of a cone  $\sigma$  is the dimension of its linear hull. A *lattice cone* is a pair  $(\sigma, N)$  where N is a lattice and  $\sigma \subseteq N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is *pointed*, i.e., it contains no lines. The *dual cone* of  $\sigma$  is the polyhedral cone  $\sigma^{\vee} := \{u \in M_{\mathbb{Q}}; u | \sigma \geq 0\}$ . A *face* of a cone  $\sigma$  is a cone  $\tau \subseteq \sigma$  such that there exists an  $u \in \sigma^{\vee}$  with  $u|_{\tau} = 0$ . A 1-dimensional face is called *ray* and a face of codimension one is called *facet*.

A finite collection  $\Sigma$  of convex polyhedral cones in  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is called a *quasifan* if the following holds:

(i) Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ . Then  $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma$  holds for any face  $\sigma_0 \preccurlyeq \sigma$ .

(ii) For any two cones  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \Sigma$  the intersection  $\sigma_1 \cap \sigma_2$  is a face of both cones.

A quasifan  $\Sigma$  is called a *fan* if all of its cones are pointed. A tuple  $(\Sigma, N)$  is called a *lattice fan*. The *support*  $|\Sigma|$  of a fan  $\Sigma$  is the union of its cones.

Any lattice cone  $(\sigma, N)$  defines an affine toric variety  $Z(\sigma) := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap M]$  with dense open torus  $T_Z := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[M]$ . We can extend this construction to lattice fans  $(\Sigma, N)$ and toric varieties: For any two cones  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \Sigma$  one glues the corresponding affine toric varieties  $Z_{\sigma_1}, Z_{\sigma_2}$  along the affine toric variety  $Z_{\sigma_1 \cap \sigma_2}$ , which defines a common open subset. This gluing process provides a toric variety  $Z_{\Sigma}$ . Note that  $Z_{\Sigma}$  is a complete variety if and only if  $\Sigma$  is *complete*, i.e.,  $|\Sigma| = N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ .

Let K be a finitely generated abelian group and consider a finitely generated K-factorially graded affine  $\mathbb{K}$ -algebra

$$R := \bigoplus_{w \in K} R_w.$$

Fix a set of pairwise non-associated K-prime homogeneous generators  $\mathfrak{F} := (f_1, \ldots, f_r)$ and denote by  $Q: \mathbb{Z}^r \to K$  the homomorphism of abelian groups, that maps the canonical basis vector  $e_i \in \mathbb{Z}^r$  to the weights  $w_i := \deg(f_i) \in K$ .

- (i) An  $\mathfrak{F}$ -face is a face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma := \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^r$  of the positive orthant, such that there is a point  $x \in \overline{X}$  with  $x_i \neq 0$  if and only if  $e_i \in \gamma_0$ .
- (ii) The K-grading of R is almost free if for every facet  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  the image  $Q(\gamma_0 \cap E)$  generates K as a group.

- (iii) Let  $\Omega_{\mathfrak{F}} = \{Q(\gamma_0); \gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma \text{ is an } \mathfrak{F}\text{-face } \}$  denote the set of projected  $\mathfrak{F}\text{-faces}$ . An  $\mathfrak{F}\text{-bunch}$  is a nonempty subset  $\Phi \subseteq \Omega_{\mathfrak{F}}$  satisfying the following conditions:
  - (a) For any two  $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in \Phi$ , we have  $\tau_1^{\circ} \cap \tau_2^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ .
  - (b) Let  $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in \Omega_{\mathfrak{F}}$  with  $\tau_1^{\circ} \subseteq \tau_2^{\circ}$ . Then  $\tau_1 \in \Phi$  implies  $\tau_2 \in \Phi$ .
- (iv) An  $\mathfrak{F}$ -bunch  $\Phi$  is called *true* if for every facet  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  we have  $Q(\gamma_0) \in \Phi$ .

**Definition 1.3.1.** A bunched ring is a triple  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  consisting of an integral, normal, almost freely factorially K-graded affine K-algebra R with only constant homogeneous invertible elements, a system  $\mathfrak{F}$  of pairwise nonassociated K-prime generators for R and a true  $\mathfrak{F}$ -bunch  $\Phi$ .

The following construction associates to a bunched ring  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  a variety X having R as its Cox ring.

**Construction 1.3.2.** Let  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  be a bunched ring with  $Q: E \to K$  as above and  $\mathfrak{F} = (f_1, \ldots, f_r)$ . Then we obtain an action of the quasitorus  $H := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K]$  on the affine variety  $\overline{X} := \operatorname{Spec} R$ . We define the localization of  $\overline{X}$  with respect to an  $\mathfrak{F}$ -face  $\gamma_0$  to be

$$\overline{X}_{\gamma_0} := \overline{X}_{f_1^{u_1} \cdots f_r^{u_r}}$$
 for some  $u = (u_1, \dots, u_r) \in \gamma_0^{\circ}$ .

This set is independent of the choice of u and with the collection of relevant faces  $\operatorname{rlv}(\Phi) := \{\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma; \gamma_0 \text{ is an } \mathfrak{F}\text{-face with } Q(\gamma_0) \in \Phi\}$  associated to  $\Phi$ , we obtain an H-invariant open subset of  $\overline{X}$ :

$$\widehat{X} := \widehat{X}(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi) := \bigcup_{\gamma_0 \in \operatorname{rlv}(\Phi)} \overline{X}_{\gamma_0}.$$

The *H*-action on  $\hat{X}$  admits a good quotient [6, Prop. 3.1.3.8] and we set

$$X := X(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi) := \hat{X} /\!\!/ H$$

and denote the quotient map by  $p: \widehat{X} \to X$ . The pieces  $X_{\gamma_0} := p(\overline{X}_{\gamma_0}) \subseteq X$ form an affine cover of X. Moreover, every element  $f_i$  of  $\mathfrak{F}$  defines a prime divisor  $D^i_X := p(V_{\widehat{X}}(f_i))$  on X.

Recall that an  $A_2$ -variety is a variety X with the property that any two points of X admit a common affine open neighbourhood.

**Theorem 1.3.3.** Let  $\overline{X}$ ,  $\hat{X}$  and X arise from a bunched ring  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  as above. Then X is a normal  $A_2$ -variety with

$$\dim(X) = \dim(\overline{X}) - \dim(K_{\mathbb{O}}), \quad \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}^*) = \mathbb{K}^*.$$

Moreover there is an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Cl}(X) \cong K$ , the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  is isomorphic to R and the characteristic space of X equals  $\widehat{X}$ . In particular X is a Mori dream space.

We say that a variety is  $A_2$ -maximal if it has the  $A_2$ -property and cannot be realized as an open subset with nonempty complement of codimension at least two in another  $A_2$ -variety. Moreover, we call an  $\mathfrak{F}$ -bunch maximal if it cannot be enlarged by adding further projected  $\mathfrak{F}$ -faces. In the situation of Theorem 1.3.3 X is  $A_2$ -maximal if and only if  $\Phi$  is maximal. Moreover, we obtain the following:

**Theorem 1.3.4.** Let X be an  $A_2$ -maximal Mori Dream Space with Cox ring  $R := \mathcal{R}(X)$ and let  $\mathfrak{F}$  be any finite system of pairwise nonassociated  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ -prime generators for R. Then  $X \cong X(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  holds for some maximal  $\mathfrak{F}$ -bunch  $\Phi$ .

Every variety X defined by a bunched ring comes with a closed embedding into a toric variety Z.

**Construction 1.3.5.** Let  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  be a bunched ring and  $Q: E \to K$  be as above. Setting  $F := E^*$  and  $M := \ker(Q)$ , we obtain mutually dual exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow F \xrightarrow{P} N$$
$$0 \longleftarrow K \xleftarrow{Q} E \xleftarrow{P^*} M \longleftarrow 0$$

We define the *envelope* of the collection of relevant faces of  $\Phi$ 

Env(
$$\Phi$$
) := { $\gamma_0 \preceq \gamma$ ;  $\exists \gamma_1 \in \operatorname{rlv}(\Phi)$  with  $\gamma_1 \preceq \gamma_0$  and  $Q(\gamma_1)^\circ \subseteq Q(\gamma_0)^\circ$ }

Set  $\delta := \gamma^{\vee} \subset F_{\mathbb{Q}}$  and for each  $\gamma_0 \preceq \gamma$ , let  $\gamma_0^* := \gamma_0^{\perp} \cap \delta \preceq \delta$  be the corresponding face. We define the following fans in  $F_{\mathbb{Q}}$  and  $N_{\mathbb{Q}}$ 

$$\begin{split} \Sigma &:= \{ \delta_0 \leq \delta; \; \exists \; \gamma_0 \in \operatorname{Env}(\Phi) \text{ with } \delta_0 \leq \gamma_0^* \}, \\ \Sigma &:= \{ P(\gamma_0^*); \; \gamma_0 \in \operatorname{Env}(\Phi) \}. \end{split}$$

Let  $\overline{\Sigma}$  be the fan consisting of all faces of  $\delta$ , which is the fan corresponding to  $\mathbb{K}^r$  with its natural toric structure. Since  $\widehat{\Sigma}$  is a subfan of  $\overline{\Sigma}$ , there is an open embedding of the corresponding varieties  $\widehat{Z} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^r$ . Moreover, there is a map of fans  $\widehat{\Sigma} \to \Sigma$  arising from  $P: F \to N$ . Denoting by Z the toric variety associated to  $\Sigma$ , we obtain a toric morphism  $p: \widehat{Z} \to Z$ . We obtain the following commutative diagram:



where  $\overline{X}$ ,  $\widehat{X}$  and X are the varieties associated to the bunched ring  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  as in Construction 1.3.2. We call the closed embedding  $i: X \to Z$  the *canonical toric embedding*. **Definition 1.3.6.** Let  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  be a bunched ring with  $\mathfrak{F} = (f_1, \ldots, f_r)$ . We say that it is a *complete intersection* if the kernel of the epimorphism  $\mathbb{K}[T_1, \ldots, T_r] \to R$ , mapping  $T_i$  to  $f_i$ , is generated by K-homogeneous polynomials  $g_1, \ldots, g_s$ , where  $s = r - \dim(R)$ . In this case we define the *degree vectors* of  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  as  $(w_1, \ldots, w_r)$  and  $(u_1, \ldots, u_s)$ , where  $w_i := \deg(f_i) \in K$  and  $u_i := \deg(g_i) \in K$ .

**Proposition 1.3.7.** Let the bunched ring  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  be a complete intersection with degree vectors  $(w_1, \ldots, w_r)$  and  $(u_1, \ldots, u_s)$ . Then the anticanonical divisor class of  $X = X(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  is given in  $\operatorname{Cl}(X) = K$  as

$$-\mathcal{K}_X = \sum_{i=1}^r w_i - \sum_{j=1}^s u_j \; .$$

The last part of this section is dedicated to projective varieties arising from a bunched ring. In particular we give a link between bunched rings providing projective varieties and the GIT-chamber decomposition of the weight cone of a graded ring.

Let K be a finitely generated abelian group and consider an affine K-graded K-algebra R. Set  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R$ . The weight cone of X is the cone

$$\omega_X := \operatorname{cone}(w \in K; \ A_w \neq \{0\}).$$

The orbit cone of a point  $x \in X$  is the convex cone  $\omega_x \subseteq K_{\mathbb{Q}}$  generated by the weight monoid

$$S_x = \{ w \in K; \ f(x) \neq 0 \text{ for some } f \in A_w \} \subseteq K.$$

The *GIT-cone* of an element  $w \in \omega_X$  is the intersection of all orbits containing it:

$$\lambda(w) := \bigcap_{x \in X, w \in \omega_x} \omega_x.$$

The set of all GIT-cones is a quasifan in  $K_{\mathbb{Q}}$  having the weight cone  $\omega_X$  as its support. For any weight  $w \in \omega_X$  we define the *set of semistable points* to be the *H*-invariant open subset

$$X^{ss}(w) := \{ x \in X; \ f(x) \neq 0 \text{ for some } f \in A_{nw}, n > 0 \} \subseteq X,$$

allowing a good quotient  $X^{ss}(w) \to X^{ss}(w) \not/\!\!/ H$  onto a projective variety. Note that  $X^{ss}(w_1) = X^{ss}(w_2)$  for any  $w_2 \in \lambda(w_1)^\circ$ . In particular every GIT-cone defines a good quotient as above.

We link this situation to the theory of bunched rings: Let  $(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi)$  be a bunched ring and suppose the  $\mathfrak{F}$ -bunch  $\Phi$  arises from a GIT-cone  $\lambda(w)$ , i.e.,

$$\Phi := \Phi(w) := \{ Q(\gamma_0); \ \gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma \ \mathfrak{F}\text{-face with } w \in Q(\gamma_0)^\circ \}$$

Then  $X(R, \mathfrak{F}, \Phi) = \overline{X}^{ss}(w) /\!\!/ H$  holds with  $\overline{X} := \operatorname{Spec} R$ . Note that any projective Mori dream space arises this way.

CHAPTER
TWO

## NON COMPLETE RATIONAL *T*-VARIETIES OF COMPLEXITY ONE

In this chapter we consider rational varieties with a torus action of complexity one and extend the combinatorial approach via the Cox ring developed for the complete case in [49, 45, 44] to the non-complete, e.g. affine, case. This includes in particular a description of all factorially graded affine algebras of complexity one with only constant homogeneous invertible elements in terms of canonical generators and relations. The results of this chapter have been published in [50].

## 2.1 Factorially graded rings of complexity one

The basic task is to describe all Cox rings of normal rational varieties X with an effective torus action  $T \times X \to X$  of complexity one even in the non-complete case. As it is needed for the uniqueness of the Cox ring, we require  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}^*) = \mathbb{K}^*$ . From the algebraic point of view, a Cox ring is firstly a finitely generated integral K-algebra R, graded by a finitely generated abelian group K such that there are only constant invertible homogeneous elements. The most important characterizing property of a Cox ring is then K-factoriality, which means that we have unique factorization in the multiplicative monoid of non-zero homogeneous elements. Observe that for a torsion-free grading group, K-factoriality is equivalent to the usual unique factorization property but in general it is weaker.

In a first step, we describe all finitely generated integral K-algebras R that admit an effective factorial K-grading of complexity one, where effective means that the weights  $w \in K$  with  $R_w \neq 0$  generate K as a group and complexity one means that the rational vector space  $K \otimes \mathbb{Q}$  is of dimension one less than R. The first results in this direction concern the case  $R_0 = \mathbb{K}$  in dimension two, see [66, 61]. The case  $R_0 = \mathbb{K}$  in arbitrary dimension was settled in [44] and occurs as part of Type 2 in our subsequent considerations. A simple example of Type 1 presented below is the coordinate algebra of the

special linear group SL(2):

$$R = \mathbb{K}[T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4] / \langle T_1 T_2 - T_3 T_4 - 1 \rangle, \qquad Q = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix},$$

where the matrix Q specifies a  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -grading of R by assigning to the variable  $T_i$  the *i*th column of Q as its degree; if  $\mathbb{T} \subseteq SL(2)$  denotes the diagonal torus, this grading reflects the action of  $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}$  on SL(2) given by  $(s, t) \cdot A = sAt^{-1}$ . Here comes the general construction.

**Construction 2.1.1.** Fix integers r, n > 0,  $m \ge 0$  and a partition  $n = n_{\iota} + \ldots + n_r$  starting at  $\iota \in \{0, 1\}$ . For each  $\iota \le i \le r$ , fix a tuple  $l_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^{n_i}$  and define a monomial

$$T_{i}^{l_{i}} := T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_{i}}^{l_{in_{i}}} \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_{k}; \ \iota \le i \le r, \ 1 \le j \le n_{i}, \ 1 \le k \le m]$$

We will also write  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  for the above polynomial ring. We distinguish two settings for the input data A and  $P_0$  of the graded  $\mathbb{K}$ -algebra  $R(A, P_0)$ .

Type 1. Take  $\iota = 1$ . Let  $A := (a_1, \ldots, a_r)$  be a list of pairwise different elements of K. Set  $I := \{1, \ldots, r-1\}$  and define for every  $i \in I$  a polynomial

$$g_i := T_i^{l_i} - T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}} - (a_{i+1} - a_i) \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$$

We build up an  $r \times (n+m)$  matrix from the exponent vectors  $l_1, \ldots, l_r$  of these polynomials:

	$\lceil l_1$		0	0	 0	
$P_0 :=$	:	·	÷	÷	:	
	0		$l_r$	0	 0	

Type 2. Take  $\iota = 0$ . Let  $A := (a_0, \ldots, a_r)$  be a  $2 \times (r+1)$ -matrix with pairwise linearly independent columns  $a_i \in \mathbb{K}^2$ . Set  $I := \{0, \ldots, r-2\}$  and for every  $i \in I$  define

$$g_i := \det \begin{bmatrix} T_i^{l_i} & T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}} & T_{i+2}^{l_{i+2}} \\ a_i & a_{i+1} & a_{i+2} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k].$$

We build up an  $r \times (n+m)$  matrix from the exponent vectors  $l_0, \ldots, l_r$  of these polynomials:

$$P_0 := \begin{bmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -l_0 & 0 & & l_r & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

We now define the ring  $R(A, P_0)$  simultaneously for both types in terms of the data A and  $P_0$ . Denote by  $P_0^*$  the transpose of  $P_0$  and consider the projection

$$Q \colon \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K_0 := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} / \mathrm{im}(P_0^*).$$

Denote by  $e_{ij}, e_k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  the canonical basis vectors corresponding to the variables  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$ . Define a  $K_0$ -grading on  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  by setting

$$\deg(T_{ij}) := Q(e_{ij}) \in K_0, \qquad \deg(S_k) := Q(e_k) \in K_0$$

This is the coarsest possible grading of  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  leaving the variables and the  $g_i$  homogeneous. In particular, we have a  $K_0$ -graded factor algebra

$$R(A, P_0) := \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]/\langle g_i; i \in I \rangle.$$

We gather the basic properties of the graded algebras just constructed; the corresponding proofs are given in Section 2.2. Below, we mean by a  $K_0$ -prime element a homogeneous non-zero non-unit which, whenever it divides a product of homogeneous elements, it also divides one of the factors.

**Theorem 2.1.2.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a  $K_0$ -graded ring as provided by Construction 2.1.1.

- (i) The ring  $R(A, P_0)$  is an integral, normal complete intersection ring of dimension n + m r + 1.
- (ii) The  $K_0$ -grading on  $R(A, P_0)$  is effective, factorial of complexity one and  $R(A, P_0)$  has only constant invertible homogeneous elements.
- (iii) The variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  define pairwise nonassociated  $K_0$ -prime generators for  $R(A, P_0)$ .
- (iv) In case of Type 1, suppose  $r \ge 2$  and  $n_i l_{ij} > 1$  for all i, j. Then  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial if and only if one of the following statements holds:
  - (a) One has  $gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i}) = 1$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, r$  or, equivalently,  $K_0$  is torsion free.
  - (b)  $P_0 = [2E_2, 0]$  holds.
- (v) In case of Type 2, suppose  $r \ge 2$  and  $n_i l_{ij} > 1$  for all i, j. Then the following statements are equivalent:
  - (a)  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial.
  - (b) Any two of the  $l_i := \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$ , where  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , are coprime.
  - (c)  $K_0$  is torsion free.
- (vi) In case of Type 1, the degree zero part  $R(A, P_0)_0$  is isomorphic to a polynomial ring in one variable over  $\mathbb{K}$ , and in case of Type 2, one has  $R(A, P_0)_0 = \mathbb{K}$ .

Observe that the situation of (iv) can always be achieved by eliminating the variables that occur in a linear term of some relation. The following result shows that Construction 2.1.1 yields in fact all affine algebras with property (ii) of the above theorem; see Section 2.2 for the proof.

**Theorem 2.1.3.** Every finitely generated, integral, normal K-algebra with an effective, factorial grading of complexity one by a finitely generated abelian group and only constant invertible homogeneous elements is isomorphic to a  $K_0$ -graded K-algebra  $R(A, P_0)$  as provided by Construction 2.1.1. We turn to Cox rings of rational varieties with a torus action of complexity one. They will be obtained as suitable downgradings of the algebras  $R(A, P_0)$  of Construction 2.1.1. Here comes the precise recipe.

**Construction 2.1.4.** Let integers r,  $n = n_{\iota} + \ldots + n_r$ , m and data A and  $P_0$  of Type 1 or Type 2 as in Construction 2.1.1. Fix  $1 \le s \le n + m - r$ , choose an integral  $s \times (n+m)$  matrix d and build the  $(r + s) \times (n + m)$  stack matrix

$$P := \left[ \begin{array}{c} P_0 \\ d \end{array} \right].$$

We require the columns of P to be pairwise different primitive vectors generating  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$ as a vector space. Let  $P^*$  denote the transpose of P and consider the projection

$$Q: \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} / \mathrm{im}(P^*).$$

Denoting as before by  $e_{ij}, e_k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  the canonical basis vectors corresponding to the variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$ , we obtain a K-grading on  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  by setting

$$\deg(T_{ij}) := Q(e_{ij}) \in K, \qquad \deg(S_k) := Q(e_k) \in K$$

This K-grading coarsens the  $K_0$ -grading of  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  given in Construction 2.1.1. In particular, we have the K-graded factor algebra

$$R(A, P) := \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k] / \langle g_i; i \in I \rangle.$$

We present the basic properties of this construction; see Section 2.2 for the proof. Recall from [6] that the K-grading of R(A, P) is almost free if for any choice of n + m - 1 out of the n + m variables  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$ , the respective degrees generate the grading group K; geometrically this means that the quasitorus Spec  $\mathbb{K}[K]$  acts freely on an open subset of Spec R(A, P) having complement of codimension at least two.

**Theorem 2.1.5.** Let R(A, P) be a K-graded ring as provided by Construction 2.1.4.

- (i) The K-grading on R(A, P) is almost free, factorial, and R(A, P) has only constant invertible homogeneous elements.
- (ii) The variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  define pairwise different nonassociated K-prime generators for R(A, P).

Knowledge of the Cox ring allows to (re)construct the underlying varieties. As in the complete case, we will obtain  $A_2$ -varieties, i.e. varieties admitting an embedding into a toric variety. This comprises in particular the affine and, more generally, the quasiprojective case. We make use of the language of bunched rings, see Section 1.3 for an introduction.

**Construction 2.1.6.** Let R(A, P) be a K-graded ring as provided by Construction 2.1.4 and  $\mathfrak{F} = (T_{ij}, S_k)$  the canonical system of generators. Consider

$$H := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K], \qquad \overline{X}(A, P) := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P),$$

Then H is a quasitorus and the K-grading of R(A, P) defines an action of H on  $\overline{X}$ . Any true  $\mathfrak{F}$ -bunch  $\Phi$  defines an H-invariant open set and a good quotient

$$\widehat{X}(A, P, \Phi) \subseteq \overline{X}(A, P), \qquad X(A, P, \Phi) := \widehat{X}(A, P, \Phi) //H.$$

The action of  $H_0 = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K_0]$  leaves  $\widehat{X}(A, P, \Phi)$  invariant and induces an action of the torus  $T = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\mathbb{Z}^s]$  on  $X(A, P, \Phi)$ .

From [6, Thm. 3.2.1.4] we infer the following properties of the varieties arising via this construction; the proof of rationality is given in Section 2.2.

**Theorem 2.1.7.** Consider a T-variety  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  as provided by Construction 2.1.6. Then X is a normal, rational  $A_2$ -variety with only constant invertible functions and the action of T on X is of complexity one. Dimension, divisor class group and Cox ring of X are given by

$$\dim(X) = s+1, \qquad \operatorname{Cl}(X) \cong K, \qquad \mathcal{R}(X) \cong R(A, P).$$

Note that, according to Theorem 2.1.2 (v), for a given  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$ , its Cox ring R(A, P) arises from data of Type 2 if and only if X has only constant T-invariant functions. In case of Type 1, the algebra of T-invariant functions is a polynomial ring in one variable over  $\mathbb{K}$ .

The following converse for Theorem 2.1.7 is proven in Section 2.2 and concerns  $A_2$ -maximal varieties that means  $A_2$ -varieties that cannot be realized as an open subset with nonempty complement of codimension at least two in another  $A_2$ -variety; this setting includes in particular the affine and, more generally, the semiprojective case, i.e., varieties being projective over an affine one.

**Theorem 2.1.8.** Let X be an irreducible, normal, rational,  $A_2$ -maximal variety with only constant invertible functions, finitely generated divisor class group and a torus action of complexity one. Then X is equivariantly isomorphic to a variety  $X(A, P, \Phi)$ provided by Construction 2.1.6.

In the case of *affine*, normal, rational varieties with a torus action of complexity one, the whole machinery boils down to the following statement.

**Corollary 2.1.9.** Let X be an irreducible, normal, rational affine variety with only constant invertible functions, finitely generated divisor class group and an effective algebraic torus action of complexity one. Then X is equivariantly isomorphic to a variety Spec  $R(A, P)_0$  acted on by the torus  $H_0/H$ , where R(A, P) is as in Construction 2.1.4 and the columns of P generate the extremal rays of a pointed cone in  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$ .

In Section 2.3 we turn towards the geometry of the varieties of complexity one constructed in this section, presenting i.a. methods for the resolution of singularities.

Finally, in Section 2.4, we illustrate our methods by discussing the well-known case of normal affine  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surfaces [36, 38]. We take a closer look at du Val singularities and show how their Cox rings and resolutions are obtained using our framework; see [33, 62, 29] for earlier treatments based on other methods.

### 2.2 Proofs of the results of Section 2.1

We first show that the algebras provided by Constructions 2.1.1 and 2.1.4 have indeed the desired properties: the assertions of Theorem 2.1.2 are verified in Propositions 2.2.1 to 2.2.8, where we restrict to Type 1 and refer to [6, Section 3.4.2] for the corresponding statements on Type 2. Then Theorems 2.1.5, 2.1.7, 2.1.8 and Corollary 2.1.9 are proven. We work in the notation of Constructions 2.1.1 and 2.1.4.

**Proposition 2.2.1.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a  $\mathbb{K}$ -algebra of Type 1 as in Construction 2.1.1. Then every  $K_0$ -homogeneous invertible element of  $R(A, P_0)$  is constant.

**Lemma 2.2.2.** Notation as for Type 1 in Construction 2.1.1. For any two indices  $1 \le i, j \le r$ , set

$$g_{ij} := T_i^{l_i} - T_j^{l_j} + a_i - a_j.$$

For any three  $1 \leq i, j, k \leq r$ , we have  $g_{ij} = g_{ik} - g_{jk}$  and  $G := \{g_{ir}; 1 \leq i \leq r-1\}$  is a reduced Gröbner basis with respect to the lexicographical ordering for  $\langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1} \rangle$ .

*Proof.* The identities among the  $g_{ij}$  are obvious. Since  $g_i = g_{i\,i+1}$  holds, we see that G generates  $\langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1} \rangle$ . With  $\alpha_{ij} := a_j - a_i$ , the S-polynomials of G are of the form

$$T_i^{l_i}T_r^{l_r} - T_j^{l_j}T_r^{l_r} + T_i^{l_i}\alpha_{jr} - T_j^{l_j}\alpha_{ir} = g_{ir}(T_r^{l_r} + \alpha_{jr}) - g_{jr}(T_r^{l_r} + \alpha_{ir}).$$

In particular, they all reduce to zero with respect to G and thus G is the desired Gröbner basis for  $\langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1} \rangle$ . Obviously G is reduced.

Proof of Proposition 2.2.1. Let  $f \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  define a  $K_0$ -homogeneous unit in  $R(A, P_0)$  with inverse defined by  $g \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$ . We first show that f and hence g is of  $K_0$ -degree zero. We have a presentation

$$fg - 1 = \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} h_i g_i, \qquad h_i \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k].$$

Suppose that f is of nonzero  $K_0$ -degree. Then g is so and the constant term of fg - 1 equals -1. Thus, at least one of the  $h_i$  must have a nonzero constant term and we may rewrite the presentation as

$$fg-1 = \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \tilde{h}_i g_i + \beta_i g_i = \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \tilde{h}_i g_i + \beta_i (T_i^{l_i} - T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}} - \alpha_{i\,i+1}),$$

where the  $\tilde{h}_i \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  have constant term zero and at least one  $\beta_i$  is nonzero. Adding 1 to the left and the right hand side gives

$$fg = \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \tilde{h}_i g_i + \beta_i (T_i^{l_i} - T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}}).$$

By Lemma 2.2.2, at least two different  $T_j^{l_j}$ ,  $T_k^{l_k}$  are not cancelled on the right hand side. Consider monomials  $f_j$ ,  $f_k$  of f dividing  $T_j^{l_j}$ ,  $T_k^{l_k}$  respectively. Since f is  $K_0$ -homogeneous, the exponents of  $f_j$  and  $f_k$  differ by an element of the row lattice of  $P_0$ . This works only for  $f_j = 1$  or  $f_j = T_j^{l_j}$ . We conclude that f and hence g is of  $K_0$ -degree zero; a contradiction.

Having seen that f and g are of  $K_0$ -degree zero, we conclude that they are polynomials in the  $T_i^{l_i}$ . Using the structure of the  $g_{ir}$  we may bring the representatives f and g in the form

$$f = \sum_{i} \lambda_i (T_r^{l_r})^i, \qquad g = \sum_{j} \kappa_j (T_r^{l_r})^j$$

Then also fg - 1 is a polynomial in  $T_r^{l_r}$ . Since fg - 1 belongs to  $\langle g_{1r}, \ldots, g_{r-1r} \rangle$ , its reduction by the set G of Lemma 2.2.2 equals zero. This means fg - 1 = 0 and thus  $f, g \in \mathbb{K}^*$ .

**Proposition 2.2.3.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a K-algebra of Type 1 as in Construction 2.1.1. Then  $R(A, P_0)$  is an integral, regular complete intersection of dimension n + m - r + 1. The  $K_0$ -grading of  $R(A, P_0)$  is effective and of complexity one. Moreover, the degree zero part  $R(A, P_0)_0$  is a polynomial ring in one variable over K.

**Lemma 2.2.4.** Let G be a quasitorus and X a (normal) affine G-variety with only constant invertible homogeneous functions. Then X is connected (irreducible).

Proof. Consider the induced action of G on the set  $Y = \{X_1, \ldots, X_r\}$  of connected components. Then Y is a single G-orbit, because otherwise we can write X as a union of disjoint open G-invariant sets which in turn yields nonconstant invertible functions on X. The stabilizer  $G_1 \subseteq G$  of  $X_1 \in Y$  is a closed subgroup and we have the homomorphism  $\pi \colon G \to G/G_1$ . Write  $X_i = g_i \cdot X_1$  with suitable  $g_1, \ldots, g_r \in G$ . Then, for every character  $\mathbb{X}$  on  $G/G_1$ , we obtain an invertible regular function  $f_{\mathbb{X}}$  on X sending  $x \in g_i \cdot X_1$  to  $\mathbb{X}(\pi(g_i))$ . By construction,  $f_{\mathbb{X}}$  is homogeneous with respect to  $\mathbb{X}$ . Thus every  $f_{\mathbb{X}}$  is constant, which means  $G = G_1$  and thus  $X = X_1$ .

Proof of Proposition 2.2.3. Consider  $\overline{X} := V(g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1}) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{m+n}$ . We first show that for every  $z \in \overline{X}$  the Jacobian of  $g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1}$  is of full rank. The Jacobian is of the form  $(J_q, 0)$  with

$$J_g := \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{1,1} & \delta_{1,2} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \delta_{2,2} & \delta_{1,3} & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 0 & & 0 & \delta_{2,r-2} & \delta_{1,r-1} & 0 \\ 0 & & \cdots & 0 & \delta_{2,r-1} & \delta_{1,r} \end{bmatrix}$$

where each  $\delta_{t,i}$  is a nonzero multiple of  $\delta_i := \text{grad } T_i^{l_i}$ . Let  $z \in \mathbb{K}^{m+n}$  be any point with  $J_g(z)$  not of full rank. Then  $\delta_i(z) = \delta_j(z) = 0$  for some  $i \neq j$ . This implies  $z_{ik} = 0 = z_{jl}$ 

for some  $0 \le k \le n_i$ ,  $0 \le l \le n_j$ . It follows  $T_i^{l_i}(z) = T_j^{l_j}(z) = 0$  and thus  $z \notin \overline{X}$ . So the Jacobian is of full rank for any  $z \in \overline{X}$ .

We conclude that  $g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1}$  generate the vanishing ideal of  $\overline{X}$  and that  $\overline{X} =$ Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  is smooth. Lemma 2.2.4 yields that  $\overline{X}$  is connected and, by smoothness, irreducible. Thus  $R(A, P_0)$  is integral. Moreover the dimension of  $\overline{X}$  and hence  $R(A, P_0)$  is n + m - (r - 1) and thus  $R(A, P_0)$  is a complete intersection.

Effectivity of the  $K_0$ -grading means that the degrees of the generators  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  generate  $K_0$  as a group and is given by construction. As well by construction, the monomials  $T_1^{l_1}, \ldots, T_r^{l_r}$  generate the degree zero part of the  $K_0$ -grading of  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$ . Lemma 2.2.2 yields the relations  $T_1^{l_1} = T_i^{l_i} - a_1 + a_i$ , where  $2 \le i \le r$ , in  $R(A, P_0)$  and we arrive at  $R(A, P_0)_0 = \mathbb{K}[T_1^{l_1}] \cong \mathbb{K}[T]$ .

**Proposition 2.2.5.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 1. Then the variables  $T_{ij}, S_k$  define pairwise nonassociated  $K_0$ -prime elements in  $R(A, P_0)$ . If furthermore the ring  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial,  $P_0 \neq [2E_2, 0]$  and  $n_i l_{ij} > 1$  holds, then  $T_{ij}$  is even prime.

*Proof.* First observe that, by the nature of relations, any two different variables define a zero set of codimension at least two in  $\overline{X}$ . Thus the variables are pairwise non-associated. Since  $R(A, P_0)$  is integral and  $R(A, P_0) \cong R(A, P'_0)[S_1, \ldots, S_m]$  holds with  $P'_0$  obtained from  $P_0$  by deleting the zero columns, the  $S_k$  are even prime.

We now turn to the  $T_{ij}$  and exemplarily treat  $T_{11}$ . The task is to show that the divisor of  $T_{11}$  in  $\overline{X}$  is  $H_0$ -prime that means that its prime components have multiplicity one and are transitively permuted by  $H_0$ . First we claim

$$V(\overline{X};T_{11}) := V(T_{11}) \cap \overline{X} = \overline{H_0 \cdot z} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$$

Indeed, the zero set of  $T_{11}$  in  $\overline{X}$  is given by the equations

$$T_{11} = 0, \qquad T_s^{l_s} = a_s - a_1, \qquad 2 \le s \le r.$$

Set  $h := T_{12} \cdots T_{rn_r} \cdot S_1 \cdots S_m$  and let  $z \in \mathbb{K}_h^{n+m}$  be a point satisfying the above equations. Then z is of the form  $(0, z_{12}, \ldots, z_{rn_r}, z_1, \ldots, z_m)$  with nonzero  $z_{ij}$  and  $z_k$  and any other such point  $z' \in \mathbb{K}_h^{n+m}$  is given as

$$z' = t \cdot z = (0, t_{12}z_{12}, \dots, t_{rn_r}z_{rn_r}, t_1z_1, \dots, t_mz_m), \quad t \in (\mathbb{K}^*)^{n+m}, \quad t_s^{l_s} = 1.$$

This means  $t \in H_0$  and  $V(\overline{X}_h; T_{11}) = H_0 \cdot z$ . Since the common zero set of any two different variables is of codimension at least two in  $\overline{X}$ , our claim follows. In particular,  $H_0$  permutes transitively the components of the divisor defined by  $T_{11}$  on  $\overline{X}$ . To obtain only multiplicities one, observe that the Jacobian of the above equations is of full rank at any point of  $H_0 \cdot z \subseteq V(\overline{X}; T_{11})$ .

The supplement is shown in 4.4.11.

**Proposition 2.2.6.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 1. Then  $R(A, P_0)$  is  $K_0$ -factorial.

*Proof.* First observe that the quasitorus  $H_0 \cong \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K_0]$  equals the kernel of the homomorphism of tori

$$\varphi \colon \mathbb{T}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{T}^r, \qquad (t_{ij}, t_k) \mapsto (t_1^{l_1}, \dots, t_r^{l_r}).$$

Denote the coordinates of  $\mathbb{T}^r$  by  $U_1, \ldots, U_r$ . Then the relations  $g_i$  are pullbacks of the affine linear forms

$$g_i = \varphi^*(h_i), \qquad h_i := U_i - U_{i+1} - (a_{i+1} - a_i) \in \mathbb{K}[U_1^{\pm}, \dots, U_r^{\pm 1}].$$

The  $h_i$  generate the vanishing ideal of an r times punctured affine line in  $\mathbb{T}^r$  and thus

$$(R(A, P_0)_t)_0 = \mathbb{K}[U_1^{\pm}, \dots, U_r^{\pm 1}]/\langle h_1, \dots, h_{r-1} \rangle$$

is a factorial ring, where t is the product over all the variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$ . Now Proposition 2.2.5 and [6, Cor. 3.4.1.6] tell us that  $R(A, P_0)$  is  $K_0$ -factorial.

**Proposition 2.2.7.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 1. Then the variable  $T_{ij}$  is prime in  $R(A, P_0)$  if and only if  $1 = \gcd(l_{k1}, \ldots, l_{kn_k})$  holds for all  $k \neq i$ .

*Proof.* We treat exemplarily  $T_{11}$ . By Lemma 2.2.2, the ideal of relations of  $R(A, P_0)$  is generated by  $g_{12}, \ldots, g_{1r}$ . Thus  $T_{11}$  generates a prime ideal if and only if the following ideal is prime

$$\langle T_j^{l_j} + a_j - a_1; \ j \neq 1 \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}; \ (i,j) \neq (1,1)].$$

This is equivalent to the statement that  $(l_2, 0, ..., 0), ..., (0, ..., 0, l_r)$  generate a primitive sublattice of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n-n_1}$ . This in turn holds if and only if  $l_{k1}, ..., l_{kn_k}$  have greatest common divisor one for all  $k \neq 1$ .

**Proposition 2.2.8.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 1 with  $P_0 \neq [2E_2, 0]$  and suppose that  $r \geq 2$  and  $n_i l_{ij} > 1$  hold for all i, j. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The ring  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial.
- (ii) The group  $K_0$  is torsion free.
- (iii) We have  $gcd(l_{i1}, ..., l_{in_i}) = 1$  for i = 1, ..., r.
- (iv) The variables  $T_{ij}$  are prime for all i, j.

Proof. Let  $K_0$  be torsion free. Then  $K_0$ -factoriality implies factoriality of  $R(A, P_0)$ , see [6, Thm. 3.4.1.11]. If  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial, then Proposition 2.2.5 says that the generators  $T_{ij}$  are prime. This implies  $gcd(l_{k1}, \ldots, l_{kn_k}) = 1$  for all k, see Proposition 2.2.7. If the latter holds, then the rows of  $P_0$  generate a primitive sublattice of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  and thus  $K_0$  is torsion free.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.5. We first show that every K-homogeneous unit  $f \in R(A, P)_w$  is constant. For this, it suffices to show that f is  $K_0$ -homogeneous, see Proposition 2.2.1. From [6, Rem. 3.4.3.2] we infer that the downgrading map  $K_0 \to K$  has kernel  $\mathbb{Z}^s$ . Consider the inverse  $g \in R(A, P)_{-w}$  of  $f \in R(A, P)_w$  and the decompositions into  $K_0$ -homogeneous parts

$$f = \sum f_i, \quad f_i \in R(A, P_0)_{u_i}, \qquad g = \sum g_j, \quad g_j \in R(A, P_0)_{v_j},$$

where  $u_i = w_0 + u'_i$  with  $u'_i \in \mathbb{Z}^s$  and  $v_j = -w_0 + v'_j$  with  $v'_j \in \mathbb{Z}^s$  for some fixed  $w_0 \in K_0$ projecting to  $w \in K$ ; we identify the kernel of  $K_0 \to K$  with  $\mathbb{Z}^s$ . Let  $f_{i_0}, f_{i_1}, g_{j_0}, g_{j_1}$ denote the terms, where  $u'_{i_0}, v'_{j_0}$  are minimal and  $u'_{i_1}, v'_{j_1}$  are maximal with respect to the lexicographical ordering on  $\mathbb{Z}^s$ . As 1 is of  $K_0$ -degree zero, we obtain

$$0 = \deg(f_{i_0}g_{j_0}) = w_0 + u'_{i_0} - w_0 + v'_{j_0} = u'_{i_0} + v'_{j_0}.$$

and analogously  $u'_{i_1} + v'_{j_1} = 0$ . We conclude  $u'_{i_0} = u'_{i_1}$  and  $v'_{j_0} = v'_{j_1}$ . Consequently, f is homogeneous with respect to the  $K_0$ -grading.

Using [6, Lemma 2.1.4.1], we see that the K-grading of R(A, P) is almost free. By [6, Lemma 3.4.3.5], the variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  define pairwise nonassociated K-primes in R(A, P). Finally, [6, Thms. 3.4.1.5, 3.4.1.11 and Cor. 3.4.1.6] show that the K-grading of R(A, P) is factorial.

Now we turn to the converse statements. For this, we adapt the ideas of [49] to our more general setting.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.3. Consider  $X = \operatorname{Spec} R$  with the action of  $H := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K]$  defined by the grading. We follow the lines of [6, Sec. 4.4.2]. Denote by  $E_1, \ldots, E_m$  the prime divisors on X such that for any  $x \in E_k$  the isotropy group  $H_x$  is infinite and consider the H-invariant open subset

$$X_0 := \{x \in X; H_x \text{ is finite}\} \subseteq X.$$

Then there is a geometric quotient  $X_0 \to X_0/H$  with a possibly non-separated smooth curve  $X_0/H$ . Consider the separation  $X_0/H \to Y$  and let  $a_i, \ldots, a_r \in Y$  be points such that every fiber of  $X_0/H \to Y$  comprising more than one point lies over some  $a_i$  and every prime divisor of X with non-trivial general H-isotropy lies over some  $a_i$ ; we denote these prime divisors by  $D_{ij}$ , where the *i* indicates that  $D_{ij}$  lies over  $a_i$ .

According to [6, Thm. 4.4.2.1], this quotient is the characteristic space over the possibly non-separated curve  $X_0/H$  and we have a canonical well-defined pullback isomorphism of K-graded algebras

$$\mathcal{R}(X_0/H)[T_{ij}, S_k]/\langle T_{ij}^{l_{ij}} - 1_{z_{ij}} \rangle \rightarrow \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}),$$

where  $S_k$  and  $T_{ij}$  are sent to functions with divisor  $E_k$  and  $D_{ij}$  respectively and  $1_{z_{ij}}$  is the pullback of the canonical section of a point  $z_{ij} \in X_0/H$  lying over  $y_i \in Y$ . As  $X_0/H$ is smooth, has only constant invertible global functions and finitely generated divisor class group, we end up with Y being either the affine or the projective line. The Cox ring of  $X_0/H$  is given as

$$\mathcal{R}(X_0/H) = \mathcal{R}(Y)[U_{ij}]/\langle U_{i1}\cdots U_{in_i} - 1_{a_i} \rangle,$$

where the  $U_{ij}$  represent the canonical sections of the points  $z_{i1}, \ldots, z_{in_i} \in X_0/H$  lying over  $a_i \in Y$  and  $1_{a_i}$  is the pullback of the canonical section of  $a_i$  with respect to  $X_0/H \to Y$ , see [6, Prop. 4.4.3.4]. Now, if  $Y = \mathbb{K}$  holds, we set i := 1 and represent  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  as

$$\mathcal{R}(Y) = \mathbb{K}[V_1, \dots, V_r] / \langle V_i - V_{i+1} - (a_{i+1} - a_i) \rangle.$$

Plugging this into the above descriptions of  $\mathcal{R}(X_0/H)$  and  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})$  gives us Type 1 of Construction 2.1.1. If  $Y = \mathbb{P}_1$  holds, then we set i := 0, replace the  $a_i \in Y$  with representatives  $a_i \in \mathbb{K}^2 \setminus \{0\}$  and obtain

$$\mathcal{R}(Y) = \mathbb{K}[V_0, \dots, V_r] / \langle g_0, \dots, g_{r-2} \rangle, \qquad h_i := \det \begin{bmatrix} V_i & V_{i+1} & V_{i+2} \\ a_i & a_{i+1} & a_{i+2} \end{bmatrix}$$

Combining this description with the above presentations of  $\mathcal{R}(X_0/H)$  and  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})$  leads to Type 2 of Construction 2.1.1.

So far, we verified that the algebra  $R = \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})$  has the desired generators and relations. The generators are homogeneous with respect to  $K = \mathbb{X}(H)$ . As the  $K_0$ -grading of  $R(A, P_0)$  is the finest possible with this property, we obtain a downgrading map  $K_0 \to K$ . Using the arguments of the proof of [6, Thm. 4.4.2.2], we see that  $K_0 \to K$  is an isomorphism.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.7. From [6, Thm. 3.2.1.4] we infer all listed properties except rationality. For the latter, let  $U \subseteq X(A, P)$  be the open subset obtained by removing the prime divisors corresponding to the  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$ . Then U is affine, T acts freely on Uwith a geometric quotient  $p: U \to C$  onto a smooth affine curve C. Suitably shrinking U, we find invertible T-homogeneous functions  $f_1, \ldots, f_s$  on U, the weights of which form a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis of the character group of T. Then  $(p, f_1, \ldots, f_s)$  defines an isomorphism  $U \cong C \times (\mathbb{K}^*)^s$ . Since  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$  is finitely generated, also  $\operatorname{Cl}(C)$  is so. Consequently, C is rational and thus X is rational.  $\Box$ 

*Proof of Theorem 2.1.8.* One follows exactly the proof of [6, Thm. 4.4.1.6], but uses our more general Theorem 2.1.5 instead of [6, Thm. 4.4.2.2].  $\Box$ 

Proof of Corollary 2.1.9. Theorem 2.1.8 tells us  $X \cong X(A, P, \Phi)$  as in Construction 2.1.6. Since X is affine, the open subset  $\widehat{X}(A, P, \Phi)$  equals the total coordinate space  $\overline{X}(A, P)$ . The latter means that  $\Phi$  contains the trivial cone  $\{0\}$ . This is equivalent to saying that the columns of P generate the extremal rays of a pointed cone in  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$ .

#### 2.3 Geometry of complexity one *T*-varieties

In this section we adapt the construction of a canonical toric ambient variety from [6, Sec. 3.2.5]. As a first application we show that varieties  $X(A, P, \Phi)$  with Cox ring R(A, P) of Type 1 such that  $l_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i} > 1$  holds for all  $i = \iota, \ldots, r$  are non-toric. Moreover we extend the resolution of singularities [6, Thm. 3.4.4.9] to our setting.

**Remark 2.3.1.** Consider the defining matrix P of a K-graded ring R(A, P) as in Construction 2.1.4. Write  $v_{ij} = P(e_{ij})$  and  $v_k = P(e_k)$  for the columns of P. The *i*-th column block of P is  $(v_{i1}, \ldots, v_{in_i})$  and by the data of this block we mean  $l_i$  and the  $s \times n_i$  block  $d_i$  of d. We introduce admissible operations on P:

- (i) swap two columns inside a block  $v_{i1}, \ldots, v_{in_i}$ ,
- (ii) exchange the data  $l_{i_1}, d_{i_1}$  and  $l_{i_2}, d_{i_2}$  of two column blocks,
- (iii) add multiples of the upper r rows to one of the last s rows,
- (iv) any elementary row operation among the last s rows,
- (v) swapping among the last m columns.

The operations of type (iii) and (iv) do not change the associated ring R(A, P), whereas the types (i), (ii), (v) correspond to certain renumberings of the variables of R(A, P)keeping the (graded) isomorphy type.

**Remark 2.3.2.** If R(A, P) is not a polynomial ring, then we can always assume that P is *irredundant* in the sense that  $l_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i} > 1$  holds for  $i = \iota, \ldots, r$ . Indeed, if P is redundant, then we have  $n_i = 1$  and  $l_{i1} = 1$  for some i. After an admissible operation of type (ii), we may assume i = r. Now, erasing  $v_{r1}$  and the r-th row of P and the last column from A produces new data defining a ring R(A, P) isomorphic to the previous one. Iterating this procedure leads to an R(A, P) isomorphic to the initial one but with irredundant P.

Toric embeddability is important in our subsequent considerations. More specifically, there is even a canonical embedding  $X \to Z$  into a toric variety such that X inherits many geometric properties from Z. The construction makes use of the tropical variety of X.

**Construction 2.3.3.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be obtained from Construction 2.1.6. The *tropical variety* of X is the fan trop(X) in  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  consisting of the cones

$$\lambda_i := \operatorname{cone}(v_{i1}) + \operatorname{lin}(e_{r+1}, \dots, e_{r+s}) \text{ for } i = \iota, \dots, r, \qquad \lambda := \lambda_{\iota} \cap \dots \cap \lambda_r,$$

where  $v_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$  denote the first *n* columns of *P* and  $e_k \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$  the *k*-th canonical basis vector; we call  $\lambda_i$  a *leaf* and  $\lambda$  the *lineality part* of trop(*X*).



**Construction 2.3.4.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be obtained from Construction 2.1.6. For a face  $\delta_0 \leq \delta$  of the orthant  $\delta \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$ , let  $\delta_0^* \leq \delta$  denote the complementary face and call  $\delta_0$  relevant if

- the relative interior of  $P(\delta_0)$  intersects trop(X),
- the image  $Q(\delta_0^*)$  comprises a cone of  $\Phi$ ,

where  $Q: \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/P^*(\mathbb{Z}^{r+s})$  is the projection. Then we obtain fans  $\widehat{\Sigma}$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  and  $\Sigma$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$  of pointed cones by setting

$$\Sigma := \{ \delta_1 \leq \delta_0; \ \delta_0 \leq \delta \text{ relevant} \}, \qquad \Sigma := \{ \sigma \leq P(\delta_0); \ \delta_0 \leq \delta \text{ relevant} \}.$$

The toric varieties  $\widehat{Z}$  and Z associated with  $\widehat{\Sigma}$  and  $\Sigma$ , respectively, and  $\overline{Z} = \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  fit into a commutative diagramm of characteristic spaces and total coordinate spaces

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \overline{X}(A,P) & \subseteq & \overline{Z} \\ & & & \cup \\ \widehat{X}(A,P,\Phi) & \subseteq & \widehat{Z} \\ & & & & \\ \# & & & & \\ X(A,P,\Phi) & \subseteq & Z \end{array}$$

The horizontal inclusions are *T*-equivariant closed embeddings, where *T* acts on *Z* as the subtorus of the (r+s)-torus corresponding to  $0 \times \mathbb{Z}^s \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$ . Moreover,  $X(A, P, \Phi)$  intersects every closed toric orbit of *Z*.

We call Z from Construction 2.3.4 the minimal toric ambient variety of  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$ . Observe that the rays of the fan  $\Sigma$  of Z have precisely the columns of the matrix P as its primitive generators. In particular, every ray of  $\Sigma$  lies on the tropical variety trop(X).

**Theorem 2.3.5.** Let  $X := X(A, P, \Phi)$  be as in Construction 2.1.6 with R(A, P) irredundant of Type 1. Then X is not a toric variety.

Proof. Assume X is a toric variety. Then its Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X) = R(A, P)$  is a polynomial ring and  $\overline{X} := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P) \cong \mathbb{K}^t$  holds. By construction  $\overline{X}$  is endowed with an  $H_0 := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K_0]$ -action of complexity one. As  $\overline{X}$  is factorial  $H_0$  is indeed a torus and the  $H_0$ -action on  $\overline{X}$  induces an action of a torus  $\mathbb{T}^{t-1}$  on  $\mathbb{K}^t$ . By [15, 16] this torus action arises as a subtorus action of the maximal torus. Consider the H-invariant isomorphic open subsets

$$(\mathbb{K}^t)_0 := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{K}^t; \ \mathbb{T}_x^{t-1} \text{ is finite } \right\} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^t, \qquad \overline{X}_0 := \left\{ x \in \overline{X}; \ (H_0)_x \text{ is finite } \right\} \subseteq \overline{X}.$$

Then there are geometric quotients

$$(\mathbb{K}^t)_0 \to (\mathbb{K}^t)_0 /\!\!/ \mathbb{T}^{t-1} \text{ and } \overline{X}_0 \to \overline{X}_0 /\!\!/ H_0$$

with possibly non-separated smooth curves  $(\mathbb{K}^t)_0 /\!\!/ \mathbb{T}^{t-1}$  and  $\overline{X}_0 /\!\!/ H_0$ . Consider the separation  $\overline{X}_0 /\!\!/ H_0 \to Y$  and call a points  $a \in Y$ , where a fiber of  $\overline{X}_0 /\!\!/ H_0 \to Y$  comprising more than one point lies over a or a prime divisor of  $\overline{X}_0$  with non-trivial

general  $H_0$ -isotropy lies over a, a doubling point of Y. Analogously, consider the separation  $(\mathbb{K}^t)_0 /\!\!/ \mathbb{T}^{t-1} \to Y'$  and call the points  $a' \in Y'$ , where a fiber of  $(\mathbb{K}^t)_0 /\!\!/ \mathbb{T}^{t-1} \to Y'$ comprising more than one point lies over a' or a prime divisor of  $(\mathbb{K}^t)_0$  with non-trivial general  $\mathbb{T}^{t-1}$ -isotropy lies over a', a doubling points of Y'. Note that as  $\overline{X} \cong \mathbb{K}^t$  holds as T-varieties, the number of doubling points of Y' and Y coincide. Thus we compare the number of doubling points of Y.

As  $\mathbb{T}^{t-1}$  acts as a subtorus of the maximal torus the quotient  $(\mathbb{K}^t)_0 /\!\!/ \mathbb{T}^{t-1}$  has at most one doubling point at zero.

For counting the doubling points of Y we consider the embedding  $\overline{X} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$ . We obtain the following commutative diagramm:



where  $\mathbb{K}_0^{n+m} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  is the subset of all points with finite  $H_0$ -isotropy and  $\overline{X}_0 = \mathbb{K}_0^{n+m} \cap \overline{X}$  holds. First we determine the orders of isotropy groups. Every point in  $\mathbb{T}^{n+m}$  has trivial  $H_0$ -isotropy. Thus, we only have to look what happens on the sets  $V(T_{ij}) \cap \mathbb{K}_0^{n+m}$ . Applying [6, Prop. 2.1.4.2] we obtain that the order of isotropy group of  $H_0$  at any point  $x \in V(T_{ij}) \cap \mathbb{K}_0^{n+m}$  equals  $l_{ij}$ . Moreover the  $H_0$ -invariant divisors  $V(\overline{X}, T_{ij})$  are prime and two divisors  $V(\overline{X}, T_{ij})$  and  $V(\overline{X}, T_{ij'})$  are identified isomorphically under the separation map  $\overline{X}_0/H_0 \to Y$  In particular any term of the defining relations of  $\overline{X}$  with  $l_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i} > 1$  gives rise to exactly one doubling point of Y. As R(A, P) has at least one relation and P is irredundant we obtain more than two doubling points on Y. This contradicts  $\overline{X} \cong \mathbb{K}^t$ .

We turn towards resolution of singularities. The minimal toric ambient variety is crucial for the resolution of singularities. The following recipe for resolving singularities directly generalizes [6, Thm. 3.4.4.9]; a related approach using polyhedral divisors is presented in [62].

**Construction 2.3.6.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be obtained from Construction 2.1.6 and consider the canonical toric embedding  $X \subseteq Z$  and the defining fan  $\Sigma$  of Z.

- Let  $\Sigma' = \Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  be the coarsest common refinement.
- Let  $\Sigma''$  be any regular subdivision of the fan  $\Sigma'$ .

Then  $\Sigma'' \to \Sigma$  defines a proper toric morphism  $Z'' \to Z$  and with the proper transform  $X'' \subseteq Z''$  of  $X \subseteq Z$ , the morphism  $X'' \to X$  is a resolution of singularities.

**Remark 2.3.7.** In the setting of Construction 2.3.6, the variety X'' has again a torus action of complexity one and thus is of the form  $X'' = X(A'', P'', \Phi'')$ . We have A'' = A

and P'' is obtained from P by inserting the primitive generators of  $\Sigma''$  as new columns. Moreover,  $\Phi''$  is the Gale dual of  $\Sigma''$ , that means that with the corresponding projection Q'' and orthant  $\delta''$  we have

$$\Phi'' = \{Q''(\delta_0^*); \ \delta_0 \preceq \delta''; \ P''(\delta_0) \in \Sigma''\}.$$

**Proposition 2.3.8.** Consider a variety  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  of Type 2 as provided by Construction 2.1.6. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) One has  $\widehat{X} = \overline{X}$
- (ii) The variety X is affine.
- (iii) The minimal toric ambient variety Z of X is affine.
- (iv) One has  $\widehat{Z} = \overline{Z} = \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$ .

If one of these statements holds, then the columns of P generate the extremal rays of a full-dimensional cone  $\sigma \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  and we have  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}]$ .

*Proof.* Only for the implication "(ii) $\Rightarrow$ (iii)" there is something to show. As X is of Type 2, we have  $0 \in \overline{X} \subseteq \overline{Z} = \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$ . Since X is affine, we have  $\overline{X} = \widehat{X}$  and thus  $0 \in \widehat{Z}$ . We conclude  $\widehat{Z} = \overline{Z}$  and thus  $Z = \overline{Z}/\!\!/H$  is affine.

The characterization 2.3.8 (i) allows us to omit the bunch of cones  $\Phi$  in the affine case: we may just speak of the affine variety  $X = X(A, P) := \overline{X}/\!\!/H$ .

**Corollary 2.3.9.** Let X = X(A, P) be affine of Type 2. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The variety X is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial.
- (ii) The variety Z is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial.
- (iii) The columns of P are linearly independent.

*Proof.* The equivalence of (i) and (ii) is [6, Cor. 3.3.1.7], The equivalence of (ii) and (iii) is [24, Thm. 3.1.19 (b)].

**Corollary 2.3.10.** Let X = X(A, P) be affine of Type 2. Then the Picard group of X is trivial.

*Proof.* Proposition 2.3.8 says that the minimal toric ambient variety Z is affine. Thus, Z has trivial Picard group; see [24, Prop. 4.2.2]. According to [6, Cor. 3.3.1.12], the Picard group of X equals that of Z.

More generally one can show that in fact every normal affine variety admitting a torus action with an attractive orbit has trivial Picard group: every bundle can be linearized and the non-vanishing loci of its homogeneous sections form an invariant trivializing open cover. As one of these covering sets contains the attractive orbit, the bundle is trivial.

#### 2.4 Application: affine $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surfaces

To illustrate our methods, we consider the well-known case of normal affine  $\mathbb{K}^*$ surfaces [36, 38] and take a closer look at those with at most du Val singularities. By
Corollary 2.1.9, any *affine* rational normal variety X with only constant invertible functions and a torus action of complexity one is of the form

$$X = X(A, P) := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P)_0.$$

Moreover, using the fact that the columns of P generate the extremal rays of a pointed cone in  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  we directly obtain the following.

**Remark 2.4.1.** Consider a rational normal affine  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surface X = X(A, P). Then we have s = 1 and there are three possible cases for the defining matrix P:

- (i) The *elliptic* case: we are in Type 2 and we have  $n_0 = \ldots = n_r = 1$  and m = 0.
- (ii) The *parabolic* case: we are in Type 1 and we have  $n_1 = \ldots = n_r = 1$  and m = 1.
- (iii) The hyperbolic case: we are in Type 1 and we have  $n_1, \ldots, n_r \leq 2$  and m = 0.

**Example 2.4.2.** We consider the unique normal affine  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surface X of parabolic type with Cox ring

$$R(A, P) := \mathbb{K}[T_{11}, T_{21}, S_1] / \langle T_{11}^2 + T_{21}^2 + 1 \rangle,$$

where

$$P := \left[ \begin{array}{rrr} 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{array} \right].$$

In this case the total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{K}^* \times \mathbb{K}$ . The divisor class group of X is  $\operatorname{Cl}(X) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  and the  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ -grading of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X) = R(A, P)$ is given by

$$\deg(T_{11}) = (\overline{0}, \overline{1}), \quad \deg(T_{21}) = (\overline{0}, \overline{1}), \quad \deg(S_1) = (\overline{1}, \overline{1}).$$

We have

$$X \cong \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P)^{\operatorname{Cl}(X)} \cong \operatorname{V}(T_1^2 T_2 + T_1 T_2 + T_3^2) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^3$$

and X is endowed with a  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -action given by  $t \cdot x := (x_1, t^2 x_2, tx_3)$  for  $x \in X$  and  $t \in \mathbb{K}^*$ . We obtain a fixed point curve consisting of the points  $(x_1, 0, 0)$  mapping isomorphically onto the quotient  $X/\!/\mathbb{K}^* \cong \mathbb{K}$  and thus X is of parabolic type as claimed.

We sketch how to regain the Cox ring out of the geometric data of X: The fixed point curve  $(x_1, 0, 0)$  corresponds to the free variable  $S_1$  in the Cox ring of X. Moreover, the orbits  $\mathbb{K}^* \cdot (0, 1, 0)$  and  $\mathbb{K}^* \cdot (-1, 1, 0)$  are of generic isotropy 2 and give rise to the relation  $T_1^2 + T_2^2 + 1$  in the Cox ring of X.

We take a closer look at the surfaces X = X(A, P) with at most du Val singularities. Recall that these are exactly the singularities with a resolution graph of type A, D or E. The singularities of type A are precisely the toric du Val surface singularities; we refer to [24] for an exhaustive treatment of this case.
**Proposition 2.4.3.** Let X be a parabolic or hyperbolic normal affine  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surface. If  $x_0 \in X$  is a du Val singularity, then it is of type A.

*Proof.* In the parabolic and hyperbolic cases, the fan  $\Sigma$  of the canonical ambient toric variety is supported on the tropical variety  $\operatorname{trop}(X)$  and we have  $\Sigma' = \Sigma$  in the first step of the resolution of singularities according to Construction 2.3.6. The second step means regular subdivision of the purely two-dimensional fan  $\Sigma' = \Sigma$  and, in the du Val case, we end up with resolution graphs of type A; use [6, Sec. 5.4.2] for computing intersection numbers.

We turn to the elliptic case. In case of a singularity of type D or E, we determine the possible X and present the defining data and the Cox ring for X as well as for the minimal resolution  $\tilde{X}$ ; see [33, 62, 29] for other approaches.

**Proposition 2.4.4.** Let X be an elliptic normal affine  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surface with a du Val singularity  $x_0 \in X$ . If  $x_0$  is of type  $\mathbf{A}$ , then X is an affine toric surface. If  $x_0$  is of type  $\mathbf{D}$  or  $\mathbf{E}$ , then  $X \cong X(A, P)$ , where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

the defining matrix P depends on the type of  $x_0$  as shown in the table below; we additionally present a defining equation for  $X \subseteq \mathbb{K}^3$  from [64] and the relation g of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X) = \mathbb{K}[T_1, T_2, T_3]/\langle g \rangle$ .

$x_0$	equation in $\mathbb{K}^3$	matrix P	$relation \ g$
$oldsymbol{D}_q$	$T_1^2 + T_2 T_3^2 + T_2^{q-1}$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrr} -2 & q-2 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 2 \\ -1 & 1 & 1 \end{array}\right]$	$T_1^2 + T_2^{q-2} + T_3^2$
$oldsymbol{E}_6$	$T_1^2 + T_2^3 + T_3^4$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrr} -3 & 3 & 0 \\ -3 & 0 & 2 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 \end{array}\right]$	$T_1^3 + T_2^3 + T_3^2$
$E_7$	$T_1^2 + T_2^3 + T_2 T_3^3$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrr} -4 & 3 & 0 \\ -4 & 0 & 2 \\ -3 & 1 & 1 \end{array}\right]$	$T_1^4 + T_2^3 + T_3^2$
$E_8$	$T_1^2 + T_2^3 + T_3^5$	$\begin{bmatrix} -5 & 3 & 0 \\ -5 & 0 & 2 \\ -4 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$T_1^5 + T_2^3 + T_3^2$

Moreover, Construction 2.3.6 provides a minimal resolution of singularities  $\tilde{X} \to X$  with  $\tilde{X} = X(A, \tilde{P}, \tilde{\Phi})$ , where  $\tilde{P}$  depends on the type of  $x_0$  as shown below; we list the relation

$x_0$	matrix $\tilde{P}$	$relation \  ilde{g}$
$oldsymbol{D}_q$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$T_{11}^2 T_{12} + T_{21}^{q-2} \cdots T_{2,q-2} + T_{31}^2 T_{32}$
$E_6$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$T_{11}^3 T_{12}^2 T_{13} + T_{21}^3 T_{22}^2 T_{23} + T_{31}^2 T_{32}$
$E_7$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$T_{11}^4 \cdots T_{14} + T_{21}^3 T_{22}^2 T_{23} + T_{31}^2 T_{32}$
$E_8$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$T_{11}^5 \cdots T_{15} + T_{21}^3 T_{22}^2 T_{23} + T_{31}^2 T_{32}$

 $\tilde{g}$  of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(\tilde{X}) = \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_1]/\langle \tilde{g} \rangle$ .

The fan  $\tilde{\Sigma}$  of the canonical ambient toric variety  $\tilde{Z}$  of  $\tilde{X}$  is the unique fan with only twodimensional maximal cones, all of them lying on trop(X), and having as one-dimensional cones precisely the rays through the columns of  $\tilde{P}$ . The corresponding bunch of cones  $\tilde{\Phi}$ is the Gale dual of  $\tilde{\Sigma}$ .

*Proof.* We only have to consider the case that X = X(A, P) is not a toric surface and thus can assume  $r \ge 2$  and  $l_i := l_{i1} > 1$  for all i = 0, ..., r. We resolve the singularity  $x_0 \in X$  according to Construction 2.3.6. The first step gives us a fan with r+1 maximal cones, each of dimension two:

$$\operatorname{cone}(v_0, e_{r+1}), \dots, \operatorname{cone}(v_r, e_{r+1}),$$

where  $v_i \in \mathbb{Q}^{r+1}$  denotes the *i*-th column of P and we may assume that  $e_{r+1}$  is the (r+1)-th canonical basis vector. In the second step, we perform the minimal regular subdivision of these cones. This gives indeed a minimal resolution  $\tilde{X} \to X$  of  $x_0$  and the resulting picture reflects the resolution graph. We see that  $x_0$  cannot be of type A und thus is of type D or E. We end up with r = 2 and defining data

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad P = \begin{bmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & 0 \\ -l_0 & 0 & l_2 \\ d_0 & d_1 & d_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

Moreover, because all exceptional curves are of self intersection -2, we must have  $d_i \equiv 1 \mod l_i$  for i = 1, 2, 3. That means, that we inserted  $l_i - 1$  new rays to obtain the minimal regular subdivision of the *i*-th cone.

As a sample, we continue the case of an  $E_6$ -singularity. By the shape of the corresponding resolution graph, we have  $l_0 = l_1 = 3$  and  $l_2 = 2$  after renumbering the columns suitably. This establishes the  $P_0$ -block. By suitable row operations we can achieve

$$P = P_c := \begin{bmatrix} -3 & 3 & 0 \\ -3 & 0 & 2 \\ 1 + 3c & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Every  $c \in \mathbb{Z}$  yields a matrix  $P_c$  admissible for Construction 2.1.4. The minimal resolution  $\tilde{X}_c$  of  $X_c$  is the  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surface defined by A and the matrix

$$\tilde{P}_c = \begin{bmatrix} -3 & -2 & -1 & 3 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -3 & -2 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 + 3c & 1 + 2c & 1 + c & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Only for c = -1, we obtain self intersection -2 for all exceptional curves; in fact, the one corresponding to (0,0,1) is important here. The fan  $\tilde{\Sigma}$  of the canonical ambient toric variety  $\tilde{Z}$  of  $\tilde{X} = \tilde{X}_{-1}$  sits on the tropical variety trop(X) and looks as follows:



Resolution of the  $E_6$ -Singularity

**Remark 2.4.5.** Note that the approach via the defining data A and P establishes a posteriori that every du Val surface singularity can be realized as the fixed point of an elliptic  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -surface. Similarly, the defining equation for  $X \subseteq \mathbb{K}^3$  is easily seen to be the defining relation of the Veronese subalgebra  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}) = R(A, P)_0$  of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X) = R(A, P)$ .

# LOG TERMINAL VARIETIES AS QUOTIENTS

Looking at the well understood case of log terminal surface singularities, one observes that each of them is the quotient of a factorial one by a finite solvable group. The derived series of this group reflects an iteration of Cox rings of surface singularities. We extend this picture to log terminal singularities in any dimension coming with a torus action of complexity one. In this setting, the previously finite groups become solvable finite torus extensions. The results of this chapter have been published in the joint publication [5].

# 3.1 Platonic tuples and iteration of Cox rings

We begin with a brief discussion of the well known surface case [4, 20, 30]. The twodimensional log terminal singularities are exactly the quotient singularities  $\mathbb{C}^2/G$ , where G is a finite subgroup of the general linear group GL(2). The particular case that G is a subgroup of SL(2) leads to the du Val singularities  $A_n$ ,  $D_n$ ,  $E_6$ ,  $E_7$  and  $E_8$ , named according to their resolution graphs. They are precisely the rational double points, and are also characterized by being the canonical surface singularities. The du Val singularities fill the middle row of the following commutative diagram involving *all* two-dimensional log terminal singularities:



Here, all arrows indicate quotients by finite groups. The label "CR" tells us that this

quotient represents a Cox ring; recall that the Cox rings of (the resolutions of) the du Val singularities  $\mathbb{C}^2/G$  have been computed in [29, 33], see also the example given below. So,  $E_6$  is the spectrum of the Cox ring of  $E_7$  etc.. In fact, the chain of Cox rings reflects the derived series of the binary octahedral group  $\tilde{S}_4 \subseteq SL(2)$ , producing the  $E_7$  singularity:

$$\widetilde{S}_4 \supseteq \widetilde{A}_4 \supseteq \widetilde{D}_4 \supseteq \{\pm I_2\} \supseteq \{I_2\},$$

where  $\tilde{A}_4$  is the binary tetrahedral group,  $\tilde{D}_4$  the binary dihedral group, and  $I_2$  stands for the 2×2 unit matrix. The respective CR labelled arrows stand for quotients by the factors of this derived series. The arrows passing from the middle to the lower row indicate indexone covers: the upper surface is Gorenstein, one divides by a cyclic group of order *i* and the lower surface is of Gorenstein index *i*. Finally, the superscripts 2 in  $D_{(n+3)/2}^{2,i}$  and 3 in  $E_6^{3,i}$  denote the "canonical multiplicity" of the singularity, generalizing the "exponent" discussed in [28, 31]; see 3.3.2. For a discussion of the surface case based on the methods provided in this chapter, see Example 3.3.8.

Another feature of the log terminal surface singularities is that, as quotients  $\mathbb{C}^2/G$  by a finite subgroup  $G \subseteq \operatorname{GL}(2)$ , they all come with a non-trivial  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -action, induced by scalar multiplication on  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . The higher dimensional analogue of  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surfaces are *T*-varieties *X* of complexity one, that means varieties *X* with an effective action of an algebraic torus *T* which is of dimension one less than *X*. The notion of log terminality is defined in general via discrepancies in the ramification formula; see Section 3.2 for a brief reminder. In higher dimensions, log terminal singularities form a larger class than the quotient singularities  $\mathbb{C}^n/G$  with *G* a finite subgroup of  $\operatorname{GL}(n)$ . Our aim is, however, to extend the picture drawn at the beginning for the surface case to log terminal singularities with a torus action of complexity one in any dimension.

If X comes with a torus action of complexity one, then the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  admits an explicit description in terms of generators and very specific trinomial relations. Vice versa, one can abstractly write down all rings that arise as the Cox ring of some T-variety X of complexity one. Let us briefly summarize the procedure; see Section 2.1 and [44] for the details.

**Construction 3.1.1.** Fix integers  $m \ge 0$ ,  $\iota \in \{0,1\}$  and r, n > 0 and a partition  $n = n_{\iota} + \cdots + n_{r}$ . For every  $i = \iota, \ldots, r$  let  $l_{i} := (l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_{i}}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^{n_{i}}$  with  $l_{i1} \ge \ldots \ge l_{in_{i}}$  and  $l_{\iota 1} \ge \ldots \ge l_{r_{1}}$  and define a monomial

$$T_i^{l_i} := T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_i}^{l_{in_i}}$$

Denote the polynomial ring  $\mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k; i = \iota, \ldots, r, j = 1, \ldots, n_i, k = 1, \ldots, m]$  for short by  $\mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]$ . We distinguish two types of rings:

Type 1. Take  $\iota = 1$  and pairwise different scalars  $\theta_1 = 1, \theta_2, \ldots, \theta_{r-1} \in \mathbb{C}^*$  and define for each  $i = 1, \ldots, r-1$  a trinomial

$$g_i := T_i^{l_i} - T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}} - \theta_i.$$

Then we obtain a factor ring

$$R = \mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]/\langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-1} \rangle.$$

Type 2. Take  $\iota = 0$  and pairwise different scalars  $\theta_0 = 1, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{r-2} \in \mathbb{C}^*$  and define for each  $i = 0, \ldots, r-2$  a trinomial

$$g_i := \theta_i T_i^{l_i} + T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}} + T_{i+2}^{l_{i+2}}.$$

Then we obtain a factor ring

$$R = \mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k] / \langle g_0, \dots, g_{r-2} \rangle.$$

As we explain later, the rings R come with a natural grading by a finitely generated abelian group  $K_0$  and suitable downgradings  $K_0 \to K$  give us Cox rings of rational, normal, varieties X with  $\operatorname{Cl}(X) = K$  that come with a torus action of complexity one. More geometrically, X arises as a quotient of an open set  $\widehat{X} \subseteq \overline{X}$  of the total coordinate space  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R$  by the quasitorus H having K as its character group. Conversely, basically every rational, normal variety X with a torus action of complexity one can be presented this way.

Geometrically speaking, Type 1 leads to the *T*-varieties of complexity one that admit non-constant global invariant functions and Type 2 to those having only constant global invariant functions. The varieties of Type 1 turn out to be locally isomorphic to toric varieties. In particular, they are all log terminal and the study of their singularities is essentially toric geometry, see Corollary 3.2.7 for a precise formulation. We therefore mainly concentrate on Type 2. There, the true non-toric phenomena occur, as for instance the singularities  $D_n$ ,  $E_6$ ,  $E_7$  and  $E_8$  in the surface case.

Characterizing log terminality for a T-variety of complexity one of Type 2 involves *platonic triples*, that means, triples of the form

$$(5,3,2), (4,3,2), (3,3,2), (x,2,2), (x,y,1),$$

where  $x \ge y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}$ . We say that positive integers  $a_0, \ldots, a_r$  form a *platonic tuple* if, after reordering decreasingly, the first three numbers are a platonic triple and all others equal one. Moreover, in the setting of Construction 3.1.1, we say that a ring R of Type 2 is *platonic* if every  $(l_{0j_0}, \ldots, l_{rj_r})$  is a platonic tuple.

**Example 3.1.2.** The platonic rings of Type 2 in dimension two are the polynomial ring  $\mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2]$  and the factor rings  $\mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2, T_3]/\langle f \rangle$ , where f is one of

$$T_1^y + T_2^2 + T_3^2, \ y \in \mathbb{Z}_{>1}, \quad T_1^3 + T_2^3 + T_3^2, \quad T_1^4 + T_2^3 + T_3^2, \quad T_1^5 + T_2^3 + T_3^2.$$

Endowed with a suitable grading,  $\mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2]$  is the Cox ring of  $A_n$ , and the other rings, according to the above order of listing, are the Cox rings of  $D_{y-2}$ ,  $E_6$ ,  $E_7$  and  $E_8$ .

Our first result says that a rational, normal variety X with a torus action of complexity one of Type 2 has at most log terminal singularities if and only if there occur enough platonic tuples  $(l_{0j_0}, \ldots, l_{rn_r})$  in the Cox ring R; see Theorem 3.2.15 for the precise meaning of "enough". In the affine case, the result specializes to the following; compare also [38, Ex. 2.20] for an earlier result in a particular case and [62, Cor. 5.8] for a related characterization.

**Theorem 3.1.3.** An affine, normal,  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Gorenstein, rational variety X with torus action of complexity one of Type 2 has at most log terminal singularities if and only if its Cox ring R is a platonic ring.

Set for the moment  $l_i := \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$ . Then, by Proposition 2.2.8, a ring R of Type 1 is factorial if and only if  $l_i = 1$  holds for all  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ . Moreover, a ring R of Type 2 is factorial if and only if the  $l_i$  are pairwise coprime for  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , see Theorem 2.1.2 or [44, Thm. 1.1].

**Example 3.1.4.** In dimension two, the factorial platonic rings R of Type 2 are the polynomial ring  $\mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2]$  and the ring  $\mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2, T_3]/\langle T_1^5 + T_2^3 + T_3^2 \rangle$ .

To extend the iteration of Cox rings  $\mathbb{C}^2 \to A_1 \to D_4 \to E_6 \to E_7$  observed in the surface case to higher dimensions, we have to allow instead of only finite abelian groups also non-finite abelian groups in the respective quotients.

**Theorem 3.1.5.** Let  $X_1$  be a rational, normal, affine variety with a torus action of complexity one of Type 2 and at most log terminal singularities. Then there is a unique chain of quotients

$$X_p \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-1}} X_{p-1} \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-2}} \dots \xrightarrow{\#H_3} X_3 \xrightarrow{\#H_2} X_2 \xrightarrow{\#H_1} X_1 ,$$

where  $X_i = \text{Spec}(R_i)$  holds with a platonic ring  $R_i$  for  $i \ge 2$ , the ring  $R_p$  is factorial and each  $X_i \to X_{i-1}$  is the total coordinate space.

Note that iteration of Cox rings requires in each step finite generation of the divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(\overline{X})$  of the total coordinate space of X. The latter merely means that the curve Y with function field  $\mathbb{C}(\overline{X})^{H_0^0}$  is of genus zero, where  $H_0^0 \subseteq H_0$  is the unit component of the quasitorus  $H_0$  with character group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ . In Theorem 3.4.3, we establish a formula for the genus of Y in terms of the entries  $l_{ij}$  of the defining matrix P of  $R = \mathcal{R}(X)$ , generalizing the case of  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surfaces settled in [76, Prop. 3, p. 64]. This allows us to conclude that for log terminal affine X, the total coordinate space is always rational. Together with the fact that the total coordinate space of a log terminal affine X is canonical, see Proposition 3.4.1, we obtain that Cox ring iteration is possible in the log terminal case; see Remark 3.4.12 for a discussion of a non log terminal example with rational Cox ring. The final step in proving Theorem 3.1.5 is to show that the Cox ring iteration even stops after finitely many steps. For this, we compute explicitly in Proposition 3.5.6 the equations of the iterated Cox ring. It seems to be interesting to study Cox ring iteration also more generally; note that a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial variety has a log terminal Cox ring if and only if it is log Fano [21, 41].

The next result shows that, in a large sense, the log terminal singularities with torus action of complexity one still can be regarded as quotient singularities: the affine plane  $\mathbb{C}^2$  and the finite group  $G \subseteq \operatorname{GL}(2)$  of the surface case have to be replaced with a factorial affine *T*-variety of complexity one and a solvable reductive group.

**Theorem 3.1.6.** Let X be a rational, normal, affine variety of Type 2 with a torus action of complexity one and at most log terminal singularities.

- (i) X is a quotient X = X'//G of a factorial affine variety X' := Spec(R') by a solvable reductive group G, where R' is a factorial platonic ring.
- (ii) The presentation of Theorem 3.1.5 is regained by  $H_i := G^{(i-1)}/G^{(i)}$  and  $X_i := X'/G^{(i-1)}$ , where  $G^{(i)}$  is the *i*-th derived subgroup of G.

**Example 3.1.7.** Every log terminal affine  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface is a quotient of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  or the  $E_8$ -singular surface  $V(T_1^5 + T_2^3 + T_3^2) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^3$  by a finite solvable group.

## 3.2 The anticanonical complex and singularities

First recall the basic singularity types arising in the minimal model programme. Let X be a Q-Gorenstein variety, i.e., some non-zero multiple of a canonical divisor  $D_X$  on X is an integral Cartier divisor. Then, for any resolution of singularities  $\varphi \colon X' \to X$ , one has the ramification formula

$$D_{X'} - \varphi^*(D_X) = \sum a_i E_i,$$

where the  $E_i$  are the prime components of the exceptional divisors and the coefficients  $a_i \in \mathbb{Q}$  are the discrepancies of the resolution. The variety X is said to have at most *log* terminal (canonical, terminal) singularities, if for every resolution of singularities the discrepancies  $a_i$  satisfy  $a_i > -1$  ( $a_i \ge 0$ ,  $a_i > 0$ ).

**Remark 3.2.1.** In our subsequent considerations we will use the description of the Cox rings of varieties of complexity one as introduced in Constructions 2.1.1 and 2.1.4. This allows more flexibility than the simpler version presented in 3.1.1. However, given any R(A, P) as in Construction 2.1.4, we can achieve  $l_{i1} \geq \ldots \geq l_{in_i}$  for all i and  $l_{i1} \geq \ldots \geq l_{r_1}$  by means of admissible operations of type (i) and (ii), see Remark 2.3.1. Moreover, via suitable scalings of the variables  $T_{ij}$ , we can turn the coefficients of the relations  $g_i$  into those presented in Section 3.1.

In [13], the "anticanonical complex" has been introduced for Fano varieties  $X(A, P, \Phi)$ and served as a tool to study singularities of the above type. The purpose of this section is to extend this approach and to generalize results from [13] to the non-complete and non- $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial cases. As an application, we characterize log terminality in Theorem 3.2.15 via platonic triples occuring in the Cox ring. For the affine case, the result specializes to Theorem 3.1.3.

Now, let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be a rational *T*-variety of complexity one arising from Construction 2.1.6. Consider the embedding  $X \subseteq Z$  into the minimal toric ambient variety. Then X and Z share the same divisor class group

$$K = \operatorname{Cl}(X) = \operatorname{Cl}(Z)$$

and the same degree map  $Q: \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K$  for their Cox rings. Let  $e_Z \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  denote the sum over the canonical basis vectors  $e_{ij}$  and  $e_k$  of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$ . Then, with the defining relations  $g_{\iota}, \ldots, g_{r-2+\iota}$  of the Cox ring R(A, P), the canonical divisor classes of Z and X are given as

$$\mathcal{K}_Z = -Q(e_Z) \in K, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{K}_X = \sum_{i=\iota}^{r-2+\iota} \deg(g_i) + \mathcal{K}_Z \in K.$$

Observe that if X is of Type 1, then its canonical divisor class equals that of the minimal toric ambient variety Z. Define a (rational) polyhedron

$$B(-\mathcal{K}_X) := Q^{-1}(-\mathcal{K}_X) \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{n+m} \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$$

and let  $B := B(g_{\iota}) + \ldots + B(g_{r-2+\iota}) \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$  denote the Minkowski sum of the Newton polytopes  $B(g_i)$  of the relations  $g_{\iota}, \ldots, g_{r-2+\iota}$  of R(A, P).

**Definition 3.2.2.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample and denote by  $\Sigma$  the fan of the minimal toric ambient variety Z of X.

(i) The anticanonical polyhedron of X is the dual polyhedron  $A_X \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  of the polyhedron

 $B_X := (P^*)^{-1}(B(-\mathcal{K}_X) + B - e_{\Sigma}) \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{r+s}.$ 

(ii) The *anticanonical complex* of X is the coarsest common refinement of polyhedral complexes

$$A_X^c := \operatorname{faces}(A_X) \sqcap \Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X).$$

- (iii) The relative interior of  $A_X^c$  is the interior of its support with respect to the intersection  $\operatorname{Supp}(\Sigma) \cap \operatorname{trop}(X)$ .
- (iv) The relative boundary  $\partial A_X^c$  is the complement of the relative interior of  $A_X^c$  in  $A_X^c$ .

**Remark 3.2.3.** Consider a subdivision  $\Sigma' \to \Sigma$  of fans in  $\mathbb{Q}^n$  and the associated toric morphism  $Z_{\Sigma'} \to Z_{\Sigma}$ . Then the toric Cox constructions  $P : \mathbb{Z}^{R'} \to \mathbb{Z}^n$  and  $P' : \mathbb{Z}^{R'} \to \mathbb{Z}^n$ , where  $R = \Sigma(1)$  and  $R' = \Sigma'(1)$  define homomorphisms of tori

$$\mathbb{T}^{R'} \to \mathbb{T}^n \leftarrow \mathbb{T}^R$$

For a polynomial  $g \in \mathbb{C}[T_{\varrho}; \varrho \in R]$  without monomial factors the *push-down of* g is the unique polynomial  $p_*(g) \in \mathbb{C}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$  without monomial factors such that  $T^{\mu}p^*(p_*(g)) = g$  holds for some Laurent monomial  $T^{\mu} \in \mathbb{C}[T_{\varrho}^{\pm 1}; \varrho \in R]$ . We define

the shift of g to be the unique  $g' \in \mathbb{C}[T_{\varrho'}; \varrho' \in R']$  without monomial factors such that  $p'_*(g') = p_*(g)$ .

Let  $X' \to X$  be a resolution of singularities as in Construction 2.3.6. Then the Cox ring of X' is given as

$$\mathcal{R}(X') = \mathbb{C}[T_{\varrho'}; \ \varrho' \in R'] / \langle g'_{\iota}, \dots, g'_{r-2+\iota} \rangle,$$

with the shift  $g'_i$  of  $g_i$ . Due to [13, Lemma 2.4] the exponents of  $g_i$  correspond to the exponents of  $g'_i$  and for any exponent  $\nu$  of  $g_i$  the corresponding exponent  $\nu'$  of  $g'_i$  satisfies  $\nu'_{\varrho} = \nu_{\varrho}$ .

A first statement expresses the discrepancies of a given resolution of singularities via the anticanonical complex; the proof is a straightforward generalization of the one given in [13] for the Fano case but for the sake of completeness we give a proof here.

**Proposition 3.2.4.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample and  $\varphi \colon X' \to X$  a resolution of singularities as in Construction 2.3.6. For any ray  $\varrho \in \Sigma''$ , let  $v_{\varrho}$  be its primitive generator,  $v'_{\varrho}$  its leaving point of  $A^c_X$  provided  $\varrho \not\subseteq A^c_X$  and  $D_{\varrho}$  the corresponding prime divisor on X''. Then the discrepancy  $a_{\rho}$  along  $D_{\rho}$  satisfies

$$a_{\varrho} = -1 + \frac{||v_{\varrho}||}{||v_{\varrho}'||} \quad \text{if } \varrho \not\subseteq A_X^c, \qquad a_{\varrho} \leq -1 \quad \text{if } \varrho \subseteq A_X^c.$$

Proof. We use the notation of Remark 3.2.3. Note that the exceptional divisors of  $\varphi$  are exactly the divisors  $D_{X'}^{\varrho'}$  obtained as pullbacks of the toric divisors in  $Z_{\Sigma}$  given by the rays  $\varrho' \in \Sigma'(1) \setminus \Sigma(1)$ . We fix such a ray  $\varrho'$  and compute the discrepancy of  $\varphi$  along  $D_{X'}^{\varrho'}$ . Let  $B := B(g_t) + \ldots + B(g_{r-2+\iota})$  and  $B' := B(g'_t) + \ldots + B(g'_{r-2+\iota})$  be the Minkowski sums of the Newton polytopes  $B(g_i)$  and  $B(g'_i)$ . The inverse image  $P^{-1}(\varrho')$  is contained in a maximal cone  $\tau \in \mathcal{N}(B(-\mathcal{K}_X) + B)$ . Let  $\eta \in B(-\mathcal{K}_X) + B$  be the vertex corresponding to  $\tau$ . Then  $\eta = \nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X} + \nu$  with vertices  $\nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X} \in B(-\mathcal{K}_X)$  and  $\nu \in B$ . Write  $\nu' \in B'$  for the vertex corresponding to  $\nu \in B$  in the sense of Remark 3.2.3. We fix the following representatives of the anticanonical classes of X and X':

$$D_X^c := \sum_{\varrho \in R} (-1 + \nu_\varrho) D_X^\varrho, \qquad D_{X'}^c := \sum_{\varrho \in R'} (-1 + \nu_\rho') D_{X'}^\varrho.$$

Note that  $D_{X'}^c - \varphi^* D_X^c$  is supported on the exceptional locus as  $\nu_{\varrho}' = \nu_{\varrho}$  holds for all  $\varrho \in \Sigma(1)$ . We use this representatives to compute the discrepancy of  $\varrho$  along  $D_{X'}^{\varrho'}$ .

Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  be the cone with relint $(\varrho') \subseteq \operatorname{relint}(\sigma)$ . Then, on the corresponding chart  $X_{\sigma} = X \cap Z_{\sigma}$ , the divisor  $D_X^c$  is rationally principal and we claim that on  $X_{\sigma}$  the divisor has a presentation

$$D_X^c = \frac{1}{m} \operatorname{div}(\chi^{mu}) \quad \text{with } u := (P^*)^{-1} (\nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X} + \nu - e_{\Sigma}),$$

where  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  such that mu is integral and  $\chi^{mu}$  denotes the pullback of the toric character function on  $Z_{\Sigma}$  associated to mu. We obtain

$$\frac{1}{m}\operatorname{div}(\chi^{mu}) = \sum_{\varrho \in \sigma(1)} \langle u, v_{\varrho} \rangle D_X^{\varrho} = \sum_{\varrho \in \sigma(1)} \langle P^*u, e_{\varrho} \rangle D_X^{\varrho} = \sum_{\varrho \in \sigma(1)} \langle \nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X} + \nu - e_{\Sigma}, e_{\varrho} \rangle D_X^{\varrho}$$

Thus in order to verify the claim, we have to show that  $\langle \nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X}, e_{\varrho} \rangle = 0$  holds for all rays  $\varrho$  of  $\sigma$ . Due to amplesness of the anticanonical class we obtain  $B(-\mathcal{K}_X) \cap \operatorname{relint}(\widehat{\sigma}^{\perp} \cap \gamma_R)$  is non-empty and thus contains some element e. As  $\operatorname{relint}(\varrho') \subseteq \operatorname{relint}(\sigma)$  holds, we can choose a vector  $\mu = \sum_{\varrho \in \sigma(1)} b_{\varrho} \varrho$  with positive  $b_{\varrho}$  in the preimage  $P^{-1}(\varrho')$ . By the choice of e we have  $\langle e, \mu \rangle = 0$  and as  $\nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X} \in B(-\mathcal{K}_X)$  is a minimizing vertex of  $\mu$ , we conclude  $\langle \nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X}, \mu \rangle = 0$  and thus  $\langle \nu_{-\mathcal{K}_X}, e_{\varrho} \rangle = 0$  for all rays  $\varrho$  of  $\sigma$ .

We obtain that the discrepancy  $a_{\varrho'}$  of  $\varphi \colon X' \to X$  along  $D_{X'}^{\varrho'}$  is the multiplicity of  $D_{X'}^c - \operatorname{div}(\chi^u)$  along  $D_{X'}^{\varrho'}$  and thus

$$a_{\rho'} = -1 + \nu'_{\rho'} - \langle u, v_{\rho'} \rangle.$$

In a last step we show that  $\nu'_{\varrho'}$  equals zero. Then evaluating  $\langle u, v_{\varrho'} \rangle$  gives the assertion. First note that we can find a decomposition  $\nu = \nu_{\iota} + \ldots + \nu_{r-2+\iota}$ , where  $\nu_i \in B(g_i)$ . Let  $\nu'_i$  be the corresponding exponent vector of the shift  $g'_i$ . Then we have a decomposition  $\nu' = \nu'_{\iota} + \ldots + \nu'_{r-2+\iota}$ . We claim that  $\nu'_{i\varrho'} = 0$  for all  $i = \iota, \ldots, r-2+\iota$ . By definition,  $\nu'_i$  lies in the face of  $B(g'_i)$  which is cut out by  $P'^{-1}(\varrho')$ . Consequently, the corresponding exponent vector of the pushed down equation  $p_*(g_i)$  lies in the face of  $B(p_*(g_i))$  that is cut out by  $\varrho'$ . Then [13, Lemma 2.5] gives the assertion.

The next result characterizes the existence of at most log terminal (canonical, terminal) singularities in terms of the anticanonical complex; again, this generalizes a result from [13].

**Theorem 3.2.5.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample. Then the following statements hold.

- (i) A<sup>c</sup><sub>X</sub> contains the origin in its relative interior and all primitive generators of the fan Σ are vertices of A<sup>c</sup><sub>X</sub>.
- (ii) X has at most log terminal singularities if and only if the anticanonical complex  $A_X^c$  is bounded.
- (iii) X has at most canonical singularities if and only if 0 is the only lattice point in the relative interior of  $A_X^c$ .
- (iv) X has at most terminal singularities if and only if 0 and the primitive generators  $v_{\rho}$  for  $\rho \in \Sigma^{(1)}$  are the only lattice points of  $A_X^c$ .

*Proof.* By construction of the desingularization 2.3.6 X is strongly tropically resolvable. Thus following the lines of [13, Theorem 1.4] but replacing [13, Proposition 2.3] with our more general Proposition 3.2.4 gives the assertions.  $\Box$ 

We describe the structure of the anticanonical complex in more detail, which generalizes in particular statements on the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial Fano case obtained in [13]. For Type 1, the situation turns out to be simple, whereas Type 2 is more ample.

**Proposition 3.2.6.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 1 such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample. Let  $\Sigma$  be the fan of the minimal toric ambient variety of X and denote by  $\lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_r$  the leaves of trop(X).

- (i) Every cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  is contained in a leaf  $\lambda_i \subseteq \operatorname{trop}(X)$ . In particular,  $\Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  equals  $\Sigma$ .
- (ii) The boundary of  $A_X^c$  is the union of all faces of  $A_X$  that are contained in  $\operatorname{Supp}(\Sigma)$ .
- (iii) The non-zero vertices of  $A_X^c$  are the primitive generators of  $\Sigma$ , i.e. the columns of P.

**Corollary 3.2.7.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be a T-variety of Type 1. Then X has at most log-terminal singularities. Moreover, it has at most canonical (terminal) singularities if and only if its minimal toric ambient variety Z does so.

**Construction 3.2.8.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 2 and  $\Sigma$  the fan of the minimal toric ambient variety of Z. Write  $v_{ij} := P(e_{ij})$  and  $v_k := P(e_k)$  for the columns of P. Consider a pointed cone of the form

$$\tau = \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \ldots, v_{rj_r}) \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{r+s},$$

that means that  $\tau$  contains exactly one  $v_{ij}$  for every  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ . We call such  $\tau$  a *P*-elementary cone and associate the following numbers with  $\tau$ :

$$\ell_{\tau,i} := \frac{l_{0j_0} \cdots l_{rj_r}}{l_{ij_i}} \text{ for } i = 0, \dots, r, \qquad \ell_\tau := (1-r)l_{0j_0} \cdots l_{rj_r} + \sum_{i=0}^r l_{\tau,i}.$$

Moreover, we set

$$v(\tau) := \ell_{\tau,0} v_{0j_0} + \ldots + \ell_{\tau,r} v_{rj_r} \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}, \qquad \varrho(\tau) := \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0} \cdot v(\tau) \in \mathbb{Q}^{r+s}.$$

We denote by  $T(A, P, \Phi)$  the set of all *P*-elementary cones  $\tau \in \Sigma$ . For a given  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , we denote by  $T(\sigma)$  the set of all *P*-elementary faces of  $\sigma$ .

**Remark 3.2.9.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 2. Let  $\Sigma$  be the fan of the minimal toric ambient variety of X and  $\lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_r \subseteq \operatorname{trop}(X)$  the leaves of the tropical variety of X. As in [13, Def. 4.1], we say that

- (i) a cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  is a *leaf cone* if  $\sigma \subseteq \lambda_i$  holds for some  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ ,
- (ii) a cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  is called *big* if  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$  holds for all  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ .

Observe that a given cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  is big if and only if  $\sigma$  contains some *P*-elementary cone as a subset.

**Proposition 3.2.10.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 2 such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample. Let  $\Sigma$  be the fan of the minimal toric ambient variety of X, denote by  $\lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_r$  the leaves of  $\operatorname{trop}(X)$  and by  $\lambda = \lambda_0 \cap \ldots \cap \lambda_r$  its lineality part.

- (i) The fan  $\Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  consists of the cones  $\sigma \cap \lambda$  and  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i$ , where  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  and  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ . Here, one always has  $\sigma \cap \lambda \preceq \sigma \cap \lambda_i$ .
- (ii) The fan  $\Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  is a subfan of the normal fan of the polyhedron  $B_X$ . In particular, for every cone  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i$ , there is a vertex  $u_{\sigma,i} \in B_X$  with

$$\partial A_X^c \cap \sigma \cap \lambda_i = \{ v \in \sigma \cap \lambda_i; \langle u_{\sigma,i}, v \rangle = -1 \}.$$

- (iii) If a P-elementary cone  $\tau$  is contained in some  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , then  $\tau$  is simplicial,  $v(\tau) \in \tau^{\circ}$ holds,  $\rho(\tau)$  is a ray,  $\rho(\tau) = \tau \cap \lambda$  holds as well as  $\mathbb{Q}\rho(\tau) = \mathbb{Q}\tau \cap \lambda$ .
- (iv) Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  be any cone. Then, for every i = 0, ..., r, the set of extremal rays of  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i \in \Sigma \cap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  is given by

$$(\sigma \cap \lambda_i)^{(1)} = \{ \varrho(\sigma_0); \ \sigma_0 \in \mathcal{T}(\sigma) \} \cup \{ \varrho \in \sigma^{(1)}; \ \varrho \subseteq \lambda_i \}.$$

- (v) The set of rays of  $\Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  consists of the rays of  $\Sigma$  and the rays  $\varrho(\sigma_0)$ , where  $\sigma_0 \in \operatorname{T}(A, P, \Phi)$ .
- (vi) If a P-elementary cone  $\tau$  is contained in some  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , then the minimum value among all  $\langle u, v(\tau) \rangle$ , where  $u \in B_X$ , equals  $-\ell_{\tau}$ .
- (vii) Let the P-elementary cone  $\tau$  be contained in  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ . Then  $\varrho(\tau) \not\subseteq A_X^c$  holds if and only if  $\ell_{\tau} > 0$  holds; in this case,  $\varrho(\tau)$  leaves  $A_X^c$  at  $v(\tau)' = \ell_{\tau}^{-1}v(\tau)$ .
- (viii) The vertices of  $A_X^c$  are the primitive generators of  $\Sigma$ , i.e. the columns of P, and the points  $v(\sigma_0)' = \ell_{\sigma_0}^{-1} v(\sigma_0)$ , where  $\sigma_0 \in T(A, P, \Phi)$  and  $\ell_{\sigma_0} > 0$ .

*Proof.* Assertion (i) holds more generally. Indeed, the coarsest common refinement  $\Sigma_1 \sqcap \Sigma_2$  of any two quasifans  $\Sigma_i$  in a common vector space consists of the intersections  $\sigma_1 \cap \sigma_2$ , where  $\sigma_i \in \Sigma_i$ . Moreover, the faces of a given cone  $\sigma_1 \cap \sigma_2$  of  $\Sigma_1 \sqcap \Sigma_2$  are precisely the cones  $\sigma'_1 \cap \sigma'_2$ , where  $\sigma'_i \preceq \sigma_i$ .

We show (ii). Let  $\Sigma'$  be the complete fan in  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  defined by the class  $-\mathcal{K}_X \in K$ . Since  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample, the fan  $\Sigma$  is a subfan of  $\Sigma'$ . The preimage  $P^{-1}(\Sigma')$  consists of the cones  $P^{-1}(\sigma')$ , where  $\sigma' \in \Sigma'$ , and is the normal fan of  $B(-\mathcal{K}_X) \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$ . Moreover,  $P^{-1}(\operatorname{trop}(X))$  turns out to be a subfan of the normal fan of  $B \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$ . It follows that  $P^{-1}(\Sigma') \sqcap P^{-1}(\operatorname{trop}(X))$  is a subfan of the normal fan of  $B(-\mathcal{K}_X) + B$ . Projecting the involved fans via P to  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  gives the assertion.

To obtain (iii), consider first any *P*-elementary  $\tau = \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \ldots, v_{rj_r})$ . Then  $v_{0j_0}, \ldots, v_{rj_r}$  is linearly dependent if and only if  $v(\tau) = 0$  holds. The latter is equivalent to 0 being an inner point of  $\tau$ . Thus, if  $\tau$  is contained in some  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , then  $\tau$  is pointed an thus must be simplicial. The remaining part is then obvious; recall that the lineality part of  $\operatorname{trop}(X)$  equals the vector subspace  $0 \times \mathbb{Q}^s \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$ .

We turn to (iv). First, we claim that if  $\sigma_0 \in \Sigma$  is big and  $\varrho(\tau) = \varrho(\tau')$  holds for any two *P*-elementary cones  $\tau, \tau' \subseteq \sigma$ , then  $\sigma_0$  is *P*-elementary. Assume that  $\sigma_0$  is not *P*-elementary. Then we find some  $1 \leq t \leq r$  and cones

$$\begin{aligned} \tau &= \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \dots, v_{tj_{t-1}}, v_{tj_t}, v_{tj_{t+1}}, \dots, v_{rj_r}) \subseteq \sigma_0, \\ \tau' &= \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \dots, v_{tj_{t-1}}, v_{tj'_t}, v_{tj_{t+1}}, \dots, v_{rj_r}) \subseteq \sigma_0 \end{aligned}$$

with  $j_t \neq j'_t$  and thus  $\tau \neq \tau'$ . Here, we may assume that  $c_{\tau}^{-1}l_{tj_t} \geq c_{\tau'}^{-1}l_{tj'_t}$  holds with the greatest common divisors  $c_{\tau}$  and  $c_{\tau'}$  of the entries of  $v(\tau)$  and  $v(\tau')$  respectively. Then even  $c_{\tau}^{-1}\ell_{\tau,i} \geq c_{\tau'}^{-1}\ell_{\tau',i}$  must hold for all  $1 \leq i \leq r$ . Since, the rays  $\varrho(\tau)$  and  $\varrho(\tau')$ coincide, also their primitive generators  $c_{\tau'}^{-1}v(\tau')$  and  $c_{\tau}^{-1}v(\tau)$  coincide. By the definition of  $v(\tau)$  and  $v(\tau')$ , this implies

$$c_{\tau'}^{-1}\ell_{\tau',t}v_{tj'_t} = c_{\tau}^{-1}\ell_{\tau,k}v_{tj_t} + \sum_{i\neq t} (c_{\tau}^{-1}\ell_{\tau,i} - c_{\tau'}^{-1}\ell_{\tau',i})v_{ij_i}.$$

We conclude  $v_{tj'_t} \in \tau$ . Since  $v_{tj'_t}$  is an extremal ray of  $\sigma_0$  and  $\tau' \subseteq \sigma_0$  holds,  $v_{tj'_t}$  generates an extremal ray of  $\tau$ . This is a contradiction to the choice of  $j'_t$  and the claim is verified. Now, consider the equation of (iv). To verify " $\subseteq$ ", let  $\varrho$  be an extremal ray of  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i$ . We have to show that  $\varrho = \varrho(\sigma_0)$  holds for some  $\sigma_0 \in T(\sigma)$  or that  $\varrho$  is a ray of  $\sigma$  with  $\varrho \subseteq \lambda_i$ . According to (ii), there is a face  $\sigma_{\varrho} \preceq \sigma$  such that  $\varrho = \sigma_{\varrho} \cap \lambda$  or  $\varrho = \sigma_{\varrho} \cap \lambda_i$ holds. We choose  $\sigma_{\varrho}$  minimal with respect to this property, that means that we have  $\varrho^{\circ} \subseteq \sigma_{\varrho}^{\circ}$ . We distinguish the following cases.

Case 1. We have  $\rho = \sigma_{\rho} \cap \lambda$ . If  $\sigma_{\rho} \subseteq \lambda$  holds, then we obtain  $\rho = \sigma_{\rho}$  and thus  $\rho \subseteq \lambda_i$  is an extremal ray of  $\sigma$ . So, assume that  $\sigma_{\rho}$  is not contained in  $\lambda$ . Then, because of  $\sigma_{\rho}^{\circ} \cap \lambda \neq \emptyset$ , there is a *P*-elementary cone  $\tau \subseteq \sigma_{\rho}$ . Using (i), we obtain

$$\varrho(\tau) = \tau \cap \lambda \subseteq \sigma_{\rho} \cap \lambda = \varrho$$

and thus  $\rho = \rho(\tau)$ . As this does not depend on the particular choice of the *P*-elementary cone  $\tau \subseteq \sigma_{\rho}$ , the above claim yields  $\sigma_0 := \sigma_{\rho} \in T(\sigma)$  and  $\rho = \rho(\sigma_0)$ .

Case 2. We don't have  $\rho = \sigma_{\rho} \cap \lambda$ . Then  $\rho = \sigma_{\rho} \cap \lambda_i$  and  $\rho^{\circ} \subseteq \lambda_i^{\circ}$  hold. If  $\sigma_{\rho} \subseteq \lambda_i$  holds, then we obtain  $\rho = \sigma_{\rho}$  and thus  $\rho \subseteq \lambda_i$  is an extremal ray of  $\sigma$ . So, assume that  $\sigma_{\rho}$  is not contained in  $\lambda_i$ . Then  $\sigma_{\rho} \cap \lambda_j^{\circ}$  is non-empty for all  $j = 0, \ldots, r$ . Thus, there is a *P*-elementary cone  $\tau \subseteq \sigma_{\rho}$ . Using (i), we obtain

$$\varrho(\tau) = \tau \cap \lambda \subseteq \sigma_{\rho} \cap \lambda = \varrho$$

and thus  $\rho = \rho(\tau)$ . As this does not depend on the particular choice of the *P*-elementary cone  $\tau \subseteq \sigma_{\rho}$ , the above claim yields  $\sigma_0 := \sigma_{\rho} \in T(\sigma)$  and  $\rho = \rho(\sigma_0)$ .

We verify the inclusion " $\supseteq$ ". Consider a face  $\sigma_0 \in T(\sigma)$ . As seen just before, the extremal rays of  $\sigma_0 \cap \lambda_i$  are  $\rho(\sigma_0)$  and the rays of  $\sigma_0$  that lie in  $\lambda_i$ . Since  $\sigma_0 \cap \lambda_i$  is a face of  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i$ , the ray  $\rho(\sigma_0)$  is an extremal ray of  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i$ . Finally, consider an extremal ray  $\rho \preceq \sigma$  with  $\rho \subseteq \lambda_i$ . Then  $\rho = \rho \cap \lambda_i$  is a face of  $\sigma \cap \lambda_i$ .

The proof of Assertion (iv) is complete now. Assertion (v) is a direct consequence of (iv). We turn to Assertions (vi), (vii) and (viii). Let  $\hat{\tau} \preceq \hat{\sigma} \preceq \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{n+m}$  be the faces with  $P(\hat{\tau}) = \tau$  and  $P(\hat{\sigma}) = \sigma$ . Moreover, let  $e_{\tau} \in \hat{\tau}$  be the (unique) point with  $P(e_{\tau}) = v(\tau)$ . The minimum value  $\langle u, v(\tau) \rangle$  is attained at some vertex  $u \in B_X$ . For this u, we find vertices  $e_{\sigma} \in B(-\mathcal{K}_X)$  and  $e_B \in B$  with

$$u = (P^*)^{-1}(e_{\sigma} + e_B - e_Z).$$

Here,  $e_{\sigma}$  is any vertex of  $B(-\mathcal{K}_X)$  such that  $\hat{\sigma}$  is contained in the cone of the normal fan of  $B(-\mathcal{K}_X)$  associated with  $e_{\sigma}$ ; such  $e_{\sigma}$  exists due to ampleness of  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  and  $e_{\sigma}$  vanishes along  $\hat{\sigma}$ . Together we have

$$e_{\tau} = \sum_{i=0}^{r} l_{ij_i} e_{ij_i}, \qquad \langle u, v(\tau) \rangle = \langle e_{\sigma} + e_B - e_Z, e_{\tau} \rangle.$$

As mentioned,  $\langle e_{\sigma}, e_{\tau} \rangle = 0$  holds. Moreover,  $\langle e, e_{\tau} \rangle = (r-1)l_{0j_0} \cdots l_{rj_r}$  holds for every  $e \in B$ . We conclude  $\langle u, v(\tau) \rangle = -\ell_{\tau}$  and Assertion (vi). Moreover, Assertions (vii) and (viii) are direct consequences of (vi) and (ii).

**Example 3.2.11.** Consider the  $E_6$ -singular affine surface  $X = V(z_1^4 + z_2^3 + z_3^2) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^3$ . It inherits a  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -action from the action

$$t \cdot (z_1, z_2, z_3) = (t^3 z_1, t^4 z_2, t^6 z_3)$$

on  $\mathbb{C}^3$ . The divisor class group and the Cox ring of the surface X are explicitly given by

$$Cl(X) = \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}, \qquad \mathcal{R}(X) = \mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2, T_3]/\langle T_1^3 + T_2^3 + T_3^2 \rangle,$$

where the Cl(X)-degrees of  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $T_3$  are  $\overline{1}$ ,  $\overline{2}$  and  $\overline{0}$ . The minimal toric ambient variety is affine and corresponds to the cone

$$\sigma = \operatorname{cone}((-3, -3, -2), (3, 0, 1), (0, 2, 1))$$

Denoting by  $e_i \in \mathbb{Q}^3$  the *i*-th canonical basis vector, the tropical variety trop(X) in  $\mathbb{Q}^3$ is given as

$$\operatorname{trop}(X) = \operatorname{cone}(e_1, \pm e_3) \cup \operatorname{cone}(e_2, \pm e_3) \cup \operatorname{cone}(-e_1 - e_2, \pm e_3).$$

The anticanonical polyhedron  $A_X \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^3$  is not bounded with recession cone generated by (-1, -1, -1), (1, 0, 0), (0, 1, 0). The vertices of  $A_X$  are

$$(-3, -3, -2), (3, 0, 1), (0, 2, 1), (0, 0, 1).$$

The anticanonical complex  $A_X^c = A_X \sqcap \Sigma \sqcap \operatorname{trop}(X)$  lives inside  $\operatorname{trop}(X)$  and looks as follows.



**Corollary 3.2.12.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 2 such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample. Let  $\tau$  be a P-elementary cone contained in some  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ . Assume  $\varrho(\tau) \not\subseteq A_X^c$  and denote by  $c_{\tau}$  the greatest common divisor of the entries of  $v(\tau)$ . Then, for any resolution of singularities  $\varphi \colon X'' \to X$  provided by 2.3.6, the discrepancy along the prime divisor of X'' corresponding to  $\varrho(\tau)$  equals  $c_{\tau}^{-1}\ell_{\tau} - 1$ .

**Corollary 3.2.13.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 2 such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample and let  $\tau = \operatorname{cone}(v_{0i_0}, \ldots, v_{ri_r})$  be contained in some  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ .

- (i) If X has at most log terminal singularities, then  $l_{0j_0}^{-1} + \ldots + l_{rj_r}^{-1} > r 1$  holds. (ii) If X has at most canonical singularities, then  $l_{0j_0}^{-1} + \ldots + l_{rj_r}^{-1} \ge r 1 + c_\tau l_{0j_0}^{-1} \cdots l_{rj_r}^{-1}$ holds.
- (iii) If X has at most terminal singularities, then  $l_{0j_0}^{-1} + \ldots + l_{rj_r}^{-1} > r 1 + c_\tau l_{0j_0}^{-1} \cdots l_{rj_r}^{-1}$ holds.

**Remark 3.2.14.** Let  $a_0, \ldots, a_r$  be positive integers. Then  $a_0^{-1} + \ldots + a_r^{-1} > r - 1$  holds if and only if  $(a_0, \ldots, a_r)$  is a platonic tuple.

**Theorem 3.2.15.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be of Type 2 such that  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample and let  $\Sigma$  be the fan of the minimal toric ambient variety of X. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The variety X has at most log terminal singularities.
- (ii) For every P-elementary  $\tau = \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \ldots, v_{rj_r})$  contained in a cone of  $\Sigma$ , the exponents  $l_{0j_0}, \ldots, l_{rj_r}$  form a platonic tuple.

*Proof.* Assume that  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  is log terminal. Then Corollary 3.2.13 (i) tells us that for every *P*-elementary  $\tau = \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \ldots, v_{rj_r})$  contained in a cone of  $\Sigma$ , the corresponding exponents  $l_{0j_0}, \ldots, l_{rj_r}$  form a platonic tuple.

Now assume that (ii) holds. Then every  $(l_{0j_0}, \ldots, l_{rj_r})$  is a platonic tuple. Consequently, we have  $\ell_{\tau} > 0$  for every *P*-elementary cone  $\tau$ . Proposition 3.2.10 shows that  $A_X^c$  is bounded for  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$ . Theorem 3.2.5 (ii) tells us that X is log terminal.

**Remark 3.2.16.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Phi)$  be affine of Type 2 such that  $\mathcal{K}_X$  is Q-Cartier. Then  $-\mathcal{K}_X$  is ample. The fan  $\Sigma$  of the minimal toric ambient variety Z of X consists of all the faces of the cone  $\sigma$  generated by the columns of P. In particular, every Pelementary cone is contained in  $\sigma$ . Thus, Theorem 3.1.3 follows from Theorem 3.2.15. Moreover, the rays  $\rho(\sigma_0)$ , where  $\sigma_0 \in T(A, P, \Phi)$ , are precisely the extremal rays of the intersection of  $\sigma$  and the lineality part of trop(X).

# 3.3 Gorenstein index and canonical multiplicity

If a normal variety X is Q-Gorenstein, then, by definition, some multiple of its canonical class  $\mathcal{K}_X$  is Cartier. The *Gorenstein index* of X is the smallest positive integer  $i_X$  such that  $i_X \mathcal{K}_X$  is Cartier. We attach another invariant to the canonical divisor of X.

**Remark 3.3.1.** Let X = X(A, P) be a Q-Gorenstein, affine *T*-variety of Type 2. We consider canonical divisors  $D_X$  on X that are of the following form, cf. [6, Prop. 3.3.3.2]:

$$-\sum_{i,j} D_{ij} - \sum_{k} E_k + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{r-1} \sum_{j=0}^{n_{i_\alpha}} l_{i_\alpha j} D_{i_\alpha j}, \qquad 0 \le i_\alpha \le r.$$
(3.1)

Corollary 2.3.10 says that  $i_X D_X$  is the divisor of a *T*-homogeneous rational function. Any two  $i_X D_X$  with  $D_X$  of shape (3.1) differ by the divisor of a *T*-invariant rational function, and thus, all the functions with divsors  $i_X D_X$ , where  $D_X$  as in (3.1), are homogeneous with respect to the same weight  $\eta_X \in \mathbb{X}(T)$ .

**Definition 3.3.2.** Let X = X(A, P) be a Q-Gorenstein, affine *T*-variety of Type 2. We call  $\eta_X \in \mathbf{X}(T)$  of Remark 3.3.1 the *canonical weight* of *X*. The *canonical multiplicity* of *X* is the minimal non-negative integer  $\zeta_X$  such that  $\eta_X = \zeta_X \cdot \eta'_X$  holds with a primitive element  $\eta'_X \in \mathbb{X}(T)$ .

**Proposition 3.3.3.** Let X = X(A, P) be a Q-Gorenstein, affine T-variety of Type 2 with at most log terminal singularities. Then  $\zeta_X > 0$  holds. Moreover, for any positive integer *i*, the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The variety X is of Gorenstein index i.
- (ii) There exist integers  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$  with  $gcd(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r, \zeta_X, i) = 1$  such that with  $\mu_0 := i(r-1) \mu_1 \ldots \mu_r$  we obtain integral vectors

$$\nu_i := (\nu_{i1}, \dots, \nu_{in_i}) \text{ with } \nu_{ij} := \frac{i - \mu_i l_{ij}}{\zeta_X}$$
$$\nu' := (\nu'_1, \dots, \nu'_m) \text{ with } \nu'_k := \frac{i}{\zeta_X}$$

and by suitable elementary row operations on the (d, d')-block, the matrix P gains  $(\nu_0, \ldots, \nu_r, \nu')$  as its last row, i.e., turns into the shape

$$\tilde{P} = \begin{pmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & \dots & 0 & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots\\ -l_0 & 0 & \dots & l_r & 0\\ * & * & \dots & * & *\\ \nu_0 & \nu_1 & \dots & \nu_r & \nu' \end{pmatrix}.$$

*Proof.* We work with an anticanonical divisor  $D_X$  on X such that  $-D_X$  is of the form (3.1):

$$D_X := \sum_{i,j} D_{ij} + \sum_k E_k - (r-1) \sum_{j=1}^{n_0} l_{0j} D_{0j}$$

According to Corollary 2.3.10, the Picard group of X is trivial. Thus,  $i_X D_X$  is the divisor of some toric character  $\chi^u$ , where

$$u = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_r, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_s) \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}.$$

Note that  $-(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_s) \in \mathbb{Z}^s = \mathbb{X}(T)$  is the canonical weight  $\eta_X$  of X. Moreover, the divisor  $i_X D_X = \operatorname{div}(\chi^u)$  corresponds to the vector  $P^* \cdot u \in \mathbb{Z}^{m+n}$  under the identification of toric divisors with lattice points via  $D_{ij} \mapsto e_{ij}$  and  $E_k \mapsto e_k$ .

We claim that  $\eta_X$  is non-trivial. Otherwise,  $\eta_1 = \ldots = \eta_s = 0$  holds. As noted, the *ij*-th and *k*-th components of the vector  $P^* \cdot u$  are the multiplicities of  $D_{ij}$  and  $D_k$  in  $i_X D_X$ , respectively. More explicitly, this leads to the conditions

$$m = 0,$$
  $i_X((r-1)l_{0j}-1) = (\mu_1 + \ldots + \mu_r)l_{0j},$   $i_X = \mu_i l_{ij}$ 

for all *i* and *j*. Plugging the third into the second one, we obtain that  $l_{0j_0}^{-1} + \ldots + l_{rj_r}^{-1}$  equals r-1 for any choice of  $1 \leq j_i \leq n_i$ . According to Corollary 3.2.13 (i), this contradicts to log terminality of X. Knowing that  $\eta_X$  is non-zero, we obtain that  $\zeta_X$  is non-zero.

Now, assume that (i) holds, i.e., we have  $i = i_X$ . Let  $u \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$  as above. Then we have  $\zeta_X = \gcd(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_s)$  and  $\operatorname{div}(\chi^u) = iD_X$  implies  $\gcd(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r, \zeta_X, i) = 1$ . Next, choose a unimodular  $s \times s$  matrix  $\mathcal{B}$  with  $\mathcal{B}^{-1} \cdot (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_s) = (0, \ldots, 0, \zeta_X)$ . Consider  $\tilde{P} := \operatorname{diag}(E_r, \mathcal{B}^*) \cdot P$  and

$$\tilde{u} = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r, 0, \ldots, 0, \zeta_X) \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}.$$

Observe that we have  $P^* \cdot u = \tilde{P}^* \cdot \tilde{u}$ . Comparing the entries of  $\tilde{P}^* \cdot \tilde{u}$  with the multiplicities of the prime divisors  $D_{ij}$  and  $D_k$  in  $iD_X$  shows that the last row of  $\tilde{P}$  is as claimed. Conversely, if (ii) holds, consider  $u := (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r, 0, \ldots, 0, \zeta_X)$ . Then we obtain  $iD_X = \text{div}(\chi^u)$ . Using  $\text{gcd}(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r, \zeta_X, i) = 1$ , we conclude that i is the Gorenstein index of X.

**Remark 3.3.4.** Let X = X(A, P) be a Q-Gorenstein, affine *T*-variety of Type 2 and  $D_X$  a canonical divisor on X as in (3.1). Then  $i_X D_X$  is the divisor of some toric character  $\chi^u$ , where

$$u = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r, \eta_1, \ldots, \eta_s) \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}.$$

In this situation, we have  $\eta_X = (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_s) \in \mathbb{X}(T)$  for the canonical weight of X and the canonical multiplicity of X is given by  $\zeta_X = \gcd(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_s)$ . If P is in the shape of Proposition 3.3.3, then  $\eta_X = (0, \ldots, 0, \zeta_X)$  holds and  $-\mu_1, \ldots, -\mu_r$  satisfy the conditions of 3.3.3 (ii).

**Remark 3.3.5.** The defining matrix P of a given  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Gorenstein, affine T-variety X = X(A, P) is in the shape of Proposition 3.3.3 if and only if for every  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , the numbers  $\mu_i := (\iota_X - \zeta_X \nu_{i1}) l_{i1}^{-1}$  satisfy

- (i)  $\zeta_X \nu_{ij} + \mu_i l_{ij} = \iota_X$  for  $i = 1, \dots, r$  and  $j = 1, \dots, n_i$ ,
- (ii)  $\zeta_X \nu_{0j} + \mu_0 l_{0j} = i_X$ , for  $\mu_0 := i_X (r-1) \mu_1 \dots \mu_r$  and  $j = 1, \dots, n_0$ ,
- (iii)  $gcd(\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_r,\zeta_X,\imath_X)=1,$
- (iv)  $\zeta_X \nu'_k = \imath_X$  for  $k = 1, \dots, m$ .

**Corollary 3.3.6.** Let X = X(A, P) be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Gorenstein, affine T-variety of Type 2 with at most log terminal singularities. Then, for every  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ , the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The variety X is of Gorenstein index i and of canonical multiplicity one.
- (ii) One can choose the defining matrix P to be of the shape

$$\begin{pmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -l_0 & 0 & \dots & l_r & 0 \\ * & * & \dots & * & * \\ \imath - \imath (r-1)l_0 & \imath & \dots & \imath & \imath \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $\boldsymbol{i}$  stands for a vector  $(i, \ldots, i)$  of suitable length.

Proof. If (i) holds, then we may assume P to be as  $\tilde{P}$  in Proposition 3.3.3. Adding the  $\mu_i$ -fold of the *i*-th row to the last row brings P into the desired form. If (ii) holds, take  $u = (0, \ldots, 0, -1) \in \mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$ . Then  $P^* \cdot u \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  defines a divisor  $iD_X$  with  $D_X$  a canonical divisor of shape (3.1) and we see  $\zeta_X = 1$ .

**Proposition 3.3.7.** Let X = X(A, P) be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Gorenstein affine T-variety of Type 2 with at most log terminal singularities and canonical multiplicity  $\zeta_X > 1$ . Then we can choose P of shape 3.3.3 (ii) such that  $l_{ij} = 1$  and  $\nu_{ij} = 0$  holds for  $i = 3, \ldots, r$  and  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$  and, moreover, P satisfies one of the following cases:

Case	$(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$	$( u_0, u_1, u_2)$	$\zeta_X$	$\imath_X$
(i)	(4, 3, 2)	$\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}+l_0,\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}-\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}l_1,\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}-l_2)$	2	$0 \mod 2$
(ii)	(3,3,2)	$\frac{1}{3}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}-l_0,\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}+l_1,\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}-\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}l_2)$	3	$0 \mod 3$
(iii)	(2k+1, 2, 2)	$\frac{1}{4}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}} - \boldsymbol{\imath}_{X}l_{0},  \boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}} - l_{1},  \boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}} + l_{2})$	4	$2 \mod 4$
(iv)	(2k, 2, 2)	$\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}-l_0,\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}+l_1,\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}-\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}}l_2)$	2	$0 \mod 2$
(v)	(k,2,2)	$\frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}} - \boldsymbol{\imath}_{X}l_{0},  \boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}} - l_{1},  \boldsymbol{\imath}_{\boldsymbol{X}} + l_{2})$	2	$0 \mod 2$
(vi)	$(k_0, k_1, 1)$	$( u_0, u_1,\zeta_X^{-1}(oldsymbol{\imath}_X-\imath_Xl_2))$		

where  $\mathbf{i}_X$  stands for a vector  $(i_X, \ldots, i_X)$  of suitable length, and in Case (vi), all the numbers  $(i_X - \nu_{0j_0}\zeta_X)/l_{0j_0}$  and  $(\nu_{1j_1}\zeta_X - i_X)/l_{1j_1}$  are integral and coincide.

*Proof.* Since X = X(A, P) has at most log terminal singularities, Theorem 3.1.3 guarantees that the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X) = \mathcal{R}(A, P)$  is platonic. Thus, suitably exchanging data column blocks, we achieve  $l_{ij} = 1$  for all  $i \geq 3$ . Next, we bring P in to the form of Proposition 3.3.3 (ii). Finally, subtracting the  $\nu_{ij}$ -fold of the *i*-th row from the last one, we achieve  $\nu_{ij} = 0$  for  $i = 3, \ldots, r$ .

Observe that our new matrix P still satisfies the conditions of Remark 3.3.5. For the integers  $\mu_i$  defined there, we have

$$\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \dots = \mu_r = \imath_X. \tag{3.2}$$

Moreover, for i = 0, 1, 2 set  $\ell_i := l_{01}l_{11}l_{21}/l_{i1}$ . Then, because of  $i_X + \mu_i l_{ij} = \nu_{ij}\zeta_X$ , we obtain

$$\gcd(\ell_0, \ell_1, \ell_2)^{-1} \sum_{i=0}^{2} \ell_i (i_X - \mu_i l_{ij}) = \alpha \zeta_X \quad \text{for some } \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.3)

Finally, Remark 3.3.5 ensures

$$1 = \gcd(\mu_1, \dots, \mu_r, \zeta_X, \imath_X) = \gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X, \imath_X).$$
(3.4)

We will now apply these conditions to establish the table of the assertion. Since  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  is a platonic triple, we have to discuss the following cases.

Case 1:  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  equals (5, 3, 2). Our task is to rule out this case. Using (3.2) and (3.3), we see that  $\zeta_X$  divides

$$i_X = 31i_X - 30(\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2) = 6(i_X - 5\mu_0) + 10(i_X - 3\mu_1) + 15(i_X - 2\mu_2).$$

Consequently, (3.4) becomes  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$  and from  $i_X - \mu_i l_{ij} = \nu_{ij} \zeta_X$  we infer that  $\zeta_X$  divides  $5\mu_0$ ,  $3\mu_1$  and  $2\mu_2$ . This leaves us with the three possibilities  $\zeta_X = 2, 3, 6$ . If  $\zeta_X = 2$  holds, then  $\zeta_X$  divides  $\mu_0$  and  $\mu_1$  but not  $\mu_2$ ; if  $\zeta_X = 3$  holds, then  $\zeta_X$  divides  $\mu_0$ and  $\mu_2$  but not  $\mu_1$ . Both contradicts to the fact that  $\zeta_X$  divides  $i_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$ . Thus, only  $\zeta_X = 6$  is left. In that case,  $\zeta_X$  must divide  $\mu_0$ . Since  $\zeta_X$  divides  $i_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$ , we see that  $\zeta_X$  divides  $\mu_1 + \mu_2$ . Moreover,  $\zeta_X \mid 3\mu_1$  gives  $\mu_1 = 2\mu'_1$  and  $\zeta_X \mid 2\mu_2$  gives  $\mu_2 = 3\mu'_2$  with integers  $\mu'_1, \mu'_2$ . Now, as  $\zeta_X = 6$  divides  $2\mu'_1 + 3\mu'_2$ , we obtain that  $\mu'_2$  and hence  $\mu_2$  are even. This contradicts  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$ .

Case 2:  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  equals (4, 3, 2). Similarly as in the preceding case, we apply (3.2) and (3.3) to see that  $\zeta_X$  divides

$$i_X = 13i_X - 12(\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2) = \frac{1}{2} (6(i_X - 4\mu_0) + 8(i_X - 3\mu_1) + 12(i_X - 2\mu_2)).$$

As before, we conclude  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$  and obtain that  $\zeta_X$  divides  $4\mu_0, 3\mu_1$  and  $2\mu_2$ . This reduces to  $\zeta_X = 2, 3, 6$ .

If  $\zeta_X = 3$  holds, then  $\zeta_X$  divides  $\mu_0$  and  $\mu_2$  but not  $\mu_1$ , contradicting the fact that  $\zeta_X$  divides  $i_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$ . If  $\zeta_X = 6$  holds, then we obtain  $\mu_0 = 3\mu'_0$ ,  $\mu_1 = 2\mu'_1$  and  $\mu_2 = 3\mu'_2$  with suitable integers  $\mu'_i$ . Since  $\zeta_X$  divides  $i_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$ , we obtain that  $\mu_2$  is divisible by 3, contradicting  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$ .

Thus, the only possibility left is  $\zeta_X = 2$ . We show that this leads to Case (i) of the assertion. Observe that  $\mu_1$  is even,  $\mu_2$  is odd because of  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$  and  $\mu_2$  is odd because  $i_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$  is even. Recall that the vectors  $\nu_i$  in the last row of P are given as

$$u_i = rac{1}{\zeta_X}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_X - \mu_i l_i) = rac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{\imath}_X - rac{\mu_i}{2}l_i.$$

Thus, adding the  $(-\mu_0 - \mu_2)/2$ -fold of the first row and the  $(\mu_2 - 1)/2$ -fold of the second row to the last row brings P into the shape of Case (i).

Case 3:  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  equals (3, 3, 2). As in the two preceding cases, we infer from (3.2) and (3.3) that  $\zeta_X$  divides

$$i_X = 7i_X - 6(\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2) = \frac{1}{3}(6(i_X - 3\mu_0) + 6(i_X - 3\mu_1) + 9(i_X - 2\mu_2)).$$

Since  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$  and  $\zeta_X$  divides  $3\mu_0$ ,  $3\mu_1$ ,  $2\mu_2$ , we are left with  $\zeta_X = 2, 3, 6$ . If  $\zeta_X = 2$  or  $\zeta_X = 6$  holds, then  $\mu_0$ ,  $\mu_1$  and  $\imath_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$  must be even. Thus also  $\mu_2$  must be even, contradicting  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$ .

Let  $\zeta_X = 3$ . We show that this leads to Case (ii) of the assertion. First, 3 divides  $\mu_2$  and  $\iota_X = \mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2$ , hence also  $\mu_0 + \mu_1$ . Moreover, 3 divides neither  $\mu_0$  nor  $\mu_1$  because of  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$ . Interchanging, if necessary, the data of the column blocks no. 0 and 1, we achieve that 3 divides  $\mu_0 - 1$  and  $\mu_1 + 1$ . So, at the moment, the  $\nu_i$  in the last row of P are of the form

$$\nu_i = \frac{1}{\zeta_X} (\boldsymbol{\imath}_X - \mu_i l_i) = \frac{1}{3} \boldsymbol{\imath}_X - \frac{\mu_i}{3} l_i.$$

Adding the  $(\mu_1 + 1)/3$ -fold of the first and the  $(-\mu_0 - \mu_1)/3$ -fold of the second to the last row of P, we arrive at Case (ii).

Case 4:  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  equals (k, 2, 2) with  $k \ge 3$  odd. Then (3.2) and (3.3) show that  $\zeta_X$  divides

$$2i_X = (2+2k)i_X - 2k(\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2) = \frac{1}{2}(4(i_X - k\mu_0) + 2k(i_X - 2\mu_1) + 2k(i_X - 2\mu_2)).$$

Case 4.1:  $\zeta_X$  doesn't divide  $i_X$ . Then we have  $2i_X = \alpha \zeta_X$  with  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$  odd. Thus,  $\zeta_X$  is even and  $2\mu_i = i_X - \nu_{ij}\zeta_X$  implies that  $4\mu_i$  is an odd multiple of  $\zeta_X$  for i = 1, 2. In particular, 4 divides  $\zeta_X$ . Moreover, (3.4) implies  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X/2) = 1$  and we obtain  $\zeta_X = 4$ . That means  $i_X \equiv 2 \mod 4$ . Since  $\zeta_X = 4$  divides  $i_X - k\mu_0$  and k is odd, we conclude  $\mu_0 \equiv 2 \mod 4$ . Then  $\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2 = i_X \equiv 2 \mod 4$  implies that 4 divides  $\mu_1 + \mu_2$ . Interchanging, if necessary, the data of the column blocks no. 1 and 2, we can assume  $\mu_1 \equiv -\mu_2 \equiv 1 \mod 4$ . Then, adding the  $(\mu_1 - 1)/4$ -fold of the first and the  $(\mu_2 + 1)/4$ -fold of the second to the last row of P, we arrive at Case (iii) of the assertion.

Case 4.2:  $\zeta_X$  divides  $\iota_X$ . Then (3.4) becomes  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, \zeta_X) = 1$ . Since  $\zeta_X$  divides  $2\mu_1$  and  $2\mu_2$ , we see that  $\zeta = 2$  holds and  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$  are odd. Adding the  $(\mu_1 - 1)/2$ -fold of the first and the  $(\mu_2 + 1)/2$ -fold of the second to the last row of P leads to Case (v) of the assertion.

Case 5:  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  equals (k, 2, 2) with  $k \ge 2$  even. Then (3.2) and (3.3) show that  $\zeta_X$  divides

$$i_X = (k+1)i_X - k(\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2) = \frac{1}{4}(4(i_X - k\mu_0) + 2k(i_X - 2\mu_1) + 2k(i_X - 2\mu_2)).$$

As earlier, we conclude that  $\zeta_X|2\mu_i$  for i = 1, 2 and  $\zeta_X = 2$ . Since  $gcd(\mu_1, \mu_2, 2) = 1$ holds and  $\mu_0 + \mu_1 + \mu_2 = \imath_X$  is even, two of the  $\mu_i$  are be odd and one is even. If  $\mu_1$ and  $\mu_2$  are odd, then adding the  $(\mu_1 - 1)/2$ -fold of the first and the  $(\mu_2 + 1)/2$ -fold of the second to the last row of P leads to Case (v). Now, let  $\mu_0$  be odd. Interchanging, if necessary, the data of the column blocks no. 1 and 2, we achieve that  $\mu_1$  is odd. Then we add the  $(\mu_1 + 1)/2$ -fold of the first and the  $(-\mu_0 - \mu_1)/2$ -fold of the second to the last row of P and arrive at Case (iv) of the assertion.

Case 6.  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  equals  $(k_0, k_1, 1)$ , where  $k_0, k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ . We subtract the  $\nu_{21}$ -fold of the second row of P from the last one. Since  $\nu_{21} = (i_X - \mu_2)/\zeta_X$  holds, we obtain

 $\nu_2 = \zeta_X^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\imath}_X - \boldsymbol{\imath}_X l_2)$ . Moreover, (3.2) becomes  $\mu_0 + \mu_1 = 0$ . We arrive at Case (vi) of the assertion by observing

$$(\iota_X - \nu_{0j_0}\zeta_X)/l_{0j_0} = \mu_0 = -\mu_1 = (\nu_{1j_1}\zeta_X - \iota_X)/l_{1j_1}.$$

**Example 3.3.8.** We discuss the rational affine  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surfaces X with at most log terminal singularities. First, the affine toric surfaces  $X = \mathbb{C}^2/C_k$  show up here, where  $C_k$  is the cyclic group of order k acting diagonally. In terms of toric geometry, these surfaces are given as

$$X = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \mathbb{Z}^2], \qquad \sigma = \operatorname{cone}((k, i), (i, k+m)),$$

where  $k, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  with gcd(k, i) = gcd(k + m, i) = 1 and i is the Gorenstein index of X; see [24, Chap. 10] for more background. Now consider a non-toric  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface X = X(A, P) of Type 2. As a quotient of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  by a finite group, X has finite divisor class group and thus P is a  $3 \times 3$  matrix of the shape

$$P = \begin{bmatrix} -l_{01} & l_{11} & 0\\ -l_{01} & 0 & l_{21}\\ d_{01} & d_{11} & d_{21} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Theorem 3.1.3 says that  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  is a platonic triple. Moreover, Corollary 3.3.6 and Proposition 3.3.7 provide us with constraints on the  $d_{i1}$ . Having in mind that P is of rank three with primitive columns, one directly arrives at the following possibilities, where  $\zeta = \zeta_X$  is the canonical multiplicity and  $i = i_X$  the Gorenstein index:

Type	Р	$\zeta$	ı
$D_n^{1,i}$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1	gcd(i,2n) = 1
$D_{2n+1}^{2,i}$	$\left[\begin{array}{cccc} -2n+1 & 2 & 0\\ -2n+1 & 0 & 2\\ (1-n)\imath & \imath/2+1 & \imath/2-1 \end{array}\right]$	2	$\gcd(i,8n-4)=4$
$E_{6}^{1,i}$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1	gcd(i, 6) = 1
$E_6^{3,\imath}$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	3	$gcd(\imath, 18) = 9$
$E_7^{1,i}$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrr} -4 & 3 & 0\\ -4 & 0 & 2\\ -3i & i & i \end{array}\right]$	1	$gcd(\imath, 6) = 1$
$E_8^{1,i}$	$\left[\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	1	$gcd(\imath, 30) = 1$

For geometric details on these surfaces, we refer to the work of Brieskorn [20], and, in the context of the McKay Correspondence, Wunram [88] and Wemyss [86].

#### **3.4** Geometry of the total coordinate space

We take a closer look at the geometry of the total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$  of a *T*-variety *X* of complexity one. The first result says in particular that  $\overline{X}$  is Gorenstein and canonical provided that *X* is log terminal and affine.

**Proposition 3.4.1.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a platonic ring of Type 2. Then the affine variety  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is Gorenstein and has at most canonical singularities.

*Proof.* Adding suitable rows, we complement the matrix  $P_0$  to a square matrix P of full rank with last row  $(\mathbf{1} - (r-1)l_0, \mathbf{1}, \ldots, \mathbf{1})$ , where  $\mathbf{1}$  indicates vectors of length  $n_i$  with all entries equal to one; this is possible, because the last row is not in the row space of  $P_0$ . Then X = X(A, P) is a Q-factorial affine T-variety. Theorem 3.1.3 tells us that X has at most log terminal singularities and Corollary 3.3.6 ensures that X is Gorenstein. Thus, X has at most canonical singularities. Since  $\overline{X} \to X$  is finite with ramification locus of codimension at least two, we can use [53, Thm. 6.2.9] to see that  $\overline{X}$  is Gorenstein with at most canonical singularities.

Now we investigate the generic quotient Y of  $\overline{X}$  by the action of the unit component  $H_0^0 \subseteq H_0$ , in other words, the smooth projective curve Y with function field  $\mathbb{C}(Y) = \mathbb{C}(\overline{X})^{H_0^0}$ . Note that the curve Y occurs also in [3], where it carries the polyhedral divisor of the Cox ring.

**Definition 3.4.2.** Consider the defining matrix  $P_0$  of a ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 2 and the vectors  $l_i = (l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$  occurring in the rows of  $P_0$ . Set

$$\mathfrak{l}_{i} := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_{i1}, \dots, \mathfrak{l}_{in_{i}}), \qquad \mathfrak{l} := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_{0}, \dots, \mathfrak{l}_{r}), \qquad \mathfrak{l}_{ij} := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_{i}, \mathfrak{l}^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_{j}),$$
$$\bar{\mathfrak{l}} := \operatorname{lcm}(\mathfrak{l}_{0}, \dots, \mathfrak{l}_{r}), \qquad b_{i} := \mathfrak{l}_{i}^{-1}\bar{\mathfrak{l}}, \qquad b(i) := \gcd(b_{j}; \ j \neq i).$$

**Theorem 3.4.3.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 and consider the action of the unit component  $H_0^0 \subseteq H_0$  of the quasitorus  $H_0 = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[K_0]$  on  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$ . Then the smooth projective curve Y with function field  $\mathbb{C}(Y) = \mathbb{C}(\overline{X})^{H_0^0}$  is of genus

$$g(Y) = \frac{\mathfrak{l}_0 \cdots \mathfrak{l}_r}{2\overline{\mathfrak{l}}} \left( (r-1) - \sum_{i=0}^r \frac{b(i)}{\mathfrak{l}_i} \right) + 1.$$

**Lemma 3.4.4.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2, consider the degree  $u := \deg(g_0) \in K_0$  of the defining relations and the subgroup

$$K_0(u) := \{ w \in K_0; \alpha w \in \mathbb{Z} u \text{ for some } \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \} \subseteq K_0.$$

Then the Veronese subalgebra  $R(A, P_0)(u)$  of  $R(A, P_0)$  associated with  $K_0(u)$  of  $K_0$  is generated by the monomials  $T_0^{l_0/l_0}, \ldots, T_r^{l_r/l_r}$ .

*Proof.* First, observe that every element of  $R(A, P_0)(u)$  is a polynomial in the variables  $T_{ij}$ . Now consider a monomial  $T^l$  in the  $T_{ij}$  of degree  $w \in K_0(u)$ , where  $l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$ . Then  $\alpha w \in \beta_0 u$  holds for some  $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  and  $\beta_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Moreover, there are  $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r \in \mathbb{Z}$  with

$$\alpha l = \beta_0 l'_0 + \beta_1 (l'_0 - l'_1) + \ldots + \beta_r (l'_0 - l'_r), \text{ where } l'_i := l_{i1} e_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i} e_{in_i}$$

reflecting the fact that  $\alpha l - \beta_0 l'_0$  lies in the row space of  $P_0$ . Consequently, we obtain  $l = \beta'_0 l'_0 + \ldots + \beta'_r l'_r$  for suitable  $\beta'_i \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Since l has only non-negative integer entries, we conclude that every  $\beta'_i$  is a non-negative integral multiple of  $\mathfrak{l}_i^{-1}$ . Thus,  $T^l$  is a monomial in the  $T_i^{l_i/\mathfrak{l}_i}$ . The assertion follows.

Proof of Theorem 3.4.3. The curve Y occurs as a GIT-quotient:  $Y = \overline{X}^{ss}(u^0)/H_0^0$ , where  $u^0 \in \mathbb{X}(H_0^0)$  represents the character induced by  $u = \deg(g_0) \in K_0 = \mathbb{X}(H_0)$ . In other words, we have  $Y = \operatorname{Proj} R(A, P_0)(u^0)$  with the Veronese subalgebra defined by  $u^0$ . We may replace  $u^0$  with

$$w^0 := \frac{1}{\overline{\mathfrak{l}}} u^0 \in \mathbb{X}(H^0_0).$$

Then  $R(A, P_0)(u^0)$  is replaced with  $R(A, P_0)(w^0)$  which in turn equals the Veronese subalgebra treated in Lemma 3.4.4. Moreover, the generators  $T_i^{l_i/l_i} \in R(A, P_0)(w^0)$  are of degree  $b_i w^0 \in \mathbb{X}(H_0^0)$ , respectively. We obtain a closed embedding into a weighted projective space

$$Y = V(h_0, \dots, h_{r-2}) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(b_0, \dots, b_r), \qquad h_i := \det \begin{bmatrix} T_i^{\mathfrak{l}_i} & T_{i+1}^{\mathfrak{l}_{i+1}} & T_{i+2}^{\mathfrak{l}_{i+2}} \\ a_i & a_{i+1} & a_{i+2} \end{bmatrix},$$

where the  $h_i$  generate the ideal of relations among the generators of the Veronese subalgebra  $R(A, P_0)(w^0)$ . The idea is now to construct a ramified covering  $Y' \to Y$  with a suitable curve Y' and then to compute the genus of Y via the Hurwitz formula. Consider

$$Y' = V(h'_0, \dots, h'_{r-2}) \subseteq \mathbb{P}_r, \qquad h'_i := \det \begin{bmatrix} T_i^{\bar{l}} & T_{i+1}^{\bar{l}} & T_{i+2}^{\bar{l}} \\ a_i & a_{i+1} & a_{i+2} \end{bmatrix}.$$

The  $Y' \subseteq \mathbb{P}_r$  is a smooth complete intersection curve. Computing the genus of Y' according to [39], we obtain

$$g(Y') = \frac{1}{2}((r-1)\overline{\mathfrak{l}}^r - (r+1)\overline{\mathfrak{l}}^{r-1}) + 1.$$

The morphism  $\mathbb{P}_r \to \mathbb{P}(b_0, \ldots, b_r)$  sending  $[z_0, \ldots, z_r]$  to  $[z_0^{b_0}, \ldots, z_r^{b_r}]$  restricts to a morphism  $Y' \to Y$  of degree  $b_0 \cdots b_r$ . The intersection  $Y \cap U_i$  with the *i*-th coordinate hyperplane  $U_i \subseteq \mathbb{P}_r$  contains precisely  $\overline{\mathfrak{l}}^{r-1}$  points and each of these points has ramification order  $b_i \cdot b(i) - 1$ . Outside the  $U_i$ , the morphism  $Y' \to Y$  is unramified. The Hurwitz formula then gives g(Y).

We now use Theorem 3.4.3 to characterize rationality of  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$ . For the special case of Pham-Brieskorn surfaces, the following statement has been obtained in [9].

**Proposition 3.4.5.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 with r = 2, that means that  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is given as

$$\overline{X} \cong V(T_{01}^{l_{01}} \cdots T_{0n_0}^{l_{0n_0}} + T_{11}^{l_{11}} \cdots T_{1n_1}^{l_{1n_1}} + T_{21}^{l_{21}} \cdots T_{2n_2}^{l_{2n_2}}) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n.$$

Then the hypersurface  $\overline{X}$  is rational if and only if one of the following conditions holds:

 (i) there are pairwise coprime positive integers c<sub>0</sub>, c<sub>1</sub>, c<sub>2</sub> and a positive integer s such that, after suitable renumbering, one has

$$gcd(c_2, s) = 1, \quad \mathfrak{l}_0 = sc_0, \quad \mathfrak{l}_1 = sc_1, \quad \mathfrak{l}_2 = c_2;$$

(ii) there are pairwise coprime positive integers  $c_0, c_1, c_2$  such that

$$l_0 = 2c_0, \quad l_1 = 2c_1, \quad l_2 = 2c_2$$

**Lemma 3.4.6.** For i = 0, 1, 2, let  $l_i = (l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$  be tuples of positive integers. Define  $l, l_i$  and  $l_{ij}$  as in Definition 3.4.2 for r = 2. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) We have  $\mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{ll}_{01}\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12} (\mathfrak{l}_{01} + \mathfrak{l}_{02} + \mathfrak{l}_{12})) = -2.$
- (ii) One of the following two conditions holds:
  - (a) there are pairwise coprime positive integers  $c_0, c_1, c_2$  and a positive integer s such that, after suitable renumbering, one has

$$gcd(c_2, s) = 1$$
,  $l_0 = sc_0$ ,  $l_1 = sc_1$ ,  $l_2 = c_2$ ;

(b) there are pairwise coprime positive integers  $c_0, c_1, c_2$  such that

$$l_0 = 2c_0, \quad l_1 = 2c_1, \quad l_2 = 2c_2,$$

*Proof.* If (ii) holds, then a simple computation shows that (i) is valid. Now, assume that (i) holds. Then the following cases have to be considered.

Case 1. We have  $\mathfrak{l} = 1$ . Then  $\mathfrak{l}_{01}(\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12} - 1) = \mathfrak{l}_{02} + \mathfrak{l}_{12} - 2$  holds. From this we deduce

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{l}_{01}(\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1) &= (\mathfrak{l}_{01}-1)(\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1) + (\mathfrak{l}_{02}-1)(\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1) + \mathfrak{l}_{02} + \mathfrak{l}_{12} - 2\\ &\geq \mathfrak{l}_{02} + \mathfrak{l}_{12} - 2, \end{split}$$

where equality holds if and only if at least two of  $l_{01}$ ,  $l_{02}$ ,  $l_{12}$  equal one. So, we arrive at Condition (a).

Case 2. We have l = 2. Then we have  $l_{01}(2l_{02}l_{12} - 1) + 1 = l_{02} + l_{12}$ . In this situation, we conclude

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{l}_{01}(2\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1)+1 &= & (\mathfrak{l}_{01}-1)(2\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1)+\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12} \\ &+(\mathfrak{l}_{02}-1)(\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1)+\mathfrak{l}_{02}+\mathfrak{l}_{12}-1 \\ &\geq & \mathfrak{l}_{02}+\mathfrak{l}_{12}, \end{split}$$

where equality holds if and only if we have  $l_{01} = l_{02} = l_{12} = 1$ . Thus, we arrive at Condition (b).

*Proof of Proposition 3.4.5.* First, observe that  $\overline{X}$  is rational if and only if Y is rational or, in other words, of genus zero. For r = 2, Theorem 3.4.3 gives

$$g(Y) = \frac{\mathfrak{l}}{2}(\mathfrak{ll}_{01}\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12} - \mathfrak{l}_{01} - \mathfrak{l}_{02} - \mathfrak{l}_{12}) + 1$$

Thus, according to Lemma 3.4.6, condition g(Y) = 0 holds if and only if (i) or (ii) of the proposition holds.

**Remark 3.4.7.** If the defining polynomial in Proposition 3.4.5 is classically homogeneous, then it defines a projective hypersurface  $X' \subseteq \mathbb{P}^{n-1}$  and the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) X' is rational.
- (ii)  $\operatorname{Cl}(X')$  is finitely generated.
- (iii) Condition 3.4.5 (i) or (ii) holds.

**Corollary 3.4.8.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2. Then  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is rational if and only if one of the following conditions holds:

- (i) We have  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  for all  $0 \le i < j \le r$ , in other words,  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial.
- (ii) There are  $0 \le i < j \le r$  with  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) > 1$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_u, \mathfrak{l}_v) = 1$  whenever  $v \notin \{i, j\}$ .
- (iii) There are  $0 \le i < j < k \le r$  with  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_k) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_j, \mathfrak{l}_k) = 2$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_u, \mathfrak{l}_v) = 1$  whenever  $v \notin \{i, j, k\}$ .

**Lemma 3.4.9.** Let  $A, P_0$  be defining data of Type 2, enhance A to A' by attaching a further column and  $P_0$  to  $P'_0$  by attaching  $l_{r+1}$  to  $l_0, \ldots, l_r$ . If  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_{r+1}) = 1$  holds for  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , then we have g(Y) = g(Y') for the curves associated with R(A, P) and  $R(A', P'_0)$  respectively.

*Proof.* Denote the numbers arising from P' in the sense of Definition 3.4.2 by  $\mathfrak{l}'_i$ ,  $\mathfrak{l}'$  etc. Then we have

$$\bar{\mathfrak{l}}' = \bar{\mathfrak{l}}\mathfrak{l}_{r+1}, \quad b'(i) = \gcd(\bar{\mathfrak{l}}, \bar{\mathfrak{l}}'/\bar{\mathfrak{l}}_j; \ j \neq i) = b(i), \quad i = 0, \dots, r,$$
$$b(r+1) = \gcd(\bar{\mathfrak{l}}'/\bar{\mathfrak{l}}_0, \dots, \bar{\mathfrak{l}}'/\bar{\mathfrak{l}}_r) = \mathfrak{l}_{r+1}.$$

Plugging these identities into the genus formula of Theorem 3.4.3, we directly obtain g(Y') = g(Y).

**Lemma 3.4.10.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 and assume that the curve Y associated with R(A, P) is of genus zero. Then there are  $0 \le i \le j \le k \le r$  with  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_u, \mathfrak{l}_v) = 1$  whenever  $v \notin \{i, j, k\}$ .

*Proof.* According to Theorem 3.4.3, the fact that the curve Y associated with R(A, P) is of genus zero implies

$$\sum_{i=0}^{r} \frac{b(i)}{l_i} = (r-1) + \frac{2\bar{l}}{l_0 \cdots l_r} > r-1.$$

As b(i) divides  $\mathfrak{l}_i$ , we see that  $b(i) \neq \mathfrak{l}_i$  can happen at most three times. Moreover,  $b(i) = \mathfrak{l}_i$  is equivalent to  $\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  for all  $j \neq i$ .

Proof of Corollary 3.4.8. We may assume that the indices i, j and k of Lemma 3.4.10 are 0, 1 and 2. Then Lemma 3.4.9 says that  $\overline{X}$  is rational if and only if the trinomial hypersurface defined by the exponent vectors  $l_0, l_1, l_2$  is rational. Thus, Proposition 3.4.5 gives the assertion.

**Corollary 3.4.11.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a platonic ring of Type 2. Then  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is rational.

**Remark 3.4.12.** It may happen that for a rational *T*-variety *X* of complexity one, the total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$  is rational, but the total coordinate space of  $\overline{X}$  is not rational any more. For instance consider

$$X_3 := V(T_1^4 + T_2^4 + T_3^4) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^3.$$

Then, according to Proposition 3.4.5, the surface  $X_3$  is not rational. Moreover,  $X_3$  is the total coordinate space of an affine rational  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface  $X_2$  with defining matrix

$$P_2 = \left[ \begin{array}{rrr} -4 & 4 & 0 \\ -4 & 0 & 4 \\ -3 & 1 & 1 \end{array} \right].$$

The divisor class group of  $X_2$  is  $\operatorname{Cl}(X_2) = \mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z}$  and the  $\operatorname{Cl}(X_2)$ -grading of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X_2) = \mathbb{C}[T_1, T_2, T_3]/\langle T_1^4 + T_2^4 + T_3^4 \rangle$  is given by

$$\deg(T_1) = (\overline{1},\overline{1}), \quad \deg(T_2) = (\overline{1},\overline{2}), \quad \deg(T_3) = (\overline{2},\overline{1}).$$

For an equation for  $X_2$ , compute the degree zero subalgebra of  $\mathcal{R}(X_2)$ : it has three generators  $S_1, S_2, S_3$  and  $S_1^3 + S_2^3 + S_3^4$  as defining relation. Thus,

$$X_2 \cong V(S_1^3 + S_2^3 + S_3^4) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^3.$$

To obtain a rational affine  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface having  $X_2$  as its total coordinate space, we take  $X_1$ , defined by

$$P_1 := \begin{bmatrix} -3 & 3 & 0 \\ -3 & 0 & 4 \\ -2 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

The divisor class group of  $X_1$  is  $\operatorname{Cl}(X_1) = \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$  and the  $\operatorname{Cl}(X_1)$ -grading of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X_1) = \mathbb{C}[S_1, S_2, S_3]/\langle S_1^3 + S_2^3 + S_3^4 \rangle$  is given by

$$\deg(T_1) = \overline{1}, \quad \deg(T_2) = \overline{2}, \quad \deg(T_3) = \overline{0}$$

We have constructed a chain of total coordinate spaces  $X_3 \to X_2 \to X_1$ , where  $X_1$  is a rational affine  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface,  $X_2$  is rational and  $X_3$  not.

Finally, we determine the factor group of the maximal quasitorus by its unit component acting on a given trinomial hypersurface; the proof is a direct consequence of the subsequent lemma.

**Proposition 3.4.13.** Let R(A, P) be any ring of Type 2, where r = 2. Then, for the quasitorus  $H_0$  acting on the corresponding trinomial hypersurface

$$\overline{X} \cong V(T_{01}^{l_{01}} \cdots T_{0n_0}^{l_{0n_0}} + T_{11}^{l_{11}} \cdots T_{1n_1}^{l_{1n_1}} + T_{21}^{l_{21}} \cdots T_{2n_2}^{l_{2n_2}}) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n,$$

the factor group  $H_0/H_0^0$  by the unit component  $H_0^0 \subseteq H_0$  is isomorphic to the product of cyclic groups  $C(\mathfrak{l}) \times C(\mathfrak{ll}_{01}\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12})$ .

**Lemma 3.4.14.** Consider a matrix  $P_0$  with m = 0 and r = 2 as in Type 2 of Construction 2.1.4:

$$P_0 = \left[ \begin{array}{rrr} -l_0 & l_1 & 0\\ -l_0 & 0 & l_2 \end{array} \right]$$

As earlier, set  $\mathfrak{l}_i = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_{i1}, \ldots, \mathfrak{l}_{in_i})$ . Then, with  $\mathfrak{l}_{ij} = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j)$  and  $\mathfrak{l} = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$ , we obtain

$$K_0^{\text{tors}} = (\mathbb{Z}^n / \text{im}(P_0^*))^{\text{tors}} \cong C(\mathfrak{l}) \times C(\mathfrak{l}_{01}\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}).$$

*Proof.* Suitable elementary column operations to  $P_0$  transform the entries  $l_i$  to  $(\mathfrak{l}_i, 0, \ldots, 0)$ . Thus,  $K_0^{\text{tors}} \cong (\mathbb{Z}^3/\text{im}(P_1^*))^{\text{tors}}$  holds with the 2 × 3 matrix

$$P_1 := \begin{bmatrix} -\mathfrak{l}_0 & \mathfrak{l}_1 & 0 \\ -\mathfrak{l}_0 & 0 & \mathfrak{l}_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The determinantal divisors of  $P_0$  are  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2)$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_2,\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2)$ . Thus, the invariant factors of  $P_0$  are  $\mathfrak{l}$  and  $\mathfrak{ll}_{01}\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}$ ; see [72].

## 3.5 Proof of Theorems 3.1.5 and 3.1.6

We are ready to prove the main results of this chapter. The proof of Theorem 3.1.5 will be in fact constructive in the sense that it allows to compute the defining equations of the Cox ring in every iteration step; see Proposition 3.5.6.

**Remark 3.5.1.** Let R(A, P) resp.  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2. Applying suitable admissible operations, one achieves that P resp.  $P_0$  (is *ordered* in the sense that  $l_{i1} \ge \ldots \ge l_{in_i}$  for all  $i = 0, \ldots, r$  and  $l_{01} \ge \ldots \ge l_{r1}$  hold. For an ordered P resp.  $P_0$ , the ring R(A, P) resp.  $R(A, P_0)$  is platonic if and only if  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  is a platonic triple and  $l_{i1} = 1$  holds for  $i \ge 3$ .

**Definition 3.5.2.** The *leading platonic triple* of a ring R(A, P) resp.  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 2 is the triple  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$  obtained after ordering P resp.  $P_0$ .

**Lemma 3.5.3.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 and platonic such that  $l_{i1} \ge ... \ge l_{in_i}$  holds for all i and  $l_{i1} = 1$  for  $i \ge 3$ . Moreover, assume  $gcd(l_1, l_2) = l$ . Then, with  $K_0 = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/im(P_0^*)$ , the kernel of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K_0/K_0^{\text{tors}}$  is generated by the rows of the matrix

$$P_{1} := \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-1}{\gcd(l_{0},l_{1})}l_{0} & \frac{1}{\gcd(l_{0},l_{1})}l_{1} & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \frac{-1}{\gcd(l_{0},l_{2})}l_{0} & 0 & \frac{1}{\gcd(l_{0},l_{2})}l_{2} & 0 & 0 & & \\ -l_{0} & 0 & \mathbf{1} & 0 & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & & \\ -l_{0} & 0 & \dots & 0 & \mathbf{1} & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where, as before, the symbols 1 indicate vectors of length  $n_i$  with all entries equal to one.

*Proof.* Observe that the rows of  $P_0$  generate a sublattice of finite index in the row lattice  $P_1$ . Thus, we have a commutative diagram



It suffices to show, that  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\operatorname{im}(P_1^*)$  is torsion free. Applying suitable elementary column operations to  $P_1$ , reduces the problem to showing that for the 2 × 3 matrix

$$\left[\begin{array}{ccc} \frac{\mathfrak{l}_0}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)} & \frac{\mathfrak{l}_1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)} & 0\\ \frac{\mathfrak{l}_0}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)} & 0 & \frac{\mathfrak{l}_2}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)} \end{array}\right],$$

all determinantal divisors equal one. The entries of the above matrix are coprime and its  $2\times 2$  minors are

$$\frac{\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_2}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)},\qquad \frac{\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)},\qquad \frac{\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)}.$$

up to sign. By assumption, we have  $gcd(l_1, l_2) = l$ . Consequently, we obtain

$$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_2,\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2) = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l},\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2) = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)$$

and therefore the second determinantal divisor equals one. As remarked, the first one equals one as well and the assertion follows.  $\hfill\square$ 

**Lemma 3.5.4.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 and  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$ . Then, for the generator  $T_{01}$  of  $R(A, P_0)$ , we have

$$V(\overline{X}, T_{01}) \cong V(T_{01}) \cap V(T_1^{l_1} - T_i^{l_i}; i = 2, ..., r) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{n+m}.$$

In particular, the number of irreducible components of  $V(\overline{X}, T_{01})$  equals the product of the invariant factors of the matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\mathfrak{l}_1 & \mathfrak{l}_2 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ -\mathfrak{l}_1 & 0 & \mathfrak{l}_r \end{bmatrix}.$$

*Proof.* First observe that the ideal  $\langle T_{01}, g_0, \ldots, g_{r-2} \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  is generated by binomials which can be brought into the above form by scaling the variables appropriately. Now consider the homomorphism of tori

$$\pi \colon \mathbb{T}^{n_1 + \dots + n_r} \to \mathbb{T}^{r-1}, \qquad (t_1, \dots, t_r) \mapsto \left(\frac{t_2^{l_2}}{t_1^{l_1}}, \dots, \frac{t_r^{l_r}}{t_1^{l_1}}\right).$$

Then the number of connected components of  $\ker(\pi)$  equals the product of the invariant factors of the above matrix. Moreover,  $\mathbb{T}^{n_0-1} \times \ker(\pi) \times \mathbb{T}^m$  is isomorphic to  $V(\overline{X}, T_{01}) \cap \mathbb{T}^{n+m}$ . Finally, one directly checks that  $V(\overline{X}, T_{01})$  has no further irreducible components outside  $\mathbb{T}^{n+m}$ .

**Lemma 3.5.5.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 and platonic. Assume that  $P_0$  is ordered. Then the number c(i) of irreducible components of  $V(\overline{X}, T_{ij})$  is given as

i	0	1	2	$\geq 3$
c(i)	$\operatorname{gcd}(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2)$	$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)$	$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)$	$\mathfrak{l}^2\mathfrak{l}_{01}\mathfrak{l}_{02}\mathfrak{l}_{12}$

*Proof.* Suitable admissible operations turn  $T_{ij}$  to  $T_{01}$ . Then the number of components is computed via Lemma 3.5.4.

**Proposition 3.5.6.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2, platonic and non-factorial. Assume that  $P_0$  is ordered and let  $P_1$  be as in Lemma 3.5.3. Set

$$n_{i,1},\ldots,n_{i,c(i)} := n_i, \qquad l_{ij,1},\ldots,l_{ij,c(i)} := \gcd((P_1)_{1,ij},\ldots,(P_1)_{r,ij}).$$

The  $l_{i,\alpha} := (l_{i1,\alpha}, \ldots, l_{in_i,\alpha}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{i,\alpha}}$  build up an  $r' \times (n'+m)$  matrix  $P'_0$ , where  $n' := c(0)n_0 + \ldots + c(r)n_r$ . With a suitable matrix A', the following holds.

- (i) The affine variety Spec  $R(A', P'_0)$  is the total coordinate space of the affine variety Spec  $R(A, P_0)$ ,
- (ii) The leading platonic triple (l.p.t.) of  $R(A', P'_0)$  can be expressed in terms of that of  $R(A, P_0)$  as

<i>l.p.t.</i> of $R(A, P_0)$	<i>l.p.t.</i> of $R(A', P'_0)$
(4,3,2)	(3,3,2)
(3,3,2)	(2, 2, 2)
(y,2,2)	$(z, z, 1) \ or \ \left( rac{y}{2}, 2, 2  ight)$
(x, y, 1)	$\left(\frac{x}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)},\frac{y}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)},1 ight)$

*Proof.* We compute the Cox ring of  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  according to [6, Thm. 4.4.1.6]; use Corollary 1.9 [50] to obtain the statement given there also in the affine case. That means that we have to figure out which invariant divisors are identified under the rational map onto the curve Y with function field  $\mathbb{C}(\overline{X})^{H_0^0}$  and we have to determine the orders of isotropy groups of invariant divisors.

Let  $P_1$  be as in Lemma 3.5.3. Then the torus  $H_0^0$  acts diagonally on  $\mathbb{C}^{n+m}$  with weights provided by the projection  $Q_1: \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K_0^0$ , where  $K_0^0 = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\operatorname{im}(P_1^*)$  equals the character group of  $H_0^0$ . Consider the commutative diagram



where  $\overline{X}_0 \subseteq \overline{X}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_0^{n+m} \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{n+m}$  denote the open  $H_0^0$ -invariant subsets obtained by removing all coordinate hyperplanes  $V(S_k)$  and all intersections  $V(T_{i_1j_1}, T_{i_2j_2})$  with  $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2)$  from  $\mathbb{C}^{n+m}$ . Moreover, the geometric quotient spaces in the middle row are possibly non-separated and the maps to the lower row are separation morphisms.

We determine the orders of isotropy groups. Every point in  $\mathbb{T}^{n+m}$  has trivial  $H_0^0$ -isotropy. Thus, we only have to look what happens on the sets  $V(T_{ij}) \cap \mathbb{C}_0^{n+m}$ . According to [6, Prop. 2.1.4.2], the order of isotropy group of  $H_0^0$  at any point  $x \in V(T_{ij}) \cap \mathbb{C}_0^{n+m}$  equals the greatest common divisor of the entries of the ij-th column of  $P_1$ :

$$|H_{0,x}^0| = l'_{ij} := \gcd((P_1)_{1,ij}, \dots, (P_1)_{r,ij}) \text{ for all } x \in V(T_{ij}) \cap \mathbb{C}_0^{n+m}$$

Now we figure out which  $H_0^0$ -invariant divisors of  $\overline{X}_0$  are identified under the map  $\overline{X}_0 \to Y$ . Lemma 3.5.5 provides us explicit numbers  $c(0), \ldots, c(r)$  such that for fixed i and  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$ , we have the decomposition into prime divisors

$$V(\overline{X}, T_{ij}) = D_{ij,1} \cup \ldots \cup D_{ij,c(i)},$$

in particular, the number c(i) does not depend on the choice of j. The components  $D_{ij,1}, \ldots, D_{ij,c(i)}$  lie in the common affine chart  $W_0 \subseteq \overline{X}_0$  obtained by localizing at all  $T_{i'j'}$  different from  $T_{ij}$ . Their images thus lie in the affine chart  $W_0/H_0^0 \subseteq \overline{X}_0/H_0^0$ . Consequently, the  $D_{ij,1}, \ldots, D_{ij,c(i)}$  have pairwise disjoint images under the composition  $\overline{X}_0 \to \overline{X}_0/H_0^0 \to Y$ .

On the other hand,  $V(\overline{X}, T_{ij})$  and  $V(\overline{X}, T_{ij'})$  are identified isomorphically under the separation map  $\overline{X}_0/H_0^0 \to Y$  Thus, suitably numbering, we obtain for every *i*, and  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, c(i)$  a chain

$$D_{i1,\alpha},\ldots,D_{in_i,\alpha},$$

of divisors identified under the morphism  $\overline{X}_0/H_0^0 \to Y$ . The order of isotropy for any  $x \in D_{ij,\alpha}$  equals  $l'_{ij}$ . Now, using [6, Thm. 4.4.1.6], we can compute the defining relations of the Cox ring of  $\overline{X}$ , which establishes the two assertions.

**Remark 3.5.7.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a non factorial platonic ring with ordered  $P_0$  and leading platonic triple  $(l_{01}, l_{11}, l_{21})$ . Denote by  $R(A', P'_0)$  the Cox ring of Spec  $R(A, P_0)$ . Then the exponents of the defining relations of  $R(A', P'_0)$  are listed in the following table, where  $\mathbf{1}_{n_1}$  denotes the vector of length  $n_i$  with all entries equal to one.

leading plat. triple	exponents in $R(A', P'_0)$
(4, 3, 2)	$l_1, l_1, l_0/2, 1_{n_2} \text{ and } 2 \times 1_{n_i} \text{ for } i \ge 3.$
(3,3,2)	$l_2, l_2, l_2, 1_{n_0}, 1_{n_1} \text{ and } 3 \times 1_{n_i} \text{ for } i \geq 3.$
$(x,2,2)$ and $\mathfrak{l}=2$	$l_0/2, l_0/2, 2 \times 1_{n_1}, 2 \times 1_{n_2}, \text{ and } 4 \times 1_{n_i} \text{ for } i \ge 3.$
$(x,2,2)$ and $2 \nmid \mathfrak{l}_0$	$l_0, l_0, 1_{n_1}, 1_{n_2} \text{ and } 2 \times 1_{n_i} \text{ for } i \geq 3.$
$(x, 2, 2)$ and $l_2 = 1$	$l_0/2, l_2, l_2, 1_{n_1} \text{ and } 2 \times 1_{n_i} \text{ for } i \ge 3.$
(x, y, 1)	$\frac{l_0}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)}, \frac{l_1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)}, \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) \times 1_{n_i} \text{ for } i \ge 2.$

Proof of Theorem 3.1.5. We start with a rational, normal, affine, log terminal  $X_1$  of complexity one. According to Theorem 3.1.3, the Cox ring  $R_2$  of  $X_1$  is a platonic ring. If the greatest common divisors of pairs  $l_i$ ,  $l_j$  of  $R_2$  all equal one, then  $R_2$  is factorial by [44, Thm. 1.1] and we are done. If not, then we pass to the Cox ring  $R_3$  of  $X_2 :=$  Spec  $R_2$  and so on. Proposition 3.5.6 ensures that this procedure terminates with a factorial platonic ring  $R_p$ .

Proof of Theorem 3.1.6. Let  $X_1$  be any rational, normal, affine variety with a torus action of complexity one of Type 2 and at most log terminal singularities. Then Theorem 3.1.5 provides us with a chain of quotients

$$X_p \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-1}} X_{p-1} \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-2}} \dots \xrightarrow{\#H_3} X_3 \xrightarrow{\#H_2} X_2 \xrightarrow{\#H_1} X_1 ,$$

such that  $X_i = \operatorname{Spec}(R_i)$  holds with a platonic ring  $R_i$  when  $i \geq 2$ , the ring  $R_p$  is factorial and each  $X_{i+1} \to X_i$  is the total coordinate space. The idea is to construct stepwise solvable linear algebraic groups  $G_i \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(X_{i+1})$  acting algebraically on  $X_{i+1}$ such that the unit component  $G_i^0 \subseteq G_i$  is a torus,  $G_i$  contains  $H_i$  as a normal subgroup,  $G_{i-1} = G_i/H_i$  holds and we have  $G_1 = H_1$ .

Start with  $G_1 := H_1$ , acting on  $X_2$ . According to [6, Thm. 2.4.3.2], there exists an (effective) action of a torus  $\mathcal{G}_1$  on  $X_3$  lifting the action of  $G_1^0$  on  $X_2$  and commuting with the action of  $H_2$  on  $X_3$ . Moreover, [7, Thm. 5.1] provides us with an exact sequence of groups

$$1 \longrightarrow H_2 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(X_3, H_2) \xrightarrow{\pi} \operatorname{Aut}(X_2) \longrightarrow 1$$
,

where  $\operatorname{Aut}(X_3, H_2)$  denotes the group of automorphisms of  $X_3$  normalizing the quasitorus  $H_2$ . Set  $G_2 := \pi^{-1}(G_1)$ . Then  $H_2^0 \mathcal{G}_1$ , as a factor group of the torus  $H_2^0 \times \mathcal{G}_1$  by a closed subgroup, is an algebraic torus and it is of finite index in  $G_2$ . Thus,  $G_2$  is an affine algebraic group with  $G_2^0 = H_2^0 \mathcal{G}_1$  being a torus. By construction,  $H_2 \subseteq G_2$  is the kernel of  $\alpha_1 := \pi|_{G_2}$  and hence a normal subgroup. Moreover,  $G_2$  is solvable and acts algebraically on  $X_3$ . Iterating this procedure gives a sequence

$$G_{p-1} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{p-2}} G_{p-2} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{p-3}} \dots \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} G_2 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} G_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_0} 1$$

of group epimorphisms, where, as wanted,  $G_i$  is a solvable reductive group acting algebraically on  $X_{i+1}$  such that  $H_i = \ker(\alpha_{i-1})$  is the characteristic quasitorus of  $X_i$ . In particular, the group  $G := G_{p-1} \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(X_p)$  satisfies the first assertion of the theorem. We turn to the second assertion. From [6, Prop. 1.6.1.6], we infer that  $G_1 = H_1$  acts freely on the preimage  $U_2 \subseteq X_2$  of the set of smooth points  $U_1 \subseteq X_1$  and moreover, the complement  $X_2 \setminus U_2$  is of codimension at least two in  $X_2$ . Let  $U_3 \subseteq X_3$  be the preimage of  $U_2 \subseteq X_2$ . Again, the complement of  $U_3$  is of codimension at least two in  $X_3$  and, as  $U_2$  consists of smooth points of  $X_2$ , the quasitorus  $H_2$  acts freely on  $U_3$ . Because of  $G_2/H_2 = G_1$ , we conclude that  $U_3$  is  $G_2$ -invariant and  $G_2$  acts freely on  $U_2$ . Repeating this procedure, we end up with an open set  $U_p \subseteq X_p$  having complement of codimension at least two such that G acts freely on  $U_p$ . Thus, G acts strongly stably on  $X_p$ . Now consider

$$G = \mathcal{D}_0 \supseteq \mathcal{D}_1 \supseteq \ldots \supseteq \mathcal{D}_{p-2} \supseteq \mathcal{D}_{p-1} = 1, \qquad \mathcal{D}_i := \ker(\alpha_i \circ \ldots \circ \alpha_{p-2}).$$

Then we have  $X_i = X_p /\!\!/ \mathcal{D}_{i-1}$  and  $H_i = \mathcal{D}_{i-1} / \mathcal{D}_i$ . Moreover for each  $\mathcal{D}_i$ , its action on  $X_p$  is strongly stable, as remarked before, and  $X_p$  is *G*-factorial because it is factorial. Using [7, Prop. 3.5], we obtain a commutative diagram



where the left downward map is a total coordinate space. As  $\mathcal{D}_i/\mathcal{D}_{i+1} = H_{i+1}$  is abelian,  $[\mathcal{D}_i, \mathcal{D}_i]$  is contained in  $\mathcal{D}_{i+1}$  and we have the horizontal morphism  $\beta$ . Since the right hand side is a total coordinate space as well, we infer from [6, Sec. 1.6.4] that  $\beta$  is an isomorphism. This implies  $\mathcal{D}_{i+1} = [\mathcal{D}_i, \mathcal{D}_i]$ , proving the second assertion.

# CHAPTER FOUR

## CHARACTERIZATION OF ITERABILITY OF COX RINGS

We consider normal algebraic varieties X defined over the field  $\mathbb{C}$  of complex numbers with finitely generated divisor class group K and only constant invertible global regular functions. If the K-graded Cox ring  $R_1$  of X is a finitely generated  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra, then one has the total coordinate space  $X_1 := \operatorname{Spec} R_1$ . We say that X admits *iteration of Cox* rings if there is a chain

$$X_p \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-1}} X_{p-1} \xrightarrow{\#H_{p-2}} \dots \xrightarrow{\#H_2} X_2 \xrightarrow{\#H_1} X_1$$

dominated by a factorial variety  $X_p$  where in each step,  $X_{i+1}$  is the total coordinate space of  $X_i$  and  $H_i = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[K_i]$  the characteristic quasitorus of  $X_i$ , having the divisor class group  $K_i$  of  $X_i$  as its character group. Note that if the divisor class group K of X is torsion free, then  $R_1$  is a unique factorization domain and iteration of Cox rings is trivially possible. As soon as K has torsion, it may happen that during the iteration process a total coordinate space with non-finitely generated divisor class group pops up and thus there is no chain of total coordinate spaces as above, see Remark 3.4.12.

In Chapter 3 we showed that for affine X with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{C}$  and at most log terminal singularities, the iteration of Cox rings is possible. In this chapter, we characterize all varieties X with a torus action of complexity one that admit iteration of Cox rings. The results of the Sections 4.1 to 4.3 of this chapter have been published in [51].

### 4.1 Iterability of Cox rings

First consider the case  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{C}$ . In order to have finitely generated divisor class group, X must be rational and then the Cox ring of X is of Type 2 as introduced in Construction 2.1.1 and thus of the form  $R = \mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]/I$ , with a polynomial ring  $\mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  in variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  modulo the ideal I generated by the trinomial relations

$$T_0^{l_0} + T_1^{l_1} + T_2^{l_2}, \quad \theta_1 T_1^{l_1} + T_2^{l_2} + T_3^{l_3}, \quad \dots, \quad \theta_{r-2} T_{r-2}^{l_{r-2}} + T_{r-1}^{l_{r-1}} + T_r^{l_r},$$

with  $T_i^{l_i} = T_{i_1}^{l_{i_1}} \cdots T_{i_{n_i}}^{l_{i_{n_i}}}$ . For each exponent vector  $l_i$  set  $\mathfrak{l}_i := \gcd(l_{i_1}, \ldots, l_{i_{n_i}})$ . The Cox ring R is factorial if and only if the  $\mathfrak{l}_i$  are pairwise coprime; see [44, Thm. 1.1]. We say that R is *hyperplatonic* if  $\mathfrak{l}_0^{-1} + \ldots + \mathfrak{l}_r^{-1} > r - 1$  holds. After reordering  $\mathfrak{l}_0, \ldots, \mathfrak{l}_r$ decreasingly, the latter condition precisely means that  $\mathfrak{l}_i = 1$  holds for all  $i \geq 3$  and  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is a *platonic triple*, i.e., a triple of the form

 $(5,3,2), \quad (4,3,2), \quad (3,3,2), \quad (x,2,2), \quad (x,y,1), \quad x,y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}.$ 

**Theorem 4.1.1.** Let X be a normal  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{C}$ . Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The variety X admits iteration of Cox rings.
- (ii) The variety X is rational with hyperplatonic or factorial Cox ring.

Note that we have to check rationality in each iteration step. See Remark 3.4.12 for an example, where X and its total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$  are rational but the total coordinate space of  $\overline{X}$  is not any more.

We turn to the case  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} \neq \mathbb{C}$ . Here,  $\mathcal{O}(X)^* = \mathbb{C}^*$  holds and finite generation of the divisor class group of X force  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{C}[T]$ . We end up with a Cox ring of Type 1 and obtain the following simple characterization.

**Theorem 4.1.2.** Let X be a normal  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety of complexity one with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} \neq \mathbb{C}$ . Then X admits iteration of Cox rings if and only if X and its total coordinate space are rational with only constant globally invertible functions. Moreover, if the latter holds, then the iteration of Cox rings stops after at most one step.

Note that there exist indeed rational T-varieties of complexity one with only constant globally invertible functions, having a rational non-factorial total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$  of Type 1 with non-constant globally invertible functions; see Remark 4.4.12 for an example.

As a consequence of the two theorems above, we obtain the following structural result, generalizing Theorem 3.1.6 but using analogous ideas for the proof.

**Corollary 4.1.3.** Let X be a normal, rational, affine variety with a torus action of complexity one admitting iteration of Cox rings. Then X is a quotient  $X = X' /\!\!/ G$  of a factorial affine variety  $X' := \operatorname{Spec}(R')$ , where R' is a factorial ring and G is a solvable reductive group.

On our way of proving Theorem 4.1.1, we give in Proposition 4.2.5 an explicit description of the Cox ring of a variety Spec R for a hyperplatonic ring R. This allows us to describe the possible Cox ring iteration chains in more detail. After reordering the numbers  $\mathfrak{l}_0, \ldots, \mathfrak{l}_r$  associated with R decreasingly, we call  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  the basic platonic triple of R.

**Corollary 4.1.4.** The possible sequences of basic platonic triples arising from iteration of Cox rings of normal, rational varieties with a torus action of complexity one and hyperplatonic Cox ring are the following:
- (i)  $(1,1,1) \to (2,2,2) \to (3,3,2) \to (4,3,2),$
- (ii)  $(1,1,1) \to (x,x,1) \to (2x,2,2),$
- (iii)  $(1,1,1) \to (x,x,1) \to (x,2,2),$
- (iv)  $(\mathfrak{l}_{01}^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_{01}^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_1, 1) \to (\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, 1), \text{ where } \mathfrak{l}_{01} := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1) > 1.$

# 4.2 Proof of Theorem 4.1.1

In order to iterate a Cox ring  $R(A, P_0)$ , it is necessary that Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  has finitely generated divisor class group. The latter turns out to be equivalent to rationality of Spec  $R(A, P_0)$ . From Corollary 3.4.8, we infer the following rationality criterion.

**Remark 4.2.1.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2 as in Construction 2.1.1 and set  $l_i := \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$ . Then Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  is rational if and only if one of the following conditions holds:

- (i) We have  $gcd(l_i, l_j) = 1$  for all  $0 \le i < j \le r$ , in other words,  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial.
- (ii) There are  $0 \le i < j \le r$  with  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) > 1$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_u, \mathfrak{l}_v) = 1$  whenever  $v \notin \{i, j\}$ .
- (iii) There are  $0 \le i < j < k \le r$  with  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_k) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_j,\mathfrak{l}_k) = 2$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_u,\mathfrak{l}_v) = 1$  whenever  $v \notin \{i, j, k\}$ .

**Definition 4.2.2.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2 such that Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  is rational. We say that  $P_0$  is gcd-*ordered* if it satisfies the following two properties

- (i)  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j)=1$  for all  $i=0,\ldots,r$  and  $j=3,\ldots,r$ ,
- (ii)  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2).$

Observe that if  $\operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is rational, then one can always achieve that  $P_0$  is gcdordered by suitably reordering  $l_0, \ldots, l_r$ . This does not affect the  $K_0$ -graded algebra  $R(A, P_0)$  up to isomorphy.

**Lemma 4.2.3.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2 such that Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  is rational and  $P_0$  is gcd-ordered. Then, with  $K_0 = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} / \operatorname{im}(P_0^*)$ , the kernel of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K_0 / K_0^{\operatorname{tors}}$  is generated by the rows of

$$P_1 := \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-1}{\gcd(l_0, l_1)} l_0 & \frac{1}{\gcd(l_0, l_1)} l_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \frac{-1}{\gcd(l_0, l_2)} l_0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\gcd(l_0, l_2)} l_2 & 0 & 0 & & & \\ -l_0 & 0 & l_3 & 0 & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & & \\ -l_0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & l_r & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

*Proof.* The arguments are similar as for Lemma 3.5.3. The row lattice of  $P_0$  is a sublattice

of finite index of that of  $P_1$  and thus there is a commutative diagram



We have to show, that  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\operatorname{im}(P_1^*)$  is torsion free. Suitable elementary column operations on  $P_1$  reduce the problem to showing that for the  $r \times (r+1)$  matrix

$\int \frac{-1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)} \mathfrak{l}_0$	$\frac{1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)}\mathfrak{l}_1$	0			0 ]
$\frac{-1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)}\mathfrak{l}_0$	0	$\frac{1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)}\mathfrak{l}_2$	0		0
$-\mathfrak{l}_0$	0	0 (0, 1)	$\mathfrak{l}_3$		0
÷			÷	۰.	:
$-\mathfrak{l}_0$	0		0		$\mathfrak{l}_r$

the r-th determinantal divisor and therefore the product of the invariant factors equals one. Up to sign, the  $r \times r$  minors of the above matrix are

$$\frac{1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)}\mathfrak{l}_0\cdots\mathfrak{l}_{i-1}\cdot\mathfrak{l}_{i+1}\cdots\mathfrak{l}_r, \quad \text{where } i=0,\ldots,r.$$

Suppose that some prime p divides all these minors. Then  $p \nmid l_j$  holds for all  $j \geq 3$ , because otherwise we find an  $i \neq j$  with  $p \mid l_i$ , contradicting gcd-orderedness of  $P_0$ . Thus, p divides each of the numbers

$$\frac{\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_2}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)},\qquad \frac{\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)},\qquad \frac{\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_1}{\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)}.$$

By the assumption of the lemma,  $\mathfrak{l} := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  equals  $\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$ . Consequently, we obtain

$$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_2,\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2) = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l},\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2) = \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)$$

We conclude p = 1; a contradiction. Being the greatest common divisor of the above minors, the *r*-th determinantal divisor equals one.

**Lemma 4.2.4.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2 and  $X := \text{Spec } R(A, P_0)$  be rational. Assume that  $P_0$  is gcd-ordered. Then, with  $\mathfrak{l} := \text{gcd}(\mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$ , the number c(i) of irreducible components of  $V(X, T_{ij})$ , where  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$ , is given by

i	0	1	2	$\geq 3$
c(i)	$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2)$	$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)$	$\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)$	$\frac{1}{\mathfrak{l}}\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2)\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1)$

*Proof.* The assertion is a direct consequence of Lemma 3.5.5

We are ready for the main ingredient of the proof of Theorem 4.1.1, the explicit description of the iterated Cox ring.

**Proposition 4.2.5.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 2 non-factorial with Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  rational. Assume that  $P_0$  is gcd-ordered and let  $P_1$  be as in Lemma 4.2.3. Define numbers  $n' := c(0)n_0 + \ldots + c(r)n_r$  and

 $n_{i,1},\ldots,n_{i,c(i)} := n_i, \qquad l_{ij,1},\ldots,l_{ij,c(i)} := \operatorname{gcd}((P_1)_{1,ij},\ldots,(P_1)_{r,ij}).$ 

Then the vectors  $l_{i,\alpha} := (l_{i1,\alpha}, \ldots, l_{in_i,\alpha}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{i,\alpha}}$  build up an  $r' \times (n'+m)$  matrix  $P'_0$  with  $r' = c(0) + \ldots + c(r) - 1$ . With a suitable matrix A', the affine variety Spec  $R(A', P'_0)$  is the total coordinate space of the affine variety Spec  $R(A, P_0)$ .

Proof. The idea is to work with the action of the torus  $H_0^0 := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[K_0/K_0^{\text{tors}}]$  on  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  and to use the description of the Cox ring of a variety with torus action provided in [49]. For this, one has to look at the exceptional fibers of the map  $\pi \colon X_0 \to Y$ , where  $X_0 \subseteq X$  is the set of points with at most finite  $H_0^0$ -isotropy and the curve Y is the separation of  $X_0/H_0^0$ . Following the lines of the proof of Proposition 3.5.6, one uses Lemma 4.2.4 to determine the number of components for each fiber of  $\pi$  and Lemma 4.2.3 to determine the order of the general (finite)  $H_0^0$ -isotropy groups on each component. The rest is application of [49].

The defining property of a hyperplatonic ring  $R(A, P_0)$  is  $\mathfrak{l}_0^{-1} + \ldots + \mathfrak{l}_r^{-1} \ge r - 1$ . Thus, for any such ring we find a (unique) platonic triple  $(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j, \mathfrak{l}_k)$  with i, j, k pairwise different and all  $\mathfrak{l}_u$  with u different from i, j, k equal one. We call  $(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j, \mathfrak{l}_k)$  the basic platonic triple (bpt) of  $R(A, P_0)$ .

**Remark 4.2.6.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be non-factorial and hyperplatonic with basic platonic triple  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$ . Then Remark 4.2.1 ensures that  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is rational. Moreover, Lemma 4.2.4 and Proposition 4.2.5 yield that the exponent vectors of the defining relations of the Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  of X are computed in terms of the exponent vectors  $l_0, \ldots, l_r$  of  $R(A, P_0)$  according to the table below, where " $a \times l_i$ " means that the vector  $l_i$  shows up a times.

bpt of $R(A, P_0)$	exponent vectors in $R(A', P')$
(4, 3, 2)	$2 \times l_1, \frac{1}{2}l_0, \frac{1}{2}l_2 \text{ and } 2 \times l_i \text{ for } i \ge 3$
(3, 3, 2)	$3 \times l_2, \frac{1}{3}l_0, \frac{1}{3}l_1 \text{ and } 3 \times l_i \text{ for } i \ge 3$
$(x, 2, 2)$ and $2 \mid x$	$2 \times \frac{1}{2}l_0, 2 \times \frac{1}{2}l_1, 2 \times \frac{1}{2}l_2 \text{ and } 4 \times l_i \text{ for } i \ge 3$
$(x,2,2)$ and $2 \nmid x$	$2 \times l_0, \frac{1}{2}l_1, \frac{1}{2}l_2 \text{ and } 2 \times l_i \text{ for } i \ge 3$
(x, y, 1)	$\frac{1}{\gcd(x,y)}l_0, \frac{1}{\gcd(x,y)}l_1 \text{ and } \gcd(x,y) \times l_i \text{ for } i \ge 2$

**Lemma 4.2.7.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2, non-factorial and assume that X := Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  is rational. If the total coordinate space of X is rational as well, then  $l_i > 1$  holds for at most three  $0 \le i \le r$ .

*Proof.* We may assume that  $P_0$  is gcd-ordered. Then Proposition 4.2.5 provides us with the exponent vectors of the Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  of X. As  $R(A, P_0)$  is rational and non-factorial, Remark 4.2.1 leaves us with the following two cases.

Case 1. We have  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) > 1$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  whenever  $j \geq 2$ . This means in particular  $\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1 > 1$ . Assume that there are  $2 \leq i < j \leq r$  with  $\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j > 1$ . According to Proposition 4.2.5, we find c(i) times the exponent vector  $l_i$  and c(j) times the exponent vector  $l_j$  in  $P'_0$ . Lemma 4.2.4 tells us  $c(j) = c(i) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) > 1$ . Thus, for the first two copies of  $l_i$  and  $l_j$ , we obtain  $gcd(l_{i,1},l_{i,2}) = \mathfrak{l}_i > 1$  and  $gcd(l_{j,1},l_{j,2}) = \mathfrak{l}_j > 1$  respectively. Remark 4.2.1 shows that Spec  $R(A', P'_0)$  is not rational; a contradiction.

Case 2. We have  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2) = 2$ . Assume that there is an index  $3 \leq i \leq r$  with  $\mathfrak{l}_i > 1$ . Proposition 4.2.5 and Lemma 4.2.4 yield that the exponent vector  $l_i$  occurs c(k) = 4 times in the matrix  $P'_0$ . As in the previous case we conclude via Remark 4.2.1 that the total coordinate space  $\operatorname{Spec} R(A', P'_0)$  is not rational; a contradiction.

Proof of Theorem 4.1.1. We prove "(ii) $\Rightarrow$ (i)". Then X is rational and has a ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 2 as provided by Construction 2.1.1 as its Cox ring. If  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial, then there is nothing to show. So, let  $R(A, P_0)$  be non-factorial and hyperplatonic. Then, after reordering the  $\mathfrak{l}_i$  decreasingly,  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is the basic platonic triple of  $R(A, P_0)$ . From Remark 4.2.6 we infer that  $X_1 := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is rational with hyperplatonic Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$ . So, we can pass to  $X_2 := R(A', P'_0)$  and so forth. The table of possible basic platonic triples given in Remark 4.2.6 shows that the iteration process terminates at a factorial ring.

We prove "(i) $\Rightarrow$ (ii)". Since X has a Cox ring, X must have finitely generated divisor class group. As for any T-variety of complexity one, the latter is equivalent to X being rational. The Cox ring of X is a ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 2. If  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial, then we are done. So, let  $R(A, P_0)$  be non-factorial. Then we may assume that  $P_0$  is gcd-ordered and, moreover,  $\mathfrak{l}_{01} \neq 1$ . Since  $X_1 = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  has a Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$ , it must be rational. Preserving the gcd-orderedness, due to Lemma 4.2.7 we may assume  $\mathfrak{l}_j = 1$ whenever  $j \geq 3$  holds. Remark 4.2.1 leaves us with the following cases.

Case 1. We have  $\mathfrak{l}_{01} := \operatorname{gcd}(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1) > 1$  and  $\operatorname{gcd}(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  whenever  $j \ge 2$  holds. Then we may assume  $\mathfrak{l}_0 \ge \mathfrak{l}_1$ .

1.1. Consider the case  $\mathfrak{l}_{01} > 3$ . By Lemma 4.2.4, the exponent vector  $l_2$  occurs  $\mathfrak{l}_{01}$  times in the defining relations of the Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  of  $X_1$ . Since Spec  $R(A', P'_0)$  is rational, Remark 4.2.1 yields  $\mathfrak{l}_2 = 1$ . We conclude that  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is platonic.

1.2. Assume  $\mathfrak{l}_{01} = 3$ . Then  $l_2$  occurs 3 times as exponent vector in the defining relations of  $R(A', P'_0)$ . Remark 4.2.1 shows  $\mathfrak{l}_2 \leq 2$ . Thus,  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is platonic.

1.3. Let  $\mathfrak{l}_{01} = 2$ . If  $\mathfrak{l}_0 = \mathfrak{l}_1 = 2$  holds, then  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is a not necessarily ordered platonic triple for any  $\mathfrak{l}_2$ . So, assume  $\mathfrak{l}_0 > \mathfrak{l}_1 \geq 2$ . As we are in Case 1, the number  $\mathfrak{l}_2$  must be odd. If  $\mathfrak{l}_2 = 1$  holds, then  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is a platonic triple and we are done. So, assume  $\mathfrak{l}_2 \neq 1$ . By Proposition 4.2.5 and Lemma 4.2.4, we find the exponent vectors  $1/2 \mathfrak{l}_0$  and  $1/2 \mathfrak{l}_1$  as well as twice  $\mathfrak{l}_2$  in  $P'_0$ . Since  $X_1 = \operatorname{Spec} R(A', P'_0)$  is rational and  $\mathfrak{l}_0 > \mathfrak{l}_1$  holds, Lemma 4.2.7 shows  $\mathfrak{l}_1 = 2$  and the triple of non-trivial gcd's of exponent vectors of  $P'_0$  is  $(\mathfrak{l}_0/2, \mathfrak{l}_2, \mathfrak{l}_2)$ . After gcd-ordering  $P'_0$ , we can apply Case 1.1 and with  $\mathfrak{l}_0/2 > 1$  we obtain  $\mathfrak{l}_0 = 4$  and  $\mathfrak{l}_2 = 3$ . In particular,  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_2, \mathfrak{l}_1)$  is platonic.

Case 2: We have  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2) = 2$ . Then we may assume  $\mathfrak{l}_0 \geq \mathfrak{l}_1 \geq \mathfrak{l}_2$ . Proposition 4.2.5 and Lemma 4.2.4 tell us that each of the exponent vectors  $1/2 \, \mathfrak{l}_0, 1/2 \, \mathfrak{l}_1$  and  $1/2 \, \mathfrak{l}_2$  occurs twice in  $P'_0$ . Since Spec  $R(A', P'_0)$  is rational, Lemma 4.2.7 yields  $\mathfrak{l}_1 = \mathfrak{l}_2 = 2$ . Thus,  $(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1, \mathfrak{l}_2)$  is platonic.

# 4.3 Proof of Theorem 4.1.2

As a first step we relate the total coordinate space of a rational variety with torus action of complexity one admitting non-constant invariant functions to the total coordinate space of one with only constant invariant functions; see Corollary 4.3.3. This allows us to characterize rationality of the total coordinate space using previous results; see Corollary 4.3.4. Then we determine in a similar manner as before, the iterated Cox ring; see Proposition 4.3.6. This finally allows us to prove Theorem 4.1.2.

Recall from Chapter 2 that the suitable downgradings of the rings  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 1 as provided by Construction 2.1.1 yield precisely the Cox rings of the normal rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties X of complexity one with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{C}[T]$ . Suitable downgradings of the rings  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 2 yield precisely the Cox rings of the normal rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties X of complexity one with  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O})^{\mathbb{T}} = \mathbb{C}$ .

**Construction 4.3.1.** Consider a ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 1 as in Construction 2.1.1 with  $A = (a_1, \ldots, a_r)$ . Set  $\mathfrak{l}_i := \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$  and  $\ell := \operatorname{lcm}(\mathfrak{l}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{l}_r)$ . Then, writing  $L_0$  for the column vector  $-(\ell, \ldots, \ell) \in \mathbb{Z}^r$ , we obtain a ring  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  of Type 2 with defining matrices

$$\tilde{A} := \begin{bmatrix} -1 & a_1 & \dots & a_r \\ 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{P}_0 := \begin{bmatrix} L_0, P_0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

**Proposition 4.3.2.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 1 and  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  the associated ring of Type 2 obtained via Construction 4.3.1. Fix  $\alpha_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $l_i = \alpha_{i1}l_{i1} + \ldots + \alpha_{in_i}l_{in_i}$ . Then one obtains an isomorphism of graded  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebras

$$R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)_{\tilde{T}_{01}} \to R(A, P_0)[T_{01}, T_{01}^{-1}], \qquad \tilde{T}_{01} \mapsto T_{01}, \quad \tilde{T}_{ij} \mapsto T_{ij} T_{01}^{\tilde{t}_i^- \alpha_{ij}}$$

*Proof.* By construction,  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  is a factor algebra of  $\mathbb{C}[\tilde{T}_{ij}, \tilde{S}_k]$  and  $R(A, P_0)$  of  $\mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]$ . We have an isomorphism of  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebras

$$\psi \colon \mathbb{C}[\tilde{T}_{ij}, \tilde{S}_k]_{\tilde{T}_{01}} \to \mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k][T_{01}, T_{01}^{-1}], \quad \tilde{T}_{01} \mapsto T_{01}, \ \tilde{T}_{ij} \mapsto T_{ij}T_{01}^{\frac{1}{t_i}\alpha_{ij}}, \ \tilde{S}_k \mapsto S_k.$$

Observe  $\psi(\tilde{T}_i^{l_i}) = T_{01}^{\ell} T_i^{l_i}$ . We claim that  $\psi$  is compatible with the gradings by  $\tilde{K}_0$  on the l.h.s. and by  $\mathbb{Z} \times K_0$  on the r.h.s., where the latter grading is given by

 $\deg(T_{01}) = (1,0) \in \mathbb{Z} \times K_0, \qquad \deg(T_{ij}) = (0, e_{ij} + im(P_0^*)) \in \mathbb{Z} \times K_0.$ 

Indeed, because of  $\psi(\tilde{T}_{01}^{-\ell}\tilde{T}_i^{l_i}) = T_i^{l_i}$ , the kernels of the respective downgrading maps

$$\mathbb{Z}^{n+1+m} \to \tilde{K}_0, \qquad \mathbb{Z}^{n+1+m} \to \mathbb{Z} \times K_0$$

generated by the rows  $\tilde{P}_0$  and  $P_0$ , correspond to each other under  $\psi$ . The defining ideal of  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  is generated by the polynomials  $\tilde{g}_1, \ldots, \tilde{g}_{r-1}$ , where

$$\tilde{g}_i := \det \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{T}_0^{\ell} & T_i^{l_i} & T_{i+1}^{l_{i+1}} \\ -1 & a_i & a_{i+1} \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The above isomorphism sends  $\tilde{g}_i$  to  $T_0^{\ell}g_i$ , where the  $g_i$  are the generators of the defining ideal of  $R(A, P_0)$ , and thus induces the desired isomorphism.

**Corollary 4.3.3.** Let  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  be the affine variety arising from a ring of Type 1 and  $\tilde{X} := \operatorname{Spec} R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  the one arising from the associated ring of Type 2. Then  $X \times \mathbb{C}^*$  is isomorphic to the principal open subset  $\tilde{X}_{\tilde{T}_{01}} \subseteq \tilde{X}$ . In particular, X is rational if and only if  $\tilde{X}$  is so.

*Proof.* Only for the supplement, there is something to show. If X is rational, then obviously  $\tilde{X}$  is so. Now, let  $\tilde{X}$  be rational. Then the divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(\tilde{X})$  is finitely generated. Thus, also  $\operatorname{Cl}(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{T}_{01}}) = \operatorname{Cl}(X \times \mathbb{C}^*) = \operatorname{Cl}(X)$  is finitely generated and, as it carries a torus action of complexity one, X must be rational; see [6, Rem. 4.4.1.5].  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 4.3.4.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 1. Then  $X := \text{Spec } R(A, P_0)$  is rational if and only if one of the following conditions holds:

- (i) One has  $l_i = 1$  for all  $1 \le i \le r$ , in other words,  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial.
- (ii) There is exactly one  $1 \le i \le r$  with  $l_i > 1$ .
- (iii) There are  $1 \le i < j \le r$  with  $\mathfrak{l}_i = \mathfrak{l}_j = 2$  and  $\mathfrak{l}_u = 1$  whenever  $u \notin \{i, j\}$

*Proof.* Combine Corollary 4.3.3 with the rationality criterion of Remark 4.2.1.

**Lemma 4.3.5.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be of Type 1 with  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  rational and assume that  $(\mathfrak{l}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{l}_r)$  is decreasingly ordered. Then the number c(i) of irreducible components of  $V(X, T_{ij})$  is given as

$$\begin{array}{c|ccc} i & 1 & 2 & \geq 3 \\ \hline c(i) & \mathfrak{l}_1 & \mathfrak{l}_2 & \mathfrak{l}_1 \mathfrak{l}_2 \end{array}$$

*Proof.* Due to Corollary 4.3.3, we can realize  $X \times \mathbb{C}^*$  as a principal open subset of the associated variety  $\tilde{X}$  of Type 2. Then the irreducible components of  $V(X, T_{ij}) \times \mathbb{C}^*$  are in one-to-one correspondence with the irreducible components  $X \cap V(\tilde{X}, \tilde{T}_{ij})$ . The assertions follows.

**Proposition 4.3.6.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be non-factorial of Type 1 with Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  rational with only constant globally invertible functions and  $(\mathfrak{l}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{l}_r)$  decreasingly ordered. Define numbers  $n' := c(1)n_1 + \ldots + c(r)n_r$  and

$$n_{i,1}, \dots, n_{i,c(i)} := n_i, \qquad \qquad l_{i,1}, \dots, l_{i,c(i)} := \frac{1}{\mathfrak{l}_i} l_i.$$

Then the vectors  $l_{i,\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n_{i,\alpha}}$  build up an  $r' \times (n'+m)$  matrix  $P'_0$ . With a suitable matrix A' the affine variety Spec  $R(A', P'_0)$  is the total coordinate space of the affine variety Spec  $R(A, P_0)$ .

*Proof.* First observe that the kernel of  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K_0/K_0^{\text{tors}}$  is generated by the rows of the following  $r \times (n+m)$  matrix:

Now one determines the Cox ring of  $X = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  in the same manner as in the proof of Proposition 4.2.5 by exchanging the matrix  $P_1$  used there by the matrix above and applying Lemma 4.3.5.

Proof of Theorem 4.1.2. If the Cox ring of X is a factorial ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 1, then we are done. So, let  $R(A, P_0)$  be non-factorial and rational of Type 1. Then Proposition 4.3.6 shows that the Cox ring of Spec  $R(A, P_0)$  is factorial. Thus, iteration of Cox rings is possible for X if and only if the total coordinate space of X is rational. Moreover, if the latter holds then the iteration of Cox rings ends after at most one step.

### 4.4 Divisor class groups of total coordinate spaces

To complete the picture drawn in 4.1, we calculate explicitly the divisor class groups of all affine rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  arising from a ring of Type 2. We obtain the following result:

**Theorem 4.4.1.** Let  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  be an affine, rational, non-factorial variety arising from a ring of Type 2 and set  $\tilde{n} := \sum_{i=0}^{r} ((c(i) - 1)n_i - c(i) + 1).$ 

(i) If  $c := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1) > 1$  and  $\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  holds whenever  $j \notin \{0, 1\}$ , then the class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$  is isomorphic to

$$(\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{l}_2)^{c-1} \times \ldots \times (\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}\mathfrak{l}_r)^{c-1} \times \mathbb{Z}^{\tilde{n}}.$$

(ii) If  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2) = 2$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  holds whenever  $j \notin \{0,1,2\}$ , then the class group Cl(X) is isomorphic to

 $\mathbb{Z}/(\mathfrak{l}_0\mathfrak{l}_1\mathfrak{l}_2/4)\mathbb{Z}\times(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_3\mathbb{Z})^3\times\ldots\times(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_r\mathbb{Z})^3\times\mathbb{Z}^{\tilde{n}}.$ 

The rationality criterion of Corollary 3.4.8 shows that indeed all rational varieties are treated in the above Theorem.

**Remark 4.4.2.** As a direct consequence of the above theorem, we can compute the divisor class groups of all affine varieties arising from a hyperplatonic Cox ring. We list the basic platonic tuple (bpt) of  $R(A, P_0)$  and the divisor class group of  $X := \text{Spec } R(A, P_0)$  in a table:

Case	bpt of $R(A, P_0)$	divisor class group
(i)	(4, 3, 2)	$\mathbb{Z}^{n_1+n_3+\dots+n_r-(r-1)} \times \mathbb{Z}/3\mathbb{Z}$
(ii)	(3, 3, 2)	$\mathbb{Z}^{2 \cdot (n_2 + \dots + n_r - (r-1))} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$
(iii)	(x, y, 1)	$\mathbb{Z}(\gcd(x,y)-1)\cdot(n_2+\cdots+n_r-(r-1))$
(iv)	$(x,2,2)$ and $2 \nmid x$	$\mathbb{Z}^{n_0+n_3+\dots+n_r-(r-1)} \times \mathbb{Z}/x\mathbb{Z}$
(v)	$(x, 2, 2)$ and $2 \mid x$	$\mathbb{Z}^{n_0+n_1+n_2+3\cdot(n_3+\cdots+n_r-(r-1))}\times\mathbb{Z}/x\mathbb{Z}$

Recall that the exponents of the relations of the Cox ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of a variety of complexity one give rise to the matrix  $P_0$ , see Construction 2.1.1. This matrix defines the maximal grading keeping the relations and the variables of the Cox ring homogeneous and any other such grading coarsens this maximal one. Moreover, if we endow  $R(A, P_0)$ with a grading, such that it arises as the Cox ring of a variety of complexity one, we find a description of this grading via a stack matrix

$$P := \left[ \begin{array}{c} P_0 \\ d \end{array} \right]$$

as defined in Construction 2.1.4. In particular its transpose  $P^*$  defines an injective map. Thus, let  $P_0$  be as above and define  $K_0 := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} / \operatorname{im}(P_0^*)$ . Then

$$K_0^{\text{tors}} \subseteq K := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} / \text{im}(P^*)$$

holds for any matrix P as above and we call  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)^{\operatorname{ctors}} := K_0^{\operatorname{tors}}$  the compulsory torsion of the class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$  of any X having  $R(A, P_0)$  as its Cox ring. We use the notation introduced in Proposition 4.2.5.

**Lemma 4.4.3.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be non factorial of Type 2 such that  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  is rational.

(i) If  $c := \gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1) > 1$  and  $\gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  holds whenever  $j \notin \{0, 1\}$ , then the compulsory torsion of the class group of X is

$$(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_2\mathbb{Z})^{c-1} \times \cdots \times (\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_r\mathbb{Z})^{c-1}$$

(ii) If  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2) = gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_2) = 2$  and  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  holds whenever  $j \notin \{0,1,2\}$ , then the compulsory torsion of the class group of X is

$$\mathbb{Z}/(\mathfrak{l}_0/2)\mathbb{Z}\times\mathbb{Z}/(\mathfrak{l}_1/2)\mathbb{Z}\times\mathbb{Z}/(\mathfrak{l}_2/2)\mathbb{Z}\times(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_3\mathbb{Z})^3\times\cdots\times(\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_r\mathbb{Z})^3.$$

*Proof.* We prove (i). With our subsequent considerations we obtain that the class group of X is given as  $\mathbb{Z}^{n'+m}/\operatorname{im}(P')$ , where P' is some  $(r'+s') \times (n'+m)$  stack matrix

$$\left[\begin{array}{c}P_0'\\d'\end{array}\right],$$

of full row rank, and with Proposition 4.2.5 we get that  $P'_0$  is the  $r' \times (n' + m)$  matrix build up by the exponent vectors  $c^{-1}l_0$ ,  $c^{-1}l_1$  and c copies  $l_{i,1}, \ldots, l_{i,c}$  of  $l_i$  for  $i \ge 2$ . Thus, to obtain the assertion, we compute the Smith Normal Form of  $P'_0$ . Suitable elementary column operations transform  $P'_0$  into

$$\begin{bmatrix} c^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_0 & c^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ c^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_0 & 0 & \mathfrak{l}_{2,1} & 0 & & & \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots & & \\ c^{-1}\mathfrak{l}_0 & 0 & \dots & \mathfrak{l}_{r,c} & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

As  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_i,\mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  holds for  $i, j \notin \{0,1\}$  we obtain for  $1 \leq t \leq c$  that the (r'-t+1)-th determinantal divisor of  $P'_0$  equals  $\mathfrak{l}_2^{c-t} \cdots \mathfrak{l}_r^{c-t}$ . The assertion follows.

For the proof of (ii) we note that in this case  $P'_0$  is built up by 2 copies of  $1/2l_0, 1/2l_1$ and  $1/2l_2$  and 4 copies of each term  $l_i$  for  $i \ge 3$ . Then, applying the same arguments as above, we obtain the assertion.

**Construction 4.4.4.** Let X be an irreducible, normal variety with  $\mathcal{O}(X)^* = \mathbb{C}^*$  and finitely generated divisor class group. Denote by  $\mathrm{WDiv}(X)$  the group of Weil-divisors of X and fix a finitely generated subgroup  $\mathbb{Z}^n \cong \langle D_1, \ldots, D_n \rangle \leq \mathrm{WDiv}(X)$  such that the map  $\pi \colon \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathrm{Cl}(X)$  sending each Weil divisor D to its class  $[D] \in \mathrm{Cl}(X)$  is surjective. Let  $f_1, \ldots, f_r$  be any linear relations such that

$$f_j([D_1], \dots, [D_n]) = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_{ij}[D_i] = [0] \in \operatorname{Cl}(X)$$

and set

$$P := \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{11} & \dots & \alpha_{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \alpha_{r1} & \dots & \alpha_{rn} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then there is a commutative diagramm:



In particular  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$  is a factor group of  $\mathbb{Z}^n/\operatorname{im}(P^*)$ .

**Lemma 4.4.5.** Let  $l_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}^{n_i}$  be any tuple,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  and consider the matrix

$$A(k, l_i) := \begin{bmatrix} l_i & \dots & 0\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & \dots & l_i\\ E_{n_i} & \dots & E_{n_i} \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{Mat}(k + n_i, k \cdot n_i, \mathbb{Z}),$$

where  $E_{n_i}$  denotes the identity matrix of size  $n_i$ . Then  $A(k, l_i)$  has rank  $n_i - 1 + k$  and the  $(n_i - 1 + k)$ -th determinantal divisor divides  $l_i^{k-1}$  with  $l_i = \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$ .

*Proof.* Choose for any  $2 \le t \le k$  an integer  $1 \le j_t \le n_i$  and denote by  $e_{j_t}$  the column vector having 1 as  $j_t$ -th entry and all other entries equal zero. Consider the following  $(n_i - 1 + k) \times (n_i - 1 + k)$  square matrix obtained by deleting the first row and several of the last  $(k - 1) \cdot n_i$  columns of  $A(k, l_i)$ 

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & l_{ij_2} & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & \dots & l_{ij_k} \\ & E_{n_i} & & e_{j_2} & \dots & e_{j_k} \end{bmatrix}.$$

The determinant of this matrix equals up to sign  $l_{ij_2} \cdots l_{ij_k}$ . With  $l_i = \gcd(l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$  we obtain

$$\gcd(\prod_{t=2}^{\kappa} l_{ij_t}; \ j_t \in \{1, \dots, n_i\}) = \mathfrak{l}_i^{k-1}.$$

This shows that the  $(n_i - 1 + k)$ -th determinantal divisor divides  $l_i^{k-1}$ . Moreover as  $A(k, l_i)$  is obviously not of full rank this proves the assertions.

**Remark 4.4.6.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2 defining a rational variety  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$ . Then the prime divisors  $D_{ij,1}, \ldots, D_{ij,c(i)}$  inside  $V(X; T_{ij})$ , where  $1 \leq j \leq n_i$ , correspond to the variables  $T_{ij,1}, \ldots, T_{ij,c(i)}$  in the Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  of X as described in Proposition 4.2.5. In particular we have

$$\deg(T_{ij,t}) = [D_{ij,t}] \in \operatorname{Cl}(X).$$

Moreover each free variable  $S_k$  gives rise to a prime divisor  $V(X; S_k) = E_k$  with infinite  $H_0^0$ -isotropy. This leads to a free variable  $S'_k$  in  $R(A', P'_0)$  with

$$\deg(S'_k) = [E_k] = [0] \in \operatorname{Cl}(X)$$

Note that all free variables of  $R(A', P'_0)$  arise this way.

**Lemma 4.4.7.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a ring of Type 2 defining a rational variety  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  such that  $\operatorname{gcd}(\mathfrak{l}_0, \mathfrak{l}_1) > 1$  and  $\operatorname{gcd}(\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j) = 1$  holds whenever  $j \notin \{0, 1\}$ . Then the defining relations of the Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  of X have  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ -degree zero.

*Proof.* Note that for a ring  $R(A, P_0)$  as above there is at least one integer  $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$  such that  $V(X, T_{ij}) = D_{ij,1}$  is irreducible for  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$ . Thus  $K_0$ -primeness of the variable  $T_{ij}$  implies that  $D_{ij,1}$  is a principal divisors for  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$ . We conclude

$$\deg(T_{i,1}^{l_{i,1}}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n_0} l_{ij,1}[D_{ij,1}] = 0 \in \operatorname{Cl}(X).$$

As  $T_{i,1}^{l_{i,1}}$  occurs as a term in at least one relation of  $R(A', P'_0)$  the assertion follows.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.1, Case (i). Set  $H_0^0 := H_0/H_0^{\text{tors}}$ . We recall that the  $H_0^0$ -invariant prime divisors with finite isotropy generate the class group of  $X = \text{Spec } R(A, P_0)$  and those are exactly the irreducible components of  $V(X, T_{ij})$ , where  $i = 0, \ldots, r$  and  $1 \le j \le$  $n_i$ . Our aim is to determine some relations between the Cl(X)-degrees of the divisors arising this way. Using Construction 4.4.4 this gives rise to an abelian group having Cl(X) as a factor group.

Let  $D_{ij,1} \cup \cdots \cup D_{ij,c(i)}$  be the decomposition of  $V(X, T_{ij})$  into prime divisors. As  $R(A, P_0)$  is  $K_0$ -factorial and  $T_{ij}$  is  $K_0$ -prime (see [6, Theo. 3.4.2.3]) we get

$$\sum_{t=1}^{c(i)} [D_{ij,t}] = 0 \in Cl(X).$$
(4.1)

Moreover we observe that in the Cases (i)-(iv)  $gcd(\mathfrak{l}_0,\mathfrak{l}_1,\mathfrak{l}_2) = 1$  holds and so due to Lemma 4.4.7 the defining relations of  $R(A',P'_0)$  have degree zero. In particular, due to Proposition 4.2.5 we obtain a term  $T_{i,t}^{l_{i,t}} = T_{i1,t}^{l_{ij,t}} \cdots T_{ij,t}^{l_{ini,t}}$  of degree zero for fixed *i* and *t*. This gives rise to relations

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n_i} l_{ij,t}[D_{ij,t}] = 0 \in \operatorname{Cl}(X), \tag{4.2}$$

where  $i = 0, \ldots, r$  and  $t = 1, \ldots, c(i)$ . As  $l_{i,1} = \cdots = l_{i,c(i)}$  holds for any  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , the relations (4.1) and (4.2) give rise to block matrices  $A(c(i), l_{i,1})$  in a matrix P as in Construction 4.4.4. In particular we get an  $m' \times n'$  matrix with  $m' := \sum_{i=0}^{r} (n_i + c(i))$ and  $n' := \sum_{i=0}^{r} c(i) \cdot n_i$  of the following form

$$P := \begin{bmatrix} A(c(0), l_{0,1}) & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & A(c(1), l_{1,1}) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & A(c(r), l_{r,1}) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.3)

Note that P is of rank  $\sum_{i=0}^{r} (n_i - 1 + c(i))$  and the rk(P)-th determinantal divisor of P equals the product of the  $(n_i - 1 + c(i))$ -th determinantal divisors of the block matrices  $A(c(i), l_{i,1})$ . With Lemma 4.4.5 we conclude that the class group of X is isomorphic to a factor group of the group

$$\mathbb{Z}^{n'}/\mathrm{im}(P^*) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{n'-\mathrm{rk}(P)} \times G \tag{4.4}$$

with some finite abelian group G of order k with  $k|\mathfrak{l}_{0,1}^{c(0)-1}\cdots\mathfrak{l}_{r,1}^{c(r)-1}$ .

We show that even  $\mathbb{Z}^{n'}/\operatorname{im}(P^*) \leq \operatorname{Cl}(X)$  and therefore equality holds. For this purpose we compare the dimensions of  $X = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  and  $\overline{X} = \operatorname{Spec} R(A', P'_0)$ :

$$\dim(\overline{X}) - \dim(X) = n' - (r' - 1) - (n - (r - 1))$$
$$= n' - \sum_{i=0}^{r} c(i) + 2 - \sum_{i=0}^{r} n_i + (r - 1) = n' - \operatorname{rk}(P).$$

With  $X = \overline{X} /\!\!/ \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\operatorname{Cl}(X)]$  we conclude  $\mathbb{Z}^{n' - \operatorname{rk}(P)} \leq \operatorname{Cl}(X)$ . The assertion follows with

$$|\operatorname{Cl}(X)^{\operatorname{ctors}}| \le |G| \le |\operatorname{Cl}(X)^{\operatorname{ctors}}|.$$

We turn towards the proof of the second assertion of Theorem 4.4.1.

**Definition 4.4.8.** Let X be an irreducible normal variety and  $Y \subseteq X$  a prime divisor. Let furthermore  $\mathfrak{A} := \langle f_1, \ldots, f_r \rangle \leq \mathcal{O}(X)$  be any ideal. Then we define the order of  $\mathfrak{A}$  along Y to be  $\min(\operatorname{ord}_Y(f_i); i = 1, \ldots, r) =: \operatorname{ord}_Y(\mathfrak{A})$ .

**Lemma 4.4.9.** Let X be an irreducible normal variety,  $\mathfrak{A} := \langle f_1, \ldots, f_r \rangle \leq \mathcal{O}(X)$  any ideal and  $f \in \mathcal{O}(X)$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i)  $\operatorname{ord}_Y(\mathfrak{A}) = \operatorname{ord}_Y(f)$  holds for all prime divisors  $Y \subseteq X$ .
- (ii)  $\langle f \rangle = \mathfrak{A}$  holds, i.e.  $\mathfrak{A}$  is a principal ideal.

In particular the Weil-divisor  $D := \sum \operatorname{ord}_Y(\mathfrak{A})$ , where the sum runs over all prime divisors  $Y \subseteq X$ , is principal if and only if  $\mathfrak{A}$  is a principal ideal.

*Proof.* We prove (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii). Observe that  $f \mid f_i$  holds for  $i = 1, \ldots, r$  as  $\operatorname{div}(f) \leq \operatorname{div}(f_i)$  by construction. In particular  $\langle f \rangle \supseteq \mathfrak{A}$ . We prove the other inclusion. Consider the covering  $\cup_{i=1}^r U_i$  of X where

$$U_i := X \setminus (Y_{i_1} \cup \cdots \cup Y_{i_{k_i}}),$$

where all prime divisors Y with  $\operatorname{ord}_Y(f_i) \neq \operatorname{ord}_Y(\mathfrak{A})$  occur among the  $Y_{i_t}$ . Then inside  $U_i$  we have  $f_i \mid f$ . We obtain  $c_i \cdot f_i = f$  with  $c_i \in \mathcal{O}(U)^*$ . Considering the associated sheaf  $\tilde{\mathfrak{A}}$  of  $\mathfrak{A}$  we obtain  $f \in \tilde{\mathfrak{A}}(X) = \mathfrak{A}$ . The other implication is clear.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.4.10.** Let  $R(A, P_0) = \mathbb{C}[T_{ij}, S_k]/I$  be a hyperplatonic ring with  $g_0$  of the form  $T_0^{l_0} + T_1^{l_1} + T_2^{l_2}$  and basic platonic triple (x, 2, 2). Fix an integer  $y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  with  $y \mid x$  and set

$$\mathfrak{A}_y := \langle T_1^{1/2l_1} + i \cdot T_2^{1/2l_2}, T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0} \rangle \le R(A, P_0).$$

Then  $\mathfrak{A}$  is a principal ideal if and only if y = 1 holds.

*Proof.* Note that  $\mathfrak{A}_1 = \langle T_1^{1/2l_1} + iT_2^{1/2l_2} \rangle$  holds in  $R(A, P_0)$ . So let  $y \neq 1$  and assume there is an  $f \in \mathfrak{A}_y$  with  $\langle f \rangle = \mathfrak{A}$ . Then there exist  $g_1, g_2, h_1, h_2 \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  with  $g_1 \cdot f + I = T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0} + I$  and  $g_2 \cdot f + I = T_1^{1/2l_1} + iT_2^{1/2l_2} + I$  and

$$h_1 \cdot T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0} + h_2 \cdot (T_1^{1/2l_1} + iT_2^{1/2l_2}) + I = f + I.$$

Inserting the third formula into the first one we obtain

$$T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0} + I = g_1 \cdot h_1 \cdot T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0} + g_1 \cdot h_2 \cdot (T_1^{1/2l_1} + iT_2^{1/2l_2}) + I$$

and so in particular

$$h := (g_1 \cdot h_1 - 1) \cdot T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0} + g_1 \cdot h_2 \cdot (T_1^{1/2l_1} + iT_2^{1/2l_2}) \in I.$$
(4.5)

As there can not occur any term  $T_0^{1/y \cdot l_0}$  in I for  $y \neq 1$ , we conclude that  $g_1$  and  $h_1$  each have a constant term. Inserting the third formula above into the second we obtain a constant term in  $g_2$  and  $h_2$  with similar arguments. But this leads to a term  $\lambda \cdot (T_1^{1/2l_1} + i \cdot T_2^{1/2l_2})$  with  $\lambda \neq 0$  in (4.5), which contradicts  $h \in I$ .

Proof of Theorem 4.4.1, Case (ii). With the same arguments as in the Case (i) we get relations of the form (4.1). Moreover since the degrees of the relations and thus all terms occuring in the Cox ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  of  $X = \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  coincide, we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n_0} l_{0j,1}[D_{0j,1}] = \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} l_{ij,t(i)}[D_{ij,t(i)}] \in \operatorname{Cl}(X),$$
(4.6)

where i = 0, ..., r and  $1 \le t(i) \le c(i)$ . Those replace the relations (4.2). Suitably ordered this gives rise to a matrix

ſ	$-1/2l_0$	$1/2l_{0}$	0	• • •	0 ]
	$E_{n_0}$	$E_{n_0}$	0	•••	0
	*	0	$A(c(1), l_{1,1})$	• • •	0
		:	:	۰.	:
	*	0	0		$A(c(r), l_{r,1})$

where we use c(0) = 2,  $l_{0,1} = l_{0,2} = 1/2 \cdot l_0$ . and the \* indicates that there might be some entries not equal to zero. By suitably swapping columns and applying elementary

row operations one achieves a matrix

$$P' := \begin{bmatrix} -l_0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ * & A(c(1), l_{1,1}) & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ * & 0 & \dots & A(c(r), l_{r,1}) & 0 \\ E_{n_0} & 0 & \dots & 0 & E_{n_0} \end{bmatrix}$$

The rank of P' equals  $\sum_{i=0}^{r} (n_i - 1 + c(i))$ . Using  $l_{i,1} = l_{i,2} = l_i/2$  for i = 1, 2, we obtain with Lemma 4.4.5 that the  $(n_i - 1 + c(i))$ -th determinantal divisors of  $A(c(i), l_{i,1})$  divides  $l_i/2$  for i = 1, 2. Using  $l_{i,1} = \ldots = l_{i,4} = l_i$  for  $i \ge 3$  we obtain that the  $(n_i - 1 + c(i))$ -th determinantal divisors of  $A(c(i), l_{i,1})$  divides  $l_i^3$  for  $i \ge 3$ . Thus considering the maximal square submatrices just including one of the first  $n_0$  columns, Laplace expansion with respect to the first row shows that the rk(P')-th determinantal divisor of P' divides  $l_0$ . If we delete all of the first  $n_0$  columns we observe that the (rk(P') - 1)-th determinantal divisor of P' divides 1, i.e., it equals 1. Thus Cl(X) is a factor group of

$$\mathbb{Z}^{n'}/\operatorname{im}(\mathbf{P}^*) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{n'-\operatorname{rk}(P')} \times G,$$

where G is a finite group of order k with  $k|\mathfrak{l}_0(\mathfrak{l}_1/2)(\mathfrak{l}_2/2)\mathfrak{l}_3^3\ldots\mathfrak{l}_r^3$ .

We show equality of these groups. Observe that we may assume the relation  $g_0$  of  $R(A, P_0)$  to be of the form  $T_0^{l_0} + T_1^{l_1} + T_2^{l_2}$ . In particular the irreducible components  $D_{0j,1}$  and  $D_{0j,2}$  of  $V(X; T_{0j})$  are of the form

$$D_{0j,1} = \mathcal{V}(T_{0j}, T_1^{1/2l_1} + i \cdot T_2^{1/2l_2})$$
 and  $D_{0j,2} = \mathcal{V}(T_{0j}, T_1^{1/2l_1} - i \cdot T_2^{1/2l_2}).$ 

We conclude that for  $y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  with  $y \mid \mathfrak{l}_0$ 

$$D := \sum_{j=1}^{n_0} \frac{1}{y} l_{0j} D_{0j,1} = \sum_Y \operatorname{ord}_Y(\mathfrak{A}_y)$$

holds with  $\mathfrak{A}_y$  as in Lemma 4.4.10. As  $\mathfrak{A}_y$  is principal if and only if y = 1 holds, we obtain  $\mathbb{Z}/\mathfrak{l}_0\mathbb{Z}$  and thus in particular  $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  as a factor of the class group of X. Calculating the difference between the dimensions of  $\operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  and  $\operatorname{Spec} R(A', P'_0)$  as in the proof of the case (i) we conclude  $\mathbb{Z}^{n'-\operatorname{rk}(P')} \leq \operatorname{Cl}(X)$  and the assertion follows with

$$2 \cdot |\operatorname{Cl}(X)^{\operatorname{ctors}}| \le |G| \le 2 \cdot |\operatorname{Cl}(X)^{\operatorname{ctors}}|.$$

To conclude this chapter we give a necessary criterion for the factoriality of a ring  $R(A, P_0)$  of Type 1 using the methods developed so far.

**Proposition 4.4.11.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a factorial ring of Type 1 with  $l_{i1}n_i > 1$  for all i = 1, ..., r. Then one of the following statements hold:

- (i) We have  $l_i = 1$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, r$ .
- (*ii*) We have  $P_0 = [2E_2, 0]$ .

Moreover, if (i) holds, the variables  $T_{ij}$  are even prime.

*Proof.* Factoriality of  $R(A, P_0)$  implies rationality of Spec  $R(A, P_0)$ . Thus it suffices to go through the cases of Corollary 4.3.4. In Case 4.3.4(i) we have  $l_i = 1$  for all i and it is nothing to show.

Now let  $R(A, P_0)$  be as in Case 4.3.4(ii). Then, after suitable renumbering,  $\mathfrak{l}_1 > 1$ and  $\mathfrak{l}_i = 1$  holds for all  $i \geq 2$ . The associated ring  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  of Type 2 has the terms  $T_{01}^{\mathfrak{l}_1}, T_1^{\mathfrak{l}_1}, \ldots, T_r^{\mathfrak{l}_r}$  in the defining relations. In particular due to [6, Theorem 3.4.2.3] it is not factorial. As  $T_{01}$  is prime due to [6, Lemma 3.4.2.7] we conclude that the localization  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)_{T_{01}} \cong R(A, P_0)[T_{01}, T_{01}^{-1}]$  is not factorial and thus  $R(A, P_0)$  is not factorial, see [65, Theorem 20.2]; a contradiction.

We turn to Case 4.3.4(iii). After suitable renumbering  $l_1 = l_2 = 2$  and  $l_i = 1$  holds for all  $i \ge 3$ . In particular  $l_{i1}n_i > 1$  implies  $n_i \ge 2$  for all  $i = 3, \ldots, r$ . We are left with the following two cases:

We have r = 2 and  $n_1 = n_2 = 1$ : In this case we have

$$R(A, P_0) \cong \mathbb{C}[T_{11}, T_{21}, S_k] / \langle T_{11}^2 + T_{21}^2 + 1 \rangle \cong \mathbb{C}[T, T^{-1}, S_k]$$

and  $P_0 = [2E_2, 0]$  holds.

We have r = 2 and  $n_1 \leq n_2 \geq 2$  or  $r \geq 3$ : We show that these assumptions contradict factoriality of  $R(A, P_0)$ . Consider the corresponding ring  $R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  of Type 2, which is hyperplatonic with basic platonic tuple (2, 2, 2) and has the terms  $T_{01}^2, T_1^{l_1}, \ldots, T_r^{l_r}$ in the defining relations. Set  $X := \operatorname{Spec} R(A, P_0)$  and  $\tilde{X} := \operatorname{Spec} R(\tilde{A}, \tilde{P}_0)$  and note that  $\operatorname{div}(T_{01}) = D_{01,1} + D_{01,2}$  holds with prime divisors  $D_{01,1}, D_{01,2} \subseteq \tilde{X}$ . In particular  $[D_{01,1}] = -[D_{01,2}] \in \operatorname{Cl}(\tilde{X})$  holds. Using this and factoriality of  $X \times \mathbb{C}^* \cong \tilde{X} \setminus V(T_{01})$ , we obtain an exact sequence

$$\mathbb{Z}^2 \xrightarrow{\pi} \operatorname{Cl}(\tilde{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Cl}(X \times \mathbb{C}^*) = 0,$$

where  $\pi(e_1) = [D_{01,1}]$  and  $\pi(e_2) = [D_{01,2}] = -[D_{01,1}]$  and thus  $\pi(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  is a cyclic group. Due to Remark 4.4.2 we have

$$\operatorname{Cl}(\tilde{X}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}^{n_0+n_1+n_2+3(n_3+\ldots+n_r-(r-1))}$$

and  $n_0 + n_1 + n_2 + 3(n_3 + \ldots + n_r - (r - 1)) \ge 1$  holds by assumption. As the image of  $\pi$  is a cyclic group this contradicts surjectivity of  $\pi$  and thus factoriality of  $R(A, P_0)$ .

The supplement is a direct consequence of Proposition 2.2.7.

**Remark 4.4.12.** It may happen that for a rational *T*-variety of complexity one with only constant globally invertible functions, the total coordinate space  $\overline{X}$  is rational and non-factorial of Type 1 but has non-constant globally invertible functions. For instance consider

$$X_2 := \mathcal{V}(T_{11}^2 T_{12}^2 - T_{21}^2 - 1) \subseteq \mathbb{C}^3,$$

where  $T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21} \in \mathcal{O}(X)^*$ . According to Corollary 4.3.4 and Proposition 4.4.11 the surface  $X_2$  is rational and non-factorial. Moreover  $X_2$  is the total coordinate space of an affine rational  $\mathbb{C}^*$ -surface  $X_1$  with defining matrix

$$P_0 := \left[ \begin{array}{rrr} 2 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 \end{array} \right].$$

 $X_1$  has only constant globally invertible functions, see [6, Theorem 3.2.1.4], the divisor class group of  $X_1$  is  $\operatorname{Cl}(X_1) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z}$  and the  $\operatorname{Cl}(X_1)$ -grading of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X_1) = \mathbb{C}[T_{11}, T_{12}, T_{21}]/\langle T_{11}^2 T_{12}^2 - T_{21}^2 - 1 \rangle$  is given by

$$\deg(T_{11}) = (\overline{0}, \overline{1}), \quad \deg(T_{12}) = (\overline{1}, \overline{3}), \quad \deg(T_{21}) = (\overline{1}, \overline{2}).$$

CHAPTER	,
FIVE	

# VARIETIES WITH TORUS ACTION OF HIGHER COMPLEXITY

In this chapter we extend the Cox ring based combinatorial theory for rational varieties with torus action of complexity one to Mori dream spaces with torus action of arbitrary high complexity. The key idea is to work over the maximal orbit quotient, which keeps finite generation of the Cox ring. As a sample class we investigate Mori dream spaces with a projective space as maximal orbit quotient having a general hyperplane arrangement as critical locus. Here we obtain simply structured resulting Cox rings directly generalizing the case of rational T-varieties of complexity one. The results of this and the following chapter have been published in the joint publication [46].

## 5.1 Mori dream spaces with torus action

In this section, we introduce a general framework to construct Mori dream spaces with torus action. The key input is the main result of [49]. There, the Cox ring

$$\mathcal{R}(X) = \bigoplus_{\operatorname{Cl}(X)} \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D))$$

of a normal variety X with an effective torus action  $\mathbb{T} \times X \to X$ , only constant invertible global functions and finitely generated divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$  was described in terms of the open subset of points with finite  $\mathbb{T}$ -isotropy and a certain quotient:

$$X_0 = \{x \in X; \mathbb{T}_x \text{ is finite}\} \subseteq X, \qquad \pi: X \dashrightarrow Y.$$

More precisely, [83, Cor. 3] yields a quotient  $\kappa \colon X_0 \to X_0/\mathbb{T}$ , where the orbit space  $X_0/\mathbb{T}$  is a normal, possibly non-separated prevariety. Using [49, Prop. 3.5], we obtain a normal

variety Y and a commutative diagram of rational maps



such that there are an open set  $W \subseteq X_0$  with complement  $X_0 \setminus W$  of codimension at least two and prime divisors  $C_0, \ldots, C_r$  on Y with the following properties:

- (i) the map  $\pi$  is defined on W, the image  $V := \pi(W) \subseteq Y$  is open with complement of codimension at least two,
- (ii) the image  $\kappa(W) \subseteq X_0/\mathbb{T}$  is open,  $\sigma \colon \kappa(W) \to V$  is a surjective local isomorphism and it is an isomorphism over  $V \setminus (C_0 \cup \ldots \cup C_r)$ ,
- (iii) for every i = 0, ..., r, the inverse image  $\pi^{-1}(C_i) \subseteq W$  is a union of prime divisors  $D_{i1}, ..., D_{in_i} \subseteq W$  and all prime divisors of  $X_0$  with nontrivial generic T-isotropy occur among the  $D_{ij}$ .

We call the rational map  $\pi: X \dashrightarrow Y$  the maximal orbit quotient, the morphism  $\pi: W \to V$  a big representative and  $C_0, \ldots, C_r$  the doubling divisors of  $\pi$ . Keeping their notation, we extend the  $D_{ij}$  to X by passing to their closures. Moreover, we denote by  $E_1, \ldots, E_m$  the prime divisors in the complement  $X \setminus X_0$ . Then the main result of [49] says that the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  of X is given as

$$\mathcal{R}(X) \cong \mathcal{R}(Y)[T_{ij}, S_k]/\langle T_i^{l_i} - 1_{C_i} \rangle, \qquad T_i^{l_i} := T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_i}^{l_{in_i}},$$

where  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  is the Cox ring of Y, by  $1_{C_i} \in \mathcal{R}(Y)$  we denote the canonical section of  $C_i$ , the variables  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$  represent the canonical sections of  $D_{ij}$ ,  $E_k$  and  $l_{ij}$  is the order of the isotropy group  $\mathbb{T}_x$  for a general  $x \in D_{ij}$ . Moreover, the Cl(X)-grading on the r.h.s. assigns to  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$  the classes of  $D_{ij}$ ,  $E_k$  and turns the Cl(Y)-grading of  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  into a Cl(X)-grading via the pullback homomorphism  $\pi^*$ .

The idea of this section is to go in the reverse direction. That means that we start with a normal variety Y having only constant invertible global functions, finitely generated divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(Y)$  and finitely generated Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$ ; for example, Y might be any Mori dream space. The aim is to construct from Y in a systematic way basically all varieties X with finitely generated Cox ring coming with a torus action that have maximal orbit quotient  $X \dashrightarrow Y$ .

Our construction will link to toric geometry by using suitable toric varieties as ambient spaces. This means in particular, that we have to deal with varieties Y admitting toric embeddings. According to [87], the latter just means that Y is an  $A_2$ -variety, that means that any two points of Y admit a common affine open neighborhood; this is the case, for instance, if Y is affine or projective.

We are ready to enter the construction. The reader preferring to see a concrete example before may jump directly to Example 5.2.10.

**Construction 5.1.1.** Let Y be a normal  $A_2$ -variety with only constant invertible global functions, finitely generated divisor class group Cl(Y) and finitely generated Cox ring

 $\mathcal{R}(Y)$ . Fix a choice  $\alpha = (f_0, \ldots, f_r)$  of pairwise non-associated  $\operatorname{Cl}(Y)$ -prime generators of  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  and an associated toric embedding  $Y \subseteq Z_{\Delta}$ , where  $Z_{\Delta}$  arises from the fan  $\Delta$  in the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^t$ . Denote by  $u_0, \ldots, u_r$  the primitive generators of the rays of  $\Delta$  and write them as the columns in a  $t \times (r+1)$  matrix

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} u_0 & \dots & u_r \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that  $\operatorname{Cl}(Y) = \operatorname{Cl}(Z_{\Delta})$  equals  $K_B := \mathbb{Z}^{r+1}/\operatorname{im}(B^*)$ . We build a larger matrix P from B as follows. Fix positive integers  $n_0, \ldots, n_r$  and set  $n := n_0 + \ldots + n_r$ . Let m, s be nonnegative integers such that  $t + s \leq n + m$ . For every pair i, j, where  $i = 0, \ldots, r$  and  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$ , fix a positive integer  $l_{ij}$  and an integral vector  $d_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}^s$ . Moreover, fix integral vectors  $d'_1, \ldots, d'_m \in \mathbb{Z}^s$ . Set  $u_{ij} := l_{ij}u_i$  and consider the  $(t + s) \times (n + m)$  matrix

$$P = \begin{vmatrix} u_{01} & \dots & u_{0n_0} & \dots & u_{r1} & \dots & u_{rn_r} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ d_{01} & \dots & d_{0n_0} & \dots & d_{r1} & \dots & d_{rn_r} & d'_1 & \dots & d'_m \end{vmatrix},$$

where we require that the columns  $v_{ij} = (u_{ij}, d_{ij})$  and  $v_k = (0, d'_k)$  are pairwise different and primitive and generate  $\mathbb{Q}^{t+s}$  as a vector space. Now choose any fan  $\Sigma$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^{t+s}$ having the columns  $v_{ij}, v_k$  as the primitive generators of its rays and denote by  $Z_{\Sigma}$  the associated toric variety. We obtain a commutative diagram



where the downwards rational map from  $Z_{\Sigma}$  to  $Z_{\Delta}$  is given by the projection of tori  $\mathbb{T}^{t+s} \to \mathbb{T}^t$  and we define

$$X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma) := \overline{(Y \cap \mathbb{T}^t) \times \mathbb{T}^s} \subseteq Z_{\Sigma}$$

to be the closure of the inverse image of Y under  $\mathbb{T}^{t+s} \to \mathbb{T}^t$ . Then X is invariant under the action of  $\mathbb{T}^s$ . We have

$$K_P := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\mathrm{im}(P^*) = \mathrm{Cl}(Z_{\Sigma}).$$

Now, consider the monomials  $T_i^{l_i} := T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_i}^{l_{in_i}} \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  and let  $h_1, \ldots, h_q$  be generators for the ideal of relations between  $f_0, \ldots, f_r$ . Then the factor ring

$$R(\alpha, P) := \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k] / \langle h_1(T_0^{l_0}, \dots, T_r^{l_r}), \dots, h_q(T_0^{l_0}, \dots, T_r^{l_r}) \rangle$$

becomes  $K_P$ -graded by assigning to the generators  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$  the classes of the canonical basis vectors  $e_{ij}$ ,  $e_k$  in  $K_P$  as their degrees. Moreover, we have a unique homomorphism of graded rings  $\mathcal{R}(Y) \to \mathcal{R}(\alpha, P)$  sending  $f_i$  to  $T_i^{l_i}$ .

**Remark 5.1.2.** If, in Construction 5.1.1, the toric ambient variety  $Z_{\Sigma}$  is affine (complete, projective), then the resulting X is affine (complete, projective).

**Proposition 5.1.3.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.1.1. Suppose that  $R(\alpha, P)$  is integral, normal with only constant homogeneous units and the variables  $T_{ij}$  define pairwise nonassociated  $K_P$ -primes in  $R(\alpha, P)$ . Then the following statements hold.

- (i) The T<sup>s</sup>-variety X is normal with only constant invertible global functions, is of dimension s + dim(Y), has divisor class group Cl(X) = K<sub>X</sub>, Cox ring R(X) = R(α, P) and it comes with a T<sup>s</sup>-equivariant toric embedding X ⊆ Z<sub>Σ</sub>.
- (ii) Let Z<sub>Σ</sub><sup>1</sup> ⊆ Z<sub>Σ</sub> be the union of the open toric orbit and all those corresponding to variables T<sub>ij</sub> and Z<sub>Δ</sub><sup>1</sup> ⊆ Z<sub>Δ</sub> the union of all toric orbits of codimension at most one. Then X<sub>1</sub> := X ∩ Z<sub>Σ</sub><sup>1</sup> ⊆ X<sub>0</sub> maps onto Y<sub>1</sub> := Y ∩ Z<sub>Δ</sub><sup>1</sup> and X<sub>1</sub> → Y<sub>1</sub> is a big representative of of the maximal orbit quotient π: X --→ Y.

Proof of Construction 5.1.1 and Proposition 5.1.3. Consider the toric Cox constructions of the fan  $\Delta$  living in  $N_{\Delta} := \mathbb{Z}^t$  and the fan  $\Sigma$  living in  $N_{\Sigma} := \mathbb{Z}^{t+s}$ ; see for example [24, Sec. 5.1]. They fit into a commutative ladder of lattices with exact rows



where the lifting  $A: F_{\Sigma} \to F_{\Delta}$  of the projection  $N_{\Sigma} \to N_{\Delta}$  sends the canonical basis vectors  $e_{ij} \in F_{\Sigma} = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  to  $l_{ij}e_i \in F_{\Delta} = \mathbb{Z}^{r+1}$  and  $e_k \in F_{\Sigma} = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$  to  $0 \in F_{\Delta} = \mathbb{Z}^{r+1}$ . Dualizing gives a commutative ladder of abelian groups with exact rows

$$0 \longleftarrow K_{P} \xleftarrow{Q} E_{\Sigma} \xleftarrow{P^{*}} M_{\Sigma} \longleftarrow 0$$

$$\stackrel{i \land A^{*} \land A^{*$$

By construction,  $e_i \in E_{\Delta}$  is sent by C to  $\deg(f_i) \in K_B = \operatorname{Cl}(Y)$ . Consequently, the induced map  $i: K_B \to K_P$  sending  $\deg(f_i) \in K_B$  to the class of  $l_{i1}e_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i}e_{in_i}$  in  $K_P$ . The fact that we have a homomorphism of graded rings  $\mathcal{R}(Y) \to \mathcal{R}(\alpha, P)$  sending  $f_i$  to  $T_i^{l_i}$  is then obvious. This proves all statements made in Construction 5.1.1. Let  $\overline{Y} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{r+1}$  and  $\overline{X} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  denote the closures of the inverse images of  $Y \cap \mathbb{T}^t$ and  $X \cap \mathbb{T}^{t+s}$  under the homomorphisms of tori  $b: \mathbb{T}^{r+1} \to \mathbb{T}^t$  and  $p: \mathbb{T}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{T}^{t+s}$ defined by B and P respectively. Then  $\overline{Y}$  is the total coordinate space of Y and has  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  as its algebra of functions. Observe that with the quasitori  $H_Y := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K_B]$ and  $H_X := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K_P]$  and the homomorphism of tori  $a: \mathbb{T}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{T}^{r+1}$  defined by A, we have a commutative diagram

$$\overline{X} \cap \mathbb{T}^{n+m} \xrightarrow{/H_X} X \cap \mathbb{T}^{t+s}$$

$$a \bigvee_{q \to T^{r+1}} \xrightarrow{/H_Y} Y \cap \mathbb{T}^t,$$

Consider the product  $f \in \mathcal{R}(Y)$  over all the generators  $f_i$  of  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  and the product  $g \in R(\alpha, P)$  over all the generators  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  of  $R(\alpha, P)$ . Then, using the above diagram, we see

$$\left(\mathcal{R}(Y)_f\right)^{H_Y} \cong a^* \left(\mathcal{R}(Y)_f\right)^{H_Y} = \left(\left(R(\alpha, P)_g\right)^{H_X}\right)^{\mathbb{T}^s}.$$

Since the l.h.s. ring is factorial, also the r.h.s. ring is so. By assumption,  $R(\alpha, P)$  is integral, normal and the generators  $T_{ij}$  are  $K_P$ -prime. Thus, we can apply [6, Cor. 3.4.1.6] and see that  $R(\alpha, P)$  is factorially  $K_P$ -graded. Consequently, we are in the setting of [6, Constr. 3.2.1.3] which establishes Proposition 5.1.3 (i).

For the second assertion of the Proposition, observe that  $Z_{\Sigma}^1 \to Z_{\Delta}^1$  defines the maximal orbit quotient of the  $\mathbb{T}^s$ -action on  $Z_{\Sigma}$ . As toric prime divisors of  $Z_{\Sigma}^1$  and  $Z_{\Delta}^1$  cut down to prime divisors of  $X_1$  and  $Y_1$  respectively, we can conclude that  $X_1 \to Y_1$  bigly represents the maximal orbit quotient of the  $\mathbb{T}^s$ -variety X.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 5.1.4.** Let X be an irreducible, normal,  $A_2$ -maximal variety with torus action having only constant invertible global functions, finitely generated divisor class group and finitely generated Cox ring. Then X is equivariantly isomorphic to a variety  $X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$ arising from Construction 5.1.1.

*Proof.* Consider the maximal orbit quotient  $X_0 \dashrightarrow Y$ . As outlined at the beginning of the section, the main result of [49] yields a presentation of the Cox ring of X via Cl(X)-homogeneous generators and relations:

$$\mathcal{R}(X) \cong \mathcal{R}(Y)[T_{ij}, S_k]/\langle T_i^{l_i} - 1_{C_i} \rangle, \qquad T_i^{l_i} := T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_i}^{l_{in_i}},$$

where we ensure that the canonical sections  $1_{C_0}, \ldots, 1_{C_r}$  generate the Cox ring of Y. The  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ -grading of  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  reflects the action of the characteristic quasitorus H :=Spec  $\mathbb{K}[\operatorname{Cl}(X)]$  on the total coordinate space  $\overline{X} :=$  Spec  $\mathcal{R}(X)$ . Moreover, there is an H-invariant open subset  $\widehat{X} \subseteq \overline{X}$  with complement of codimension at least two in  $\overline{X}$  such that we have a good quotient  $p: \widehat{X} \to X = \widehat{X}/\!\!/ H$ .

Let  $\mathbb{T} \times X \to X$  be the torus action on X. According to [6, Thm. 4.2.3.2], there is an action of  $\mathbb{T}$  on  $\widehat{X}$  such that we have  $t \cdot h \cdot x = h \cdot t \cdot x$  and  $p(t \cdot x) = t^b \cdot p(x)$  with a fixed positive integer b for all  $t \in \mathbb{T}$ ,  $h \in H$  and  $x \in \widehat{X}$ . Since  $\widehat{X} \subseteq \overline{X}$  has a small complement and  $\overline{X}$  is normal, we can extend the  $\mathbb{T}$ -action to  $\overline{X}$ .

The Cox ring generators  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  are *H*-homogeneous. We show that they are also T-homogeneous. Consider  $f := T_{ij} \in \mathcal{R}(X)$ . Since  $\operatorname{div}(T_i^{l_i}) = p^*(D_{ij})$  is T-invariant, also the component  $\operatorname{div}(f)$  of this divisor is  $\mathbb{T}$ -invariant. For each  $t \in \mathbb{T}$ , we define a rational function on  $\overline{X}$  by

$$g_t \colon x \mapsto \frac{f(t \cdot x)}{f(x)}.$$

Numerator and denominator have the same divisor and both are *H*-homogeneous. Thus,  $g_t$  is an invertible *H*-homogeneous element of  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  and hence constant; see [6]. We conclude that there is a character  $\chi \in \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{T})$  with  $f(t \cdot x) = \chi(t)f(x)$ . The same arguing works in the case  $f = S_k$ .

The toric embedding  $X \subseteq Z$  defined by the  $(\mathbb{T} \times H)$ -homogeneous Cox ring generators  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$  is  $\mathbb{T}$ -equivariant, where  $\mathbb{T}$  acts as a subtorus of the acting torus  $\mathbb{T}_Z$  of the ambient toric variety Z. The inclusion  $\mathbb{T} \subseteq \mathbb{T}_Z$  is reflected by a splitting  $\mathbb{Z}^t \times \mathbb{Z}^s$  of the lattice of one parameter subgroups of  $\mathbb{T}_Z$ , where  $\mathbb{Z}^s$  represents the factor  $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{T}^s$ . The toric variety Z is defined by a fan  $\Sigma$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^t \times \mathbb{Z}^s$  and the projection  $\mathbb{Z}^t \times \mathbb{Z}^s \to \mathbb{Z}^s$  gives rise to a commutative diagram



where  $\Delta$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^s$  is the fan having the projected rays corresponding to the generators  $T_{ij}$ as its maximal cones. The r.h.s. downwards arrow defines the maximal orbit quotient for the T-action on  $Z = Z_{\Sigma}$  and as the toric divisors of  $Z_{\Sigma}$  cut out the prime divisors of X, the l.h.s. downwards arrow defines the maximal orbit quotient for the T-action on X.

Now consider the toric Cox construction of  $Z_{\Sigma}$ . It is given by a homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{Z}^{t+s}$ . Let P denote the corresponding  $(n+m) \times (t+s)$  matrix and write  $v_{ij}$ ,  $v_k$  for the columns indexed according to the Cox ring generators  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_k$ . Computing the  $\mathbb{T}$ -isotropy along the toric divisors of  $Z_{\Sigma}$  according to [6, Prop. 2.1.4.2], we obtain  $v_1, \ldots, v_m \in \{0\} \times \mathbb{Q}^s$  and see that the  $v_{ij}$  have a non-trivial  $\mathbb{Z}^t$ -part being the  $l_{ij}$ -fold multiple of the primitive generator  $w_i \in \mathbb{Z}^t$  of the ray through the image of  $v_{ij}$ . Thus, P looks as in Construction 5.1.1.

To conclude the proof, we still have to show that  $Y \subseteq Z_{\Delta}$  is the toric embedding arising from the Cox ring generators  $1_{C_0}, \ldots, 1_{C_r}$ . By construction, the pullbacks to X of the divisors on  $Y \subseteq Z_{\Delta}$  cut out by the toric prime divisors equal the pullbacks to X of the divisors  $C_0, \ldots, C_r$ . Thus,  $C_0, \ldots, C_r$  are in fact the divisors cut out by the toric prime divisors of  $Z_{\Delta}$ . The toric Cox construction of  $Z_{\Delta}$  is given by the lattice homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}^{r+1} \to \mathbb{Z}^t$  sending the *i*-th canonical basis vector to  $w_i$ . The monomial map

$$\mu \colon \mathbb{K}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{K}^{r+1}, \qquad (z,w) \mapsto (z_0^{l_0}, \dots, z_r^{l_r})$$

is the categorical quotient by the action of the quasitorus ker( $\mu$ ) on  $\mathbb{K}^{n+m}$ . The total coordinate space  $\overline{X} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  is invariant and thus maps onto a closed set  $\overline{Y} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{r+1}$ . By construction,  $\overline{Y}$  lies over  $Y \subseteq Z_{\Delta}$ . Moreover, we have

$$\mathcal{O}(\overline{Y}) \cong \mathcal{O}(\overline{X})^{\ker(\mu)} = \mathcal{R}(Y).$$

Thus,  $\overline{Y}$  is a total coordinate space for Y, showing that  $Y \subseteq Z_{\Delta}$  is the toric embedding arising from the Cox ring generators  $1_{C_0}, \ldots, 1_{C_r}$ .

**Corollary 5.1.5.** Let X be a Mori dream space with effective torus action  $\mathbb{T} \times X \to X$ . Then the  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety X arises from Construction 5.1.1.

**Remark 5.1.6.** If, in Construction 5.1.1, we fix  $\alpha$  and P, then the possible choices of polytopal fans  $\Sigma$  having the columns of P as their primitive generators give us all projective Mori dream spaces sharing the  $K_P$ -graded ring  $R(\alpha, P)$  as Cox ring.

**Remark 5.1.7.** In order to describe a projective Mori dream space with torus action via polyhedral divisors [1, 2], it happens that one has to start with a non Mori dream space. For example, the maximal torus action on the Grassmannian G(2, n) has the moduli space  $\overline{M}_{0,n}$  as its Chow quotient and for  $n \geq 10$ , it is known that  $\overline{M}_{0,n}$  and hence all its blow ups have a non-finitely generated Cox ring [22, 42, 48].

## 5.2 First properties and examples

We begin this section with adapting concepts and statements from [6, Chap. 3] to the setting of Construction 5.1.1. This allows us to describe basic geometric properties of the resulting varieties. Then we turn to more specific properties around the torus action. Finally, we elaborate an explicit example, showing how Construction 5.1.1 works in practice and we indicate how an existing description of rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one fits into the framework of Construction 5.1.1.

**Remark 5.2.1.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  and the toric ambient variety  $Z = Z_{\Sigma}$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. The *total coordinate spaces*  $\overline{X}$  and  $\overline{Z}$ , that means the spectra of the Cox rings  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(Z)$ , are explicitly given as

$$\overline{X} := \overline{X}(\alpha, P) := V(h_1(T_0^{l_0}, \dots, T_r^{l_r}), \dots, h_q(T_0^{l_0}, \dots, T_r^{l_r})) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m} =: \overline{Z}.$$

The grading of  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(Z)$  by  $K_p = \operatorname{Cl}(X) = \operatorname{Cl}(Z)$  defines the actions of the *characteristic quasitorus*  $H = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K_P]$  on  $\overline{X}$  and  $\overline{Z}$ , which respect the embedding  $\overline{X} \subseteq \overline{Z}$ . Moreover, we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \widehat{X} & \subseteq & \widehat{Z} \\ \| \mathcal{H} \\ & & & & \\ \mathcal{X} & \subseteq & Z \end{array}$$

where  $\widehat{Z} \to Z$  is the toric Cox construction [24, Sec. 5.1] and  $\widehat{X} = \overline{X} \cap \widehat{Z}$  holds. The induced good quotient  $\widehat{X} \to X$  is the *characteristic space* over X.

We take a closer look at the decomposition of  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  obtained by cutting down the orbit decomposition of the ambient toric variety  $Z = Z_{\Sigma}$ . Recall that, for  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , the associated distinguished point  $z_{\sigma} \in Z$  is the common limit point of all one-parameter groups given by vectors from the relative interior of  $\sigma$ . **Definition 5.2.2.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Set  $\gamma := \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{n+m}$ . An  $\overline{X}$ -face is a face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$  such that the complementary face  $\gamma_0^* \preccurlyeq \gamma$  satisfies

$$\mathbb{K}^{n+m} \supseteq \overline{X}(\gamma_0) := \overline{X} \cap \mathbb{T}^{n+m} \cdot z_{\gamma_0^*} \neq \emptyset.$$

For a cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  and the face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  with  $P(\gamma_0^*) = \sigma$ , consider the intersection of the corresponding toric orbit of  $Z = Z_{\Sigma}$  with X:

$$X(\gamma_0) := X(\sigma) := X \cap \mathbb{T}^{t+s} \cdot z_{\sigma} \subseteq Z.$$

We say that  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  and  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  are X-relevant if  $X(\gamma_0) = X(\sigma)$  is non-empty. Moreover, we denote

$$\operatorname{rlv}(X) := \{\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma; \gamma \text{ is } X \text{-relevant}\}.$$

Note that each  $X(\gamma_0) \subseteq X$  is locally closed and X is the disjoint union of the  $X(\gamma_0)$ , where  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  runs through the X-relevant faces. Moreover, if  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  is X-relevant, then we have  $\overline{X}(\gamma_0) \subseteq \widehat{X}$  and  $\overline{X}(\gamma_0)$  maps onto  $X(\gamma_0)$ . In terms of the pieces  $X(\gamma_0) \subseteq X$ , we can characterize the following local properties; for the proofs see [6, 3.3.1.8 to 3.3.1.12], the notation is as in Construction 5.1.1.

**Proposition 5.2.3.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Let  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  and thus  $\sigma = P(\gamma_0^*) \in \Sigma$  be X-relevant. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The piece  $X(\sigma)$  consists of  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial points of X.
- (ii) The cone  $\sigma$  is simplicial.
- (iii) The cone  $Q(\gamma_0) \subseteq K_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is of full dimension.

**Proposition 5.2.4.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Let  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  and thus  $\sigma = P(\gamma_0^*) \in \Sigma$  be X-relevant. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The piece  $X(\sigma)$  consists of locally factorial points of X.
- (ii) The cone  $\sigma$  is regular.
- (iii) The set  $Q(\gamma_0 \cap \mathbb{Z}^{n+m})$  generates K as a group.

Moreover,  $X(\sigma)$  consists of smooth points of X if and only if one of the above statements holds and  $\overline{X}(\gamma_0)$  consists of smooth points of  $\overline{X}$ .

As well, we can use the X-relevant faces to describe global data as the Picard group and the various cones of divisor classes; compare [6, Cor. 3.3.1.6 and Prop. 3.3.2.9].

**Proposition 5.2.5.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Then, in  $K_P = Cl(X)$ , the Picard group of X is given by

$$\operatorname{Pic}(X) = \bigcap_{\gamma_0 \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)} Q(\operatorname{lin}_{\mathbb{Q}}(\gamma_0) \cap \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}).$$

Moreover, in  $(K_P)_{\mathbb{Q}} = \operatorname{Cl}_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$ , the cones of effective, movable, semiample and ample divisor classes are given by

$$\operatorname{Eff}(X) = Q(\gamma), \qquad \operatorname{Mov}(X) = \bigcap_{\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma \text{ facet}} Q(\gamma_0),$$

$$\mathrm{SAmple}(X) = \bigcap_{\gamma_0 \in \mathrm{rlv}(X)} Q(\gamma_0), \qquad \mathrm{Ample}(X) = \bigcap_{\gamma_0 \in \mathrm{rlv}(X)} Q(\gamma_0)^{\circ}.$$

**Remark 5.2.6.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Assume that X is projective, and take any  $u \in (K_P)_{\mathbb{Q}}$  from the relative interior of the ample cone Ample(X). Then  $\Sigma$  can be chosen as the normal fan  $\Sigma(u)$  of the polytope

$$(P^*)^{-1}(Q^{-1}(u)\cap\gamma)-e) \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^{t+s},$$

where  $\gamma = \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{n+m}$  and  $e \in \mathbb{Q}^{n+m}$  is any element with Q(e) = u; note that in terms of the faces  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$ , the normal fan is given as

$$\Sigma(u) = \{ P(\gamma_0^*); \ \gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma \text{ with } u \in Q(\gamma_0)^\circ \}.$$

Conversely, for any  $u' \in Mov(X)^{\circ}$ , the normal fan  $\Sigma(u')$  defines a projective variety  $X' = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma(u'))$  and there is a small quasimodification  $X \dashrightarrow X'$ , which is an isomorphism if and only if u and u' belong to the same Mori chamber.

We turn to more specific properties of the varieties produced by Construction 5.1.1, involving in particular the torus action.

**Proposition 5.2.7.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Suppose that the Cox ring presentation  $\mathcal{R}(Y) = \mathbb{K}[f_1, \ldots, f_r]/\langle h_1, \ldots, h_q \rangle$  is a complete intersection. Then, with  $h'_u := h_u(T_0^{l_0}, \ldots, T_r^{l_r})$ , also the Cox ring presentation

$$\mathcal{R}(X) = \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k] / \langle h'_1, \dots, h'_q \rangle$$

is a complete intersection. Moreover, in the latter case, the canonical divisor class of X is given by

$$\mathcal{K}_X = -\sum_{i=0}^r \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} \deg(T_{ij}) - \sum_{k=1}^m \deg(S_k) + \sum_{u=1}^q \deg(h'_u) \in K_P = \operatorname{Cl}(X).$$

In particular, with the canonical divisor class  $\mathcal{K}_Y \in K_B = \operatorname{Cl}(Y)$  and the maximal orbit quotient  $\pi: X \dashrightarrow Y$ , we have

$$\mathcal{K}_X - \pi^*(\mathcal{K}_Y) = \sum_{i=0}^r \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} (l_{ij} - 1) \deg(T_{ij}) - \sum_{k=1}^m \deg(S_k).$$

*Proof.* The second and third statement follow from [6, Prop. 3.3.3.2]. The first one is seen via a simple dimension computation:

$$dim(\overline{X}) = dim(X) + rk (Cl(X))$$
  
=  $s + dim(Y) + rk (Cl(X))$   
=  $s + dim(\overline{Y}) - rk (Cl(Y)) + rk (Cl(X))$   
=  $s + (r + 1 - q) - (r + 1 - t) + (n + m - t - s)$   
=  $n + m - q$ .

For the next observation, note that in Construction 5.1.1, we may remove successively maximal cones that are not X-relevant from the fan  $\Sigma$ . The result is a minimal fan  $\Sigma$  defining still the initial X. We call  $Z_{\Sigma}$  in this case the *minimal ambient toric variety* of X.

**Proposition 5.2.8.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Consider the sublattice  $L := \{0\} \times \mathbb{Z}^s \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^{t+s}$  corresponding to the inclusion  $\mathbb{T}^s \subseteq \mathbb{T}^{t+s}$  of tori and assume that  $Z_{\Sigma}$  is the minimal toric ambient variety of X.

(i) The normalization of the general  $\mathbb{T}^s$ -orbit closure of X is the toric variety defined by the fan  $\Sigma_L$  in L, where

$$\Sigma_L := \{ \tau; \ \tau \preccurlyeq (\sigma \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}}), \ \sigma \in \Sigma \}.$$

(ii) If the maximal orbit quotient  $\pi: X \dashrightarrow Y$  is a morphism, then  $\Sigma_L$  is a subfan of  $\Sigma$ .

*Proof.* As  $Z_{\Sigma}$  is the minimal toric embedding, the general  $\mathbb{T}^s$ -orbit closure of X equals the general  $\mathbb{T}^s$ -orbit closure of  $Z_{\Sigma}$ . This reduces the problem to standard toric geometry.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 5.2.9.** Let  $X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma)$  be as in 5.1.1 and 5.1.3. Assume that X is complete and  $\Sigma_L$  is a subfan of  $\Sigma$ . Then we have

$$\operatorname{rk}\left(\operatorname{Cl}(X)\right) - \operatorname{rk}\left(\operatorname{Cl}(Y)\right) > n - r - 1.$$

*Proof.* According to Proposition 5.2.8, the general  $\mathbb{T}^s$ -orbit closure of X has divisor class group of rank m - s > 0. Thus, the assertion follows from

$$\operatorname{rk}\left(\operatorname{Cl}(X)\right) = n + m - t - s, \qquad \operatorname{rk}\left(\operatorname{Cl}(Y)\right) = r + 1 - t.$$

We conclude the section by producing an explicit example of a Mori dream space with torus action via Construction 5.1.1.

**Example 5.2.10.** Consider the surface  $Y := \mathbb{P}_1 \times \mathbb{P}_1$ . Then we have  $\operatorname{Cl}(Y) = \mathbb{Z}^2$  and the Cox ring of Y is the polynomial ring  $\mathbb{K}[T_0, T_1, T_2, T_3]$ , where the  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ -grading is given by

$$\deg(T_0) = \deg(T_1) = (1,0), \qquad \deg(T_2) = \deg(T_3) = (0,1)$$

Consider the redundant system  $\alpha = (f_0, \ldots, f_5)$  of generators for  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  consisting of  $f_i := T_i$  for  $i = 0, \ldots, 3$  and the canonical sections of the diagonals

$$f_4 := T_0 T_3 - T_1 T_2, \qquad f_5 := T_0 T_2 - T_1 T_3,$$

both being of degree (1, 1). A matrix *B* of relations between the degrees of generators  $f_0, \ldots, f_5$  is given by

$$B := \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then Y is embedded into the toric variety  $Z_{\Delta}$ , the fan  $\Delta$  of which lives in  $\mathbb{Z}^4$  and has the following four cones as its maximal ones

$$\operatorname{cone}(v_i, v_j, v_k, v_4, v_5), \qquad 0 \le i \le j \le k \le 3,$$

where  $v_i$  denotes the *i*-th column of *B*. Note that *Y* is given in Cox coordinates by the equation  $f_4 = f_0 f_3 - f_1 f_2$  and  $f_5 = f_0 f_2 - f_1 f_3$ . To build the variety *X*, consider the matrix

$$P := \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 2 & 0 \\ \hline -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 2 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

obtained from B by firstly doubling the last column, then multiplying its last and third last columns with 2, adding a zero column and, after that, adding two new rows as d, d' part. We gain polynomials by modifying the variables of the describing relations of  $Y \subseteq Z_{\Delta}$  accordingly to the column modifications:

$$g_1 := T_{41}^2 - T_{01}T_{31} + T_{11}T_{21}, \qquad \qquad g_2 := T_{51}T_{52}^2 - T_{01}T_{21} + T_{11}T_{31},$$

By construction, the polynomials  $g_i$  are homogeneous with respect to the grading of  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_1]$  given by

$$\deg(T_{ij}) := Q(e_{ij}) \in K, \qquad \deg(S_1) := Q(e_1) \in K,$$

where  $Q: \mathbb{Z}^8 \to K := \mathbb{Z}^8/\operatorname{im}(P^*) \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$ , is the projection and  $e_{ij}, e_1 \in \mathbb{Z}^8$  are the canonical basis vectors, numbered according to the variables  $T_{ij}$  and  $S_1$ . Let  $\Sigma = \Sigma(u)$  in  $\mathbb{Z}^6$  be the normal fan of the polytope

$$(P^*)^{-1}(Q^{-1}(u)\cap\gamma)-e) \subseteq \mathbb{Q}^6,$$

where  $u := (8, -4) \in K$  and  $e \in \mathbb{Z}^8$  is any point with Q(e) = u. Then  $\Sigma$  has the columns of P as its primitive generators. Moreover, the projection  $\mathbb{Z}^8 \to \mathbb{Z}^6$  onto the first six coordinates sends the rays of  $\Sigma$  into the rays of  $\Delta$ . This gives a rational toric map  $\pi: Z_{\Sigma} \dashrightarrow Z_{\Delta}$ . Now, define a variety

$$X = X(\alpha, P, \Sigma) := \overline{\pi^{-1}(Y \cap \mathbb{T}^4)} \subseteq Z_{\Sigma}.$$

Then X is invariant under the action of the subtors  $\mathbb{T} := (1, 1, 1, 1, \mathbb{K}^*, \mathbb{K}^*)$  of the acting torus  $\mathbb{T}^6$  of  $Z_{\Sigma(u)}$ . The  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety X is normal, of dimension four with divisor class group and Cox ring given by

$$\operatorname{Cl}(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2, \qquad \mathcal{R}(X) = \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_1]/\langle g_1, g_2 \rangle,$$

where the grading of the Cox ring is the one given above. This involves application of Proposition 5.1.3; the necessary assumptions are directly verified. Now, applying for instance Propositions 5.2.3, 5.2.5 and 5.2.7, we obtain that X is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -factorial Fano variety of Gorenstein index 30.

**Example 5.2.11.** We show how to retrieve the description of rational *T*-varieties of complexity one provided in Chapter 2 via Construction 5.1.1.

Type 1. We have  $Y = \mathbb{K}$ . Then  $\operatorname{Cl}(Y) = \{0\}$  and  $\mathcal{R}(Y) = \mathbb{K}[T]$  hold. As a system of Cox ring generators, take  $\alpha = (f_0, \ldots, f_r)$ , where  $f_i = T - a_i$  with  $a_i \in \mathbb{K}$ . Then Construction 5.1.1 succeeds with the unit matrix  $B = E_{r+1}$  and the relations

$$h_i = S_i - S_{i+1} - (a_i - a_{i+1}) \in \mathbb{K}[S_0, \dots, S_r], \quad i = 0, \dots, r-1.$$

Type 2. We have  $Y = \mathbb{P}_1$ . Then  $\operatorname{Cl}(Y) = \mathbb{Z}$  holds and the Cox ring is  $\mathcal{R}(Y) = \mathbb{K}[T_1, T_2]$  with the classical grading. As a system of Cox ring generators, take  $\alpha = (f_0, \ldots, f_r)$ , where  $f_i := a_{i1}T_1 + a_{i2}T_2$  and  $[a_{i1} : a_{i2}] \in \mathbb{P}_1$  are pairwise different points for  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ . The matrix

 $B = [e_0, e_1, \dots, e_r], \qquad e_0 := -e_1 - \dots - e_r$ 

defines the fan  $\Delta$  of the projective space  $Z_{\Delta} = \mathbb{P}_r$  and Construction 5.1.1 succeeds with the relations

$$h_i := \det \begin{bmatrix} a_{i,1} & a_{i+1,1} & a_{i+2,1} \\ a_{i,2} & a_{i+1,2} & a_{i+2,2} \\ S_i & S_{i+1} & S_{i+2} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then one has to verify the assumptions of Proposition 5.1.3 for both types. Together with Theorem 5.1.4, this basically gives the desired results.

#### 5.3 Arrangement varieties

We use the results of Section 5.1 to produce all  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties X with maximal orbit quotient  $X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}_c$  such that the doubling divisors form a general hyperplane arrangement in the projective space  $\mathbb{P}_c$ . This leads to a natural and direct extension of the Cox ring based approach to complete rational  $\mathbb{T}$ -varieties of complexity one developed in [45, 49, 44, 6]. The resulting Cox rings  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  allow a direct description. We proceed by presenting and discussing the Cox rings first and then see how the varieties X arise via Construction 5.1.1.

**Construction 5.3.1.** Fix integers  $r \ge c > 0$  and  $n_0, \ldots, n_r > 0$  as well as  $m \ge 0$ . Set  $n := n_0 + \ldots + n_r$ . The input data is a pair  $(A, P_0)$ , where

- A is a  $(c+1) \times (r+1)$  matrix over  $\mathbb{K}$  such that any c+1 of its columns  $a_0, \ldots, a_r$  are linearly independent,
- $P_0$  is an integral  $r \times (n+m)$  matrix built from tuples of positive integers  $l_i = (l_{i1}, \ldots, l_{in_i})$ , where  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , as follows

$$P_0 := \begin{bmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots\\ -l_0 & 0 & & l_r & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Write  $\mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k]$  for the polynomial ring in the variables  $T_{ij}$ , where  $i = 0, \ldots, r, j = 1, \ldots, n_i$ , and  $S_k$ , where  $k = 1, \ldots, m$ . Every  $l_i$  defines a monomial

$$T_i^{l_i} := T_{i1}^{l_{i1}} \cdots T_{in_i}^{l_{in_i}} \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k].$$

Moreover, for every t = 1, ..., r-c, we obtain a polynomial  $g_t$  by computing the following  $(c+2) \times (c+2)$  determinant

$$g_t := \det \begin{bmatrix} a_0 & \dots & a_c & a_{c+t} \\ T_0^{l_0} & \dots & T_c^{l_c} & T_{c+t}^{l_{c+t}} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k].$$

Now, let  $e_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  and  $e_k \in \mathbb{Z}^m$  denote the canonical basis vectors and consider the projection

$$Q_0: \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K_0 := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} / \operatorname{im}(P_0^*)$$

onto the factor group by the row lattice of  $P_0$ . Then the  $K_0$ -graded  $\mathbb{K}$ -algebra associated with  $(A, P_0)$  is defined by

$$R(A, P_0) := \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k] / \langle g_1, \dots, g_{r-c} \rangle,$$
$$\deg(T_{ij}) := Q_0(e_{ij}), \qquad \deg(S_k) := Q_0(e_k).$$

We list the basic properties of the resulting graded algebra. Recall that a grading of a  $\mathbb{K}$ -algebra  $R = \bigoplus_K R_w$  by a finitely generated abelian group is *effective* if the weights  $w \in K$  with  $R_w \neq \{0\}$  generate K as a group and *pointed*, if  $R_0 = \mathbb{K}$  holds and  $R_w \neq \{0\} \neq R_{-w}$  is only possible for torsion elements  $w \in \mathbb{K}$ . Finally, we say that the grading is of *complexity* c if dim $(R) - \operatorname{rk}(K) = c$  holds.

**Theorem 5.3.2.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a  $K_0$ -graded  $\mathbb{K}$ -algebra arising from Construction 5.3.1. Then  $R(A, P_0)$  is an integral, normal, complete intersection ring satisfying

$$\dim(R(A, P_0)) = n + m - r + c, \qquad R(A, P_0)^* = \mathbb{K}^*.$$

The  $K_0$ -grading of  $R(A, P_0)$  is effective, pointed, factorial and of complexity c. The variables  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$  define pairwise nonassociated  $K_0$ -primes in  $R(A, P_0)$ , and for  $c \ge 2$ , they define even primes.

The following auxiliary statements for the proof of this theorem are also used later. We begin with discussing the specific nature of the matrix A and its impact on the ideal of relations of R(A, P).

**Remark 5.3.3.** Situation as in Construction 5.3.1. For any tuple  $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_{c+2})$  of strictly increasing integers from [0, r], consider the matrix

$$A(I) := [a_{i_1}, \dots, a_{i_{c+2}}],$$

Let  $w(I) \in \mathbb{K}^{c+2}$  denote the cross product of the rows of A(I) and define a vector  $v(I) \in \mathbb{K}^{r+1}$  by putting the entries of w(I) at the right places:

$$v(I)_i := \begin{cases} w(I)_j, & i = i_j \text{ occurs in } I = (i_1, \dots, i_{c+2}), \\ 0, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Then any linearly independent choice of vectors  $v(I_1), \ldots, v(I_{r-c})$  is a basis for ker(A). Note that any non-zero  $v \in \text{ker}(A)$  has at least c+2 non-zero coordinates.

**Remark 5.3.4.** Situation as in Construction 5.3.1. Every vector  $v \in \ker(A) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{r+1}$  defines a polynomial

$$g_v := v_0 T_0^{l_0} + \ldots + v_r T_r^{l_r} \in \langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c} \rangle$$

Moreover, if a subset  $B \subseteq \ker(A)$  generates  $\ker(A)$  as a vector space, then the polynomials  $g_v, v \in B$ , generate the ideal  $\langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c} \rangle$ . In particular, we have

$$\langle g_1, \dots, g_{r-c} \rangle = \langle g_{v(I)}; I = (i_1, \dots, i_{c+2}), 0 \le i_1 < \dots < i_{c+2} \le r \rangle,$$

with the tuples I from Remark 5.3.3. Observe that each  $g_v$ ,  $0 \neq v \in \ker(A)$ , has at least c+2 of the monomials  $T_i^{l_i}$  and all the  $g_v$  share the same  $K_0$ -degree.

**Lemma 5.3.5.** Let  $R(A, P_0)$  be a graded algebra arising from Construction 5.3.1.

- (i) If we have  $l_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i} = 1$  for some *i*, then  $R(A, P_0)$  is isomorphic to a ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  with data r' = r 1 and c' = c.
- (ii) For any generator  $T_{ij}$ , the factor ring  $R(A, P_0)/\langle T_{ij}\rangle$  is isomorphic to a ring  $R(A', P'_0)$  with data r' = r 1 and c' = c 1.

*Proof.* To obtain (i), let A' be the matrix obtained by deleting the *i*-th column from A. Then the respective ideals defined by A and A' produce isomorphic rings. Adapting the matrix  $P_0$  accordingly, gives the desired  $P'_0$ .

We show (ii). As elementary row operations on A neither change the required properties of A nor the defining ideal of R(A, P), we may assume that  $a_{i1} \neq 0$  holds and all other entries of the *i*-th column of A equal zero. Then the matrix A' obtained by deleting the first row and the *i*-th column from A satisfies the assumptions of Construction 5.3.1 with r' = r - 1 and c' = c - 1. Using Remarks 5.3.3 and 5.3.4, we see that the ideal defined by A' corresponds to the defining ideal of  $R(A, P_0)/\langle T_{ij} \rangle$ . Again, adapting the matrix  $P_0$  accordingly, gives the desired  $P'_0$ .

**Lemma 5.3.6.** Situation as in Construction 5.3.1. Let us say that a point  $z \in \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  with coordinates  $z_{ij}$ ,  $z_k$  is of

- big type, if for every i = 0, ..., r, there is an index  $1 \le j_i \le n_i$  such that  $z_{ij_i} = 0$  holds,
- leaf type, if there is a set  $I_z = \{i_1, \ldots, i_c\}$  of indices  $0 \le i_1 < \ldots < i_c \le r$ , such that for all i, j, we have  $z_{ij} = 0 \Rightarrow i \in I_z$ .

If  $z \in \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  is of one of these types, then also all translates  $t \cdot z$ , where  $t \in \mathbb{T}^{n+m}$ , are so. Moreover, for  $\overline{X} = V(g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  we have the following statements.

- (i) Every point  $z \in \overline{X}$  is of big type or of leaf type.
- (ii) Every  $z \in \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  of big type is contained in  $\overline{X}$ .
- (iii) For every  $z \in \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  of leaf type, there is a  $t \in \mathbb{T}^{n+m}$  with  $t \cdot z \in \overline{X}$ .

*Proof.* To obtain (i), we have to show that any  $z \in \overline{X}$  which is not of big type must be of leaf type. Otherwise, there are indices  $i_1 < \ldots < i_{c+1}$  and associated  $j_q$  with  $z_{i_q j_q} = 0$ . As z is not of big type, there is at least one index  $i_0$  with  $z_{i_0 j} \neq 0$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, n_{i_0}$ . Remarks 5.3.3 and 5.3.4 provide us with a relation  $g \in \langle g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c} \rangle$  involving precisely the monomials  $T_i^{l_i}$  for  $i = i_0, i_1, \ldots, i_{c+1}$ . Then g(z) = 0 implies  $z_{i_0 j} = 0$  for some  $j = 1, \ldots, n_{i_0}$ ; a contradiction.

We verify (ii) and (iii). Let  $z \in \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$ . If z is of big type, then we obviously have  $g_i(z) = 0$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, r - c$ . Thus,  $z \in \overline{X}$ . Now, assume that z is of leaf type. First consider the case  $I_z = \{1, \ldots, c\}$ . Then, suitably scaling  $z_{c+1,1}$ , we achieve  $g_1(z) = 0$ . Next we scale  $z_{c+2,1}$  to ensure  $g_2(z) = 0$ , and so on, until we have also  $g_{r-c}(z) = 0$ . Then we have found our  $t \in \mathbb{T}^{n+m}$  with  $t \cdot z \in \overline{X}$ . Given an arbitrary  $I_z$ , Remarks 5.3.3 and 5.3.4 yield a suitable system  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_{r-c}$  of ideal generators that allows us to argue analogously.

**Lemma 5.3.7.** Situation as in Construction 5.3.1. Let  $\overline{X} = V(g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$ and denote by J the Jacobian of  $g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}$ . Then, for any  $z \in \overline{X}$ , the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) The Jacobian J(z) is not of full rank, i.e., we have  $\operatorname{rk}(J(z)) < r c$ .
- (ii) The point  $z \in \overline{X}$  is of big type and there are  $i_1 < \ldots < i_{c+2}$  such that each of these  $i_q$  fulfills one of the subsequent two conditions:
  - $z_{i_q j_q} = 0$  and  $l_{i_q j_q} \ge 2$  hold for at least one  $1 \le j_q \le n_{i_q}$ ,
  - $z_{i_q j} = 0$  and  $l_{i_q j} = 1$  hold for at least two  $1 \le j \le n_{i_q}$ .

In particular, the set of points  $z \in \overline{X}$  with J(z) not of full rank is of codimension at least c+1 in  $\overline{X}$ .

*Proof.* Assertion (ii) directly implies the supplement and, by a simple computation, also (i). We are left with proving "(i) $\Rightarrow$ (ii)". So, let  $z \in \overline{X}$  be a point such that J(z) is not of full rank. Then there is a non-trivial linear combination annulating the lines of J(z):

$$\eta_1 \operatorname{grad}(g_1)(z) + \ldots + \eta_{r-c} \operatorname{grad}(g_{r-c})(z) = 0.$$

The corresponding  $g := \eta_1 g_1 + \ldots + \eta_{r-c} g_{r-c}$  satisfies  $\operatorname{grad}(g)(z) = 0$  and is of the form  $g = g_v$  with a non-zero  $v \in \ker(A)$  as in Remark 5.3.4. The condition  $\operatorname{grad}(g)(z) = 0$  implies  $z_{ij_i} = 0$  for some  $1 \leq j_i \leq n_i$  whenever the monomial  $T_i^{l_i}$  shows up in g. As observed in Remark 5.3.4, the polynomial g has at least c+2 monomials. Thus, we have  $z_{ij_i} = 0$  for at least c+2 different i. By Lemma 5.3.6, the point  $z \in \overline{X}$  is of big type. Moreover, the two conditions of (ii) reflect the fact  $\operatorname{grad}(g)(z) = 0$ .

Proof of Theorem 5.3.2. For c = 1, the statement is proven in [44, Thm. 1.1 and Prop. 2.2]. So, assume  $c \ge 2$ . First we show that  $\overline{X} = V(g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}) \subseteq \mathbb{K}^{n+m}$  is connected. By construction, the quasitorus  $H_0 \subseteq \mathbb{T}^{n+m}$  is the kernel of the homomorphism  $\mathbb{T}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{T}^r$  defined by  $P_0$ . Consider the multiplicative one-parameter subgroup  $\mathbb{K}^* \to H_0, t \mapsto (t^{\zeta}, t^{\xi})$ , where

$$\zeta = \left(\frac{n_0 \cdots n_r l_{01} \cdots l_{rn_r}}{n_0 l_{01}}, \dots, \frac{n_0 \cdots n_r l_{01} \cdots l_{rn_r}}{n_r l_{rn_r}}\right) \in \mathbb{T}^n, \quad \xi = (1, \dots, 1) \in \mathbb{T}^m.$$

This gives rise to a  $\mathbb{K}^*$ -action on  $\overline{X}$  having the origin as an attractive fixed point. Consequently,  $\overline{X}$  is connected. Moreover, we can conclude that all invertible functions as well as all  $H_0$ -invariant functions are constant on  $\overline{X}$ .

Now, Lemma 5.3.7 allows us to apply Serre's criterion and thus we obtain that  $R(A, P_0)$  is an integral, normal, complete intersection. By construction, the  $K_0$ -grading is effective and as seen above, it is pointed. To obtain factoriality of the  $K_0$ -grading, localize  $R(A, P_0)$  by the product over all generators  $T_{ij}$ ,  $S_k$ , observe that the degree zero part of the resulting ring is a polynomial ring and apply [12, Thm. 1.1]. Finally, primeness of the generators  $T_{ij}$  follows from Lemma 5.3.5 (i).

**Construction 5.3.8.** Let  $(A, P_0)$  be input data as in Construction 5.3.1. Moreover, fix  $1 \leq s \leq n + m - r$  and let d be an integral  $s \times (n + m)$  matrix such that the columns  $v_{ij}, v_k$  of the  $(r + s) \times (n + m)$  stack matrix

$$P := \left[ \begin{array}{c} P_0 \\ d \end{array} \right]$$

are pairwise different, primitive and generate  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s}$  as a vector space. Consider the factor group  $K := \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\operatorname{im}(P^*)$ . Then the projection  $Q \colon \mathbb{Z}^{n+m} \to K$  factors through  $Q_0$  and we obtain the K-graded K-algebra associated with (A, P):

$$R(A, P) := \mathbb{K}[T_{ij}, S_k] / \langle g_1, \dots, g_{r-c} \rangle,$$
$$\deg(T_{ij}) := w_{ij} := Q(e_{ij}), \qquad \deg(S_k) := w_k := Q(e_k).$$

Now, let  $\Sigma$  be any fan in  $\mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$  having precisely the rays through the columns of P as its one-dimensional cones and let Z be the associated toric variety. Then we have a commutative diagram

$$V(g_1, \dots, g_{r-c}) = \overline{X} \subseteq \overline{Z} = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}$$

$$() \qquad () \qquad ()$$

$$\widehat{X} \subseteq \widehat{Z}$$

$$/\!\!/ H \Big|_{V} \qquad () /\!\!/ H$$

$$X \subseteq Z$$

$$| \qquad |$$

$$\mathbb{P}_c \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}_r$$

with the quasitorus  $H = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[K]$ , the toric Cox construction  $\widehat{Z} \to Z$  and the induced quotient  $\widehat{X} \to X$ , where  $\widehat{Z} := \overline{X} \cap \widehat{Z}$ . The resulting variety  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  is normal with dimension, invertible functions, divisor class group and Cox ring given by

$$\dim(X) = s + c, \qquad \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}^*) = \mathbb{K}^*, \qquad \operatorname{Cl}(X) = K, \qquad \mathcal{R}(X) = R(A, P).$$

Moreover, the inclusion  $\mathbb{Z}^c \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^{s+c}$  defines a subtorus  $T \subseteq T_Z$  of the acting torus of Z leaving  $X \subseteq Z$  invariant and the induced T-action on X is effective and of complexity c. Finally, the dashed arrows indicate the maximal orbit quotients for the T-actions and  $\mathbb{P}_c \subseteq \mathbb{P}_r$  is the linear subspace given by

$$\mathbb{P}_c = V(h_1, \dots, h_{r-c}), \qquad h_t := \det \begin{bmatrix} a_0 & \dots & a_c & a_{c+t} \\ U_0 & \dots & U_c & U_{c+t} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{K}[U_0, \dots, U_r].$$

The doubling divisors of  $X_0 \to \mathbb{P}_c$  are precisely the intersection of  $\mathbb{P}_c$  with the coordinate hyperplanes of  $\mathbb{P}_r$  and thus form the general hyperplane arrangement

$$H_0, \ldots, H_c \subseteq \mathbb{P}_c, \qquad H_i := \{ z \in \mathbb{P}_c; a_{i0}z_0 + \ldots + a_{ic}z_c = 0 \}$$

**Remark 5.3.9.** Situation as in Construction 5.3.8. Then the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  of  $Y := \mathbb{P}_c$  is generated by the canonical sections  $f_i \in \mathcal{R}(Y)$  of the hyperplanes  $H_i \subseteq \mathbb{P}_c$ , where  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ . Enter Construction 5.1.1 with  $Y = \mathbb{P}_c$  and  $\alpha = (f_0, \ldots, f_r)$ . Set t := c and let  $\Delta \in \mathbb{Z}^t$  the standard fan of  $Y = \mathbb{P}_c$ , that means

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ -1 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then running Construction 5.1.1 leads to a variety  $X(\alpha, P, \Sigma) = X(A, P, \Sigma)$ , where the  $(c+1) \times (r+1)$  matrix A has the normal vectors  $a_i \in \mathbb{K}^{c+1}$  of the hyperplanes  $H_i \subseteq \mathbb{P}_c$  as its columns. This verifies in particular all claims made in Construction 5.3.8.

**Remark 5.3.10.** According to Lemma 5.3.5 (i), we may always assume that the defining data P of Construction 5.3.8 is *irredundant* in the sense that  $l_{i0} + \ldots + l_{in_i} \ge 2$  holds for every  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ . In this case, we also say that  $X(A, P, \Sigma)$  is *irredundant*.

**Definition 5.3.11.** By an arrangement variety we mean a normal projective  $\mathbb{T}$ -variety X with only constant invertible global functions and maximal orbit quotient  $\pi: X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}_c$  such that the doubling divisors  $C_0, \ldots, C_r \subseteq \mathbb{P}_c$  form a general hyperplane arrangement.

**Theorem 5.3.12.** Let X be an  $A_2$ -maximal arrangement variety. Then X is  $\mathbb{T}$ -equivariantly isomorphic to some  $X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arising from Construction 5.3.8.

*Proof.* Take the canonical sections of the doubling divisors on the maximal orbit quotient  $Y = \mathbb{P}_c$  as generators of the Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(Y)$  and enter Construction 5.1.1. As outlined in the proof of Theorem 5.1.4, this reproduces  $X = X(\alpha, P)$ . Thus, Remark 5.3.9 gives the assertion.

### 5.4 Examples and first properties

We begin with two example classes. First, in Example 5.4.1, we show how intrinsic quadrics arise as arrangement varieties. Second, in Examples 5.4.2 and 5.4.14, we exhibit a series of arrangement varieties producing many smooth Fano examples. Then, we provide basic structural properties of arrangement varieties, also needed in the subsequent sections. Finally, as a first application, we show that the smooth projective arrangement varieties of Picard number one are just the classical smooth projective quadrics; see Proposition 5.4.15.

**Example 5.4.1.** An *intrinsic quadric* is a normal projective variety with a Cox ring defined by a single quadratic relation; see [18, 34]. From [34, Prop. 2.1], we infer that every intrinsic quadric admits a representation  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  in the sense of Construction 5.3.8 with a matrix P having left upper block

$$\begin{bmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ -l_0 & 0 & l_r \end{bmatrix}, \qquad l_0 = \ldots = l_q = (1,1), \quad l_{q+1} = \ldots = l_r = (2),$$

where  $-1 \leq q \leq r$  and the variables  $T_{i1}$  with  $i = q + 1, \ldots, r$  have pairwise distinct K-degrees. In particular, we obtain that intrinsic quadrics are arrangement varieties. Moreover, for the dimension of X, the rank of the divisor class group and the complexity of the torus action, we have

$$\dim(X) = r - 1 + s,$$
  $\operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{Cl}(X)) = m + q + 2 - s,$   $c = r - 1.$ 

**Example 5.4.2.** Fix integers  $r > c \ge 1$ . Consider the product  $Z = \mathbb{P}_r \times \mathbb{P}_r$  and the intersection  $X = V(g_1) \cap \ldots \cap V(g_{r-c}) \subseteq Z$  of the r-c divisors of bidegree (a, b) in Z given by

$$g_{1} = \lambda_{1,0}T_{01}^{a}T_{02}^{b} + \lambda_{1,1}T_{11}^{a}T_{12}^{b} + \ldots + \lambda_{1,c}T_{c1}^{a}T_{c2}^{b} + T_{c+1,1}^{a}T_{c+1,2}^{b},$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$g_{r-c} = \lambda_{r-c,0}T_{01}^{a}T_{02}^{b} + \lambda_{r-c,1}T_{11}^{a}T_{12}^{b} + \ldots + \lambda_{r-c,c}T_{c1}^{a}T_{c2}^{b} + T_{r1}^{a}T_{r2}^{b},$$

where a, b > 0 are coprime integers and any c + 1 of the vectors  $\lambda_i = (\lambda_{i,0}, \ldots, \lambda_{i,c})$  are linearly independent. Observe that for r > c + 1, the divisors  $V(g_i) \subseteq Z$  are singular. We have  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  in the sense of Construction 5.3.8, where the stack matrix Phas upper and lower blocks

$$P_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} -l_{0} & l_{1} & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ -l_{0} & 0 & l_{r} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad l_{0} = \dots = l_{r} = (a, b),$$
$$d = \begin{bmatrix} -d_{0} & d_{1} & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ -d_{0} & 0 & d_{r} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad d_{0} = \dots = d_{r} = (v, u),$$

where u and v are integers with ua - vb = 1. Observe that the toric ambient variety  $Z = Z_{\Sigma}$  is indeed the product  $\mathbb{P}_r \times \mathbb{P}_r$ . To see this, apply the following unimodular matrix to P from the left:

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \cdot E_r & -b \cdot E_r \\ -v \cdot E_r & a \cdot E_r \end{bmatrix}.$$

Moreover, X is of dimension r + c and comes with an effective r-torus action. The anticanonical class of X is given by

$$-\mathcal{K}_X = ((a-1)r - ac - 1, (b-1)r - bc - 1) \in \operatorname{Cl}(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2,$$

see Proposition 5.2.7. In particular, X is a Fano variety if and only if (a-1)r - ac > 1and (b-1)r - bc > 1 hold.

We begin with our collection of structural properties of arrangement varieties. The first one shows that there may occur inavoidable torsion in the divisor class group.

**Proposition 5.4.3.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Then the finite group  $\mathbb{Z}^r/\operatorname{im}(P_0)$  is a subgroup of the divisor class group  $\operatorname{Cl}(X)$ .

Proof. The divisor class group of X equals  $K = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\operatorname{im}(P^*)$ . Moreover,  $\mathbb{Z}^r/\operatorname{im}(P_0)$  is the torsion part  $K_0^{\text{tors}}$  of the factor group  $K_0 = \mathbb{Z}^{n+m}/\operatorname{im}(P_0^*)$ . Applying the snake Lemma to the exact sequences arising from  $P_0^*$  and  $P^*$  yields that the kernel of  $K_0 \to K$  injects into  $\mathbb{Z}^s$ . Consequently, the torsion part  $K_0^{\text{tors}}$  maps injectively into K.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 5.4.4.** Consider the setting of Construction 5.3.8 and let  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ . We say that the cone  $\sigma$  is

- (i) big (elementary big) if  $\sigma$  contains at least (precisely) one column  $v_{ij}$  of P for every  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ ,
- (ii) a *leaf cone* if there is a set  $I_{\sigma} = \{i_1, \ldots, i_c\}$  of indices  $0 \le i_1 < \ldots < i_c \le r$  such that for any i, we have  $v_{ij} \in \sigma \Rightarrow i \in I_{\sigma}$ .

**Proposition 5.4.5.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Then, for every  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The cone  $\sigma$  is X-relevant.
- (ii) The cone  $\sigma$  is big or a leaf cone.

*Proof.* Consider the face  $\gamma_0 \leq \gamma$  with  $P(\gamma_0^*) = \sigma$ . Then the points  $x \in \overline{X}(\gamma_0)$  are precisely those  $x \in \overline{X}$  satisfying  $x_{ij} = 0$  if and only if  $v_{ij} \in \sigma$ . The assertion thus follows from Lemma 5.3.6.

**Remark 5.4.6.** Consider the setting of Construction 5.3.8. Set  $L := \{0\} \times \mathbb{Z}^s$ . Then, for any  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) The cone  $\sigma$  is big,
- (ii) The projection  $\mathbb{Q}^{r+s} \to \mathbb{Q}^r$  maps  $\sigma$  onto  $\mathbb{Q}^r$ ,
- (iii) We have  $\sigma \not\subseteq L_{\mathbb{Q}}$  and  $\sigma^{\circ} \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}} \neq \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 5.4.7.** Consider the setting of Construction 5.3.8. Assume r > c. Set  $L := \{0\} \times \mathbb{Z}^s$  and let  $\Sigma_L$  be the fan in  $\mathbb{Z}^{r+s}$  consisting of all the faces of the cones  $\sigma \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}}$ , where  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ . Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i)  $\Sigma_L$  is a subfan of  $\Sigma$ .
- (ii)  $\Sigma$  contains no big cone.
- (iii)  $\Sigma$  consists of leaf cones.

*Proof.* The equivalence of (ii) and (iii) is clear by r > c. We prove "(i) $\Rightarrow$ (ii)". Assume that there is a big cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ . Then  $\sigma \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}}$  belongs to  $\Sigma_L$  but not to  $\Sigma$  according to 5.4.6 (iii); a contradiction. We turn to "(ii) $\Rightarrow$ (i)". The task is to show that for every cone  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , the intersection  $\sigma \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is a face of  $\sigma$ . Let  $\tau \preceq \sigma$  be the minimal face containing  $\sigma \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . Then  $\tau^{\circ} \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is non-empty. Since  $\tau \in \Sigma$  is not big, we can use 5.4.6 (iii) to conclude  $\tau \subseteq L_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . This means  $\sigma \cap L_{\mathbb{Q}} = \tau$ .

**Proposition 5.4.8.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that P is irredundant, X is locally factorial,  $\Sigma$  consists of leaf cones and each of the sets  $cone(v_{i1}) + L_{\mathbb{O}}$  is covered by cones of  $\Sigma$ . Then  $n_i \geq 2$  holds for all  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ .

Proof. Assume that  $n_i = 1$  holds for some *i*. Let  $\rho$  denote the ray through  $v_{i1}$  and consider the cone  $\tau := \rho + L_{\mathbb{Q}}$ . We claim that for every  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ , the intersection  $\tau \cap \sigma$  is a face of  $\sigma$ . Indeed, as  $\Sigma$  consists of leaf cones, the image of  $\operatorname{pr}(\sigma)$  under the projection  $\operatorname{pr}: \mathbb{Q}^{r+s} \to \mathbb{Q}^r$  is a pointed cone, having  $\operatorname{pr}(\rho)$  as an extremal ray. Thus,  $\tau = \operatorname{pr}^{-1}(\operatorname{pr}(\rho))$  cuts out a face from  $\sigma$ .

By our assumptions, the above claim implies that  $\tau = \rho + L_{\mathbb{Q}}$  is a union of cones of  $\Sigma$ . Any cone of  $\Sigma \setminus \Sigma_L$  contained in  $\tau$  is necessarily of the form  $\rho + \sigma_L \in \Sigma$  with  $\sigma_L \in \Sigma_L$ . We conclude that in particular all the cones  $\sigma = \rho + \sigma_L$ , where dim $(\sigma_L) = s$ , must belong to  $\Sigma$ . As  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma_L$  are leaf cones, they are X-relevant by Proposition 5.4.10. Thus, Proposition 5.2.4 yields that  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma_L$  are regular. This implies  $l_{i1} = 1$ ; a contradiction to the assumption that P is irredundant.

**Corollary 5.4.9.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that X is non-toric, projective, locally factorial and that  $\Sigma$  consists of leaf cones. Then the Picard number of X satisfies

$$\rho(X) \ge r+3 \ge c+4.$$

*Proof.* Since X is non-toric, we may assume that P is irredundant with r > c. Moreover, as X is projective, we may assume that  $\Sigma$  is complete. Thus, Proposition 5.4.8 applies and we obtain  $n \ge 2r + 2$ . Then Corollary 5.2.9 yields the desired estimate.

**Proposition 5.4.10.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that X is Q-factorial. If  $\Sigma$  admits a big cone, then it admits an elementary big cone.

*Proof.* Let  $\sigma \in \Sigma$  be a big cone. Then  $\sigma$  is X-relevant according to Proposition 5.4.10. Proposition 5.2.3 tells us that  $\sigma$  is simplicial. Now, any elementary big face of  $\sigma$  is as wanted.
**Corollary 5.4.11.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that X is non-toric, projective and locally factorial. If X is of Picard number  $\rho(X) \leq c+3$ , then  $\Sigma$  admits an elementary big cone.

**Definition 5.4.12.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. We say that X is *quasismooth* if for every X-relevant face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$ , the set  $\overline{X}(\gamma_0) \subseteq \overline{X}$  consists of smooth points of  $\overline{X}$ .

**Proposition 5.4.13.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that P is irredundant, X is quasismooth and  $\sigma = \operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0} + \ldots + v_{rj_r})$  is an elementary big cone of  $\Sigma$ .

- (i) We have  $l_{ij_i} \ge 2$  for at most c + 1 different  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ .
- (ii) We have  $n_i = 1$  for at most c + 1 different  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ .

Proof. We have  $\sigma = P(\gamma_0^*)$  with an X-relevant face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$ . Since X is quasismooth, every  $z \in \overline{X}(\gamma_0)$  is a smooth point of  $\overline{X}$  and thus the Jacobian J(z) is of full rank. Because of  $z_{ij_i} = 0$  for every  $i = 0, \ldots, r$ , Lemma 5.3.7 implies that  $l_{ij_i} \ge 2$  or  $n_i \ge 2$ can hold for at most c + 1 different i.

**Example 5.4.14.** We continue Example 5.4.2. Note that suitably renumbering the variables we achieve  $a \ge b$ . Then X is smooth if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied.

- (i) We have r = c + 1,  $a \ge 1$  and b = 1.
- (ii) We have r = c + 2 and a = b = 1 holds.

Indeed, one first checks that  $\operatorname{cone}(v_{0j_0}, \ldots, v_{rj_r})$ , where  $\{j_0, \ldots, j_r\}$  equals  $\{1, 2\}$ , are precisely the elementary big cones of  $\Sigma$ . Then Lemma 5.3.7 (ii) and Proposition 5.4.13 verify the claim.

**Proposition 5.4.15.** Let X be a non-toric, smooth, projective arrangement variety of Picard number one. Then X is a quadric  $V(T_0^2 + \ldots + T_r^2) \subseteq \mathbb{P}_r$ .

*Proof.* According to Theorem 5.3.12, we may assume  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  is as in Construction 5.3.8. Moreover, we may assume that P is irredundant and  $n_0 \ge \ldots \ge n_r$  holds. Finally, we have  $K_{\mathbb{Q}} = \mathbb{Q}$  and may assume that the effective cone of X is  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ge 0}$ .

First we show that m = 0 holds. Otherwise, consider the X-relevant face  $\gamma_1 = \operatorname{cone}(e_1) \preceq \gamma$ . Smoothness of X implies that the Jacobian of  $g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}$  does not vanish at the point  $x_1 \in \overline{X}(\gamma_1)$  having  $x_1 = 1$  as its only non-zero coordinate; see Proposition 5.2.4. This implies  $l_{i1} + \ldots + l_{in_i} = 1$  for some *i*, contradicting irredundance of *P*.

According to Corollary 5.4.11, the fan  $\Sigma$  admits an elementary big cone. Proposition 5.4.13 tells us  $n_0 \geq 2$ . Thus  $\gamma_{0j} = \operatorname{cone}(e_{0j}) \preceq \gamma$  is an X-relevant face. Proposition 5.2.4 yields that  $\operatorname{deg}(T_{0j})$  generates K. We conclude  $K = \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\operatorname{deg}(T_{0j}) = 1$ . Additionally, smoothness of  $X(\gamma_{01})$  implies that  $\operatorname{grad}(g_1)(x) \neq 0$  holds for every point  $x \in \overline{X}(\gamma_{01})$ . We conclude  $n_0 = 2$  and  $\operatorname{deg}(g_1) = 2$ . This implies  $\operatorname{deg}(T_{ij}) = 1$  and for all i, j, we obtain  $l_{ij} = 1$  or  $l_{ij} = 2$  according to  $n_i = 2$  or  $n_i = 1$ .

Finally, observe that c = r - 1 holds, i.e., that there is only one defining relation. Indeed, otherwise, we find generators  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_{r-c}$ , each involving precisely c + 2 monomials and  $g'_{r-c}$  all different from  $T_0^{l_0}$ . Then the corresponding Jacobian vanishes at any  $x \in \overline{X}(\gamma_{01})$ , showing that  $X(\gamma_{01})$  is singular. A contradiction.

**Remark 5.4.16.** Consider  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  as in Construction 5.3.8 such that X is smooth, projective, of Picard number one and P is irredundant. By Proposition 5.4.15, the divisor class group Cl(X) is torsion free. Thus, Proposition 5.4.3 yields

$$P_0 = \begin{bmatrix} -l_0 & l_1 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ -l_0 & 0 & l_r \end{bmatrix}, \qquad l_0 = \dots = l_{r-1} = (1,1), \quad l_r = \begin{cases} (1,1), & n \text{ even}, \\ (2), & n \text{ odd}. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, the torus action on X is the action of the maximal torus of Aut(X) = O(n). In particular, the torus action on X is of complexity

$$c = \begin{cases} \frac{n}{2} - 2, & n \text{ even,} \\ \frac{n-1}{2} - 1, & n \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

CHAPTER
SIX

# CLASSIFICATION RESULTS FOR SMOOTH ARRANGEMENT VARIETIES WITH $\rho(X) = 2$

In this chapter we contribute to the classification of smooth Fano varieties. In the toric case classification was done up to dimension nine by work of V. Batyrev, M. Kreuzer, B. Nill, M. Øbro and A. Paffenholz [10, 11, 60, 73, 78]. Extending recent classification work in complexity one [35], we consider smooth arrangement varieties of Picard number at most two. For Picard number one, we obtained in Proposition 5.4.15 precisely the projective quadrics. The situation in Picard number two is much more ample: In Section 6.1 we derive constraints on the defining data and prove our classification results, which are listed in Section 6.2.

#### 6.1 Towards the classification

According to Theorem 5.3.12, we may assume that X arises from Construction 5.3.8. Here are first bounds on the defining data.

**Proposition 6.1.1.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8, where P is irredundant and we have  $n_0 \ge \ldots \ge n_r$ . Assume that X is smooth, projective of Picard number two and that the torus action is of complexity two. Then we have  $Cl(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$  and one of the following statements holds.

- (I) We have r = 3 and the tuple  $(n_0, n_1, n_2, n_3)$  together with the number m fits into one of the cases below, where  $n_0 \ge n_1 \ge 3$ :
  - $\begin{array}{ll} (a) & m \geq 0 \ and \ (n_0, n_1, 2, 2), \\ (b) & m \geq 0 \ and \ (n_0, 2, 2, 2), \\ (c) & m \geq 0 \ and \ (n_0, 2, 2, 1), \\ (d) & m = 0 \ and \ (3, 2, 1, 1), \\ (e) & m = 0 \ and \ (3, 1, 1, 1), \end{array} \begin{array}{ll} (f) & m \geq 0 \ and \ (2, 2, 2, 2), \\ (g) & m \geq 0 \ and \ (2, 2, 2, 1), \\ (h) & m \geq 0 \ and \ (2, 2, 1, 1), \\ (i) & m > 0 \ and \ (2, 1, 1, 1). \end{array}$

(II) We have r = 4 and m = 0 and the tuple  $(n_0, n_1, n_2, n_3, n_4)$  is one of

(2, 2, 2, 2, 2), (2, 2, 2, 2, 1), (2, 2, 2, 1, 1), (2, 2, 1, 1, 1).

The proposition is a direct consequence of the more general statements 6.1.5, 6.1.6 and 6.1.7, presented and proven below. As in the corresponding case of complexity one, elaborated, in [35], the idea is to extract bounding conditions on the defining data of Xfrom smoothness of suitable small strata  $X(\gamma_0) \subseteq X$ . The following applies to arbitrary  $X(A, P, \Sigma)$  and generalizes [35, Lemma 3.9].

**Lemma 6.1.2.** Situation as in Construction 5.3.8. Consider the orthant  $\gamma = \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{n+m}$ , its extremal rays  $\gamma_{ij} := \operatorname{cone}(e_{ij})$  and  $\gamma_k := \operatorname{cone}(e_k)$  and the two-dimensional faces

$$\gamma_{k_1,k_2} := \gamma_{k_1} + \gamma_{k_2}, \quad \gamma_{ij,k} := \gamma_{ij} + \gamma_k, \quad \gamma_{i_1j_1,i_2j_2} := \gamma_{i_1j_1} + \gamma_{i_2j_2}.$$

- (i) All  $\gamma_k$ , resp.  $\gamma_{k_1,k_2}$ , are  $\overline{X}$ -faces and each  $\overline{X}(\gamma_k)$ , resp.  $\overline{X}(\gamma_{k_1,k_2})$ , consists of singular points of  $\overline{X}$ .
- (ii) A given  $\gamma_{ij}$ , resp.  $\gamma_{ij,k}$ , is an  $\overline{X}$ -face if and only if  $n_i \geq 2$  holds. In that case,  $\overline{X}(\gamma_{ij})$ , resp.  $\overline{X}(\gamma_{ij,k})$ , consists of smooth points of  $\overline{X}$  if and only if r = c + 1,  $n_i = 2$  and  $l_{i,3-j} = 1$  hold.
- (iii) A given  $\gamma_{ij_1,ij_2}$  with  $j_1 \neq j_2$  is an  $\overline{X}$ -face if and only if  $n_i \geq 3$  holds. In that case,  $\overline{X}(\gamma_{ij_1,ij_2})$  consists of smooth points of  $\overline{X}$  if and only if r = c + 1,  $n_i = 3$  and  $l_{ij} = 1$  for the  $j \neq j_1, j_2$  hold.
- (iv) A given  $\gamma_{i_1j_1,i_2j_2}$  with  $i_1 \neq i_2$  is an  $\overline{X}$ -face if and only if we have either  $n_{i_1}, n_{i_2} \geq 2$ or  $n_{i_1} = n_{i_2} = 1$  and r = c + 1. In the former case  $\overline{X}(\gamma_{i_1j_1,i_2j_2})$  consists of smooth points of  $\overline{X}$  if and only if one of the following holds:
  - r = c + 1,  $n_{i_t} = 2$  and  $l_{i_t,3-j_t} = 1$  for  $a \ t \in \{1,2\}$ ,
  - r = c + 2,  $n_{i_1} = n_{i_2} = 2$ ,  $l_{i_1,3-j_1} = l_{i_2,3-j_2} = 1$ .

*Proof.* Lemmas 5.3.6 and 5.3.7 directly yield the assertions.

Observe that the above statements (iii), (iv) and (v) depend on the complexity c. To proceed, we have to figure out the X-relevant ones from the above  $\overline{X}$ -faces in our concrete situation. Propositions 5.2.3 and 5.2.5 lead to the following description.

**Remark 6.1.3.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that X is projective and has divisor class group Cl(X) of rank two. Then the effective cone of X is of dimension two and decomposes as

$$\operatorname{Eff}(X) = \tau^+ \cup \tau_X \cup \tau^-,$$

where  $\tau_X \subseteq \text{Eff}(X)$  is the ample cone,  $\tau^+$ ,  $\tau^-$  are closed cones not intersecting  $\tau_X$  and  $\tau^+ \cap \tau^-$  consists of the origin. Due to  $\tau_X \subseteq \text{Mov}(X)$ , each of the cones  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains at least two of the weights

$$w_{ij} = \deg(T_{ij}) = Q(e_{ij}), \qquad w_k = \deg(S_k) = Q(e_k).$$

Moreover, for every  $\overline{X}$ -face  $\{0\} \neq \gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  precisely one of the following inclusions holds:

$$Q(\gamma_0) \subseteq \tau^+, \qquad \tau_X \subseteq Q(\gamma_0)^\circ, \qquad Q(\gamma_0) \subseteq \tau^-.$$

The X-relevant faces are exactly the  $\overline{X}$ -faces  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$  with  $\tau_X \subseteq Q(\gamma_0)^\circ$ . Note that the ample cone  $\tau_X$  is of dimension two if and only if X is Q-factorial.

**Lemma 6.1.4.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8. Assume that X is projective and has divisor class group Cl(X) of rank two.

- (i) Suppose that X is Q-factorial. Then  $w_k \notin \tau_X$  holds for all  $1 \le k \le m$  and for all  $0 \le i \le r$  with  $n_i \ge 2$  we have  $w_{ij} \notin \tau_X$ , where  $1 \le j \le n_i$ .
- (ii) Suppose that X is quasismooth, m > 0 holds and there is  $0 \le i_1 \le r$  with  $n_{i_1} \ge 3$ . Then the  $w_{ij}, w_k$  with  $n_i \ge 3$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$  and  $k = 1, \ldots, m$  lie either all in  $\tau^+$  or all in  $\tau^-$ .
- (iii) Suppose that X is quasismooth and there is  $0 \le i_1 \le r$  with  $n_{i_1} \ge 4$ . Then the  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i \ge 4$  and  $j = 1, ..., n_i$  lie either all in  $\tau^+$  or all in  $\tau^-$ .
- (iv) Suppose that X is quasismooth and there exist  $0 \le i_1 < i_2 \le r$  with  $n_{i_1}, n_{i_2} \ge 3$ . Then the  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i \ge 3$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, n_i$  lie either all in  $\tau^+$  or all in  $\tau^-$ .
- (v) Suppose that X is quasismooth. Then  $w_1, \ldots, w_m$  lie either all in  $\tau^+$  or all in  $\tau^-$ .

*Proof.* Follow the lines of the proof of [35, Lemma 3.11], replacing [35, Lemma 3.9] with the more general Lemma 6.1.2.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 6.1.5.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8, where P is irredundant and  $n_0 \ge ... \ge n_r$  holds. Let X be non-toric, projective, quasismooth with divisor class group of rank two. Assume that m > 0 holds and that  $\Sigma$  admits an elementary big cone.

- (i) We have r = c + 1 and are in one of the following situations:
  - (a) We have  $n_0 = 2$  and there exist indices *i* and *j* such that  $n_i = 2$  holds and  $\gamma_{ij,k}$  is X-relevant for all k.
  - (b) We have  $n_0 \geq 3$  and there exist indices  $i_1 \neq i_2$  and  $j_1, j_2$  such that  $n_{i_1} = n_{i_2} = 2$  holds and  $\gamma_{i_1j_1,k}, \gamma_{i_2j_2,k}$  are X-relevant for all k.
- (ii) Assume c = 2. Then we have r = 3 and the constellation of the  $n_i$  is  $(n_0, n_1, 2, 2)$ ,  $(n_0, 2, 2, 2)$ ,  $(n_0, 2, 2, 1)$  (2, 2, 2, 2), (2, 2, 2, 1), (2, 2, 1, 1) or (2, 1, 1, 1), where  $n_0 \ge n_1 \ge 3$ .

Proof. Due to Lemma 6.1.4 (v), we may assume  $w_1, \ldots, w_m \in \tau^+$ . As X is non-toric we have at least one relation  $g_1$ . Thus,  $r \ge c+1$  holds and Proposition 5.4.13 (ii) yields  $n_0 \ge 2$ . Lemma 6.1.4 (i) says that none of the  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i \ge 2$  lies in  $\tau_X$ . Moreover, at least one of the  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i \ge 2$  lies in  $\tau^-$ ; otherwise, since all relations  $g_i$  share the same degree, we had  $w_{i1} \in \tau^+$  for all i with  $n_i = 1$ , meaning that  $\tau^-$  contains no weights at all; a contradiction. In particular, if  $n_0 = 2$  holds, then there exists a  $w_{ij} \in \tau^-$  with  $n_i = 2$  and all  $\gamma_{ij,k}$  are X-relevant. Assume  $n_0 \ge 3$ . Then Lemma 6.1.4 (ii) yields  $w_{ij} \in \tau^+$  whenever  $n_i \ge 3$ . Moreover, because all relations  $g_i$  have the same degree,  $w_{ij} \in \tau^+$  holds for all i with  $n_i = 1$ . Since  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights, we find  $i_1, i_2$  and  $j_1, j_2$  with  $n_{i_1} = n_{i_2} = 2$  and  $w_{i_1j_1}, w_{i_2j_2} \in \tau^-$ . Note that all  $\gamma_{i_1j_1,k}, \gamma_{i_2j_2,k}$  are X-relevant. Now, Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) yields r = c + 1. Thus, Assertion (i) is proven. Assertion (ii) is a direct consequence.

**Proposition 6.1.6.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  arise from Construction 5.3.8, where P is irredundant and  $n_0 \ge \ldots \ge n_r$  holds. Let X be non-toric, projective, quasismooth with divisor class group of rank two. Assume m = 0 holds and that  $\Sigma$  admits an elementary big cone.

- (i) We are in one of the following situations:
  - (a) We have r = c + 1,  $n_0 = 3 > n_1$  and there exists an index j such that  $\gamma_{01,0j}$  is X-relevant.
  - (b) We have r = c + 1 and there exist indices  $0 \le i_1 < i_2$  with  $n_{i_1} = n_{i_2} = 2$  and indices  $j_0, j_2$  such that  $\gamma_{0j_0, i_2j_2}$  is X-relevant.
  - (c) We have r = c + 2 and  $n_0 = n_1 = 2$  and there exist indices  $0 < i_1$  and  $j_0, j_1$  such that  $\gamma_{0j_0,i_1j_1}$  is X-relevant.
- (ii) Assume c = 2. Then the constellation of the  $n_i$  is one of the following, where  $n_0 \ge n_1 \ge 3$  holds:

 $\begin{aligned} r &= 3: \quad (n_0, n_1, 2, 2), (n_0, 2, 2, 2), (n_0, 2, 2, 1), (3, 2, 1, 1), (3, 1, 1, 1), \\ &\qquad (2, 2, 2, 2), (2, 2, 2, 1), (2, 2, 1, 1). \\ r &= 4: \quad (2, 2, 2, 2, 2), (2, 2, 2, 2, 1), (2, 2, 2, 1, 1), (2, 2, 1, 1, 1). \end{aligned}$ 

*Proof.* Only for the first assertion, there is something to show. As X is non-toric we have at least one relation  $g_1$  and conclude  $r \ge c+1$ . Moreover, Proposition 5.4.13 (ii) yields  $n_0 \ge 2$ . Finally, Lemma 6.1.4 (i) shows that none of the  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i \ge 2$  lies in  $\tau_X$ . We distinguish the following cases.

First, let  $n_0 \ge 4$  or  $n_0 = n_1 = 3$ . By Lemma 6.1.4 (iii) and (iv), we may assume  $w_{ij} \in \tau^+$ for all i with  $n_i \ge 3$ . Then  $w_{ij} \in \tau^+$  holds as well for all i with  $n_i = 1$ . Since  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights, there are  $i_1 < i_2$  and  $j_1, j_2$  with  $n_{i_1} = n_{i_2} = 2$  and  $w_{i_1j_1}, w_{i_2j_2} \in \tau^-$ . Observe that  $\gamma_{01,i_2j_2}$  is X-relevant. Moreover, Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) shows r = c + 1. We arrive at Case (b) of (i).

Next, let  $n_0 = 3 > n_1$ . If all weights  $w_{0j}$  lie either in  $\tau^+$  or in  $\tau^-$ , then we can argue as above and end up in Case (b) of (i). Otherwise,  $w_{01}$  and some  $w_{0j}$  for j = 2, 3 lie on different sides of  $\tau_X$ . Then  $\gamma_{01,0j}$  is X-relevant. Lemma 6.1.2 (iii) yields r = c + 1 and we are in Case (a) of (i).

Finally, let  $n_0 = 2$ . The common degree of  $g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}$  and hence all  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i = 1$ lie in precisely one of the cones  $\tau^+$ ,  $\tau^-$  or  $\tau_X$ , where we may assume that this is not  $\tau^-$ . Then no pair  $w_{i1}, w_{i2}$  lies in  $\tau^-$ . As there must be at least two weights in  $\tau^-$ , we conclude  $n_1 = 2$  and find the desired  $\gamma_{0j_0,1j_1}$ . Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) yields  $r \leq c+2$ . Thus, we are in one of the Cases (b) or (c) of (i).

**Corollary 6.1.7.** Let X be a smooth projective arrangement variety of Picard number two. Then we have  $Cl(X) = Pic(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

*Proof.* Corollary 5.4.11 tells us that  $\Sigma$  admits an elementary big cone. Thus Propositions 6.1.5 and 6.1.6 provide an X-relevant face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$ . Then the two weights stemming from  $\gamma_0$  generate K as a group. This implies  $\operatorname{Cl}(X) \cong K \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

The further proof of Theorems 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and 6.2.4 goes through the list of cases established in Proposition 6.1.1.

**Remark 6.1.8.** Let  $X = X(A, P, \Sigma)$  as in Construction 5.3.8. be smooth, projective and of Picard number two. Corollary 6.1.7 ensures  $Cl(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$  and we will write

$$\deg(T_{ij}) = Q(e_{ij}) = w_{ij} = (x_{ij}, y_{ij}) \in \mathbb{Z}^2,$$
$$\deg(T_k) = Q(e_k) = w_k = (x_k, y_k) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$$

for the weights. Moreover, the (common) degree of the relations  $g_1, \ldots, g_{r-c}$  will be denoted as  $\deg(g_i) = \mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . Recall that for each  $i = 0, \ldots, r$  we have

$$\mu_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} l_{ij} x_{ij}, \qquad \mu_2 = \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} l_{ij} y_{ij}.$$

Consider the decomposition of the effective cone  $\text{Eff}(X) = \tau^- \cup \tau_X \cup \tau^+$  from Remark 6.1.3. Choosing names suitably, we can fix the following orientation:



If a pair  $w, w' \in \mathbb{Q}^2$  is positively oriented, for instance  $w \in \tau^-$  and  $w' \in \tau^+$ , then  $\det(w, w')$  is positive. Moreover, if w, w' are the weights stemming from a twodimensional X-relevant face  $\gamma_0 \preccurlyeq \gamma$ , then we have  $\det(w, w') = 1$  by Proposition 5.2.4. In that case, we can achieve

$$w = (1,0), \qquad w' = (0,1)$$

by a suitable unimodular coordinate change on  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . Then w'' = (x'', 1) holds whenever w, w'' stems from a two-dimensional X-relevant face and, similarly, w'' = (1, y'') holds whenever w'', w' stems from a two-dimensional X-relevant face.

**Lemma 6.1.9.** In the situation of Proposition 6.1.1, consider the case r = 3,  $m \ge 0$ and  $n_0 \ge 3 > n_1 = n_2 = 2 \ge n_3$ . Then the following constellation of weights can't occur:

$$w_{01}, \ldots, w_{0n_0}, w_{12}, w_{22} \in \tau^+, \qquad w_{11}, w_{21} \in \tau^-.$$

*Proof.* We may assume  $w_{02}, \ldots, w_{0n_0}, w_{21} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{11})$ . Applying Remark 6.1.8 at first to  $\gamma_{01,11} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and then to all  $\gamma_{01,21}, \gamma_{22,11}, \gamma_{0j,11}, \gamma_{i,11} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ , where  $j = 1, \ldots, n_0$  and  $i = 1, \ldots, m$ , turns the degree matrix Q into the shape

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & \dots & x_{0n_0} \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & x_{12} \\ y_{21} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{31} & \dots & x_{3n_1} \\ y_{31} & \dots & y_{3n_1} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 & \dots & x_m \\ 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $x_{0j}, y_{21} \ge 0$  holds. Moreover,  $\gamma_{01,11}, \gamma_{01,21} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  implies  $l_{12} = l_{22} = 1$  due to Lemma 6.1.2 (iv). With  $\gamma_{21,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we infer  $y_{12} = 1 + y_{21}x_{12}$  from  $\det(w_{21}, w_{12}) = 1$ and, by the shape of Q, obtain

$$3 \leq l_{01} + \dots + l_{0n_0} = \mu_2 = y_{12} = 1 + y_{21}x_{12}.$$

We conclude  $x_{12} > 0$ . Using  $\gamma_{0j,21} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  gives  $\det(w_{21}, w_{0j}) = 1$  and thus  $x_{0j}y_{21} = 0$ . As the effective cone of X is pointed,  $w_{21} \in \tau^-$  implies  $y_{21} > 0$ . We arrive at  $x_{0j} = 0$  and thus  $\mu_1 = 0 = l_{11} + x_{12}$ . A contradiction to  $l_{11}, x_{12} > 0$ .

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(a).** We have r = 3,  $m \ge 0$  and  $n_0 \ge n_1 \ge 3 > n_2 = n_3 = 2$ . This setting allows no examples satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 6.2.1.

*Proof.* By Lemma 6.1.4 (iv) and (ii), we may assume that the weights  $w_{01}, \ldots, w_{0n_0}$ ,  $w_{11}, \ldots, w_{1n_1}$  and  $w_1, \ldots, w_m$  all lie in  $\tau^+$ . At least two other weights lie in  $\tau^-$ . Renumbering suitably, we arrive at  $w_{21}, w_{31} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{22}, w_{32} \in \tau^+$  because of  $\mu \in \tau^+$ . Thus, Lemma 6.1.9 gives the assertion.

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(b).** We have r = 3,  $m \ge 0$  and  $n_0 \ge 3 > n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 2$ . This gives the varieties Nos. 1 and 2 of Theorem 6.2.1.

*Proof.* We claim that each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains weights from  $w_{01}, \ldots, w_{0n_0}$ . Otherwise, due to Lemma 6.1.4 (i), we may assume that all  $w_{0j}$  lie in  $\tau^+$ . If m > 0 holds, Lemma 6.1.4 (ii) yields  $w_1, \ldots, w_m \in \tau^+$ . As  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights, we can achieve  $w_{11}, w_{21} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{12}, w_{22} \in \tau^+$  by suitable renumbering; note that  $w_{i1}, w_{i2} \in \tau^-$  is not possible for i = 1, 2, 3 because of  $\mu \in \tau^+$ . Lemma 6.1.9 then verifies the claim.

By the claim, we may assume  $w_{01}, w_{02} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{03} \in \tau^-$ . Lemma 6.1.4 (ii) shows m = 0 and Lemma 6.1.4 (iii) gives  $n_0 = 3$ . There must be at least one more weight in  $\tau^-$ , say  $w_{11}$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iii) to  $\gamma_{0j,03} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain  $l_{01} = l_{02} = 1$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to suitable  $\gamma_{0j,i_2j_2} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ , we obtain

$$l_{11} = l_{12} = l_{21} = l_{22} = l_{31} = l_{32} = 1.$$

We may assume  $w_{02} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{03})$ . Then, applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,03} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ and afterwards to  $\gamma_{01,11}, \gamma_{02,03} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & 1 & 1 & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{31} & x_{32} \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & y_{11} & y_{12} & y_{21} & y_{22} & y_{31} & y_{32} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that we have  $x_{02} \ge 0$  because of  $w_{02} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{03})$ . We distinguish the following three cases according to the possible positions of the weights  $w_{21}$  and  $w_{22}$ .

We have  $w_{21}, w_{22} \in \tau^-$ . Then  $\mu \in \tau^-$  holds and we may assume  $w_{31} \in \tau^-$ . Moreover, we have  $\gamma_{01,21}, \gamma_{01,22}, \gamma_{01,31} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and conclude

$$x_{21} = x_{22} = x_{31} = 1, \qquad \mu = (2, 2), \qquad x_{12} = x_{22} = x_{32} = 1.$$

The determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,21}, \gamma_{02,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  both equal one, which implies  $y_{21}x_{02} = 0$  and  $y_{22}x_{02} = 0$ . Because of  $y_{21} + y_{22} = \mu_2 = 2$ , we obtain

$$x_{02} = 0, \qquad l_{03} = \mu_1 = 2.$$

The considerations performed so far show that the defining relation  $g_1$  and the degree matrix Q are of the following shape:

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02}T_{03}^{2} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}T_{32},$$

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & | & a_{1} & 2 - a_{1} & | & a_{2} & 2 - a_{2} & | & a_{3} & 2 - a_{3} \end{bmatrix}$$

We claim that all  $w_{ij}$ , where i = 1, 2, 3, lie in  $\tau^-$ . That means that we have to show  $w_{12}, w_{32} \in \tau^-$ . Otherwise, if  $w_{12} \in \tau^+$  holds, then  $\gamma_{03,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  leads to

$$1 = \det(w_{03}, w_{12}) = a_1.$$

This implies  $w_{11} = w_{21} \in \tau^- \cap \tau^+$ , which is impossible. Analogously, one excludes  $w_{32} \in \tau^+$ . Thus, we may assume  $a_1 \leq a_2 \leq a_3$  and  $a_i \geq 2 - a_i$ . The latter implies  $a_i \geq 1$  and

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_X} = \operatorname{cone}((1, a_3), (0, 1)).$$

We have  $w_{21}, w_{22} \in \tau^+$ . Then we have  $\mu \in \tau^+$  and thus  $w_{12} \in \tau^+$ . Consequently  $\gamma_{03,12}, \gamma_{03,21}, \gamma_{21,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  holds and we conclude

$$y_{12} = y_{21} = y_{22} = 1, \qquad \mu_2 = 2, \qquad y_{11} = 1$$

Looking at the determinants associated with  $\gamma_{02,11}, \gamma_{11,21}, \gamma_{11,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we see  $x_{02} = x_{21} = x_{22} = 0$ . This gives  $l_{03} = \mu_1 = x_{21} + x_{22} = 0$ . A contradiction.

We have  $w_{21} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{22} \in \tau^+$ . Then we may assume  $w_{31} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{32} \in \tau^+$ , as otherwise, up to renumbering, we are in one of the preceding cases. Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,21}, \gamma_{01,31}, \gamma_{03,22}, \gamma_{03,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and using  $\mu_2 = 2$ , one obtains

$$x_{21} = x_{31} = y_{22} = y_{32} = 1,$$
  $y_{21} = y_{31} = 1.$ 

We claim  $y_{11} \neq 0$ . Otherwise,  $y_{12} = \mu_2 = 2$  holds. This implies  $\det(w_{03}, w_{12}) = 2$ , hence  $\gamma_{03,12} \notin \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and thus  $w_{12} \in \tau^-$ . Then  $\gamma_{01,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  leads to  $x_{12} = 1$  and  $\mu_1 = 2$ . Thus  $w_{22} = (1,1) = w_{21} \in \tau^-$ . A contradiction. Now,  $y_{11} \neq 0$  yields

$$x_{02} = x_{22} = x_{32} = 0, \qquad \mu = (1, 2), \qquad l_{03} = 1, \qquad x_{12} = 0.$$

due to  $\gamma_{11,02}, \gamma_{11,22}, \gamma_{11,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and homogeneity of the relation  $g_1$ . We conclude  $w_{12} = (0, y_{12}) \in \tau^+$  and  $\gamma_{03,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  shows  $y_{12} = 1$ . Finally,  $y_{11} = \mu_2 - y_{12} = 1$  holds. For the relation, the degree matrix and the ample cone this means

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02}T_{03} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}T_{32},$$

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & | & 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = cone((0, 1), (1, 1)).$$

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(c).** We have r = 3,  $m \ge 0$  and  $n_0 \ge 3 > n_1 = n_2 = 2 > n_1 = 1$ . This gives the variety No. 3 in the Theorems 6.2.1 and 6.2.2.

*Proof.* We claim that each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains weights from  $w_{01}, \ldots, w_{0n_0}$ . Otherwise, due to Lemma 6.1.4 (i), we may assume that all  $w_{0j}$  lie in  $\tau^+$ . Then we have  $\mu \in \tau^+$ and thus  $w_{31} \in \tau^+$ . If m > 0 holds, Lemma 6.1.4 (ii) yields  $w_1, \ldots, w_m \in \tau^+$ . As  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights, we can achieve  $w_{11}, w_{21} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{12}, w_{22} \in \tau^+$  by suitable renumbering; note that  $w_{i1}, w_{i2} \in \tau^-$  is not possible for i = 1, 2 because of  $\mu \in \tau^+$ . Lemma 6.1.9 then verifies the claim.

By the claim, we may assume  $w_{01}, w_{02} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{03} \in \tau^-$ . Lemma 6.1.4 (ii) shows m = 0 and Lemma 6.1.4 (iii) gives  $n_0 = 3$ . We claim that  $w_{i1}, w_{i2} \in \tau^+$  is not possible for i = 1, 2. Otherwise  $\mu \in \tau^+$  implies  $w_{31} \in \tau^+$  and there is no weight left to lie in  $\tau^-$ . Thus we may assume  $w_{11} \in \tau^-$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iii) to  $\gamma_{0j,03} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain  $l_{01} = l_{02} = 1$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to suitable  $\gamma_{0j,i_2j_2} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ , where  $n_{i_2} = 2$ , we obtain

$$l_{11} = l_{12} = l_{21} = l_{22} = 1.$$

We may assume  $w_{02} \in \text{cone}(w_{01}, w_{03})$ . Then applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,03}$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{01,11}, \gamma_{02,03} \in \text{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape:

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & 1 & 1 & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{31} \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & y_{11} & y_{12} & y_{21} & y_{22} & y_{31} \end{bmatrix},$$

Note that because of  $w_{02} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{03})$  we have  $x_{02} \ge 0$ . We distinguish the following three cases according to the possible positions of the weights  $w_{21}, w_{22}$ .

We have  $w_{21}, w_{22} \in \tau^-$ . Then  $\mu \in \tau^-$  and thus  $w_{31} \in \tau^-$ . Moreover we have  $\gamma_{01,21}, \gamma_{01,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and conclude

$$x_{21} = x_{22} = 1, \quad \mu = (2, 2), \quad x_{12} = 1.$$

Irredundancy of (A, P) implies  $l_{31} = 2$  and  $x_{31} = y_{31} = 1$ . The determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,21}, \gamma_{02,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  both equal one, which implies  $x_{02}y_{21} = 0$  and  $x_{02}y_{22} = 0$ . Because of  $y_{21} + y_{22} = \mu_2 = 2$ , we obtain

$$x_{02} = 0, \qquad l_{03} = \mu_1 = 2$$

The considerations performed so far show that the defining relation  $g_1$  and the degree matrix Q are of the following shape:

$$Q = g_1 := T_{01}T_{02}T_{03}^2 + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}^2$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & | & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & | & a_1 & 2 - a_1 & | & a_2 & 2 - a_2 & | & 1 \\ \end{bmatrix}.$$

We claim that  $w_{12} \in \tau^-$  and thus all weights  $w_{ij}$  for i = 1, 2, 3 lie in  $\tau^-$ . Otherwise  $\gamma_{03,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  leads to

$$1 = \det(w_{03}, w_{12}) = a_1.$$

This implies  $w_{11} = w_{21} \in \tau^+ \cap \tau^-$ , which is impossible. Thus we may assume  $a_1 \leq a_2$ and  $a_i \geq 2 - a_i$ . The latter implies  $a_i \geq 1$  and

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_X} = \operatorname{cone}((0,1), (1,a_2).$$

The anticanonical class is  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (4, 5)$ . In particular the variety is Fano if and only if  $a_1 = a_2 = 1$  holds and there exists no truly almost Fano variety in this case.

We have  $w_{21}, w_{22} \in \tau^+$ : This case does not provide any smooth projective variety. The proof is exactly the same as in Case 6.1.1 (I)(b) with  $w_{21}, w_{22} \in \tau^+$ .

We have  $w_{21} \in \tau^-$ ,  $w_{22} \in \tau^+$ : Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,21}, \gamma_{03,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and using  $\mu_2 = 2$  we obtain

$$x_{21} = y_{22} = 1, \qquad y_{21} = 1.$$

We claim  $y_{11} \neq 0$ . Otherwise  $y_{12} = \mu_2 = 2$ . This implies  $\det(w_{03}, w_{12}) = 2$ , hence  $\gamma_{03,12} \notin \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and thus  $w_{12} \in \tau^-$ . Then  $\gamma_{01,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  leads to  $x_{12} = 1$  and  $\mu_1 = 2$ . Thus  $w_{22} = (1,1) = w_{21} \in \tau^-$ . A contradiction. Now  $y_{11} \neq 0$  yields

$$x_{22} = 0, \qquad \mu = (1, 2), \qquad l_{31} = 1$$

due to  $\gamma_{11,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ . This contradicts irredundancy of (A, P).

**Case 6.1.1 (I) (d) and (e).** We have r = 3, m = 0 and  $n_0 = 3 > n_1 \ge n_2 = n_3 = 1$ . This setting allows no examples satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 6.2.1.

*Proof.* We claim that each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains at least one weight  $w_{0j}$ . Otherwise, due to Lemma 6.1.4 (i), we may assume that all  $w_{0j}$  lie in  $\tau^+$ . We conclude  $\mu \in \tau^+$  and thus we may assume  $w_{i1} \in \tau^+$  for all i = 1, 2, 3. As  $n_1 \leq 2$  holds there is at most one weight  $w_{12}$  left to lie in  $\tau^-$ . As each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  has to contain at least two weights this is impossible.

By the claim, we may assume  $w_{01} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{02}, w_{03} \in \tau^-$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iii) to  $\gamma_{01,03} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{01,02} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and using Remark 6.1.8 we obtain

$$l_{01} = l_{02} = 1,$$
  $w_{01} = (0, 1), w_{03} = (1, 0),$   $y_{02} = 1,$   $\mu_2 = 2$ 

Thus irredundancy of P implies  $l_{21} = l_{31} = 2$  and we obtain torsion in Cl(X). Corollary 6.1.7 gives the assertion.

 $\square$ 

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(f).** We have r = 3,  $m \ge 0$  and  $n_0 = n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 2$ . This gives the varieties Nos. 4 to 10 in the Theorems 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and 6.2.4,

*Proof.* Note that due to Lemma 6.1.4 (i) any weight  $w_{ij}$  lies either in  $\tau^+$  or in  $\tau^-$ . Moreover, if there is an integer  $i_1$  such that  $w_{i_11}, w_{i_12} \in \tau^+$  holds, we obtain  $\mu \in \tau^+$  and thus we may assume  $w_{i1} \in \tau^+$  for each i = 0, ..., 3. As each of the cones  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights we are left with the following five cases according to the possible position of weights.

We have  $w_{i1} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{i2} \in \tau^-$  for each i = 0, ...3. Applying Lemma 6.1.4 (v) we may assume  $w_k \in \tau^+$  for all k. We may further assume  $w_{ij} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{12})$  for all i = 1, 2, 3. Then, applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{01,22}, \gamma_{01,32}, \gamma_{12,21}, \gamma_{12,31}, \gamma_{12,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ , where k = 1, ..., m, turns the degree matrix into the following shape:

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & x_{11} & 1 & x_{21} & 1 & x_{31} & 1 \\ 1 & y_{02} & y_{11} & 0 & 1 & y_{22} & 1 & y_{32} & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that  $w_{ij} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{12})$  implies  $x_{ij}, y_{ij} \ge 0$  for all i = 1, 2, 3 and thus  $\mu_1, \mu_2 > 0$ . For any integers  $0 \le i_1, i_2 \le 3$  with  $i_1 \ne i_2$  we have  $\gamma_{i_11, i_22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ . Thus applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) yields  $l_{i_12} = 1$  or  $l_{i_21} = 1$ .

We claim that we may assume  $l_{01} = l_{11} = l_{21} = l_{31} = 1$ . Otherwise after renumbering we have  $l_{31} \ge 2$  and  $l_{32} = 1$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{01,32}, \gamma_{11,32}, \gamma_{21,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ we obtain

$$l_{02} = l_{12} = l_{22} = 1.$$

Thus after suitably renumbering we always have  $l_{01} = l_{11} = l_{21} = l_{31} = 1$ .

Note that due to Remark 6.1.8 the tuples  $(w_{02}, w_{01}), (w_{22}, w_{21}), (w_{32}, w_{31})$  are positively oriented and we obtain

$$x_{02} \ge 0, \qquad x_{21}y_{22} = 0, \qquad x_{31}y_{32} = 0$$

With  $0 < \mu_2 = 1 + y_{02}l_{02}$  we conclude  $y_{02} \ge 0$  and thus all entries  $x_{ij}, y_{ij}$  of Q are non negative.

Considering the determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,11}, \gamma_{02,21} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$x_{02}y_{11} = 1 + y_{02}x_{11}, \qquad x_{02} - y_{02}x_{21} = 1$$

We claim  $y_{22} = 0$ . Otherwise  $0 = y_{22}x_{21}$  implies  $x_{21} = 0$  and we obtain  $x_{02} = 1$ . We conclude

$$1 + y_{02}x_{11} = y_{11} = \mu_2 = 1 + y_{02}l_{02}.$$

Thus  $y_{02} = 0$  or  $x_{11} = l_{02}$  holds. Assume  $y_{02} = 0$  holds. Then  $\mu_2 = 1$  and thus  $y_{22} = 0$ . A contradiction. If  $x_{11} = l_{02}$  holds then

$$l_{02} = l_{02}x_{02} = \mu_1 = x_{11} + l_{12} = l_{02} + l_{12}.$$

This is impossible.

By the claim, we obtain

$$\mu_2 = 1, \qquad y_{02} = y_{32} = 0, \qquad y_{11} = 1.$$

For the relation  $g_1$ , the degree matrix Q this means

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02}^{l_{02}} + T_{11}T_{12}^{l_{12}} + T_{21}T_{22}^{l_{22}} + T_{31}T_{32}^{l_{32}},$$
$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & | & a_{1} & 1 & | & a_{2} & 1 & | & a_{3} & 1 & || & d_{1} & \dots & d_{m} \\ 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 0 & || & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

where we have  $a_i \ge 0$ ,  $l_{02} = a_1 + l_{12} = a_2 + l_{22} = a_3 + l_{33}$  and we may assume  $0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3$  and  $d_1 \le \ldots \le d_m$ . The semiample cone and the anticanonical class are given as

SAmple(X) = 
$$\overline{\tau_X}$$
 = cone((1,0), (d,1)),  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (4 + a_2 + a_3 + \sum d_k - l_{12}, 3 + m),$ 

where  $d := \max(a_3, d_m)$ . In particular X is Fano if and only if the following inequality holds

$$(3+m) \cdot d < 4 + a_2 + a_3 + \sum d_k - l_{12}.$$

With  $l_{12} \ge 1$  we conclude  $d \le 2$ . We list all possibilities for the entries of Q and the exponents of  $g_1$  in a table.

		$(a_1, a_2, a_3, l_{02}, l_{12}, l_{22}, l_{32})$	restrictions on $d_k$
d = 2	$l_{12} = 1$	(2, 2, 2, 3, 1, 1, 1)	$d_k = 2$ for all $k$ .
d = 1	$l_{12} = 2$	(1, 1, 1, 3, 2, 2, 2), (0, 1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1)	$d_k = 1$ for all $k$ .
	$l_{12} = 1$	(1, 1, 1, 2, 1, 1, 1)	$0 \le d_1 \le d_2 = 1.$
d = 0	$l_{12} = 3$	(0, 0, 0, 3, 3, 3, 3)	$d_k = 0$ for all $k$
	$l_{12} = 2$	(0, 0, 0, 2, 2, 2, 2)	$-1 \le d_1 \le d_2 = 0$
	$l_{12} = 1$	(0,0,0,1,1,1,1)	$-2 \le d_1 + d_2 \le 0$

Moreover X is truly almost Fano if and only if the following equality holds:

$$(3+m) \cdot d = 4 + a_2 + a_3 + \sum d_k - l_{12}.$$

We list all possibilities for the entries of Q and the exponents of  $g_1$  in a table.

		$(a_1, a_2, a_3, l_{02}, l_{12}, l_{22}, l_{32})$	restrictions on $d_k$
d = 3	$l_{12} = 1$	(3, 3, 3, 4, 1, 1, 1)	$d_k = 3$ for all $k$
d = 2	$l_{12} = 1$	(2, 2, 2, 3, 1, 1, 1)	$d_1 = 1,  d_k = 2 \text{ for } k \neq 1$
	$l_{12} = 2$	(1, 2, 2, 3, 2, 1, 1)	$d_k = 2$ for all $k$
		(2, 2, 2, 4, 2, 2, 2)	$d_k = 2$ for all $k$
d = 1	$l_{12} = 1$	(0, 0, 0, 1, 1, 1, 1)	$d_k = 1$ for all $k$
		(1, 1, 1, 2, 1, 1, 1)	$d_1 = d_2 = 0, d_k = 1 \text{ for all } k \ge 3$
		(1, 1, 1, 2, 1, 1, 1)	$d_1 = -1, d_k = 1$ for all $k \neq 1$
	$l_{12} = 2$	(0, 0, 1, 2, 2, 2, 1)	$d_k = 1$ for all $k$
		(1, 1, 1, 3, 2, 2, 2)	$d_1 = 0, d_k = 1$ for all $k \neq 1$
		(0, 1, 1, 2, 2, 1, 1)	$d_1 = 0, d_k = 1$ for all $k \neq 1$
	$l_{12} = 3$	(1, 1, 1, 4, 3, 3, 3)	$d_k = 1$ for all $k$
		(0, 1, 1, 3, 2, 2, 2)	$d_k = 1$ for all $k$
d = 0	$l_{12} = 1$	(0, 0, 0, 1, 1, 1, 1)	$\sum d_k = -3$
	$l_{12} = 2$	(0, 0, 0, 2, 2, 2, 2)	$\sum d_k = -2$
	$l_{12} = 3$	(0, 0, 0, 3, 3, 3, 3)	$d_1 = -1, d_k = 0$ for all $k \neq 1$
	$l_{12} = 4$	$\left(0,0,0,4,4,4,4\right)$	$d_k = 0$ for all $k$ .

116 Chapter 6. Classification results for smooth arrangement varieties with  $\rho(X) = 2$ 

We have  $w_{i1} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{i2} \in \tau^-$  for i = 1, 2, 3 and  $w_{01}, w_{02} \in \tau^+$ . We may assume  $w_{02}, w_{12}, w_{22} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{32})$ . Then, applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{02,32}, \gamma_{11,32}, \gamma_{21,32}, \gamma_{12,01}, \gamma_{22,01} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & x_{11} & 1 & x_{21} & 1 & x_{31} & 1 & x_{1} & \dots & x_{m} \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & y_{12} & 1 & y_{22} & y_{31} & 0 & y_{1} & \dots & y_{m} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that we have  $x_{02}, y_{12}, y_{22} \ge 0$  because of  $w_{02}, w_{12}, w_{22} \in \text{cone}(w_{01}, w_{32})$ . Moreover  $2 \le \mu_2$  holds and thus  $y_{31} > 0$ .

We claim  $l_{11}, l_{21} \geq 2$ . Otherwise after renumbering we may assume  $l_{11} = 1$ . With  $2 \leq \mu_2 = 1 + l_{12}y_{12}$  we conclude  $y_{12} > 0$ . The determinant corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,12} \in rlv(X)$  equals one, which implies  $x_{02}y_{12} = 0$ . This gives

$$x_{02} = 0, \qquad l_{31}x_{31} + l_{32} = 0, \qquad x_{31} < 0.$$

This contradicts  $y_{31} - y_{12}x_{31} = \det(w_{12}, w_{31}) = 1$ .

Thus applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{02,12}, \gamma_{01,12}, \gamma_{21,12}, \gamma_{31,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$l_{01} = l_{02} = l_{32} = l_{22} = 1,$$
  $\mu_2 = 2,$   $l_{11} = l_{21} = 2,$   $y_{22} = y_{12} = 0$ 

As the determinant corresponding to  $\gamma_{12,31} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  equals one we obtain  $y_{31} = 1$ and  $l_{31} = \mu_2 = 2$ . Thus applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{11,32}, \gamma_{21,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  implies  $l_{12} = 1 = l_{22}$ . With

$$0 \le \mu_1 = x_{02} = 1 + 2 \cdot x_{11} = 1 + 2 \cdot x_{21} = 1 + 2 \cdot x_{31}$$

we obtain  $x_{11} = x_{21} = x_{31} \ge 0$  and  $x_{02} > 0$ . With  $w_{11}, w_{21} \in \tau^+$  and Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) we conclude that the possible weights of type  $w_k$  lie in  $\tau^-$ . Thus applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain  $x_k = 1$ . Finally as the determinant corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  equals one and  $x_{02} > 0$  holds we obtain  $y_k = 0$ . For the relation  $g_1$ , the degree matrix Q and the ample cone this means

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}^{2}T_{12} + T_{21}^{2}T_{22} + T_{31}^{2}T_{32}$$

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a+1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & a & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = cone((1,0), (2a+1,1)),$$

where  $a \ge 0$ . The anticanonical class is  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (3a+3+m,3)$ . In particular X is Fano if and only if 3a+3+m > 6a+3 holds. This is equivalent to m > 3a. Moreover X is truly almost Fano if and only if m = 3a holds.

We have  $w_{01}, w_{02}, w_{11}, w_{12}, w_{21}, w_{31} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{22}, w_{32} \in \tau^-$ . We may assume  $w_{02}, w_{11}, w_{12}, w_{22} \in \text{cone}(w_{01}, w_{32})$ . Then, applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,32} \in \text{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{02,32}, \gamma_{11,32}, \gamma_{12,32}, \gamma_{21,32}, \gamma_{01,22} \in \text{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix X into the following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & x_{11} & x_{12} & x_{21} & 1 & x_{31} & 1 & x_1 & \dots & x_m \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & y_{22} & y_{31} & 0 & y_1 & \dots & y_m \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that we have  $x_{02}, x_{11}, x_{12}, y_{22} \ge 0$  because of  $w_{02}, w_{11}, w_{12}, w_{22} \in \text{cone}(w_{01}, w_{32})$ . Moreover  $\mu_2 \ge 2$  holds and thus  $y_{31} > 0$ .

We claim  $l_{21} \ge 2$ . Otherwise  $l_{21} = 1$  holds. With  $2 \le \mu_2 = 1 + y_{22}l_{22}$  we conclude  $y_{22} > 0$ . The determinant corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  equals one, which implies  $x_{02}y_{22} = 0$ . This gives

$$x_{02} = 0,$$
  $\mu_1 = 0,$   $l_{31}x_{31} + l_{32} = 0,$   $x_{31} < 0.$ 

This contradicts  $y_{31} - y_{22}x_{31} = \det(w_{22}, w_{31}) = 1$ . Thus applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{02,22}, \gamma_{01,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  implies

$$l_{01} = l_{02} = 1,$$
  $\mu_2 = 2,$   $l_{11} = l_{12} = 1,$   $l_{21} = 2,$   $y_{22} = 0.$ 

As the determinant corresponding to  $\gamma_{22,31} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  equals one we obtain  $y_{31} = 1$  and  $2 = \mu_2 = l_{31}$ . Thus applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{22,31}, \gamma_{21,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain  $l_{32} = l_{22} = 1$ . With  $w_{21} \in \tau^+$  and Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) we conclude that possible weights of type  $w_k$  lie in  $\tau^-$ . Thus applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain  $x_k = 1$ . Finally as the determinant corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  equals one and  $x_{02} = 2x_{21} + 1 \ge 0$  we conclude  $x_{02} > 0$  and thus  $y_k = 0$ . For the relation  $g_1$  and the degree matrix Q this means

$$g_1 = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}^2T_{22} + T_{31}^2T_{32}$$

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_3 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & 1 & a_3 & 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $2a_3 + 1 = a_1 + a_2$ ,  $a_i \ge 0$  and we may assume  $a_1 \le a_2$ . The semiample cone and the anticanonical class are given as

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_X} = cone((1,0), (2a_3 + 1, 1)), \qquad -\mathcal{K}_X = (4a_3 + 3 + m, 4),$$

In particular X is Fano if and only if  $4a_3 + 3 + m > 8a_3 + 4$  holds. This is equivalent to  $m > 4a_3 + 1$ . Moreover X is truly almost Fano if and only if  $m = 4a_3 + 1$ .

We have  $w_{01}, \ldots, w_{31} \in \tau^+$  and  $w_{32} \in \tau^-$ . As each of  $\tau^-$  and  $\tau^+$  contain at least two weights we have  $m \geq 1$  and  $w_k \in \tau^-$ . We may assume  $w_i, w_{02}, \ldots, w_{22} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_1, w_{01})$ . Then, applying Remark 6.1.8 at to  $\gamma_{1,01} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{1,02}, \ldots, \gamma_{1,31}, \gamma_{01,32} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & x_{11} & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{31} & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & y_{32} & 0 & y_2 & \dots & y_m \end{bmatrix},$$

Note that because of  $w_i, w_{02}, \ldots, w_{22} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_1, w_{01})$  all entries of Q except  $x_{31}$  and  $y_{32}$  non-negative.

Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) to  $\gamma_{1,01}, \ldots, \gamma_{1,31} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ , we obtain

$$l_{01} = l_{02} = l_{11} = l_{12} = l_{21} = l_{22} = l_{32} = 1, \qquad \mu_2 = 2$$

As the determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,32}, \gamma_{11,32}, \gamma_{12,32}, \gamma_{21,32}, \gamma_{22,32} \in rlv(X)$  all equal one we conclude  $y_{32} = 0$  or  $x_{02} = \ldots = x_{22} = 0$ .

Assume  $y_{32} = 0$ . Then  $2 = \mu_2 = l_{31}$  holds. Moreover  $\mu_1 = x_{02} = 2x_{31} + 1$  and  $x_{02} \ge 0$ implies  $x_{31} \ge 0$  and  $x_{02} > 0$ . As the determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, m$  we obtain  $y_2 = \ldots = y_m = 0$ . For the relation  $g_1$  and the degree matrix Q this means

$$g_1 = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}^2T_{32}$$
$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $2a_5 + 1 = a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4$  and  $a_i \ge 0$ . The semiample cone and the anticanonical class are given as

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_X} = cone((1,0), (2a_5+1,1)), \qquad -\mathcal{K}_X = (5a_5+3+m,5).$$

In particular X is Fano if and only if  $10a_5 + 5 < 5a_5 + 3 + m$  holds. This is equivalent to  $5a_5 + 2 < m$ . Moreover X is truly almost Fano if and only if  $5a_5 + 2 = m$  holds.

Assume  $x_{02} = \ldots = x_{22} = 0$ . We have  $\mu_1 = 0$  and thus  $l_{31}x_{31} = -1$ . This implies  $l_{31} = 1$  and  $x_{31} = -1$ . Thus  $\mu_2 = 2 = 1 + y_{32}$  and we conclude  $y_{32} = 1$ . Finally as the

determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{31,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  all equal one, we conclude  $y_i = 0$ . For the relation  $g_1$ , the degree matrix Q and the ample cone this means

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}T_{32}$$
$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & | & 0 & 0 & | & -1 & 1 & | & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = \operatorname{cone}((1, 1), (0, 1)).$$

The anticanonical class is  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (m, 6)$ . In particular X is Fano if and only if m < 6 holds and truly almost Fano in the case m = 6.

We have  $w_{ij} \in \tau^+$  for all i, j. As each of  $\tau^-$  and  $\tau^+$  contain at least two weights applying we conclude with Lemma 6.1.4 (v)  $m \ge 2$  and  $w_k \in \tau^-$  for all  $k = 1, \ldots, m$ . Moreover  $\gamma_{ij,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  implies  $l_{ij} = 1$  for all i, j. We may assume  $w_{ij}, w_k \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_1)$  for all i, j, k. Then, applying Remark 6.1.8 at to  $\gamma_{01,1}$  and afterwards to all other  $\gamma_{ij,1}, \gamma_{01,k} \in$  $\operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the grading matrix Q into th following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & x_{11} & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{31} & x_{32} \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & y_2 & \dots & y_m \end{bmatrix}$$

Note that all entries of Q are non negative because of  $w_{ij}, w_k \in \text{cone}(w_{01}, w_1)$ . We distinguish between the case that all entries  $y_2, \ldots, y_m$  equal zero and the case they do not.

We have  $y_k = 0$  holds for all k. Then we have

$$x_{02} = x_{11} + x_{12} = x_{21} + x_{22} = x_{31} + x_{32}$$

and the relation  $g_1$  and the grading matrix Q have the following shape.

$$g_1 = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}T_{32}$$
$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $a_1 = a_2 + a_3 = a_4 + a_5 = a_6 + a_7$  and  $a_i \ge 0$ . The semiample cone and the anticanonical class are

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_X} = cone((1,0), (a_1,1)), \quad -\mathcal{K}_X = (3a_1 + m, 6).$$

In particular X is Fano if and only if  $3a_1 + m > 6a_1$  and this is equivalent to  $m > 3a_1$ . Moreover X is truly almost Fano if and only if  $m = 3a_1$  holds.

We have  $y_k > 0$  for at least one k. We may assume  $0 \le y_2 \le \ldots \le y_m$  and  $y_m > 0$ . As the determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{ij,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  all equal one we conclude  $x_{ij} = 0$ . For the relation  $g_1$  and the grading matrix Q this means

$$g_1 = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}T_{32}$$

where  $0 \le a_2 \le \ldots \le a_m$  and  $a_m > 0$ . The semiample cone and the anticanonical class are

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_X} = ((0,1), (1,a_m)), \qquad -\mathcal{K}_X = (m, 6 + a_2 + \ldots + a_m).$$

In particular X is Fano if and only if  $m \cdot a_m < 6 + a_2 + \ldots + a_m$ . This implies  $a_m \leq 5$ . Furthermore X is truly almost Fano if and only if  $m \cdot a_m = 6 + a_2 + \ldots + a_m$ , which implies  $m \leq 6$ .

**Lemma 6.1.10.** In the situation of Proposition 6.1.1, consider the case r = 3,  $m \ge 0$ and  $n_0 = n_1 = 2 \ge n_2 \ge n_3 = 1$ . Then the following constellation of weights can't occur:

$$w_{02}, w_{12} \in \tau^+$$
  $w_{01}, w_{11} \in \tau^-$ 

*Proof.* We may assume  $w_{11} \in \text{cone}(w_{01}, w_{12})$ . Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,12} \in \text{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$w_{01} = (1,0), \qquad w_{12} = (0,1), \qquad x_{11}, y_{11} \ge 0.$$

Moreover the position of weights implies  $det(w_{11}, w_{12}) > 0$  and  $det(w_{01}, w_{02}) > 0$  and thus  $x_{11} > 0$  and  $y_{02} > 0$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{01,12} \in rlv(X)$  we obtain  $l_{02} = 1$  or  $l_{11} = 1$ . With  $\gamma_{02,11} \in rlv(X)$  we obtain

$$l_{02} = 1 \implies 1 = \det(w_{11}, w_{02}) = \det(w_{11}, l_{12}w_{12} - l_{01}w_{01}) = l_{12}x_{11} + l_{01}y_{11},$$
  
$$l_{11} = 1 \implies 1 = \det(w_{11}, w_{02}) = \det(l_{01}w_{01} - l_{12}w_{12}, w_{02}) = l_{01}y_{02} + l_{12}x_{02},$$

where the second equality on the r.h.s. holds due to homogeneity of the relation. We show  $l_{02} > 1$ . Otherwise the above considerations show

$$y_{11} = 0,$$
  $l_{12} = x_{11} = 1,$   $\mu_2 = 1,$   $l_{31} = y_{31} = 1.$ 

This contradicts irredundancy of P.

Thus we have  $l_{11} = 1$ . Note that  $y_{02} > 0$  implies  $x_{02} \le 0$ . The corresponding determinant of  $\gamma_{02,11} \in \text{rlv}(X)$  equals one and we obtain  $1 = x_{11}y_{02} - y_{11}x_{02}$ . This implies

$$y_{11}x_{02} = 0,$$
  $x_{11} = y_{02} = 1,$   $\mu_1 = 1,$   $l_{31} = x_{31} = 1.$ 

This again contradicts irredundancy of P.

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(g).** We have r = 3,  $m \ge 0$  and  $n_0 = n_1 = n_2 = 2 > n_3 = 1$ . This gives the varieties Nos. 11, 12 and 13 in the Theorems 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and 6.2.4.

*Proof.* With Lemma 6.1.10 and Lemma 6.1.4 (i) we may assume  $w_{21}, w_{22} \in \tau^+$ . We conclude  $\mu \in \tau^+$  and thus  $w_{31} \in \tau^+$ . We distinguish between the following two cases according to the possible positions of weights.

We have  $w_{02}, w_k \in \tau^-$  and all other weights in  $\tau^+$ . As each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights we conclude  $m \ge 1$  and Lemma 6.1.4 (v) yields  $w_k \in \tau^-$  for all k.

Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{01,1}, \gamma_{11,1}, \gamma_{12,1}, \gamma_{21,1}\gamma_{22,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$l_{02} = l_{11} = l_{12} = l_{21} = l_{22} = 1.$$

Then applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{11,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{01,1}, \gamma_{12,1}, \gamma_{21,1}\gamma_{22,1}\gamma_{02,11}, \gamma_{11,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape:

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} x_{01} & 1 & 0 & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{31} & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & y_{02} & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & y_{31} & 0 & y_2 & \dots & y_m \end{bmatrix}.$$

We conclude  $\mu_2 = 2$  and irredundancy of P gives  $l_{31} = 2$  and  $y_{31} = 1$ . We obtain

$$\mu_1 = l_{01}x_{01} + 1 = x_{12} = l_{31}x_{31} = 2x_{31}$$

Thus  $\mu_1$  is even and we conclude that  $l_{01}$  and  $x_{01}$  are odd. Thus  $y_{02} = \mu_2 - l_{01}$  is odd and thus nonzero. The determinants corresponding to  $\gamma_{02,12}, \gamma_{02,22} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  both equal one, which implies  $y_{02}x_{12} = 0$  and  $y_{02}x_{22} = 0$ . We obtain

$$x_{12} = x_{22} = 0 = \mu_1,$$
  $x_{21} = x_{31} = 0,$   $x_{01} = -1,$   $l_{01} = 1,$   $y_{02} = 1.$ 

Finally  $\gamma_{01,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  leads to  $\det(w_k, w_{01}) = 1$  and thus  $y_k = 0$ . For the relation, the degree matrix and the ample cone this means

$$g_{1} := T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}^{2}$$

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = cone((0, 1), (1, 1)).$$

Moreover the anticanonical class is given as  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (m, 5)$ . Thus X is Fano if and only if m < 5 and truly almost Fano if m = 5 holds.

We have  $w_{ij} \in \tau^+$  for all *i*. Consider the fact that each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights and applying Lemma 6.1.4 (v) we conclude  $m \ge 2$  and  $w_k \in \tau^-$  for all *k*.

We may assume  $w_{ij}, w_k \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_1)$  for all i, j, k. Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{02,1}, \ldots, \gamma_{22,1}, \gamma_{01,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_{02} & x_{11} & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{22} & x_{31} & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & y_{31} & 0 & y_2 & \dots & y_m \end{bmatrix}$$

Note that we have  $x_{ij}, x_k \ge 0$  for all i, j, k because of  $w_{ij}, w_k \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_1)$  for all i, j, k. Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) to  $\gamma_{ij,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  for i = 0, 1, 2 we obtain

$$l_{01} = \dots = l_{22} = 1, \qquad \mu_2 = 2$$

and thus irredundancy of P implies  $l_{31} = 2$  and  $y_{31} = 1$ .

We distinguish between the case that all entries  $y_k$  equal zero and the case that there exists at least one k with  $y_k > 0$ .

We have  $y_k = 0$  for all k. Then the defining relation  $g_1$ , the degree matrix Q and the ample cone are of the following shape:

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}^{2}$$

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_{5} & | a_{1} & a_{2} & | a_{3} & a_{4} & | a_{5} & || & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & | & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = cone((1, 0), (2a_{5}, 1)).$$

where  $a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5$  holds and  $a_i \ge 0$  for all *i*. The anticanonical class is given as  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (m + 5a_5, 5)$ . In particular X is Fano if and only if  $m > 5a_5$  and truly almost Fano if equality holds.

We have  $y_k > 0$  for at least one k. We may assume  $0 = y_1 \leq \ldots \leq y_m$  and  $y_m > 0$ . Then  $\gamma_{02,m} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  leads to  $\det(w_m, w_{02}) = 1$  and with  $x_{ij} \geq 0$  for all *i* this implies

$$x_{02} = 0,$$
  $\mu_1 = 0,$   $x_{12} = x_{21} = x_{22} = x_{31} = 0$ 

For the relation  $g_1$ , the degree matrix Q and the ample cone this means

$$g_{1} = T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}^{2}$$
$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & | & 0 & 0 & | & 0 & | & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & | & 1 & 1 & | & 1 & | & 1 & | & 0 & d_{2} & \dots & d_{m} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = cone((0, 1), (1, d_{m}))$$

where  $d_2 \leq \ldots \leq d_m$ . The anticanonical class is given as

$$-\mathcal{K}_X = (m, 5 + \sum d_i).$$

In particular X is Fano if and only if  $m \cdot d_m < 5 + \sum d_i$  and we obtain furthermore m < 5. X is truly almost Fano if  $m \cdot d_m = 5 + \sum d_i$  holds.

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(h).** We have r = 3,  $m \ge 0$  and  $n_0 = n_1 = 2 > n_2 = n_3 = 1$ . This setting allows no examples satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 6.2.1.

*Proof.* For m > 0 we may assume due to Lemma 6.1.4 (v) that  $w_1, \ldots, w_m \in \tau^-$  holds. Applying Lemma 6.1.10 we may always assume  $w_{11}, w_{12} \in \tau^+$  and thus  $\mu \in \tau^+$ . This implies  $w_{21} = w_{31} \in \tau^+$ . As each of the cones  $\tau^-$  and  $\tau^+$  contains at least two weights we are left with the following two possible position of weights.

We have  $w_{02} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{01} \in \tau^+$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{01,1}, \gamma_{12,1}, \gamma_{11,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$l_{02} = l_{11} = l_{12} = 1.$$

Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{11,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and afterwards to  $\gamma_{01,1}, \gamma_{12,1}, \gamma_{02,11}, \gamma_{11,k} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  turns the degree matrix Q into the following shape

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} x_{01} & 1 & 0 & x_{12} & x_{21} & x_{31} \\ 1 & y_{02} & 1 & 1 & y_{21} & y_{31} & 0 & y_2 & \dots & y_m \end{bmatrix}$$

We obtain  $\mu_2 = 2$ . Thus either  $l_{21} = l_{31} = 2$  holds, which contradicts torsion freeness of the divisor class group of X or at least one of  $l_{21}$  or  $l_{31}$  equals one. This contradicts irredundancy of P.

We have  $w_{01}, w_{02} \in \tau^+$ . Applying Remark 6.1.8 and Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) to  $\gamma_{01,1}, \gamma_{02,1}, \gamma_{11,1}, \gamma_{12,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$x_{01} = x_{02} = x_{11} = x_{12} = 1,$$
  $l_{01} = l_{02} = l_{11} = l_{12} = 1,$   $\mu_1 = 2$ 

Irredundancy of P thus implies  $l_{21} = l_{31} = 2$ , which leads to torsion in the divisor class group of X; a contradiction.

**Case 6.1.1 (I)(i).** We have r = 3, m > 0 and  $n_0 = 2 > n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 1$ . This setting allows no examples satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 6.2.1.

*Proof.* Applying Lemma 6.1.4 (v) we may assume  $w_1, \ldots, w_m \in \tau^-$ . Moreover we have  $\mu = w_{11} = w_{21} = w_{31}$ .

We claim that one of the weights  $w_{0j}$  lies in  $\tau^+$ . Otherwise Lemma 6.1.4 (i) implies  $w_{0j} \in \tau^-$  for j = 1, 2. This implies  $\mu \in \tau^-$  and there are no weights left to lie in  $\tau^+$ , which is impossible. Thus we may assume  $w_{01} \in \tau^+$ .

Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) and Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,1} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$l_{02} = 1,$$
  $w_{01} = (0, 1),$   $w_1 = (1, 0).$ 

Moreover as the class group of X is torsion free and P is irredundant we have pairwise coprime  $l_{11}, l_{21}, l_{31} > 1$ . We distinguish the following two cases according to the possible position of weights.

We have  $w_{02} \in \tau^-$ . As  $\tau^+$  contains at least two weights we may assume  $w_{11} \in \tau^+$ . This implies  $\mu \in \tau^+$  and thus  $w_{21} = w_{31} \in \tau^+$ . With  $w_{02} \in \tau^-$  we obtain  $\operatorname{cone}(w_{02}, w_{01}, w_{11}) \in$  $\operatorname{rlv}(X)$ . As X is locally factorial this implies  $(0, 1), (x_{02}, y_{02}), (x_{11}, y_{11})$  generate  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  as a group. Thus  $\operatorname{gcd}(x_{02}, x_{11}) = 1$  holds and in particular not both equal zero. We obtain

$$0 < \mu_1 = x_{02} = l_{11}x_{11} = l_{21}x_{21}$$

With  $gcd(l_{11}, l_{21}) = 1$  we conclude  $l_{21}|x_{02}$  and  $l_{21}|x_{11}$ ; This contradicts  $gcd(x_{02}, x_{11}) = 1$ . We have  $w_{02} \in \tau^+$ . We obtain  $w_{11} = w_{21} = w_{31} = \mu \in \tau^+$ . As  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights we obtain  $m \ge 2$ . Applying Lemma 6.1.2 (ii) and Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{02,1} \in rlv(X)$ we obtain

$$l_{01} = 1, \qquad y_{02} = 1, \qquad \mu_2 = 2.$$

Irredundance of P implies  $l_{11} = l_{21} = l_{31} = 2$  contradicting coprimeness.

**Case 6.1.1 (II).** We have r = 4, m = 0 and  $n_0 = n_1 = 2 \ge n_2 \ge n_3 \ge n_4$ . This leads to No. 14 in Theorems 6.2.1 and 6.2.2.

We treat the cases (a) to (d) at once. Observe that if two weights  $w_{i_11}, w_{i_12}$  lie in one cone  $\tau^-$  or  $\tau^+$  homogeneity of the relations implies that all  $w_{ij}$  with  $n_i = 1$  lie in this cone as well. As each of  $\tau^+$  and  $\tau^-$  contains at least two weights and m = 0 holds we may thus assume  $w_{01}, w_{11} \in \tau^-$  and  $w_{02}, w_{12} \in \tau^+$ . In particular for each  $w_{i_1j_1}$  with  $n_{i_1} = 2$  there exist at least one  $w_{i_2j_2}$  with  $\gamma_{i_1j_1,i_2j_2} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$ . Thus considering r = 4and applying Lemma 6.1.2 (iv) we obtain  $l_{ij} = 1$  for all i with  $n_i = 2$ . We may assume  $w_{11} \in \operatorname{cone}(w_{01}, w_{12})$ . Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{01,12} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

 $w_{01} = (1,0), \qquad w_{12} = (0,1), \qquad x_{11}, y_{11} \ge 0.$ 

Applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{02,11} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$1 = \det(w_{11}, w_{02}) = x_{11}y_{02} - x_{02}y_{11} = x_{11} + y_{11}$$

where the last equality follows with  $\mu_2 = y_{02} = y_{11} + 1$ . As by assumption  $w_{11} \notin \tau^-$  we have  $x_{11} > 0$  and conclude

$$x_{11} = 1,$$
  $y_{11} = 0,$   $\mu = (1, 1),$   $x_{02} = 0,$   $y_{02} = 1.$ 

This implies  $l_{ij} = 1$  for all *i* with  $n_i = 1$ . As *P* is irredundant the only possible constellation is

$$n_0 = n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = n_4 = 2,$$
  $l_{01} = \ldots = l_{42} = 1.$ 

With Lemma 6.1.4 (i) may assume  $w_{21}, w_{31}, w_{41} \in \tau^-$  and applying Remark 6.1.8 to  $\gamma_{21,02}, \gamma_{31,02}, \gamma_{41,02} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  we obtain

$$x_{21} = x_{31} = x_{41} = 1, \qquad x_{22} = x_{32} = x_{42} = 0.$$

We conclude  $w_{22}, w_{32}, w_{42} \in \tau^+$ . This in turn implies  $\gamma_{01,22}, \gamma_{01,32}, \gamma_{01,42} \in \operatorname{rlv}(X)$  and applying Remark 6.1.8 once more we obtain

$$1 = y_{22} = y_{32} = y_{42}, \qquad y_{21} = y_{31} = y_{41} = 0$$

For the defining relations  $g_1, g_2$ , the grading matrix Q and the ample cone we obtain

$$g_{0} := T_{01}T_{02} + T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{31}T_{32}$$

$$g_{1} := \lambda_{1}T_{01}T_{02} + \lambda_{2}T_{11}T_{12} + T_{21}T_{22} + T_{41}T_{42}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 0 & | & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & | & 0 & 1 & | & 0 & 1 & | & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$SAmple(X) = \overline{\tau_{X}} = (\mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0})^{2}.$$

The anticanonical class is  $-\mathcal{K}_X = (3,3)$ . In particular the variety is Fano.

## 6.2 Classification Results

Here we give a complete list of all non-toric smooth arrangement varieties of complexity two and Picard number two and classify in every dimension the smooth (almost) Fano varieties of complexity two and Picard number two.

**Theorem 6.2.1.** Every non-toric smooth projective arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two is isomorphic to precisely one of the following varieties X, specified by their Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$ , the matrix  $[w_1, \ldots, w_r]$  of generator degrees and an ample class  $u \in Cl(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

No.	$\mathcal{R}(X)$	$[w_1,\ldots,w_r]$	u	$\dim(X)$
1	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_9]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3^2 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8T_9 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\ a_3+1 \end{bmatrix}$	6
2	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_9]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8T_9 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\2 \end{bmatrix}$	6
3	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3^2 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8^2 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & a_1 & 2 - a_1 & a_2 & 2 - a_2 & 1 \\ & 1 & \leq a_1 & \leq a_2 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\ a_2+1 \end{bmatrix}$	5
4	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^{l_2} + T_3 T_4^{l_4} + T_5 T_6^{l_6} + T_7 T_8^{l_8} \rangle}{m \ge 0}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & a_1 & 1 & a_2 & 1 & a_3 & 1 &   & d_1 & \dots & d_m \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \leq a_1 \leq a_2 \leq a_3$ $l_2 = a_1 + l_4 = a_2 + l_6 = a_3 + l_8$ $d_1 \leq \dots \leq d_m$	$\begin{bmatrix} d+1\\1\\\end{bmatrix}$ $:= \max(a_3, d$	m + 5
5	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3^2 T_4 + T_5^2 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a+1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a+2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
6	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5^2T_6+T_7^2T_8\rangle}\\m{\geq}0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_3 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & 1 & a_3 & 1 &   1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   0 & \dots & 0 \\ 2a_3 + 1 = a_1 + a_2, & 0 \le a_1 \le a_2 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a_3+2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
7	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7^2T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & 1 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ & 2a_5 + 1 = a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 \\ & a_i \ge 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a_5+2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
8	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_8, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\2 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
9	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a_1 = a_2 + a_3 = a_4 + a_5 = a_6 + a_7$ $a_i \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} a_1 + 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
10	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\ d_m+1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
11	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_7, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\2 \end{bmatrix}$	m+4
12	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_7, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5$ $a_i \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a_5+1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+4

126 Chapter 6. Classification results for smooth arrangement varieties with  $\rho(X) = 2$ 

13	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_7,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 &   & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 & d_2 & \dots & d_m \\ 0 & \leq d_2 & \leq \dots & \leq d_m \\ d_m & > & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ d_m + 1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+4
14	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_{10}]}{\left\langle \begin{array}{c} T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8, \\ \lambda_1T_3T_4 + \lambda_2T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 + T_9T_{10} \end{array} \right\rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	6

Moreover, each of the listed data defines a smooth projective arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two.

As direct applications, we can classify in Theorem 6.2.2 in every dimension the (finitely many) smooth Fano arrangement varieties of complexity two and Picard number two and in Theorem 6.2.4 the smooth truly almost Fano arrangement varieties of complexity two and Picard number two, where truly almost Fano means that the anticanonical divisor is semiample but not ample.

**Theorem 6.2.2.** Every non-toric smooth Fano arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two is isomorphic to precisely one of the following varieties X, specified by their Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$  and the matrix  $[w_1, \ldots, w_r]$  of generator degrees  $w_i \in Cl(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

No.	$\mathcal{R}(X)$	$[w_1,\ldots,w_r]$	$-\mathcal{K}_X$	$\dim(X)$
1	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_9]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3^2 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8T_9 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 5\\6\end{bmatrix}$	6
2	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_9]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8T_9 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\ 6\end{bmatrix}$	6
3	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8]}{\langle T_1T_2T_3^2 + T_4T_5 + T_6T_7 + T_8^2 \rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4\\5\end{bmatrix}$	5
4.A	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^3 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & & 2 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 7+2m\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.B	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^3 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6^2 + T_7 T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4+m\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4. <i>C</i>	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^2 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4+m\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.D	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & d_1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 5+m-1+d\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	$^{1}]m + 5$
4.E	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^3 + T_3 T_4^3 + T_5 T_6^3 + T_7 T_8^3 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.F	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^2 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6^2 + T_7 T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2+d_1\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.G	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7T_8\rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 &   & d_1 & d_2 & 0 \dots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   & 1 & 1 & 1 \dots & 1 \\ d_1, d_2 \le 0, \ d_1 + d_2 \ge -2 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3+d_1+d_2\\ 3+m \end{bmatrix}$	[m+5]m+5

5	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3^2 T_4 + T_5^2 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle}$ $m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a+1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & a & 1 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a \ge 0, m > 3a$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3a+3+m\\ 3 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
6	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5^2 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_3 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & 1 & a_3 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \le a_1 \le a_2, \ a_1 + a_2 = 2a_3 + 1$ $m > 4a_3 + 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4a_3 + 3 + m \\ 4 \end{bmatrix}$	m = m + 5
7	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle}$ $m \ge 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & 1 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{array}{c} a_i \geq 0, \\ a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5 + 1, \\ m > 5a_5 + 2 \end{array}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 5a_5 + 3 + m \\ 5 \end{bmatrix}$	m = 5
8	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_8, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ 1 \le m \le 5$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} m \\ 6 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
9	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_8, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 &   1 \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   0 \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{array}{c} a_i \geq 0, \\ a_1 = a_2 + a_3 = a_4 + a_5 = a_6 + a_7, \\ m > 3a_1 \end{array}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3a_1+m\\ 6 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
10	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\left[6\!+\!\sum^m\!d_k\right]$	m + 5
11	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_7, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ 1 \le m \le 4$	$\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 &   1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} m \\ 5 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 4
12	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_7, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 &   & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5$ $a_i \ge 0$ $m > 5a_5$	$\begin{bmatrix} m+5a_5\\5 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 4
13	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,, T_7, S_1,, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle}$ $m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & d_2 & \dots & d_m \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \le d_2 \le \dots \le d_m$ $d_m > 0$ $m \cdot d_m < 5 + d_2 + \dots + d_m$	$\left[5\!+\!\sum^m\!d_k\right]$	m+4
14	$\frac{\boxed{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_{10}]}}{\left\langle \begin{array}{c} T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8, \\ \lambda_1 T_3 T_4 + \lambda_2 T_5 T_6 + T_7 T_8 + T_9 T_{10} \end{array} \right\rangle}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\ 3\end{bmatrix}$	6

Moreover, each of the listed data defines a smooth Fano arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two.

**Remark 6.2.3.** Some of the above Fano varieties are intrinsic quadrics. Here is the overlap with [34, Cor. 1.2]:

- (i) Cases 10 and 13 are intrinsic quadrics of Type 1,
- (ii) Cases 9 and 12 are intrinsic quadrics of Type 2,
- (iii) Cases 8 and 11 are intrinsic quadrics of Type 3,
- (iv) Case 4.G is an intrinsic quadric of Type 4.

**Theorem 6.2.4.** Every non-toric smooth projective truly almost Fano arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two is isomorphic to precisely one of the following varieties X, specified by their Cox ring  $\mathcal{R}(X)$ , the matrix  $[w_1, \ldots, w_r]$  of generator degrees and an ample class  $u \in \operatorname{Cl}(X) = \mathbb{Z}^2$ .

No.	$\mathcal{R}(X)$	$[w_1,\ldots,w_r]$	u	$\dim(X)$
4.A	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^4 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 3 & 1 & 3 & 1 & 3 & 1 & 3 & 1 & 3 & \dots & 3 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 4 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.B	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^3 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.C	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^3 + T_3T_4^2 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & \dots & 2 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\1\end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.D	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^4 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6^2 + T_7 T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & 1 & 2 & \dots & 2 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 3\\1\end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.E	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 0 & \dots & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.F	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.G	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & -1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.H	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^2 + T_3T_4^2 + T_5T_6^2 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.I	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^3 + T_3T_4^2 + T_5T_6^2 + T_7T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.J	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^2 + T_3T_4^2 + T_5T_6 + T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.K	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^4 + T_3T_4^3 + T_5T_6^3 + T_7T_8^3 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.L	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2^3 + T_3T_4^2 + T_5T_6^2 + T_7T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2\\1\end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.M	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7T_8 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & $	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5
4.N	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^2 + T_3 T_4^2 + T_5 T_6^2 + T_7 T_8^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & &$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.0	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^3 + T_3 T_4^3 + T_5 T_6^3 + T_7 T_8^3 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
4.P	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2^4 + T_3 T_4^4 + T_5 T_6^4 + T_7 T_8^4 \rangle} \\ m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m + 5
5	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_8, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3^2 T_4 + T_5^2 T_6 + T_7^2 T_8 \rangle}$ $m \ge 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a+1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & a & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ a \ge 0, & m = 3a \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a+2\\1 \end{bmatrix}$	m+5

128 Chapter 6. Classification results for smooth arrangement varieties with  $\rho(X) = 2$ 

6	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5^2T_6+T_7^2T_8\rangle}$ m \ge 0	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_3 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & 1 & a_3 & 1 &   1 \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 &   0 \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \le a_1 \le a_2, 0 \le a_3,$ $m = 4a_3 + 1$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a_3+2\\1 \end{bmatrix}m+5$
7	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7^2T_8\rangle}$ m \ge 1	$ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2a_5 + 1 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix} $ $ \begin{array}{c} a_i \geq 0, \\ a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = 2a_5 + 1, \\ m = 5a_5 + 2 \end{array} $	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a_5+2\\1 \end{bmatrix}m+5$
8	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7T_8\rangle} \\ m{=}6$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\2 \end{bmatrix}$ $m+5$
9	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7T_8\rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 & a_6 & a_7 &   & 1 \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ $\begin{array}{c} a_i \geq 0, \\ a_1 = a_2 + a_3 = a_4 + a_5 = a_6 + a_7, \\ m = 3a_1 \end{array}$	$\begin{bmatrix} a_1 + 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} m + 5$
10	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_8,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7T_8\rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 &   & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 & d_2 & \dots & d_m \end{bmatrix}$ $0 \leq d_2 \leq \dots \leq d_m, 0 < d_m \leq 6$ $m \cdot d_m = 6 + d_2 + \dots + d_m$	$\begin{bmatrix}1\\d_m+1\end{bmatrix}m+5$
11	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1, \dots, T_7, S_1, \dots, S_m]}{\langle T_1 T_2 + T_3 T_4 + T_5 T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle}$ m=5	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\2 \end{bmatrix}$ m+4
12	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_7,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2+T_3T_4+T_5T_6+T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 2a_5 & a_1 & a_2 & a_3 & a_4 & a_5 &   & 1 \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ $2a_5 = a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4,$ $a_i \ge 0$ $m = 5a_5$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2a_5 + 1\\ 1 \end{bmatrix} m + 4$
13	$\frac{\mathbb{K}[T_1,,T_7,S_1,,S_m]}{\langle T_1T_2 + T_3T_4 + T_5T_6 + T_7^2 \rangle} \\ m \ge 2$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 &   & 0 & d_2 \dots & d_m \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 &   & 1 & 1 \dots & 1 \\ 0 & \leq d_2 & \leq \dots & \leq d_m \\ m \cdot d_m & = 5 + d_2 + \dots + d_m \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix}1\\d_m+1\end{bmatrix}m+4$

Moreover, each of the listed data defines a smooth truly almost Fano arrangement variety of complexity two and Picard number two.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- K. Altmann, J. Hausen: Polyhedral divisors and algebraic torus actions. Math. Ann. 334 (2006), no. 3, 557.607.
- [2] K. Altmann, J. Hausen, H. Süß: *Gluing affine torus actions via divisorial fans.* Transformation Groups, volume 13 (2008), 215–242.
- [3] K. Altmann, L. Petersen: Cox rings of rational complexity-one T-varieties. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 216 (2012), no. 5, 1146–1159.
- [4] M. Artin: On isolated rational singularities of surfaces. Amer. J. Math. 88 1966 129–136.
- [5] I. Arzhantsev, L. Braun, J. Hausen, M. Wrobel: Log terminal singularities, platonic tuples and iteration of Cox rings. European Journal of Mathematics, DOI: 10.1007/s40879-017-0179-8, Preprint arXiv:1703.03627.
- [6] I. Arzhantsev, U. Derenthal, J. Hausen, A. Laface: *Cox rings*. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Vol. 144. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2014.
- [7] I. Arzhantsev, S. Gaifullin: Cox rings, semigroups, and automorphisms of affine varieties. Sb. Math. 201 (2010), no. 1-2, 1–21.
- [8] I. Arzhantsev, E. Herppich, J. Hausen, A. Liendo: The automorphism group of a variety with torus action of complexity one. Mosc. Math. J. 14 (2014), no. 3, 429–471.
- [9] G. Barthel, L. Kaup: Topologie des surfaces complexes compactes singuliéres. On the topology of compact complex surfaces, pp. 6–297, Sém. Math. Sup., 80, Presses Univ. Montréal, Montreal, Que., 1982.
- [10] V. V. Batyrev: Toroidal Fano 3-folds. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat., 45:4 (1981), 704–717.
- [11] V. V. Batyrev: On the classification of toric Fano 4-folds. J. Math. Sci. (New York), 94 (1999), 1021–1050

- [12] B. Bechtold: Factorially graded rings and Cox rings. J. Algebra 369 (2012), 351–359.
- [13] B. Bechtold, E. Huggenberger, J. Hausen, M. Nicolussi: On terminal Fano 3-folds with 2-torus action. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2016, no. 5, 1563–1602.
- [14] F. Berchtold, J. Hausen: Homogeneous coordinates for algebraic varieties. J. Algebra, 266(2): 636-670, 2003.
- [15] A. Białynicki-Birula: Remarks on the action of an algebraic torus on k<sup>n</sup>. Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Sér, Sci. Math. Astron. Phys., 14, No. 4, 177–182 (1966).
- [16] A. Białynicki-Birula: Remarks on the action of an algebraic torus on k<sup>n</sup>. II. Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Sér, Sci. Math. Astron. Phys., 15, No. 3, 123–125 (1967).
- [17] A. Białynicki-Birula, J. Święcicka: Complete quotients by algebraic torus actions. Group actions and vector fields (Vancouver, B.C., 1981), 10–22, Lecture Notes in Math., 956, Springer, Berlin, 1982
- [18] D. Bourqui: La conjecture de Manin g'eom'etrique pour une famille de quadriques intrinséques. Manuscripta Math. 135 (2011), no. 1-2, 1-41
- [19] A. A. Borisov, L. A. Borisov: Singular toric Fano varieties. Russ. Acad. Sci. Sb. Math. Vol. 75 (1993), no. 1, 277–283.
- [20] E. Brieskorn: Rationale Singularitäten komplexer Flächen. (German) Invent. Math. 4 1967/1968 336–358.
- [21] M.V. Brown: Singularities of Cox rings of Fano varieties. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 99 (2013), no. 6, 655–667.
- [22] A. Castravet, J. Tevelev:  $\overline{M_{0,n}}$  is not a Mori dream space. Duke Math. J. 164 (2015), no. 8, 1641–1667
- [23] D. Cox: The homogeneous coordinate ring of a toric variety. J. Algebraic Geom, 4(1): 17-50, 1995
- [24] D.A. Cox, J.B. Little, H.K. Schenck: *Toric varieties*. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 124. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2011. xxiv+841 pp.
- [25] V.I. Danilov: The geometry of toric varieties. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 33(2(200)):85-134, 247, 1978.
- [26] D.I. Dais: Resolving 3-dimensional toric singularities. Geometry of toric varieties, 155-186, S'emin. Congr., 6, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2002.
- [27] M. Demazure: Sous-groupes alg'ebriques de rang maximum du groupe de Cremona. Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. (4), 3:507-588, 1970.
- [28] I.V. Dolgachev: On the link space of a Gorenstein quasihomogeneous surface singularity. Math. Ann. 265 (1983), no. 4, 529–540.

- [29] M. Donten-Bury: Cox rings of minimal resolutions of surface quotient singularities. Glasg. Math. J. 58 (2016), no. 2, 325–355.
- [30] P. du Val: On isolated singularities which do not affect the conditions of adjunction. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 30 (1934), 453–465, 483–491.
- [31] W. Ebeling: Poincaré series and monodromy of a two-dimensional quasihomogeneous hypersurface singularity. Manuscripta Math. 107 (2002), no. 3, 271–282.
- [32] D. Eisenbud: *Commutative algebra*. colume 150 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995, With a view toward algebraic geometry.
- [33] L. Facchini, V. González-Alonso, M. Lasoń: Cox rings of du Val singularities. Matematiche (Catania) 66 (2011), no. 2, 115–136.
- [34] A. Fahrner, J. Hausen: On intrinsic quadrics. Preprint arXiv:1712.09822.
- [35] A. Fahrner, J. Hausen, M. Nicolussi: Smooth projective varieties with a torus action of complexity 1 and Picard number 2. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa, DOI: 10.2422/2036-2145.201608 024, Preprint arXiv:1412.8153.
- [36] K.-H. Fieseler, L. Kaup: On the geometry of affine algebraic C<sup>\*</sup>-surfaces. Problems in the theory of surfaces and their classification (Cortona, 1988), 111–140, Sympos. Math., XXXII, Academic Press, London, 1991.
- [37] H. Flenner, M. Zaidenberg: Normal affine surfaces with C<sup>\*</sup>-actions. Osaka J. Math. 40 (2003), no. 4, 981–1009.
- [38] H. Flenner, M. Zaidenberg: Log-canonical forms and log canonical singularities. Math. Nachr. 254/255 (2003), 107–125.
- [39] W. Fulton: Intersection theory. Second edition. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998. xiv+470 pp.
- [40] W. Fulton: Introduction to toric varieties. Volume 131 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. The William H. Roever Lectures in Geometry.
- [41] Y. Gongyo, S. Okawa, A. Sannai, S. Takagi: Characterization of varieties of Fano type via singularities of Cox rings. J. Algebraic Geom. 24 (2015), no. 1, 159-182.
- [42] J. González, K. Karu: Some non-finitely generated Cox rings. Compos. Math. 152 (2016), no. 5, 984–996.
- [43] J. Hausen: Cox rings and combinatorics II. Mosc. Math. J. 8 (2008), no. 4, 711–757.
- [44] J. Hausen, E. Herppich: Factorially graded rings of complexity one. Torsors, étale homotopy and applications to rational points, 414–428, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 405, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2013.

- [45] J. Hausen, E. Herppich, H. Süß: Multigraded factorial rings and Fano varieties with torus action. Doc. Math. 16 (2011), 71–109.
- [46] J. Hausen, C. Hische, M. Wrobel: On torus actions of higher complexity. Preprint arXiv:1802.00417.
- [47] J. Hausen, S. Keicher: A software package for Mori dream spaces. LMS J. Comput. Math. 18 (2015), no. 1, 647–659.
- [48] J. Hausen, S. Keicher, A. Laface: On blowing up the weighted projective plane. To appear in Mathematische Zeitschrift, Preprint arXiv:1608.04542.
- [49] J. Hausen, H. Süß: The Cox ring of an algebraic variety with torus action. Adv. Math. 225 (2010), no. 2, 977–1012.
- [50] J. Hausen, M. Wrobel: Non-complete rational T-varieties of complexity one. Math. Nachr. 290 (2017), no. 5–6, 815–826.
- [51] J. Hausen, M. Wrobel: On iteration of Cox ring. To appear in Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, DOI: 10.1016/j.jpaa.2017.10.017, Preprint arXiv:1704.06523.
- [52] Y. Hu, S. Keel: Mori dream space and GIT. Michigan Math. J. Volume 48, Issue 1 (2000), 331-348.
- [53] S. Ishii: Introduction to singularities. Springer, Tokyo, 2014. viii+223 pp.
- [54] V.A. Iskovskih: Fano threefolds. I. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 41 (1977), no. 3, 516–562.
- [55] V.A. Iskovskih: Fano threefolds. II. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 42 (1978), no. 3, 506–549.
- [56] A.M. Kasprzyk: Toric Fano three-folds with terminal singularities. Tohoku Math. J. (2) 58 (2006), no. 1, 101–121.
- [57] G. Kempf, F.F. Knudsen, D. Mumford, B. Saint-Donat: Toroidal embeddings. I. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 339. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1973. viii+209 pp.
- [58] J. Kollár, S. Mori: Birational geometry of algebraic varieties. With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti. Translated from the 1998 Japanese original. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 134. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. viii+254 pp.
- [59] D. Kussin: Graded factorial algebras of dimension two. Bull. London Math. Soc. 30 (1998), no. 2, 123–128.
- [60] M. Kreuzer, B. Nill: Classification of toric Fano 5-folds. Adv. Geom. 9 (2009), no. 1, 85–97.

- [61] D. Kussin: Graded factorial algebras of dimension two. Bull. London Math. Soc. 30 (1998), no. 2, 123–128.
- [62] A. Liendo, H. Süß: Normal singularities with torus actions. Tohoku Math. J. (2) 65 (2013), no. 1, 105–130.
- [63] D.G. Markushevich: Canonical singularities of three-dimensional hypersurfaces. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 49 (1985), no. 2, 334–368, 462.
- [64] K. Matsuki: Introduction to the Mori program. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, (2002). xxiv+478 pp.
- [65] H. Matsumura: Commutative Ring Theory. Cambridge Studies 8, Cambridge University Press, (1989).
- [66] S. Mori: Graded factorial domains. Japan J. Math. 3 (1977), no. 2, 223–238.
- [67] S. Mori: Classification of higher-dimensional varieties. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 46, Amer. Math. Soc. (1987), 269–331
- [68] S. Mori: Flip theorem and the existence of minimal models for 3-folds. Journal of the American Mathematical Society, 1 (1988), 117–253.
- [69] S. Mori, S. Mukai: Classification of Fano 3-folds with  $b_2 \ge 2$ . Manuscripta Math. 36 (1981), no. 2, 147–162.
- [70] S. Mori, S. Mukai: Erratum: Classification of Fano 3-folds with  $b_2 \ge 2$ . Manuscripta Math. 110 (2003), no. 3, 407.
- [71] D. Mumford: Geometric invariant theory. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Neue Folge, Band 34 Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York (1965), vi+145 pp.
- [72] M. Newman: Integral Matrices. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 45. Academic Press, New York-London, (1972). xvii+224 pp.
- [73] M. Øbro: An algorithm for the classification of smooth Fano polytopes. arXiv:0704.0049 (2007).
- [74] T. Oda: Torus embeddings and applications. Volume 57 of Tata Institute of Fundadamental Research Lectures on Mathematics and Physics. Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay, (1978). Based on joint work with Katsuya Miyake.
- [75] T. Oda: Convex bodies and algebraic geometry. Volume 15 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1988). An introduction to the theory of toric varieties, Translated from the Japanese.

- [76] P. Orlik, P. Wagreich: Algebraic surfaces with k<sup>\*</sup>-action. Acta Math. 138 (1977), no. 1-2, 43–81.
- [77] P. del Pezzo: Sulle superficie dell'no ordine immerse nello spazio di n dimensioni. Rend. del circolo matematico di Palermo, 1 (1887), 241–271.
- [78] A. Paffenholz: http://polymake.org/polytopes/paffenholz/www/fano.html.
- [79] V. L. Popov: Quasihomogeneous affine algebraic varieties of the group SL(2), Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Math. 37 (1973), 792 832.
- [80] M. Reid: Canonical 3-folds. Journées de Géometrie Algébrique d'Angers, Juillet 1979/Algebraic Geometry, Angers, (1979), pp. 273–310, Sijthoff & Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn–Germantown, Md., (1980).
- [81] M. Reid: Minimal models of canonical 3-folds. Algebraic varieties and analytic varieties (Tokyo, 1981), 131-180, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 1, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1983.
- [82] R. Stanley: A census of convex lattice polygons with at most one interior lattice point. Ars Combin. 28 (1989), 83–96.
- [83] H. Sumihiro: Equivariant completion. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 14 (1974), 1-28.
- [84] J. Tevelev: Compactifications of subvarieties of tori. Amer. J. Math., 129(4): 1087-1104, 2007.
- [85] D. Timashev: Torus actions of complexity one. Toric topology, 349–364, Contemp. Math., 460, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.
- [86] M. Wemyss: The GL(2, ℂ) McKay correspondence. Math. Ann. 350 (2011), no. 3, 631–659.
- [87] J. Włodarczyk: Embeddings in toric varieties and prevarieties. J. Algebraic Geom. 2 (1993), no. 4, 705–726.
- [88] J. Wunram: Reflexive modules on quotient surface singularities. Math. Ann. 279 (1988), no. 4, 583–598.

### INDEX

K-factorial, 15 K-prime, 8, 17 gcd-ordered, 67 **F**-face, 11  $\overline{X}$ -face, 90 action diagonal, 9 admissible operations, 26 algebra of invariants, 10 algebraic group, 9 anticanonical complex, 40 anticanonical polyhedron, 40 arrangement variety, 99 basic platonic triple, 66, 69 big representative, 84 bunch **F**-, 12 true, 12 bunched ring, 12 canonical toric embedding, 13 character, 9 character group, 9 characteristic quasitorus, 89 characteristic space, 9, 89 complete intersections, 14 cone, 11 X-relevant, 26, 90big, 101 dimension, 11 dual, 11 elementary big, 101

face, 11facet, 11 GIT, 14 lattice, 11 leaf, 26, 101 pointed, 11 ray, 11 Cox ring, 8 Cox rings iteration of, 65 Cox sheaf, 8 degree vectors, 14 divisor doubling, 84 prime, 7 principal, 7 Weil, 7 divisor class group, 7 divisorial sheaf, 7 elliptic, 30 envelope, 13 fan, 11 complete, 11 lattice, 11 support, 11 grading almost free, 11, 18 effective, 95 factorial, 8 pointed, 95

hyperbolic, 30 hyperplatonic, 66 intrinsic quadric, 100 irredundant, 26, 99 lineality part, 26 maximal orbit quotient, 84 MDS, 9 minimal ambient toric variety, 92 minimal toric ambient variety, 27 Mori Dream Space, 9 orbit cone, 14 parabolic, 30 Picard group, 7 Picard number, 7 platonic ring, 37 platonic triple, 66 platonic triples, 37 platonic tuple, 37 quasifan, 11 quasismooth, 103 quasitorus, 9 quotient geometric, 10 good, 10 relevant face, 12 semistable points, 14 sheaf of divisorial algebras, 8 singularity canonical, 39 log terminal, 39 terminal, 39 torus, 9 total coordinate space, 9, 89 tropical variety, 26 variety  $A_2$ -maximal, 13, 19

 $A_2$ -property, 12, 84 G-, 9 complexity, 95 toric, 11 Type 1, 15, 16, 36, 94 Type 2, 15, 16, 37, 94

weight cone, 14 weight monoid, 14